TRADE IN SERVICES AND TRADE IN
HIGH TECHNOLOGY PRODUCTS

7

\/}'M/ /é//}é,(/‘ o
HEARING

BEFORE THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE

OF THE

COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

NINETY-SEVENTH CONGRESS
SECOND SESSION

MAY 24, 1982

Serial 97-60

Printed for the use of the Committee on Ways and Means

&

U.8. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
95024 C WASHINGTON : 1982

/H7E/-35




COMMITTEE ON WAYS AN

DAN ROSTENKOWSKI, Illinois, ’
SAM M. GIBBONS, Florida BARBER B. CONABLE, Jx;,:New York

J. J. PICKLE, Texas JOHN J. DUNCAN, Tennessee
CHARLES B. RANGEL, New York BILL ARCHER, Texas

FORTNEY H. (PETE; STARK, California GUY VANDER JAGT, Michigan
JAMES R. JONES, Oklahoma PHILIP M. CRANE, 1llinois

ANDY JACOBS, J&., Indiana BILL FRENZEL, Minnesota
HAROLD FORD, Tennessee JAMES G. MARTIN, North Carolina
KEN HOLLAND, South Carolina L. A. (SKIP) BAFALIS, Florida
WILLIAM M. BRODHEAD, Michigan RICHARD T. SCHULZE, Pennsylvania
ED JENKINS, Georgia BILL GRADISON, Ohio

RICHARD A. GEPHARDT, Missouri JOHN H. ROUSSELOT, California
THOMAS J. DOWNEY, New York W. HENSON MOORE, Louisiana

CECIL (CEC) HEFTEL, Hawaii
WYCHE FOWLER, Jr., Georgia
FRANK J. GUARINI, New Jersey
JAMES M. SHANNON, Massachusetts
MARTY RUSSO, lllinois

DON J. PEASE, Ohio

KENT HANCE, Texas

ROBERT T. MATSUI, California

DON BAILEY, Pennsylvania

BERYL ANTHONY, Jr., Arkansas

JouN J. SALMoN, Chief Counsel
Joserd K. DowLey, Assistant Chief Counsel
ROBERT J. LEONARD, Chief Tax Counsel
A. 1 SiNGLETON, Minority Chief of Staff

SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE
SAM M. GIBBONS, Florida, Chairman

DAN ROSTENKOWSKI, Illinois GUY VANDER JAGT, Michigan
JAMES R. JONES, Oklahoma BILL ARCHER, Texas

ED JENKINS, Georgia BILL FRENZEL, Minnesota

THOMAS J. DOWNEY, New York L. A. (SKIP) BAFALIS, Florida

DON J. PEASE, Ohio RICHARD T. SCHULZE, Pennsylvania

KENT HANCE, Texas
WILLIAM M. BRODHEAD, Michigan
DON BAILEY, Pennsylvania

Davip B. RoHR, Professional Staff
Mary JanNe WiGNor, Professional Staff

(I



CONTENTS

Prees release of Wednesday, May 12, 1982, announcing l;eariru; ...........................

WITNESSES

Us. lggde Representative;: David R. Macdonald, Deputy U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative
De ent of Commerce: Lionel H. Olmer, Under Secretary of Commerce for
terna txonal Trade

American Electronics Association, Rowland H. Thomas, Jr..........ccccenescnniessennes
American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial Organizations,
Rudy Oswald and Elizabeth R. Jager....
American Express Co., L. Freeman
ARA Services, Inc., Joaeph eubauer
Chamber of Commerce of the United States, Runald K. Shelp and Gordon
oney
Cloney, Gordon, Chamber of Commerce of the United States
Coalition of Service Industries, Inc., Joseph Neubauer and Peter Finnerty........
Computer & Business Equipment Manufacturers Aseociation, Vico E. Henri-

Data General Corp., Rowland H. Thomas, Jr
Edwards, Hor. Don, a Representative in Congress from the State of Califor-

anerty, Peter, Sea-Land Industries Investment, Inc., and Coalition of Serv-
ice Zadustries, Inc
Flgrio, Hon, James J., a Representative in Congress from the State of New
ersey
FreeB man, Harry L., American Exprees Co., and U.S. Council for International
usinees
Hennques, Vico E,, Computer & Business Equlpment Manufacturers Associ-
ation
Hodge cIltlaymond J., International Engineering and Construction Industries

Ingmatlonal Engineering and Construction Industries Council, Raymond J.

Jager, ok h R., American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial
5@3 ons

Barry, Pfizer International
McDonell, Horace G., Jr., Perkin-Elmer Corp
National .Semxconductor Co ., Charles E. Sporck
Neubauer, Joseph, ARA mces, Inc, and Coalition of Service Indus-

Oswald, R\gly, American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial

Phionr Intarnationsd, Barry MacTageasto
r Internatio

Sea-Land Industries Investment, Inc., Peter Finnerty
Semiconductor Industry Association, Charlea E. Sporck
Sl:.annch u;xt:& Hon. James, a Representative in Congress from the State of Massa-

Shelp, Ronald K., Chamber of Commerce of the United States ..........cccoecevrrennnnen
Sporck, Charles E National Semiconductor Corp., and Semiconductor Indus-
try Aseociation

()

10
18

137



v

Stacﬁ,ifﬁor: Fortney H. (Pete), a Representative in Congress from the State of P’g;
ornia
Thomas, Rowland H., Jr., Data General Corp., and American Electronics

Association 137
U.S. Council for International Business, Harry L. Freeman n
SUBMISSIONS FOR THE RECORD
Arthur Andersen & Co., statement 1456
Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, Jeffrey J. Schott, letter............ .. 148
National Machine Tool Builders’ Association, statement and attachments........ 150
Robot Institute of America, S. J. Polcyn, letter 162

U.S. Council for an Open World Economy, David J. Steinberg, letter.................. 162



TRADE IN SERVICES AND TRADE IN HIGH
TECHNOLOGY PRODUCTS

MONDAY, MAY 24, 1982

House OF REPRESENTATIVES,
CoMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met at 2 p.m., pursuant to notice, in Room
2118, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Sam M. Gibbons (chair-
man of the subcommittee) presiding.

[Press release announcing the hearing follows:]

[Subcommittee on Trade press release No. 24, Wednesday, May 12, 1982}

HoN. Sam M. GiBBoNS (D-FLA.), CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE, COMMITTEE ON
Wayvs AND MEeaNs, U.S. House oF REPRESENTATIVES, ANNOUNCES HEARINGS ON
TRADE IN SERVICES AND TRADE IN HiGH TECHNOLOGY PRODUCTS

The Honorable Sam M. Gibbons, (D-Fla.), Chairman of the Subcommittee on
Trade of the Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, today
announced that the Subcommittee will hold a public hearing on trade in services
and trade in high technolgfy products. The hearing will be held on Monday, May
24, in room 2118 Rayburn House Office Building, beginning at 2:00 p.m.

Both trade in the services sector and in high technology an'oducts are particularly
important to the United States. In both areas U.S. producers and suppliers are
strong, innovative, and highly competitive intemational?'. The two sectors make
important contributions to our gross national product and, through exports, add to
the U.S. balance of payments position. However, U.S. international economic polic
has until recently not directly addressed the unigue policy issues associated wit!
trade in services and high technology products. U.S. data on domestic activities and
on international trade, garticularly in the services sector, are inadequate. Forei
government policies and foreign market conditions for trade have not been ade-
quately studied. Further, domestic trade laws and international trading rules have
not been reviewed to determine if they adequately cover problems that arise in serv-
ices and high technology trade.

The purpose of the hearing will be to explore ways to improve trade data and in-
formation on these two sectors, policies which would promote U.S. exports of serv-
ices and high technology goods, problems U.S. exporters are facing in foreign mar-
kets, and ways in which world markets can be further opened to international
trade. Testimony should address the following subjects as well as provisions of pend-
ing legislation on services and high technology trade (H.R. 5383 and H.R. 5579):

oreign government measures or policies which distort trade and invesiment
flows in the services and high technology sectors.

The impact of such measures on U.S. services and high technology industries.

The adequacy of existing U.S. laws to deal with trade and investment problems in
the services and high technology sectors.

The applicability of current international rules and agreements to international
trade and investment in the services and high technology sectors.

The advisability of negotiating new international rules for these sectors, and goals
the United States should seek to attain through a negotiating initiative.

. The need for improving data collection with respect to international trade in serv-
ices.
1)
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The need for improved monitoring capabilities in these sectors in order to facili-
tate more accurate analyses of current international trade flows and assessments of
the openness of foreign markets.

DETAILS FOR SUBMISSION OF REQUESTS TO BE HEARD

Reqzuz%s_ts to be heard must be received by telephone to Harriett Lawler [telephone
(202) 3627] by close of business, Wednesday, May 19. The request should be fol-
lowed by a formal written re%est addressed to John J. Salmon, Chief Counsel, Com-
mittee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, Room 1102 Longworth
House Office Building, Washington, D.C. 20515.

In order to assure the most productive use of the limited amount of time available
to question hearing witnesses, witnesses scheduled to appear before the subcommit-
tee are required to submit 75 copies of their prepared statements to the full Com-
mittee office, room 1102 Longworth House Oftice Building, at least 24 hours in ad-
vance of their scheduled appearances.

Each statement to be presented to the Subcommittee or any written staterzent
submitted for the record must contain the following information:

1. The name, full address, and capacity in which the witness will appear (as well
as a telephone number where he or his designated representative may be reached);

2. A list of any clients or persons, or any organization for whom the witness ap-

; &N
3. A topical outline or summary of the comments and recommendations in the full
statement.

WRITTEN STATEMENTS IN LIEU OF PERSONAL APPEARANCE

Persons submitting a written statement in lieu of a personal appearance should
submit at least six (6 copies of their statement by the close of business Tuesdag,
June 1, to John J. Salmon, Chief Counsel, Committee on Ways and Means, U.S.
House of Representatives, Washington, D.C. 20515. If thoee filing written statements
for the record of the printed hearing wish to have their statements distributed to
the press and the interested public, they mai; submit 50 additional copies for this
purpose if provided to the Committee during the course of the public hearing.

Chairman GiBBoNS. As all of you know, this is a meeting of the
Trade Subcommittee of the Ways and Means Committee.

q We have a lot of important debate going on over on the House
oor.

We have such a large attendance today we had to use this room
for this hearing. The Armed Services Committee has asked us to
vacate the room by 5 p.m., because they have to have a secure
briefing in here tomorrow, and this room must be swept in an elec-
tronic sense.

This is a hearing on a very important trade issue, trade in serv-
ices and trade in high-technology products.

Both of these sectors are very important to the United States.
U.S. producers and suppliers of services and high-technology prod-
ucts are highly innovative and currently lead the world in competi-
tion in these sectors.

Despite the significant contribution of the services and high-tech-
nology sectors to our domestic economy and our balance-of-pay-
ment pogition, the U.S. trade policy will have to focus on these
issues 1f we want to maintain this lead.

As those of us involved in trade policy issues have begun to look
forward to the future, it has become increasingly clear that trade
in services and trade in high-technology products are an issue that
can only gain in importance as time goes by. Therefore, we should

in to address them now.
ese heari.ugs will have two purposes.

The first will be to discuss the broad variety of trade issues that

are currently affecting U.S. trade in services and high technology.
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For example, the subcommittee would like to discuss ways to im-
prove U.S. data and information on U.S. services and high-technol-
ogy industries.

Second, and more specifically, we would like to discuss the provi-
sions of pending legislation in these areas of trade znd services in
high technology.

In the services area, I introduced the Trade in Services Act of
1982, which is H.R. 5383 on January 28 to stimulate discussion in
this area. There are other bills covering trade and services as well,
including a bill introduced by Congressman Stark and by Congress-
man Florio, who I am pleased to have with us here today.

I joined Congressman Shannon last week in introducing H.R.
6433, the High Technology Trade Act of 1982. That bill replaces a
bill that I introduced earlier, and was cosponsored by Congressman
Shannon and Congressman Don Edwards, and others, particularly
in the California delegation.

I was first going to welcome Congressman Stark, but he is per-
haps still »ver on the floor. Don Edwards, you were also listed as
one of our first witnesses. If you would like to come forward, we
will hear you now. We will hear your colleagues when they are
able to arrive.

STATEMENT OF HON. DON EDWARDS, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Mr. EpwaARrDs. Thaiik vou very much, Mr. Chairman. I would like
permission tc insert my prepared remarks in the record.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Yes, sir, Mr. Edwards.

Mr. Epwarbs. I want to thank you and the other members of the
committee very much for moving ahead with this important series
of hearings. It is really terribly important, not only to California,
but to the Nation as a whole, that some of the problems that we
face, and especially our high-technology industry faces, must be ad-
dressed and redressed to a certain extent. To show the importance
of how the California delegation feels about these bills, the prede-
cessor to the two bills that you are addressing today, H.R. 5579 was
cosponsored by all of the 22 members of the Democratic delegation
of California.

You have some wonderful witnesses today, and, again, we are all
very pleased that you are moving ahead.

It is very, very important, and I thank you.

[Mr. Edwards’ prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF HoN. DoN EDWARDS, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE
oF CALIFORNIA

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate this opportunity to testify before the Trade Subcom-
mittee today on H.R. 6433 and H.R. 6436, the High Technology Trade Acts of 1982. I
want to thank the two gentlemen, Mr. Stark and Mr. Shannon, both members of the
Ways and Means Committee, for their leadership in seeing that legislation which
addresses the problem of unfair competition in semiconductor and electronic equip-
ment trade is now being examined.

On December 21, 1981, this subcommittee filed a report entitled “The Japanese
Challenge in High Technology.” It noted that the Japanese attitude toward high
technology shows that they are counting on these products to “dominate the world
trade and economy for the rest of the century.” Your report goes on to note that if
the United States does not respond to the current trends in high technolegy product
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investments by foreign competitors, by increasing our competitive posture, we will
be sur in the international marketplace.

On March 24, 1982, U.S. Trade Representative Bill Brock testified before the
Senate indicating that more effort should be directed toward multilateral considera-
tion of high technology trade, noting that it would be a priority item at the GATT
Ministerial Conference. Mr. Brock then went on to ask the Congress to examine the
desirability of Presidential authority to negotiate the reduction of barriers of trade
in high technology goods, including the reduction of tariffs. -,

It is most timely that this subcommittee would meet today to examine the trade
relations of our high technology communit{}

As one of the Congressmen from Silicon Valley in California, I applaud this event.
This legislation is very important to California, the center of our country’s high
technology industry. Semiconductors and computers will have an important role in
world trade for the rest of the century.

H.R. 6433, and H.R. 6436 would both establish as a U.S. trade policy objective the
importance of obtaining substantially equivalent competitive opportunities for U.S.
high technology exports and investments. This legislatiun is essential for the ir "us-
try and our country. The aim of these bills is to increase free trade and increase
competition. These measures have my enthusiastic support.

You will hear from many experts in the semiconductor industry today, regardin
the many problems which they face in foreign nations as they attempt to establis
g{lants and a marketplace abroad. I hope that you will act swiftly and report to the

glyhse fil‘oor a bill which will help the U.S. gain parity in world semiconductor trade.

ank you.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Well, the people of California, because of
their innovative nature, and because of their tremendous emphasis
upon education, are leaders in the area of high technology, and in
the trade area, the trade-in-services area. Your interest in this sub-
_}‘ect speaks very well for your delegation and for the State of Cali-

ornia.

Mr. EpwaArps. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Yes, we have been ahead in certain areas, but we want to stay
ahead, because when we stay ahead, then Ainerica stays ahead.

There are some problems, and you understand the problems.
These witnesses will understand them, and it is really very impor-
tant that they be looked at.

Chairman GieBoNs. Thank you, sir.

Our next witness is Mr. James J. Florio, who is a Member of
Congress from the State of New Jersey.

STATEMENT OF HON. JAMES J. FLORIO, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF NEW JERSEY

Mr. Frorio. I am very pleased to be here and would likewise ask
permission to insert my full comments into the record, and I will,
therefore, spare you the first six pages, which talk about the impor-
tance of the service industry to our economy, and particularly the
service industry exporting opportunities that are available to us.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Your entire statement will be in the record.

Mr. Frorio. I would like to emphasize the balance of my state-
ment, which expresses my interest in going forward in an orderl
way in this area, that our committees, your subcommittee, as well
as my mine, share jurisdiction along with the Foreign Affairs Com-
mittee having principal responsibility for the two bills that have
been introduced in the House to address foreign trade barriers to
the U.S. exports.

As the authors of these two bills, you and I can appreciate the
urgent need for congressional action in this area. Currently, there
is no internationally agreed upon set of rules under which trade-in-
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services can take place. An agreement, reflecting such a set of
rules, is urgently needed and should be given the highest priority
by our country's representatives to the GATT ministerial meeting
in November.

At this meeting., the GATT .n nisters will develop an agenda of
trade problems to be negotiated during the 1980s. Nothing on that
agenda should receive higher priority than the negotiation of an
agreement cuvering services.

Support for negotiating a services agreement, however, will not
be won easily from our GATT trading partrers. With the exception
of the United Kingdom and Sweden, which, like the United States,
have strong service export industries, other GATT member coun-
tries are predominantly service importers, not exporters. Many of
these countries, therefore, are much more concerned about protect-
ing their own service industries than they are about eliminating
barriers to services which other countries export.

Amendments | have drafted to my trade-in-services bill would ad-
dress this problem by making it clear to our trading partners that
their service industries may in the future be denied access to our
market if they deny our service firms access to their markets.
Under my proposal, the President would have the authority to
deny or limit any foreign service firms access to the U.S. market, if
he determines that the foreign country restricts U.S. access to i.s
market on a discriminatory or unjustifiable basis and that such
practice harms our overall economy.

Mr. Chairman, I feel strongly that Congress must give the Presi-
dent this authority for two very important reasons. First, in the ab-
sence of an international agreement which would equalize the
rules which govern trade in services, it is essential that the Presi-
dent have the ability to equalize the relationships under which we
conduct trade in services with individual nations.

Second, our GATT partners will never take seriously our efforts
to negotiate an international services agreement unless they per-
ceive that they, too, will benefit from such an agreement. If other
nations understand that discrimination against our service indus-
tries may cause their developing service industries to be shut out of
the U.S. market, then they not only have a reason to treat our
service industries fairly, but a reason to negotiate an agreement
that would give every nation increased opportunities for service ex-
ports.

Mr. Chairman, in order for this message to be carried to our
GATT partners, it will be necessary for Congress to pass legislation
this year. Although it is growing late in this session of Congress, I
believe we can accomplish this task.

The bills you and I have introduced differ in some respects. More
importantly, however, they both stem from three important princi-
ples, upon which you, I, and the administration can agree.

First, development of a work program for the negotiation of a
GATT agreement covering services should be a high priority of our
representatives at the GATT ministerial meeting this November.
Without such an agreement, there can be no international under-
standing of what unjustifiable, discriminatory trade barriers are.
Neither can there be any international procedure for resolving dis-
putes arising from trade in services.
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Second, much better data and information is needed if we are to
understand how U.S. service firms operate abroad and how foreign
service firms operate in our own country. We need to develop and
to maintain an inventory of barriers to trade in services on a coun-
try-by-country basis. In this regard, I am encouraged by business’
recognition that the collection of additional data on services is nec-
essary and not simply a burden to be endured.

The fact is that currently even our aggregate figures on services
are suspect. For example, in 1980, official Government reports indi-
cated that U.S. service firms earned $30 billion from exports. An
independent firm under contract to the Office of the United States
Trade Representative, on the other hand, estimated that service ex-
ports in that year probably earned more than $60 billion.

So there is some fundamental difference in the information col-
lecting process.

Clearly, we must know more about service exports before we can
begin to understand and to deal with the problems they confront.

Third, and most importantly, the President must have authority
to take action against foreign service firms that are regulated by
independent regulatory agencies. The simple fact is that most serv-
ice industries are regulated by independent agencies such as the
Federal Communications Commission, the Interstate Commerce
Commission, and the Federal Reserve Board. These agencies are,
by definition, independent—outside the reach of the President.

ogcll some respects, that is good. In others, it may very well not be

Yet, the President, rather than independent agencies, is responsi-
ble for our country’s trade policy. It seems clear, therefore, that the
President should be empowered to take action against foreign serv-
ice firms on trade grounds. Such authority would in no way inter-
fere with the jurisdiction independent agencies would have over
foreign service firms on non-trade-related matters. Instead, it
would merely give the President the ability to insure that foreign
service firms are granted the same opportunity in the U.S. market
as our own service firms enjoy in foreign markets.

Until an international agreement on services is negotiated,
granting the President this authority is absolutely necessary in
order to promote fair trade in services.

Mr. Chairman, these points, on which I believe there is general
agreement, are the principal elements of the legislation we have in-
troduced. My subcommittee will make up my trade in serviccs bill,
H.R. 5519, on June 15. At that time, I will offer amendments which
will make the legislation reflect more perfectly the policy I have
outlined. I will be happy to share these amendments with you.

Again, Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for this opportunity
to testify before your subcommittee. I look forward to working with
you in passing this important legislation this year.

Your staff has been very helpful to us, and I am looking forward
to a very cooperative relationship as we go forward in an effort to
have legislation this year to provide some reinforcement to our rep-
resentatives at the November meeting, so we can ultimately have
an international agreement.

[The prepared statement follows:]
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STATEMENT or HON. JAMES J. FLORIO, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE
Strate or New JErseY, AND CHAIRMAN OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE ON COMMERCE,
TRANSPORTATION, AND TouRISM OF TME CoruMITTEE ON ENERGY AND COMMERCE

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for giving me this opportunity to testify on
the importance of service industries to our economy and the special problems these
industries confront in international trade. It is indeed a pleasure to be here.

At the outset, Mr. Chairman, I would like to take a few moments to talk about
our economy generally and the role of service industries in it. We are all keen]
aware of the havoc presently occurring in our economy as a result of record hig
interest rates and this, the longest of two recessions in as many years.

The econometric forecasting firm of Data Resources, Inc. now says the probability
of continuing “deep recession or aborted attempts at eccnomic recovery” is 40 per-
cent, 6 percent higher than it was just 4 months ago. And, the prime rate which is
now 16.5 percent remains far higher than anyone had projected earlier.

These pressures are killing consumer demand and forcing business to scale back
in every area. United States industry is nouroducing at only about 71 percent of
full capacity. Unemployment in April reached a postwar record high of 9.4 percent.

With demand down and interest rates high, American businesses today face im-
possible cash flow problems. Data Resources, Inc. estimates that the ratio of busi-
ness debt burden to cash flow is currently 45 percent and still growing.

Last week the Department of Commerce announced that in the first quarter of
1982, inflation-adjusted, before-tax profits of American business fell 15.6 percent, the
second largest plunge since the Department began keeping these statistics. Since the
current recession began last July, business profits have fallen 23 percent, three
times as great as the total decline in all of 1981.

In the first quarter of this year, the gross national product contracted at a reviged
annual rate of 4.3 percent, far greater than previously had been predicted. At the
same time, wages and salaries of American workers declined 2.7 percent in April
following a drop of 2.4 percent in March.

Finally, Dun and Bradstreet reports that as of the first week of May a total of
8,129 businesses have failed in the United States during: 1982—50 percent more than
in the comparable period of 1981. A larger nuinber of businesses failed during this
period than during any comparable period since the 1930's.

Not only is the condition of our economy extremely bad, but efforts to turn it
around have failed miserably. The Reagan administration’s huge tax cut of last year
seems to have done more to keep interest rates high and money tight than to spur
business investment.

Totally contrary to the administration’s predictions, the bond market has re-
sponded to President Reagan’s tax cut by keeping long-term loan rates at record
high levels. As a result, business cannot afford the capital it would need to expand
and modernize in order to become eligible for the depreciation and tax credit bene-
fits contained in the law passed last f'ear. Furthermore, with the debt burden of
American business already at extremely high levels, it is unclear whether business
fxpansion and modernization is a realistic expectation even if interest rates were
lower.

Rather than trying to force the economy to perform according to some precon-
ceived set of assumptions, we should instead look for what is strong in our economy
and adapt our policies to promote those strengths. For example, it is a matter of
simple historical fact that our economy is evolving into a predominately service-
based economy.

Today, about 65 percent of our gross national product is attributable to the service
sector, an-i about 7 out of every 10 Americans work in service industries. Transpor-
tation, banking, insurance, construction and engineering, lodging and other service
industries have become the principal source of American economic growth and ac-
tivity.

There are also indications that the recession may be affecting service industries
less harshly than other sectors of the economy. For example, unemployment in the
transportation and financial service industries was 26 percent less than April’s un-
employment level for all industries. Likewise, when wages and earnings of manufac-
tgnng workers fell in the last quarter of 1981, service workers’' earnings were on
the rise.

Furthermore, services have become an increasingly important component of the
U.S. balance of payments. While the United States has suffered a deficit in mer-
chandise trade in all but two of the last 12 years, the surplus in the services account
has grown steadily. Due to service exports, the U.S. balance of payments in goods
and services has been in surplus for the last 2 years.
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Mr. Chairman, in 1979 alone world trade in services grew 24.2 percent, and the
United States led all other nations in service exports. But just as American service
firms have increased their activities abroad, many of our trading partners have
moved to close their markets to our service companies.

The future health of our country’s service industries, therefore, should by no
means be taken for granted. As a result, I believe it is essential that Congress take
action on services legislation now.

Mr. Chairman, you and I share not only a common interest in the problems of
service industries and service industry exports but also common legislative jurisdic-
tion. Our two subcommittees, alonf with the Foreign Affairs Committee, have prin-
cipal responsibility for the two bills that have been introduced in the House to ad-
dress the foreign trade barriers to U.S. service exports.

As the authors of these two bills, you and I can appreciate the urgent need for
congressional action in this area. Currently, there is no internationally agreed upon
set of rules under which trade in services can take place. An agreement, reflecting
such a set of rules, is urgently needed and should be given the highest priority by
our country's representatives to the GATT ministerial meeting in November.

At this meeting the GATT Ministers will develop an agenda of trade problems to
be negotiated during the 1980’s. Nothing on that agenda should receive higher prior-
ity than the negotiation of an agreement covering services.

Support for negotialing a services agreement, however, will not be won easily
from our GATT trading partners. With the exception of the United Kingdom and
Sweden, which like the United States have strong service export industries, other
GATT member countries are predominantly service importers, not exporters. Many
of these countries, therefore, are much more concerned about protecting their own
service industries than they are about eliminating barriers to services which other
countries export.

Amendments I have drafted to my trade in services bill would address this prob-
lem by making it clear to our trading partners that their service industries may in
the future be denied access to our market if they deny our service firms access to
their markets. Under my prt;posal, the President would have the authority to deny
or limit any foreign service firms access to the U.S. market, if he determines that
the foreign country restricts U.S. access to its market on a discriminatory or unjus-
tifiable basis and that such practice harms our overall economy.

Mr. Chairman, I feel strongly that Congress must give the President this authori-
ty for two very important reasons. First, in the absence of an international agree-
ment which would equalize the rules which govern trade in services, it is essentiai
that the President have the ability to equalize the relationships under which we
conduct trade in services with individual nations.

Second, our GATT partners will never take seriously our efforts to negotiate an
international services agreement unless they perceive that they too will benefit
from such an agreement. If other nations understand that discrimination against
our service industries may cause their developing service industries to be shut out
of the U.S. market, then they not only have a reason to treat our service industries
fairly, but a reason to negotiate an agreement that would give every nation in-
creased opportunities for service exports.

Mr. Chairman, in order for this message to be carried to our GATT partners, it
wil! be necessary for Congress to pass legislation this year. Although it is growing
late in this session of Congress, I believe we can accomplish this task.

The bills you and I have introduced differ in some respects. More importantly,
however, they both stem from three important principles, upon which you, I and the
administration can agree.

First, development of a work program for the negotiation of a GATT agreement
covering services should be a high priority of our representatives at the GATT min-
isterial meeting this November. Without such an agreement, there can be no inter-
national understanding of what unjustifiable, discriminatory trade barriers are. Nei-
ther can there be any international procedure for resolving disputes arising from
trade in services.

Second, much better data and information is needed if we are to understand how
U.S. service firms operate abroad and how foreign service firms operate in our own
country. We need to develop and to maintain an inventory of barriers to trade in
services on a country-by-country basis. In this regard, I am encouraged by business’
recognition that the collection of additional data on services is necessary and not
simply a burden to be endured.

e fact is that currently even our aggregate figures on services are suspect. For
example, in 1980 official Government reports indicated that U.S. service firms
earned $30 billion from exports. An independent firm under contract to the office of
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the U1.S. Trads Representative, on the other hand, estimaterd that service exports in
that year probably sarned more than $60 billion.

Clearly. we must know more about service exports before we can begin to under-
stand and o deal with the problems they confront.

Third, and most importantly, the President must have auvhority to take action

ainst foreign ~ervice firms that are regulated by independent regulutory agencies.

e simple facc is that most service industries are regulated by independent agen-
cies such 88 the Federal Communications Commission, the Interstate Commerce
Commission and the Federal Reserve Board. These agencies are by definition inde-
pendent—outside the reach of the President.

Yet, the President rather than independent agencies is respcnsible for cur ceun-
try's trade policy. Ii seems clear, therefore, that the President. should be empowered
to take action against foreign service firrus on trade grounds. Such authority would
in no way interfere with the jurisdiction independent agencies wouid have over for-
eign service firme on non-trade-relzted matters. Inatzad, it would smevely give the
President the ability to ensure that foreign service fiims are granted the same op-
portunity in the U.S. market as our own service firms enjoy in foreign markets.

Until an international agreement on services is negotiated, granting the President
this authority is absolutely necessary in ordor to promote fair trade in sevvices.

Mr. Chairman, these points, on which I believe there is general agreement, are
the principal elements of the legislgtion we have intreduced. My subcommittee will
markup my trade in services bill, 1.R. 5519, on June 15th. At that time, [ will offer
amendments which will maka the legislation reflect more perfectly the policy I have
outlined. I will be happy to share these amendments with you.

Again, Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you for this opportunity to tesiify before
your subcommittee. I look ferward Lo working with you in passing ihis important
legisiation this year.

Chairman GiBBONS. You made a very fine, strong staiement,
much of which I agree with. I lock forward to sharing with you the
responsibility of developing this legislation.

My staff has reported to me that staff cooperation has been ex-
cellent, and we will continue to work together to try to solve this
problem. I am glad that you have taken the lead. We Lave repre-
sentatives from the west coast on high technology, and you in the
service area. Services are, I call them, the export of cur renewable
products, our brain power.

Perhaps one of the things we can best preserve is just that.

It is important we develop international ruies of agreement; that
they be fair, good rules that will allow us to operate in a free
market.

I appreciate your taking the time to come and make this state-
ment.

Mr. Fror1o. Our subcommittee has always primary iurisdiction
over the field of tourism as well as the insurance field, and we
have a number of cage studies of where those industries have really
had to deal with nontariff barriers as they have tried to in a sense
export the services that flow fromr those two very important areas
to our economic health.

We look forward to cooperating with you.

Chairman GiBBoNs. We next have a panel of witnesses, the Hon-
orable David R. Macdonald, Deputy U.S. Trade Representative, and
the Honorable Lionel Olmer, Under Secretary of Commerce for In-
ternational Trade.

Mr. Macdonald, you are first on the witness list, and then we
will hear from Mr. Olmer.
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STATEMENT OF DAVID R. MACDONALD, DEPUTY U.S. TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. MacpooNALD. We appreciate the opportunity to appear before
this subcommittée to discuss services and high-technology trade
policy and address l'e'fialatidn before you concerning these areas.

I have a medium Qngthti prepared text, which I would like to
submit for the record, and then extract from it, if I may. ‘

Chairman GieBoNs. All right, sir. Your lengthy statement will
app:. -~ in f!l, and you may proceed. ,
f. MAcpoNALD. Today, tréde in services and high technology
may be the most important of the emerging international trade
issues. This is not to say that services industries are new to inter-
national trade, Mr. Chairman. )

Services such as shipping have been an adjunct to trade invisible
goods since humanity has been engaged in trade in goods.

The important distinction between past. and. present for trade in
services, both:-on a domestic and a global level, is the tremendous
technological charige which has occurred over the past decade.

This change has a twofold effect.

First, it has a very positive effect on employment resulting from
the production of the services, themselves, as well as service-relat-
ed goods. Approximately 65 percent of our gross national product is
service generated, and roughly 7 of 10 American workers are em-
ployed in service sectors; 18 million new jobs were created by the
service sector alone during the last 10 years, compared to 2.5 mil-
lion jobs by the goods-prnducing sector of the economy. ,

Second, technological change is causing international service in-
dustries to become interrelated. ‘ )

Now, currently, the United States possesses an important
strength in services because of highly competitive or superior tech-
nolégy in many areas.

The importance of services to our economy is not confined to the
domestic market.

The export of services has become a major source of export edarn-
ing helping to offset the deficit in our trade and visible goods.

e see great potential growth opportunities for U.S. exporters of
services, many of which represent the most dynamic sectors of our
economy. .

- However, having a competitive ‘product or even the best product .
is not enough. The United States will not be able to reach its full
export potential unless we-are able to deal efféctively with a wide
‘ange of barriers that-confront many of our service industries:

e most serious barriers are of‘an international nature, and it
is in international negotiations that solutions will have.to be found.
In developing our strategy for dealing with these probléms:we must
be sure to seek input from the private sector as well as to work
closely with State ﬁ‘overnments,whgre they have regulatory respon-
sibility. Again, H.R. 5383 has taken into account thesé: important
%‘re‘ments., ' : T - :

. Chairman, I know you and members-of the committeé agree,
. solutions to the problems of international-services industries ulti-
mately lie in the establishment of a framework which outlines
rules governing trade in services.
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_ At the same time, we recognize these are immediate problems
that must be addressed. We are attempting to deal with these
through bilateral consultation, which is the primary tool we have
available right now. Through more effective.use of bilateral consul-
tations' we have been able to reduce a number of trade problems
affecting service industries. -

~While we have had some successes with. this process, the bilater-
al-efforts have:also clearly shown the limitations of a bilateral ap-
proach. Without clear Presidential authority to pursue domestic
remedies to unfair foreign trade practices in services and in the.ab-
sence of internationally accepted rules and procedures for trade in
services-our ability to resolve problems bilaterally depends either
on the good will of our trading partners, or the leverage we can
- exert:through our overall commercial: relationship. ,
It is therefore appropriate that H:R.:5383 addresses Presidential
‘authority under section 301 for dornestic.remedies to unfair foreign
practices. In this regard, Mr:. Chairman, ‘H.R. 5383 touched on two
other areas which are of concern to us-and which. require clarifica-
tion: (1) whether the President has the authority to deny. the im-
portation of certain services, and (2) whethér the President can
take action against a service regulated by an independent regula-

R tanlisbing a do ‘ foc

Establishing a domestic process is not enough. If we are to effec-
_tively reduce international barriers, we must establish a formal in-
- terfiational framework. To this end, the United States has under-
taken a significant political effort.to assure that the GATT begin
examinifig trade barriers in services, as a part of a work program
_ to determine the advisability of trade negotiations on trade in serv-

ices. ° .

- “The work program that we would like to have the GATT under-
take includes: (a) compilation of an inventory of barriers that coun-
tries experience in these sectors; (b) analyzing the GATT articles as
to their potential application to services, and (c) examining the
GATT codes as to their potential application to service industries.
Such a program should lead to negotiations aimed at developing in-
ternational rules to liberalize services trade. ,

Mr. Chairman, it is both important and timely that your legisla-
tion addresses the need for reviewing obstacles to services. Al-
though the President already 3 negotiating authority, your
bill expresses an important U.S. political commitment to interna-
tional work on services and will help communicate the determina-
tion of the United States in this regard.

Turning to hizh technclogy, Mr. Chairman, all the bills and stud-
ies that 1 have reviewed concerning high-technology dpolicﬁ' issues
indicate that the cause of increasing international trade policy con-
cerns is thecrucial importance attached to high-technology indus-
tries and their perceived impact on the national .economic and de-
fense structures. A distinguished Japanese Government official
once said that “steel is the rice of industry.” In the same sénse,
‘high technology is now looked upon as the rice of economic prog-
ress. - :

“As international competition in high technology industries be-
comes. ‘more intense, there are indications: that governments are
" promoting their high technology industries in ways which threaten
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to create strains, both among industrialized nations and between
the industrialized nations and the developing and newly industrial-
ized nations. The ultimate results of this process, unchecked and
unresponded to, could be international governmental rivalry in
high technology leading to a fractionalizing of markets, with a
slowing down rather than to an accelerating pace of innovation
and application of new technologies. This outcome would be detri-
mental to our interests as well as to global interests, in developed
or a-developing country alike. y

The growing world importance of high technology has led many
governments to adopt policies and practices dir at the develo
ment of these industries, For example, the Japanese Government 18
currently engaged in the following R. & D. subsidized .and rationa-
lized ﬁr ams in integrated circuits, fifth-generation computers,
biotechnology, and are putting heavy emphasis on R. & D. in fiber
optics, lasérs;-and nuclear reactors, :

In the mieantime, the development of the European Airbus, and
its promotion; appear to be dominated more by a drive for national
participation in the large jet passenger aircraft industry than by
profitmaking motivations. . .

Similar concerns have led to the foreclosing of national markets
for telecommiunications equipment, heavy electrical equipment,
and other industries. Rather than looking to the law of compara-
tive advantage as the touchstone determining the flow of invest-
ment and production, a number of foreign governments have taken -
to heart the statements of Japanese Finance Minister Takahashi
that “it is'far more difficult to nullify the results of an economic
conquest than of a military conquest.” .

The subject of conflict in economic development policies of sover-
eign nations is indeed a sensitive item internationally. The admin-
istration’s approach to this and other issues involved in high-tech-
nology trade have, of consequence, been varied.

In the GATT, we have proposed that the ministerial level meet-
ing scheduled for next November launch an immediate work pro-
gram to review barriers and disincentives to trade in advanced
technology products and services; examine how these barriers are
currently dealt with in the GATT and make specific recommenda-
tions as ‘o what steps are needed to deal with the trade problems
of the high-technology sector.

Bilaterally, we have impressed upon the Japanese our serious-
ness that high-technology markets be open on a mutually recipro-
cal basis when the industries on both sides of the Pacific are of
world competitive class. We have .also taken the practical step of
setting up a bilateral workgroup on high-technology industries
with the objective of identifying factors affecting competitiveness
and making specific recommendations to the respective govern-
ments on ways of reducing or eliminating barriers and distortions
to trade in high-technology goods and services and investment.

Introduction of Froposed legislation like H.R. 5579 and H.R. 6433
is immediately helpful to our efforts. It recognizes the unique prob-
lems of technology-intensive industries long taken for granted in
our international trade policy.

~In March, Ambassador Brock asked Congress to examine the de-
sirability of legislating Presidential authority to negotiate the re-
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duction -of barriers to trade in high-technolocy goods, including the
reduction of tariffs in exchange for equivalent concessions. A con-
gressional examination was also sought of the degree of the inter-
national acceptance, of foreign industrial and intellectual property
rights as they affect trade and technology flows. Let m~ under-
score, on behalf of the administration, that we welcome a thorough
examination of these issues leading to appropriate legislation.

Domestically, high-technology goods and services and know-how,
itself, are critical to the present and future competitive position of
the U.S. economy and our national security. ‘

Nevertheless, our permanent position in high-technology fields is
being challenged by foreign competitors. Part of the answer to this
challenge lies in what we, Government, business, labor, and educa-
tional intitutions—can do for ourselves to remove disincentives to
research and innovation within our own country; part of the
answer lies in developing a new set of international rules; part of
the answer m:i/ lie in the development of an industrial policy.

Internationally, we must accommodate the legitimate aspirations
of other countries to develop their high-technology industrial bases.
However, governmental policies designed to foster their own indus-
tries’ competitiveness and exports in-an artificial environment that
discriminates against foreign'competition should be eschewed.

Efforts to promote domestic high-technology industries in a hot-
house-protected environment may breed new industries unable to
compete in an open world market.

Simultaneously, the fragmentation of markets and the exploita-
tion of a basic research done in other countries, which often accom-
panies the nationalistic promotion of these industries, may discour-
?_ge %1;% very research on which the high-technology industries are

ounded. -

Conflict in economic policies among nations with negative trade
effects must be dealt with through increased consultation among
nations and, where necessary, brought under international disci-
pline. With special emphasis for the developing countries, the
availability of efficient technological processes and goods in a re-
sources-limited world should be encouraged.

High technology will be a significant source of economic growth
and productivity for the world’s economies in the 1980’s if nations
work together to insure that our governments adopt policies to pro-
mote vitality and competition and resist protectionism and other
trade and technology distorting measures.

Mr. Chairman, I applaud the leadership taken in considering leg-
islation addressing trade issues of the future. Technological innova-
tion and economic evolution are causing the role of service and
high-technology industries in global commerce to become more and
more important. \

The United States as a leader, both in trade and technology,
must recognize this importance and push for an international
framework as part of our existing trade laws. Our decision in this
&eg will not be made without full consultation with your commit-
Thank you, sir.

[The prepared statement follows:]

95-924 0 - 82 -~ 2
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SrateMENT OF DAVID R, MACDONALD, DEPUTY U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE

‘Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, I appreciate the opportunity to
appear before the subcommittee tc discuss services and ﬁ:g’h technology trade =polic¥
and address legislation before you concerning these areas. Ambassador Brock and
both fael these are priotity areas of U.S, foreign trade policy. Indeed, they may be
the most important of the emerging intérnational trade issues.

TRADE IN'SERVICES

This 'is not to say that services industries are new to international trade, Mr.
Chairman. Shipping, for example, has been around since man first found it neces-
sary to tradé by water. Insurance and banking likewise have been integnl parts of
commerce for hundreds of years. Even the younger of the industries such as commu-
‘nications. have been with us for some time. '

Theé important distinction’betweeni-past and present for trade in services both on
a domestic and global level is-the tremendous technological change which has oc-
curred over:the past decade. 3; ’ . L o

This change has had a twofold effect. First, it has a very A]pogitive effect on émploy-
ment resulting from the production;of the services themselves as well as service re-
lated goods. ‘Approximately 65 percent of our GNP is service generated:and roughly
7 of 10 American workers:are employed in services sectors. Eighteen million new
,;oha‘ were created by the service sectors alone during the past 10 years, compared to

.5 million:jobs b{,‘thc, producing sector of the.economy. )

Second, technological change is causing-international service industries to becon:e
interrelated: Banking, avihtion.ihippig%, insuraince and telecommunications, while
distinctly separate industries, increasing ty have'a closeé interrelationship, allowing a
Canadian banker to transmit a letter<of: credit by satellite: to a U.S. shipper who
.arranges for a local branch of a German .marine insurance company to underwrite
‘his goods moving by air or.gea to thé Far East. '

Currently the United-States possesses an important strength in services becatise
of highly competitive or supetior technology in many areas. The impori2nce of serv-
ices to our‘economy is not confined to the domestic market. The export of se:v.cea
has become a major source of export earnings, helping to offset the deficit in our
trade in visible goods. ' ]

We have every reason to believe, Mr. Chairman, that U.S. service exports will
continue to.grow in the years ahead. Between 1974 and 1980 the value of world
trade in services inc by more than 150 percent. We see great potential growth
opportunities for U.S. exporters of services, many of which represent the most dy-
namic sectors of our economy. However, having a competitive product or even the
best product on the market is not enough. The United States will not be able to
reach its full export potential unless we are:able to deal effectively with a wide

of barriers that confront many of our service industries.
ese problems I speak of are not always ‘of foreign origin.-In some instances we
act as our-own worst enem%by implementing policies or laws which act as export
disincentives to U.S, firms. We.agree with the concept of analyzing U.S. policies and
laws, including those contained in H.R. 5383, as they affect our service industries.

By and large, however, the most serious barriers are of an international nature,
and it is in international negotiations that solutions will have to be found. In devel-
oping our strategy for dealing with these problems we must be sure to seek input
from the private sector as well as to wor closeslgsswith state governments where
they have regulatory responsibility. Again, H.R. has taken into account these
im it requirements. . .

Mr. Chairinan’] know you and members of the committee , solutions. to the

roblems of ‘international services industries ultimately lie in the establishment of a
g-am ework ‘which outlines rules governing trade in services. It is to this end that
Ambassador Brock and I have devoted a considerable amount of personal time and
agency resources.

During the week of May 10 the OECD Ministers met to discuss a number of inter-
national issues. One of the themes which evolved out ‘of this gathering was the need
to address service issues as one-of the key elements of trade in the 80’s. The subj
will be raised 1 at the Versailles Economic Sumimit as. well as at the November
meeting of the e Ministers at the GATT.: o~

We ex the GATT Ministerial to establish a work program on the key trade
issues of the 1980’s, services will be high on our list of priorities for this program.

' _ In short Mr. Chairman, we are using every opportunity available to-promote the
developinent. of an international regime {o dexl with trade in services.
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At the same tie we recognize these are immediate problems that must be ad-
dressed. We are attempting to deal with thece through bilateral consultation which
is the pi tool we have avaihble right now. Through more effective:use of bi-
lateral consultations we héve been ‘able to reduce a number of trade problems af-
fecting nrvioe industries. While'we have had some successes with this’ the
‘bilateral efforts have also: clearly:shown the limitations of ‘a- bilate appro.ch
Without clear Premdentml authority to pursue domestic remedies to unfair foreign
trade: ices in services and in the absence of internationally accepted rules and:
“procedures. for trade in semoes our ability to resolve problems bilaterally depends

either ‘'on the good-will of our trading partners, or "the. leverage we can exert
through: our overall commercial’ relatxonggég

It ‘is-therefore appropriate thi addressos Presidential authonty under
Section-801 for domestic remedies to unfair foreign hipractxoea ‘In this Mr.
Chairman. H.R. 5388:touches on two other areas which are of concern to us-and
which roquire clarification: (1) Whether the President has the authority to deny the
gam'tportatxonwi Wrtam tedmb ces; aﬁd (2)dwl:etherhttge President can take action

a service a yanme nenregu ry agency

It is“important that these ambi tfe cleared up. Itwllltake severalyearsto
establish; the kind ‘of internatior framework I described’earlier, and in the mean-
time we'must have the appropriate tools to déal with bilateril problems and forei
barriers. Addrtxonally, 'it 18 necessary to define the role-of the regulatory agenciés in
this’ process ‘bacause of the knowledge' and' expertise they. for the various
-gervice*sectors. In the last analysis; however, we stror elieve the President’s
ability to-negotiate-trade. agreementa could be senotuly undormmed if he does not.
have sole authorityto retaliaté: where questions of trade policy are at stake.

“Whileé sich Presidential' authority would be taken as'part of his overall trade re-
sponsibilities; it would be otitside ‘of the regulatory considerations exclusively re-
served'fot the indepenidént agencies, This is crucial so-as not to infringe on the reg-
ulatory’ agency’s authonty to deny a fore license if the apphoatxon ailed to satis-
fy the usual critéria-embodied in the reg-;f:tory o tion's responsibilities.

‘Establishing a.domestic process js not-enough. If we are to effectively reduce in-
ternational barriers we must establish a formal international framework. To this
end the United States has undertaken a significant political effort to assure that the
GATT being exami tradebamersmeemces,asapartofaworkprogramto
determine the advisability of trade negotiations on‘t-ade in services.

The work program that'we wouild like to have the GATT untake includes: (@)
Compilation of ‘an inventory of | barriers that countries experience in these sectors;
o) analynn%‘the GATT Articles as to their potential application to services, and (@
examining the GATT Codes as to their potential application to service industries.
Such a program should lead to negotiations aimed at developing international rules
to liberalize services trade. One of our aims i8 to frame a Code of Cunduct that will
incorporate a general set of pnnc)ples applicable to a cross-section of services indus-
tries. We would also like to exfaore the possibility of sector specific agreements deal-

thh market access and related issues, where that proves appropriate and desir-
e. We are convinced that it is in the interest of every country to establish fair
markets for services,

Mr. Chairman, it is both important and tlmely that your legislation: -addresses the
nééd for reviewing:obstacles to services. Although the ident already pocesses ne-
gotiating authority, your bill expresses an important U.S. political commitmert to
international wor "on semoes and will help communicate the determmatxon of the
‘United:States in this regard,

Anotber important provmon of the bill which I touchéd on earher is role of the
statés-in‘the international services effort. The Federal Government must develop a

dialogue with the States to ensure that their sovereign interests are in
the tory process. At.the same time our trade negotiator must-be able to
on behalf of. the United ‘States in matters affecting foreign trade. I am confident

both of ‘these-objectives can 'be realized. through close oooperatzon with state govern-
menis and industry groups. We.are estnbluhmg a.wor/ relationship with organi-
zations such as the:National Governors’ Aseociation, the'National :Association of In-
surance Commissions, and others i -in order to: -out these objectives.

Mr. Gmrman in’the area of services data, we have known for some time we must
improve-our information-on international trade i in*services. While official U.S. data
for.1980 -shows U.S; rts of services of $80 bllhon, it is likely that actual
of “U.S: wervices in-* worewollabove t figure, and in fact could have
more than twicethat nuriber. Our-office, togéther with a-number of other agencies,
funded two separate studies which made a number of raeommendatxons for improv-
ing U.S. dsita on international trade in services.
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TRADE IN HIGH TECHNOLOGY

lt\i‘lr. Chairman, I would now like to turn to the. subject of high technology goods
and services, ,

All the bills and studies that I have reviewed concerning high-technology policy
issues indicat: that the cause of increasing international trade policy concerns is
the crucial i portance attached to high-technology industries and their perceived
impact on th. national economic and defense structures. A distinguished Japanese

overnment official once said that, “steel is the rice of industry”. In the same sense,
f\igh téchnology is now looked upon the as the “rice” of economic progress. High:
technology goods and related services are viewed by most nations.as absolutely criti-
cal to their economic developmént and industrial competitiveness and rational secu-
rity; in both a narrow military sense and from a broader perspactive of robustness
of the induatrial base. ' - .

In order to better understand our domestic industries vis a vis the international
marketplace, the Office of the United States Trade Representative has commis-
sioned a private study entitled “Technology and Trade Policy: Issues and Agenda for
Action” which was published in October, 1981, and made available to the Subcom-
mittee. Although this study presents the views of its authors and not necessarily
that of the Administration, I commend it to you as an insightful survey and analy-
sis, . o

As international competition in high technology industries becomes more intense,
there are -indications that governments are promoting their high technology.-indus-
tries in ways which threaten to create strains, both among industrialized nations
and between the industrialized nations and the developing and newly industrialized
nations. The ultimate results of this process, urichecked and unresponded to;:could
be international governmental rivalry in high-téchnology leading to a.fractionaliz-
ing of markets, with a slowing down rather than to an accelerating.pace of innova-
tion and application of new'technologies. This outcome would be detrimental to our
interests as well as to global interests, in developed or a developing country.alike.

Before preceeding further in my testimony, I will try to make clear what I mean
when I say “high-technology industries”. In defining such industries some might
paraphrase Justice Potter Stewart's definition of pornography, “I know it when I
see it.” However; “high-technology industries” can be more formally defined as in-
dustries producing commodities or. services based upon the rapid application of inno-
vation derived from research to its embodiment in goods and services, or the techno-
logically sophisticated process of producing the goods or services. This .term includes
such industries as electronics, telecommunication, aviation, robotics and biotechnol-

, among others, but almost every industry has its “high-technology” aspects.

me view high-technology as the nascent industries that will expand and prosper
10 and more years into the future. These industries may include portions of mature
industries like ceramics, one of the world’s oldest industries, having segments that
are on the leading edge of innovativeness. Still another way of defining high-tech-
nolog industries 18 t0 assume that foreign governments can “know them when they
see them,” and to identifﬁ' the industries that foreign governments have selected for
special promotion. Whether we look at a French or a Japanese list, the key hign-
technology industries selected for nurturing are usually the same.

I would define ‘the high: technology sector to include those products the develop-
ment and manufacture of which create not only a tangible material asset, such as a
nuclear plant, but also an intangible asset, that is the value of the improved techno-
logical know-how needed to produce the asset itself. Although it .is very difficult to,
evaluate this knowhow, governments are willing to tax. their citizens in.order to ac-
quire it because of its potential for future profitmaking and job-creating capabilities.
Learning curves are so steep in these sectors that governments fear that the loss of
market share will permanently level then in the wake of their trading partners,
never to regain co;n]petitive production. Thus, the support for and protection of mar-
kets in_high technology is looked at as “option” paid for and purchased by govern-
ments to employ more of their.citizens gainfully in.high value-added industries over
the foreseeable future. -

This brings me back to the main issue: The growing world importance of high-
technology has led many governments to adopt Eolicies and practices-directed at the
development of these industries, For example, the Japanese Government is current-
ly én%%ld in the following R&D programs: - Sy

(03] has given approximately $400 million to five (5) Japanese companies to
develop advanced integrated circuits and $720 million for software development.

2 Mt@e'l'l is heavily supporting R&D efforts to develop the new fifth generation
computer. S o
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(3) The Japanese are putting heavy emphasis on R&D that will lead to energy
self-suﬂ'icnency in such areas as commercialization of fast breeder reactors and re-
processing of nitclear fuel.

(4) They are continuing to put a high priority on fiberoptics R&D and are ahead
in.the laser, technology required to use the system.

(6) MITIis also aggreeswel ushing biotechnology and hopes. to-spend $113 mil-
lion the next decade. Japan's advanced experience with fermentation is expected to
give them an edge in mass production of biotechnology

In the meantime, the development of the European Airbus, and its promotnon.

-appear to be-dominated more by a drive for national participation in the large jet
passenger aircraft industry than by profitmaking motivations. Similar' concerns
have led to the foreclosing of national markets for telecommunications eqilipment,
heavy: electrical equipment, and:other industries. Rather than lookmg to the law of
comparative advantage as the touchstone determining the flow of investment and
-production, a number of foreign governments have taken to heart the statements of
Japanese Finance Minister Takahashi that “it is far more difficult to nullify the re-
sults.of an economic conquest than of a military conquest.’

We do recognize that foreign governmental interventions, while divergent from

‘. our hefitage of relying on private enterprise and free markets, our legxtunate at-
~ tempts'to grapple with tlie problem of économic development However, such inter-

ventions both generate distortions in the trade ‘in high-technology goods and serv-
ices as well as in tke flow of technological knowhow and investment acrogs borders.

These distortions are compounded by “the special charactenstxcs of our lugh-tech
nology indistries. In thiese, industriés, Competitive success is founded on accumiilat-
ed: research, .production experxence, ‘and capital, but often perpetuated through pre-
eniptive” mtroductxon of new or improved products the revenues from which are
plowed back into the next, and usually more costly, round of research and develop-
ment and’ capital formation. Governmental intervention that close or disrupt mar-
kets and prices can result in lower immediate revenues but more importantly inter-
rupt the product development cycle lending to the new generation of products.

‘The subject of conflict*in economic development policies of sovereign nations is
indeed a sensitive item internationally. The Administration’s approach to this and
other issues involved in high-technology trade have, of consequence, been varied.

In the GATT, we haye proposed that the Ministerial level meeting scheduled: for
next November launch an immediate work program to review barriers and disincen-
tives to trade in advanced technology products and services; examine how these bar-
riers are currently dealt with in the GATT and make specific recommendations as
to what steps are needed to deal with the trade problems of the high-technology

sector.

Bxlaterally, we have impressed upon the Japanese our seriousness that high-tech-
nology markets be open on a mutually reciprocal basis when the industries on both
sides of the Pacific are of world competitive class. We have also taken the practical
step of setting up a bilateral workgroup on high-technology industries with the ob-
jective of identifying factors affecting competitiveness and making specific recom-
mendations to the respective governments on ways of reducing or eliminating bag-
riers and distortions to trade in high:technology goods and services and investment.
From the U.S. perspective, we cannot, however, allow this joint.undertaking to slow
our own ef’_rts to protect U.S. industries from market distorting governmental
measures. Through this new forum we must make early and concrete progress on
difficult issues. In other areas such as cooperative reeearch a longer term analysis
of the issue may be needed. -

Introduction of proposed leglslatlon like H.R. 5579 and H R. 6433 is immediately
"helpful to our efforts. It recognizes the unique problems, of technology intensive in-
dustries long taken for granted in our international trade policy. For the first type
these industries are competing for national attention with industries that suffer
from immediate import competition problems.

In March, Ambassador Brock asked Congrees torexamine the desirability of legis-
lating Presndentlal authority to negotiate the reduction of barriers to trade in high-
technology goods, including the reduction of tariffs in exchange for equivalent con-
éeesxons A Congressional examination was also sought of the degree of the interna-
tional acceptance, of foreign industrial and intellectual property rights as they
affect trade and technoiogy flows. Let'me underscore, on behalf of the Administra-
tion, that we welcome a thorough exaxmnatxon of these issues leading to appropriate

legislation.
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CONCLUSION

Domestically, high technology ‘goods and services and khowhow itself are cntlcal
to the present and future competitive position-of the U.S. economy and our national
security. Nevertheless our permanant _position in high technol ﬁelds is -being
challenged by foreig'n competitors. Part ‘of .the answer to this ¢ <lies in what
We, government, business, ‘and educational institution—can do or ourselves to

remove disincentives to research and innovation within our own couritry; part of the
answer lies in developing a. new set.of mtornatxonal ruleo, part of the arswer may
lis.in' the'development of an ‘industrial po 1& .

Intornatiomlly we must accommodate
.triu to devel tfmir high tochnol mdultrial . However, governmental poli-
od to.foster their own industries’ oompetitxvenm and exports in an artifi-
dal env t that discriminates against foreigni: oompetmon should be eschewed.
‘Efforts to promote domestic high-technology industries in a hothouse protected envi-
-fonment.may breed new industries unable to conzg:te in an open. world market. Si-
multanooully. the fraqmenhtion of markets and the éxploitation of a basic research
done in other countries, which often accompanies the nationalistic promotion of
these industries, may discourage the very research on which the high-technology- in-
dustries are founded. Conflict in .economic policies among nations with ‘negative
trade effects must-be dealt with through increased consultation among nations and
where necessary, brought under international- discipline. With special emphasis for
- the developing cotintries, the availabilit; {oOf efﬁclent uachnologxcal processes and
goods in‘a’ reeoureel-hmxted world should be encourdged
i 1ﬁcant source of ‘economic growth and productivity
¢ 19808 if-nations work, .together to ensure that.our
governm‘ents adopt polic:eo to promote yitality and eompetitxon and- resist protec-
tionisin atid other trade:techno oFy rting measures.”
Mt. Chairman, I applaud the eadership taken in conudermg Jegislation address-
ing trade issues of the future, We are one of the few industrialized nations trying to
lan for what is dhead. Technologncal innovation and economic evolution are caus-
ing the role of service and high technology industries in global commerce to becom
more and more. xmportant. e United States as a leader both.in trade and technol
ust recognize this importance and push for an .international framework as
of our existing trade laws. Our-decision in this aréa wxll not be made without
bco ultatlon with your committee. .

Chalrman Gi1BBONS. Mr. Olmer?

STATEMENT OF LIONEL H. OLMER, UNDER SECRETARY OF
COMMERCE FOR INTERNATIONAL TRADE

. Mr. OLMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. -

I would like" to endorse and echo the remarks of Ambassador
Macdonald. We share them completely.

-1 have'a prepared statement, which I would like to have intro-
duced for the record, and would propose to be extremely brief in
the comments that I would like to make and focus those comments
on the subject of high technology

Chairman GiseoNs. Your full statement will appear in the

record.

Mr. OLMER I beheve that the importance of high-technology in-
dustries cannot be understated.

I thmk’ they are 1mportant for two essential reasons. One is the
economic side. That is, not merely trade and investment, but pro-
ductivity and standard of living

The second reason relates to natlonal security, and there is a
‘subset within that national secarity consideration.

High-technology industries :are essential to the maintenance of
strong defense forces. The importance of our technological preemi-
nence cannot be overstated. Sometimes we overlook the fact that in
high technologﬁnwe have a leadership responsxblhty relative to the
transfer of ology to the Eastérn Bloc, and it is essential in

mate asperations’of other coun-
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that context for us to maintain a preeminent role in high technol-
ogy in order that we may somewhat control and direct that flow of
technology.

I would like, Mr. Chairman, to leave you with what I think is a
profound message.

It is a personal view, though. I cannot yet say it is the view of
the adminisiration. It is my perception that, over the last two dec-
ades, there Las been a steady decline in the relative competitive-
ness of our high-technology industries.

I think that we are currently poised at a very critical juncture
where, if ?resent these trends continue, there will be an increasing
erosion of that technological preeminence with the very serious
consequences that I touched upon in both the economic and the na-
tional security spheres.

I do not believe it is too late to reverse those trends. Indeed, I
think the administration is taking a number of actions which will
gee to it that these trends are reversed. I believe that a primary
cause of this decline in competitiveness is that governments of our
major trading partners intervene in the marketplace for their own
enlightened self-interest, or what they perceive to be so, and have
targeted for preeminence their own critical technologies areas by
subsidization, by closure of markets, and the like, which Dave Mac-
donald addressed earlier.

We share in the Commerce Department the view of the U.S.
Trade Representative's Office that a principal focus of our efforts
to achieve equity, to assure the sustained preeminence of our in-
dustries in high technology and the services sector should be
through multilateral forums.

We support efforts in both the forthcoming GATT ministerial
and otherwise.

From my point of view, we must approach these efforts with our
- own enlightened self-interest and be certain that we do not give up
more than we get.

I think it will be an extremely difficult task, but we should not
shy away from focusing on where our national long-term interests
lie, particularly as we know we will confront increased competitive-
ness in this high-technology area in the future.

I am sympathetic with the purposes announced in your bill, and
we look forward to working with you to sharpen it for ultimate
passage in the not too distant future.

Thank you, sir.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT oF LioNEL H. OL.MER, UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE FOR
INTERNATIONAL TRADE

Thank you for this op%o;rtunity to address issues concerning the high technology
and services industries. Both of these industries contribute greatly to our trading
position in the world, as illustrated by the fact that together they account for a net
positive $67 billion in our balance of payments. This Administration is taking the
initiative to ensure that the problems confronting these industries will be substan-
tively addressed. ) .

The United States occupies the position of leadership in the Free World’s econom-
ic and political structure—a role that in large measure is underwritten by U.S. pre-
eminence in advance technology. Global stability in the economic, political, and mil-
itary spheres requires that the United States maintain its competitiveness in lead-
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ing-edge advanced technologies. Erosion of preeminence will have far-reaching con-
uences.

want to leave this Committee today with one direct, yet profound message—that
is, over the last 1 n decades there has been an overall decline in the relative com-
petitiveness of U.S. ‘gh technology industry. We are poised at a critical i’uncture
where if present trenas continue we run the risk of losing our leadership role in the
field and we will be facing the adverse economic and security consequences that
mgly accompany it.

o illustrate the present situation, our share of industrial country high technol-
ogy exports has declined from 32 percent of the total in 1962 to 27 percent in 1980,
At the same timme our major industrial competitors—Japan, West Germany and
France—have shown marked increases in their share of the world’s high technology

exports.

Kforeover, U.S. expenditures on research and development grew only 25 percent
in real terms between 1964 and 1979 whereas R. & D. growth ranged between 210
percent and 75 percent for Japan, Germany and France in the same period.

The decline in U.S. competitiveness in high technology will have an enormous
ripple effect throughout our entire economy. We cannot be indifferent to the prod-
uct composition of our economy and exports. Qur productivity in high technology
will directly determine our overall standard of Jiving.

Moreover, high technology industries play a crucial role in our nation’s defense.
Almost two-thirds of hardware sales to the Department of Defense went to the high
technOI? sector. I have asked rhetorically on a number of occasions whether the
United States would find it troubling if it were dependent on foreign sources for
roughly 50 percent of some high technology products used by our military. Although
I have thrown out such a figure simply to direct attention to the point, increased
reliance on foreign sources for military technology will heighten U.S. vulnerability.
In such situation, the United States would lose significant direct control and lever-
age over transfer of sensitive advanced technology to the Soviet Union.

The reasons for our relative decline are varied and range from higher relative
labor cost to declining relative investment in R. & D. to the high cost of capital bor-
rowing. In addition, and in my view, of first importance is the fact that the govern-
ments of our major industrial competitors have intervened in the market place and
have targeted critical technologies for controlled assistance and development.

The competitiveness problem we face in high technology goes far beyond our
usual trade policy concerns of tariffs and the traditional nontariff barriers. The
challenge in significant part stems from structural factors and foreign government
industrial policies.

Our services industries are often on the cutting edge of new technology. Their im-
portance to our economic health has traditionally been understated. However,
‘Services” (excluding those provided by the government) represent more than half
of our GNP and employ 50 million people—66 percent of nonfarm private sector
labor. We estimate that international services business—including exports and
income from overseas affiliates—amounted to $140 billion in 1981. And that does
nggd include services sold internationally by companies which are primarily goods
producers.

Despite the good track record of our services industries, increasing impediments
abroad on the direct sales, establishments, and operations of these firms, threaten
their future growth. And in some service industries foreign subsidization by devel-
oped and developingecountries alike threaten to undermine their competitiveness.

It may very well be, however, that our traditional approach to trade barriers will
not suffice in the high technology, or even services, area. As a government—and I
should say the same with respect to industry—we are only at the beginning in
coming to grips with this matter. Let me quickly review some of the steps we are
taking, particularly in the high technology area.

The Secretary of Commerce is spearheading an effort in the Cabinet Council on
Commerce and Trade to examine our competitiveness in high technology. I chair
the Working Group on High Technology Industries of the Caiinet Counci! on Com-
merce and Trade which is preparing an assessment of U.S. competitiveness in U.S.
high technology industries. I expect this study will be comﬁleted shortly.

n addition, we have created an ITA Task Force on High-Technology Industries to
be?n to identify ways of dealing with the industry practices of our major high tech-
nology competitors which constitute barriers to free competition.

ITA is not the only part of Commerce working on the problems of these indus-
tries. The National Bureau of Standards is carrying out programs in the areas of
computers, microelectronics, robotics and bioengineering. The Office of Patents is
concerned with protection of intellectual property rights. The Office of Productivity,
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Technology, and Innovation is concerned with factors which promote R. & D. and
productivity and is studying ways to enhance U.S, research capabilities. The Bureau
of Industrial Economics provides specific expertise in the major high-technology in-
dustries and regularly issues reports on economic conditions in these sectors. The
Natior;z:il Telecommunications Information Agency follows the international trans-
port of duta.

As to service industries, a task force within the Department, consisting of the
Office of Service Industries, the Bureau of the Census, the Bureau of Economic Af-
fairs, and Bureau of Industrial Economics, is working on a departmental proposal to
develop a gervice industries data base. This data base would be used to assess the
impact of foreign trade barriers on our services industries. This data base also will
engble us to effectively integrate service industry problems in our consideration of
pol}ilcy 1issues such as taxation, antitrust, export trading companies, and transfer of
technology.

Commerce and USTR have recently agreed with the Japanese Ministry of Inter-
national Trade and Industry to establish a bilateral working group of high technol-
ogy. The working group will address issues such as the structure and trends in high
technology industry, cooyetative R. & D, industry targeting, trade distorting bar-
riers and access to capital markets for high technology industries.

In the multilateral area, we are proposing that the GATT Ministerial in Novem-
ber establish a work ;:_l;gram in services and high technology. It is necessary that
we urndertake a conce effort with our major trading partners to assess ways in
which multilateral disciplines can insure free and fair competition in these areas.
We are aware the progress may be slow and, from our point of view, we must ap-
groach these efforts with an enlightened self-interest in order to be certain that we

o not give up more than we get. We must not shy away from the difficult task of
focusing on where our long-term interests lie, particularly as we face increased com-
petition in the high technology area.

We are sympathetic with the purposes of many of the provisions in the services
and high technology bills which the Subcommittee is considering. As the Adminis-
tration has indicated l[))reviouxsly, we stand ready to work with the Congress in at-

tempting to fashion a bill which satisfies our common interests.
ank you.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Macdonald, let us turn to the high-tech-
nology area.

Fgr your purposes, how would you define a high-technclogy prod-
uct!

Mr. MAcponaLD. Well, Mr. Chairman, there are those who would
define it in the same way that Potter Stewart defines pornography:
They know it when they see it.

It is without any further definition, but that cannot satisfy us.

1t is very difficult to define, and you are putting your finger on
one of the principal difficulties with legislating, with respect to it.

I think from our purpose the significant thing that exists with
respect to a high-technology industry that does not exist with re-
S{JeCt to other industries is that high-technology production in-
cludes those products, the development and manufacture of which,
create not only a tangible material asset such as a nuclear plant,
but also an intangible asset that is the value of the improved tech-
nological know-how needed to produce the asset, itself.

Although it is very difficult to evaluate this know-how, govern-
ments are willing to tax their citizens in order to acquire it, be-
galuse of its potential for future profitmaking and job-creating capa-

ilities.

Learning curves are so steep in these sectors that many govern-
ments fear that the loss of market shares will permanently leave
them in the wake of their trading partners, never to regain com-
petitive production.

Thus, the support for protection of markets in the high-technol-
ogy field is viewed by a number of governments as a kind of an

N
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option to maintain very desirable, high-value-added employment
for their citizens.

They are willing to pay for that, because indeed t?v?ly know that
they are paying for something, the fallout of which will help them
the next time there is an order for the same product or an im-
proved product.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Of course, this is a very difficult area in
which to negotiate. I notice that the United States and Japan re-
cently announced the formation of a bilateral issues committee
concerning high technologg.

What are our aims in that bilateral negotiation, how do you see
this bilateral negotiation fitting into our multilateral plan, and do
weivflan any more such bilaterals?

r. MacpoNALD. The Commerce Department and the U.S. Trade
Representative’s office are cochairing that.

airman Gieeons. Whenever that occurs, Mr. Olmer, or Mr.
Ambassador, go ahead, and each one of you chime in.

Mr. MacpoNALD. We look at the problem as one of the mainte-
nance of the competitiveness of our own industries in the face of
extensive subsidized and directed research and development by the
Japanese Government in many areas, which has in cases ever
reached the then state-of-the-art and advance of that particular
technology, and has gone down the learning curve to a point where
it tends to shut off the ability of the U.S. competitor who is not
getting similar favorable treatment at the hands of the U.S. Gov-
ernment.

It tends to shut off his ability to compete as progress is made in
that technology.

Somewhere we have got to neutralize that Government assist-
ance. Whether .t is done through the enforcement of the existin;
trade legislation that we now have, whether it is done througl
some sort of Government assistance on our part, or whether it is
done through going to the Japanese and making sure that the re-
sults of that, of those efforts, are made available, those efforts—
mostly by the Ministry of International Trade and Industry, are
made available on a national treatment basis; that is to say, to for-
eign manufacturers such as ourselves, in some way that problem
has to be solved, because it, over the longer term, the tension cre-
ated by those programs cannot continue.

. There must be a new method of operation between the two coun-
ries.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Mr. Olmer, do you have anything you would
like to add on that point?

Mr. OLMER. I think that with respect to your first question as to
how one measures high-technology industries, there are some more
precise ways of defining it rather than by sceing it, touching it and
squeezing it.

They include such measurements as percent of R. & D. expendi-
tures as a function of value added, whether looked upon as a prod-
uct-by-product basis, or industrywide.

There are some disagreements as to the definitions to be used,
but it is very important that we decide on a definition, and perhaps
use several s we look at the trends that have occurred in those
areas that we would label high technology.

sioq
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It is imggrtant to do that for, in part, the very reason that Am-
bassador Macdonald spoke with respect to the Japanese Govern-
ment’s efforts to join with us in a bilateral work group, to examine
high-technology issues as between us.

y own view is that we should not just blame the Japanese for
those trends in what I perceive to be a declining competitiveness.

It is a fact that the United States has experienced higher relative
labor costs; that we have invested less in R. & D.; and that our cap-
ital costs are higher.

Those are problems that we confront generically, and they are
not %roblems that we can foist off on the Japanese Government,
but, having ssaid that, it is also true, in my judgment, that the Jap-
anese ability in high technology cannot be overstated.

They are and will remain our major competitor across the board
ractically in what we would, I think, without argument, label
i§h technology.

t is essential that we assure for American corporations an abili-

ty to compete in Japan.

We cannot tolerate and reverse the trends in competitive decline
in a closed Japanese marketplace, either to direct sale or to invest-
ment.

Part of that stems from the fact that the Japanese economy will
be the second largest market for many high-technology goods, such
as telecommunications, computers and semiconductors.

It is essential, therefore, that our companies have that opportuni-
ty to compete fairly in that marketplace.

It is also significant that, to date, the Japanese Government has
not been forthcoming in allowing American corporations to buy or
have access to the fruits of high technology investment in research
and development, patents and licenses. As you well know, this
country has almost, without exception, offered its high technology
with commercial application to purchasers from abroad.

We would like to see that kind of a situation prevails, so I think
the first meeting of this working group will take place in July with
representatives of the TJSTR and the Commerce Department, and
the Japanese Government, and we will begin to look at a very am-
bitious agenda and work program designed to come up with some
answers to these very troubling questions.

Chairman GieBoNs. Have you completed an inventory yet of
what you think are the objectionable practices carried on by the
Japanese Government, or other governments?

Mr. OLMER. Yes, sir.

Mr. MacpoNaALD. I am not sure it will ever be complete, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mankind is very fertile. It can constantly
keff changing, but we do have an inventory now of——

r. MacponaLp. What we consider to be obstacles to American
exports; yes, sir.

Chairman GiBBoNS. When is your first meeting?

Mr. OLMER. In July.

Chairman CiBBoNS. In July?

Mr. OuMeR. I might say, Mr. Chairman, that the Japanese, I be-
lieve it was the Japanese, themselves, who proposed the establish-
ment of this work group initially. They are anxious to get together
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with us, and they realize this is a very sensitive matter between
our two Governments.

Mr. MacponaLD. That is correct.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Weil, that is very helpful.

Mr. ScHuLze. What has been the response ic your tentative feel-
ers at GATT over bringing up the issue of services? Was it greeted
with enthusiasm or reluctance? N

I have detected a reluctance to discuss anythimf the.. is substan-
tive at GATT, and I am curious as to what kind of response you
have received.

Mr. MacponaLp. We have been working on that issue and its
possible inclusion in the GATT ministerial agenda in November for
quite some time, particularly through the OECD, with other devel-
oped countries.

I think it is fair to say that we do not have opposition to a work
proiram on services among the developed countries.

The less developed countries were initially quite skeptical.

. Even they, however, particularly the ASEAN countries, arz be-
ginning to see the value of freeing up an area with as many obsta-
cles as do exist in this area, and while the issue is still out a little
bit with the LDC'’s, this matter will go on the agenda for Novem-
ber, to determine what the problems and possible solutions are.

Mr. ScuuLze. I take it from that, progress is being made; that
you feel better than you did a month or 6 weeks ago, and our hopes
for some kind of meaningful GATT ministerial are improving?

Mr. MacponNALb. I think they are.

Mr. ScruLze. Mr. Olmer, I share many of your concerns in the
high-tech area which need to be looked into very carefully.

am very concerned about the stealing and surreptitious taking
of our high-tech areas by other nations. We need some kind of safe-
guards along that line. Anything that you have in mind in those
areas would be appreciated.

Mr. OLmER. I might say with respect to that particular issue,
that the flow of technology from the United States to foreign coun-
tries, both Communist and non-Communist, comes predominantly
as a consequence of our being an open society.

I do not have a number that is authoritative, but I would say
that the very small percentage of the sum total of technology
which is acquired from the West by the Soviet Union comes from
surreptitious means or means which avoid the export licensing
process that we have.

Mr. ScauLze. You say a very small amount?

Mr. OLMER. A very small amount. The majority of it does come
from the open literature, access to scientists, some espionage, but
beyond the reach of our Export Act. That does not mean it is unim-
portant. We are making some dramatic changes in that area to
refair the holes in the system that presently exist.

might call attention to sfomething that is ongoing as a more
comprehensive look at the subject .of declining competitiveness and
hi%lh technology. The Secretary of Commerce is undertaking, on
behalf of the Cabinet Council on Commerce and Trade, along with
a working group composed of representatives of many, many agen-
cies of the Government, a study on the decline in U.S. high-technol-
ogy competitiveness. We eve looking at about a dozen different in-
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dustry sectors and trying to come to grips with the question of defi-
nition, and how one measures declines in competitiveness. There
are those that would say merely examinin% trade flows or relative
cost is not an indication of your absolute ability to compete, if you
really chose to compete.

Others would have a different view.

We are trying to consider those different views in a disciplined
and analytical way. I hope to have a study to present to the Cabi-
net Council within the next couple of months.

Mr. ScauLze. Thank you, gentlemen.

Thank you, Mr, Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Mr. Macdonald, what is the timetable of our
Government in GATT for actual negotiations to begin in services
or in high technology, or I should say perhaps and in high technol-

ogy?

gi{r. MacpoNALD. We expect that it will take some time to build
sufficient expertise in the GATT, and, therefore, the work program
we are proposing for the GATT ministerial in November is defined
to build up that expertise and provide the basis for determining
what those negotiations might address.

I don't know how long it will take to develop that kind of com-
fort with the subject matter on the part of our trading partners.

I would hope that the work program might be completed, Mr.
Chairman, in perhaps 12 to 18 months after the ministerial.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Well, do we expect to have these issues on
th? mi‘rylisterial agenda on trade in services, and trade in high tech-
nology?

Mr. MAcDONALD. Yes, but as work programs. In other words, our
trading partners are chary about plunging into a negotiation when
they are not fully familiar with what the parameters and frame-
work of such a negotiation might be. As a prerequisite or prelimi-
nary to such negotiation, we have told them that there should be
no' objection to the country sitting down and determining what is
amenable to being negotiated, what is not amenable to being nego-
tiated, our goal would be to set out the issues for negotiation first,
and we would look at that as not negotiations, but consultations
during the course of a work program that would create a frame-
work for negotiations later.

Chairman GiBBoNs. In the ministerial do you expect to set any
kind of gcals, objectives, deadlines or anything of that sort?

Mr. MacooNALb. ‘The ministers, we would hope, will instruct
their representatives in Geneva to set deadlines for the completion
of work programs. :

Chairman GIBBONS. Are we prepared to negotiate?

Mr. MacponaLp. I think we are a little ahead of most of our -
trading partners for the most part but we are not adverse to learn-
ing things ourselves.

f the work program surfaces things that we should be cognizant
of, we want to learn. .

In the services area, we have worked very closely with our advis-
ers, and have consulted with the interests that have a stake in this
area, such as the State governments, particularly in those areas
where. they have preeminent authority such as insurance. In addi-
tion there are the regulatory agencies which we have to work and




26

coordinate with in order to satisfy them that we are not depriving
them of jurisdiction while at the same time we are leaving the
Bowqx('i oftsolving internationalstrade problems in the hands of the

resident. : .

Chairman Giseons. How high is a negotiation on technology and
on services or the American agenda?

Mr. MacpoNALD. I would say that it is in the first range of our
objectives, the problem being that we just don’t think we could sit
down and start a negotiation until everyone is brought along on a
consensus-basis.

Chairman GiBBONS. I am afraid we have to be more vigorous
than that. How much time are we devoting to this? How about in
USTR? In Commerce, how much time are we devoting to getting
ourselves prepared for this negotiation? If we don’t lead the way,
nobody else will.

‘Mr. MacpoNALD. I would say we have spent an enormous output
working with fyour staff and you, Mr. ng.irman, looking toward
the framing of issues, but it just can’t be done overnight, I guess.

We will make every effort that we can to bring along our trading
partners.

We are meeting with them constantly over in Geneva and in cap-
itals to attempt to explain to them exactly what we have in mind,
and to get them to go along with it.

I met this ._orning with one of our major trading partners,
partly on this subject.

Chairman GisBoNs. We have a. ministerial coming up in Novem-
ker, and I am worried that we are going to miss the plane.

Is kthere any way—do you have enough people on board to do this
work? o ‘ \

Mr. MacpoNaLp. As you know,- Mr. Chairman, we have 113
people at USTR and 8 people are working full time in the services
area.

High technology and services are a very high portion of that
work, along with safeguards and a few other important topics.

I would say we have at least half of those.

hairman Gispons. How about on your agenda, Mr. Olmer?

It‘)&s:t OwMER. I would like to return to something I said at the
outset.

It would be the wrong thing to do even if our trading partners
were ready to enter into a negotiation, which, as I hear it, and read
it, and experience it directly, they are not.

Even if they were ready to o on and negotiate, we still are some-
what preeminent, and we don’t want to lose that edge in a negoti-
ating flourish.’ : :

We have spent in the Commerce Department, and with an inter-
agency group of geoplezthe last 4 months examining this issue of
the decline in U.S. competitiveness.

I have assigned eight people to work on that full time for the last
% mon:ﬁ:, and they will continue in that vein for probably the next

months.

In addition to that, working with Ambassador Macdonald, we are
a‘ggregating all of what we perceive {0 be the limitations on access
by U.S. companies from both ‘an investment and market penetra-
tion point of view. L
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I believe it is necessary that we do all of those things and under-
stand where we are before we would know where it is we want to
come out.

That process is close to completion.

Chairman GiBBONS. Are we involving the private sector at all in
this discussion? If so, how?

Mr. MacponaLD. Constantly; through the Advisory Committee on
Services, and through everyone else we can; well, we have a con-
stant dialog at Commerce, and when I say we, I mean the inter-
agency process on a service-industry-by-service-industry basis, con-
sidering what is possible, what is desirable.

Mr. OLMER. The ISAC program is a very useful resource. While
there is no one ISAC which is identified as high technology, partly
because high-technology industries are strewn throughout many of
the remaining ISAC'’s, we have spoken to them continuously on
this subject.

Chairman GiBBONS. Is it your impression that the private sector
olt;1$1r economy wants to move forward on a negotiation such as
this?

Mr. MacpoNaLp. Yes, it is, and I think that this is where, I
think, this will be reflected in congressional consideration in the
kind of legislation you have before you, Mr. Chairman.

I believe that you will find substantial private indusgiy support
for the kind of negotiating mandates that are contained in high-
technology and service bills that you are considering.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Is there anybody in American industry or
American labor that is opposed to negotiating in this area?

Mr. MacpoNALD. Yes, the unions, I think, feel that we have not
done an adequate job by them in the past, and we will not do an
adequate job for them in the future.

Chairman GiBBoNs. What is your response to that?

Mr. MacpoNALD. My response——

Chairman GiBBoNs. We won’t argue about the past.

Mr. MacponaLp. We need to be as assiduous as we can in look-
ing to union participation in these fields, because if we don't help
thg1 lvvorker in the United States, we have not helped anybody
really.

The whole thing gets down to how many people we have work-
ing, and what quality of job they have. And we look at that as our
ultimate responsibility. We do not think that a lot of the economic
problems we have resulted from international trade negotiations.

Chairman GiBBons. I suggest that you quadruple your work force
for this. We appreciate your coming here today.

The next witness is from the American Federation of Labor,
AFL-CIO, Dr. Rudy Oswald.

STATEMENT OF RUDY OSWALD, DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF
ECONOMIC RESEARCH, AFL-CIO, ACCOMPANIED BY ELIZA-
BETH R. JAGER, ECONOMIST

Mr. OswaLp, I would like to highlight my statement. Accomgany—
ing me this afternoon is Mrs. Elizabeth Jager, economist with the

o

Chairivan Gieons. We respect you and appreciate your coming.
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Mr. OswaLb. In your call for these hearings, you listed a large
number of subjects that are of concern to you. In trying to deal
with those large numbers of issues, I have tried to highlight just
one aspect, and would ask you to spend more time on those many
ilssuels that are before you, because they affect all of America very

eeply.

Today, I would like to highlight the question of whether it is ad-
visable to negotiate new international rules for service industries
and whether the question of what roles the United States should
seek to attain in a negotiating initiative.

Your questions just recently of the administration indicate that
we have not determined exactly what our goal should be in that
type of initiative, and before we press forward with attempting to
negotiate, we should make sure we know what it is that we want to
attain.

Further, whether we have adequately assessed the problems of
what the impact of such negotiations would be at home. So much of
the attempt up to now has been to try and look at foreign barriers,
whatever one might believe that those barriers are, without ad-
dressing adequately what the impact of the same sort of questions
and issues would be on the United States.

The two bills before you, H.R. 5383 and H.R. 5579, raise impor-
tant questions, but I think that they go further than is warranted
at the current time.

There is far too little understanding about the likely effects of
international negotiations on services or high-technology products,
as they would affect the U.S. industry.

Both bills give the President a mandate for negotiating. Both
bills give the President virtually unlimited authority to affect the
U.S. economy and its future through international agreements.

Trade in services is a much more diverse element than product
negotiations, and the problems for building construction trades are
not the same as they are for the entertainment industries or insur-
ance or banking or many others.

In terms of the effects on employment, they are also very di-
verse. The implications for airline and banking employees are very
different.

In some cases, we are only talking about fees and jobs. In the
way we currently account for services in the international trade
statistics, we are frequently counting payment rather than jobs in
terms of their impact.

We often count them differently in terms of employment statis-
tics from trade statistics. The notion of impacts are substantially
different. Frequently, we talk of barriers, restrictions for entry for
cooperation into engaging into a particular action, and yet in the
United States for the airline industries, we maintain the right of
the airlines to fly between two U.S. locations as a requirement for
a U.S. airline.

I am not sure at all that we want to open up the route from
Kansas City to Chicago to Singapore to airlines.

There is really no way that we could get equivalent access, be-
cause that is one city, a country city, nor is it a means of which, I
think in the long run, that we would maintain our superiority,
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having the ability to move and maintain an airline industry in this
country, if we didn’t maintain those types of requirements.

Similarly, another important element is immigration policy that
becomes integrated very greatly into any discussion of negotiations
on services, and we are afraid that the bill itself does not recognize
this problem, because many of the issues that require that nation-
als of a particular country perform certain jobs in the service
sector is in essence an important element of immigration policy.

We assume that the Congress is currently considering important
review of the entire U.S. immigration policy, and I assume we
don’t intend to change it through the back door in a service negoti-
ations in Geneva.

The other element that Mr. Macdonald addressed a little bit in
response to your question, and that is the reluctance of many of
the others to come forward in the negotiations, and one of the rea-
sons for that reluctance is that as they look at the U.S. statistics,
we show an immense surplus in services.

However, the dollar volume of the services account is not always
beneficial for U.S. workers.

For example, the current account is in surplus from dividends on
foreign investment, and because the statistics report profits of U.S.
industries, not necessarily returned to the United States as the
huge surplus, and that surplus gives the United States a weak bar-
gaining leverage and diverts attention from delays or prohibits ac-
tions on specific problems.

One other important aspect is that the bill does not draw atten-
tion to the kinds of employment that have already been lost or jobs
that will be gained or lost by expanded services internationally.

Nor has there been any recognition that dollar volume of serv-
ices transactions does not necessarily imply a proportionate rela-
tionship to gains and employment. It may be negative. Particularly
in high-technology industries, and the transfer of jobs to other
countries may accompany licensing of computer software or other
“sales” of services, but your bills make one very important contri-
bution to the discussion of the impact of services on trade, and that
is the addition of a new section 301 ability, authority against unfair
imports of services.

We think this is an important step in the right direction and
could provide some important needed protection against dumping
and subsidies and services that does not now exist.

In terms of the High Technology Act of H.R _we be-
lieve that again it gives the President unfettered ability to negoti-
ate on an unidentified range of high-technology products and for-
eign investment in those products.

As you had raised the question with the administration repre-
sentatives, there is clearly no understanding of what exactly is
high technology, and yet it calls for acceleration of all tariff cuts on
high-technology products.

We believe that there should be adequate time to have the ab-
sorption of the 8 years that are scheduled in the 1979 Tokyo round
of staging of those cuts that were the result of hard-won bargains
and specific concessions without automatically speeding up that
type of cut which currently, for many of the computer-type elec-

95-924 0 - 82 - 3
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tronic items, amount to approximately a 32-percent cut in their
previous reductions.

Mr. Macdonald spoke a little bit about the problems with Japan
and yet in the 1979 negotiations, we went through a major negotia-
tion on trying to get them to develop it in the code.

All that the Japanese telephone company has bought was a
couple of pocket papers, and that is hardly any hope for the {uture
of high technology and change.

It seems to me that under those circumstances, if we think that
we are going to accomplish some miracles with new negotiations,
we are only dzluding ourselves in terms of what we have already
not accomplished in terms of the previous negotiations in those re-
spects.

One item in the high-technology area that I would like to empha-
size is that the section 3(g) of the act seems to give the President
completely unfettered authority, and if I may quote just a small
section. It states as follows:

The President is authorized to include in any agreement concluded under this act
commitments to make changes in U.S. laws, regulations, and policies that are con-

sidered necessary and appropriate to insure the continued competitiveness of the
U.S. high technology industries, which change shall be considered by Congress.

I think those words, Mr. Chairman, are such that they abrogate
to the negotiators practically all authority over all laws, and even
though the Congress does retain the final authority to bless or not
bless those changes, once the negotiators in a pacly;age have made
those changes, it is very difficult for Congress to say go back and
start your ne%otiations over again, because you have given away
half of the U.S. laws under what is called a trade and services ne-
gotiation.

Mr. Chairman, we think that you have raised many impcrtant
questions, but we think that they are not simple, will not be solved
solely by instituting a new multilateral negotiations, and what we
need to is to emphasize more of the bilateral negotiations and the
sectoral negotiations within various sectors of the service indus-
tries, and specific approaches to high technology problems under
the existing laws rather than start new negotiations.

We thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF DR. RUupY OswALD, DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT oF EcoNOMIC RESEARCH,
AFL-CIO

The AFL~CIO welcomes this opportunity to discuss the varied and unique policy
issues involved in international trade in services and high technology products.
The subcommittee has raised key issues concerning the subjects of services and
high teg}lmology. Those issues center on the questions of what to do about the follow-
roblems:

e failure of the U.S. government to identify and address foreign government
measures or policies which inappropriately distort trade and investment flows in
the services and high technology industries.

The concern about U.S. laws and the applicability of current international rules
and agreements on international t::gde and investment in services and high technol-

O%he ency of enforcing existing laws which are in fact adequate to deal with
some trade and investment problems in the services and high technology industries
and of improving those laws which are not adequate.

The question of whether it is advisable to negotiate new international rules for
these industries and the question of what goals the United States should seek to
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attain in a negotiating initiative. Should the United States negotiate before it has
actually assessed the problems of industries and laws at home, and should it be
bringing an international initiative at this time?

The implications of launching a global negotiation without improving the inad-
equate data in international trade generally and in trade in services specifically.

The problem of finding ways to improve monitoring capability in services and
technologfy, when monitoring of trade in manufacturing is not adequately addressed.

Each of these igsues is serious enough to be the subject of separate hearings. Each
deserves careful study and lengthy consideration of the many, complex and diverse
problems that affect most of the U.S. economy. We hope this is only the first of
many hearings on these issues.

Services and high technology products involve many different industries, products
and problems. They affect most of the U.S. economy and are the key to America’s
future. They are not two sectors whose parts have clear and common characteris-
tics. In fact, they are not necessarily sectors at all.

The AFL-CIO believes, therefore, that H.R. 5383 on international trade in serv-
ices and H.R. 55679 on trade in technology are premature. There is far too little un-
derstanding abou* the likely effects of international negotiations on services or high
technology products at home. But both bills give the President a mandate for negoti-
ating. Both bills give the President virtually unlimited authority to affect the U.S.
economy and its future through international agreements. We believe these bills put
the cart before the horse. Instead of a blank check, the President should use wisely
the extensive authority already granted by the Congress before he is given more. In
short, practical steps to solve specific problems can be taken now.

We believe that under present law, the President has authority to negotiate on
U.S. access to foreign markets for each service industry and should act on specific
problems now.

The AFL~CIO belioves that much more study of the problems of the U.S. service
and high technology industries at home is necessary before legislation is enacted.
Recent experience shows that the U.S. trade laws and the international agreements
conrcguded in 1979 need to be reviewed before new international initiatives go for-
ward.

For example, the EEC has threatened retaliation against the U.S. if it plays by
the rules agreed to in 1979 on subsidized steel imports. This raises questions about
what international negotiations mean.

During the first five years of the Tokyo Round negotiations, the U.S. made many
concessions to get a subsidies code. The U.S. law on subsidies was finally changed in
1979 as a major concession. This change was the price for other nations to sign the
subsidies code. If the United States cannot now enforce compliance with law and
recﬁnt ag;lelements, then trade is only a one-way street and the United States has no

ights at all.
o launch new multilateral services and high technology product negotiations
before the Tokyo Round codes and tariff cuts are absorbed and tested is unwise.

While H.R. 5383 properly draws attention to the problems of U.S. service indus-
tries abroad, we believe that a legislative call for international negotiations and a
code on such a wide range of industries and issues is premature. In July of 1981,
AFL-CIO President Lane Kirkland summarized AFL-CIO policies toward trade in
services in this way:

“Services represent a huge combination of issues too long overlooked in trade
policy. For U.S. banks, shipping companies, airlines, broadcasting, advertising, in-
surance and many other types of firms, the policy issues seem clear: discrimination
against their foreign expansion calls for action by the U.S. government.

“For many years, AFL-CIO policies have also called attention to effects at home.
Seven out of ten U.S. jobs are now in ‘services.’ American seamen were the first to
experience the export of service jobs after World War II. American air traffic has
led to disputes that affect pilots, flight attendants and maintenance crews. The
AFL~CIO does not want to see jobs in services—now the majority of jobs in the
U.S.—traded away as manufacturing jobs have been.” . .

The four purposes of the bill are all important. First, the bill emphssizes the im-
portance of services to the U.S. economy. But the fact that services employ more
than 70 percent of all Americans and contributes more than two-thirds of our groes
national product does not translate.into any clear guide about the impact of negotia-
tions abroad on service industries or future employment at home. ) i

Secondly, the bill directs the Administration to raise the issue of an international
services code at the 1982 GATT ministerial meeting. We believe that the Co
should understand what such a code would consist of before such direction is given.
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Third, the bill provides for coordination and implementation of U.S. trade policy
with regard to services. While the direction for consultation with the private sector
is in the bill, there is no clear direction that the Administration study the problems
U.S. industries have experienced from foreign service industries in this market, and
the potential impacts on each industry of services negotiations.

Fourth, the bill seeks to insure that U.S. service industries continue to have free
access to foreign markets. To accomplish this objective, the bill emphasizes the
President’s authority to take action against unfair practices “either at home or
abroad which affect U.S. service industries.” But we believe that many important
existing regulations covering Fx actices at home should be preserved. In short, we do
not believe that removing all so-called trade barriers will necessarily benefit U.S.
industries or employees at home.

The trade problems in services are specific and quite diverse. The problems of
building and construction are not the same as the problems of entertainment. There
are so many different types of Perceived “trade barriers” that U.S. government of-
fices have made a list of over “2,000 barriers to services,” and this is fa. from ex-
haustive. Nor would everyone agree that all should be removed. Some examples of
service barriers reported in the October 5, 1981, Wall Street Journal are:

“Australia won't let foreign banks open branches or subsidiaries.

“Sweden bars local offices of foreign companies from processing payrolls abroad.

“Argentina requires car importers to insure shipments with local insurance com-
panies.

“Japanese airliners get cargo cleared more quickly in Tokyo than do foreign carri-

ers.

“And, if a U.S. company wants to use American models for an advertisement in a
West German magazine, it has to hire the models through a German agency—even
if the ad is being photographed in Manhattan.”

The effects on employment are also diverse. The implications for service indus-
tries jobs for models and engineers, for bank employees and airline personnel are
diversified. Fees and royalties, which are counted as payments or receipts for serv-
ices in the balance of payments accounts, may be the result of employing personnel
abroad and do not create U.S. jobs. In the same way, payments for foreign building
and construction operations are counted as payments, but they do not create build-
ing and construction jobs in the United States.

en employment classifications are different nationally and internationally. In
the U.S. economic classifications, for example, building and construction employees
are not classified as “service workers.” They are classified as “goods producing”’
workers. Thus, the international “services” are not the same as “domestic services,”
where employees are concerned.

These differences make it absolutely essential that policies on general negotia-
tions be based on the practical solutions for specific current problems so that the
huge diverse service industries will not be lumped together inappropriately for some
overal! negotiations. ‘

A commitment to overall negotiations in services, therefore, should await more
specific solutions through bi-lateral negotiations and action in each service sector to
solve American service problems in trade—both at home and abroad. While existing
trade laws already provide authority to act and negotiate on services, the authority
has not been used to get enough experience or solve enough real g‘roblems to give a
realistic basis for this legislation’s general call for negotiations. To make America
wait for another five years for the hope of global negotiations—whatever they may
mean—will not address the need for specific problems in specific service sectors to
receive adequate atténtion. Problems for airlines, shipping companies, credit card
companies, telecornmunications companies, etc., need solutions—not negotiations.

These are specific problems in services that have been multiplyinsg both in terms
of the effects on domestic industries and jobs and the effects on U.S. service indus-
tries when they try to operate abroad.

The airline industries’ problems abroad need action now, for example. No new
rights to foreign airlines in the United States should be given in exchange for “con-
cessions” abroad. For example, the United States should not open up for Singapore
Airlines the air route from Kansas City to Chicago because not allowing them to
have the route ir considered a “barrier” to trade. The United States has been hurt
already by too many one-sided negotiations. But this problem is not effectively ad-
dressed by a call for global negotiations on some unknown quantity of unidentified
“services.” It needs to be addressed now.

Insurance problems need action now, and some have received it. But should the
United States preclude any barriers to trade in services that would assure that the
United States has an insurance industry while it seeks global solutions? Or, in
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global negotiations, is it appropriate for “barriers” in insurance abroad to be re-
moved in exchange for the United States removing “barriers” in insurance abroad
to be removed in exchange for the United States removing “barriers” in shipping
here? Should the United States agree not to pass anK law that would assure that
the U.S. insurance carriers could continue to exist when foreign insurance compa-
nies where using unfair tactics in this market? We think many of the problems can
be solved now by positive action.

Immigration policy is an integral element when services are discussed in distinc-
tion to when products are negotiated. But the bill does not recognize this problem.
As we have shown above, the issue of requiring that foreign nationals perform cer-
tain jobs is a major complaint of the U.S. service industries about barriers they face
abroad. But a negotiation would affect immigration rules here and abroad to remove
such “barriers.”

The United States should not want to give up standards for lawyers, doctors, ac-
countants, nurses, electricians, etc. These standards have been developed to protect
American society as well as its economy.

Negotiations involve concessions, but concessions that would be considered by
service negotiators have not been examined and the impact on U.S. service indus-
tries at home has not been assessed. Even the condition of specific industries at
home—such as shipping, airlines, motion pictures, etc.—has not been .

The United States cannot afford to urge all the rest of the nations to come to the
table to nefotiate on a code for services by proclaiming that the United States has a
trade surplus in services, However, the dollar volume of the “services” account is
not necessarily beneficial for U.S. workers. For example, the current account is in
surplus from dividends on foreign investment and because the statistics report Prof-
its of U.S. industries (not necessarily returned to the United States) as a huge “sur-
plus.” That surplus gives the U.S. a weak bargaining leverage and diverts attention
from, and delays or prohibits action on, specific current problems.

The hill does not draw attention to the kinds of employment already lost or jobs
that will be gained or lost by expanded services internationally. Nor has there been
any recognition that dollar volume of service transactions does not necessarily
imply a proportionate relationship to gains in employment. It may in fact be nega-
tive. Particularly in high technology industries, the transfer of jobs to other coun-
tries m%f accompany licensing of computer software or other “‘sales” of services.

The United States should, therefore, go to the ministerial meeting to examine
how the GATT agreements are working and with the intention to assure the veci-
procity that is implicit in the GATT and stated in U.S. law. New codes and new
1gsues should await specific efforts and specific actions to solve current problems.

The United States needs to place ternporary restrictions on harmful imports—in-
cluding those in service industries—during this recession. In manufactured products
and parts of products where import penetration has gone up while the economy has
been declining, the impact disproportionately puts the burden of recession on
American workers. The same is true in service and high technology industries, such
as telecommunications.

The United States needs to act vigorously to enforce the reciprocity provisions of
the Trade Act. The fashioning of new remedies to assure a strong and diversified
U.S. industrial structure with growing service industries is essential for America’s
well-being, both at home and abroad.

H.R. 5579, the “High Technology Trade Act of 1982” goes even further and man-
dates the President to negotiate on an unidentified range of high technology prod-
ucts and foreign investment in these products. It calls for acceleration of all tariff
cuts on high technology products.

The Tokyo Round’s staging of tariff reductions over 8 years, starting in 1979, will
not be complete for some time. Therefore, if H.R. 5579 is adopted, much of the hard-
won bargains and concessions from the Tokyo Round will be undercut and avoided
by additional tariff cutting authority. The bill would compound the adjustments al-
ready required by the average total tariff cuts of 32 percent in the Multilateral
Trade Negotiations. Those multilateral negotiations for five years did not lead to
full cuts because of many compromises. It seems inappropriate suddenly to extend
the authority into the future.

The United States has given more than it received in most of the tariff rounds for
the past three decades. There is no reason to reduce U.S. tariffs even further, while
the United States and the rest of the world have not even digested the tariff cuts in
the Tokyo Round.

For exal;lgle, Japanese semi-conductor negotiations have not, in the view of many
in organized labor, been successful. The market has fallen out of semi-conductors
just as U.S. tariffs are lowest. The Japanese tariffs are down, but Japanese prac-
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tices, which effectively require and/or encourage production in Japan for export,
have not changed. Thus, the harmonization of the tariff on semi-conductors between
the "Taited States and Japan may lead to more companies going to Japan and a loss
of U u. competitive strength—in the United States. Meanwhile, the Europeans have
not reduced their i7 percent tariff on semi-conductors. They can ship to the United
States at the new low rate. The result will be expansion of production in Japan and
the EEC, while the United States has reduced its tariffs (unilaterally for Europe).
Thus, the accleration of tariffs cuts creates a one-way street for imports of high
technology products.

The bill also mandates negotiations to help U.S. industry to expand investments
in high technology in other countries. The AFL~CIO does not believe that U.S. nego-
tiations should seek to push even more investments abroad, particularly at a time
wheg I}J.S. investment is lagging at home, and was the central focus of last year's
tax bill.

Furthermore, H.R. 5579 authorizes the President to make agreements to change
virtually any U.S. law. Section 3(g) states:

“The President is authorized to include in any agreement concluded under this
Act, commitments to make changes in U.S. laws, regulations and policies that are
considered necessary and appropriate to ensure the continued competitiveness of
gaoe United Sgates high technology industries, which change shall be considered by

ngress . . .

Most U.S. laws took many years of democratic process to enact and sheuld not be
abrogated in an overall negotiation on trade issues. In addition to these concerns
about the bills, I will comment briefly on a few of the subjects listed in the an-
nouncement of these hearinge. All raise so many important and varied issues that
they deserve individual sets of hearings because they affect so much of the U.S,
economy and the U.S. economy’s place in the world of the future.

0 “Fo:;eign government measures or policies which distort trade and investment
ows.’

As this statement has already noted, what appear to be trade dis‘ortions in serv-
ices may in fact be considered essential in the foreign and U.S. economies. Such
laws, policies and practices are also of great importance to the economy of the
United States. Free trade is not the only issue involved when standards, require-
ments and other national provisions are established for the host of services which
are provided in any economy. While the U.S. firms may object to the policies of for-
eign governments that require that nationals perform certain jobs, the U.S. laws
and practices in federal, state and local laws may also—and properly require—U.S.
personnel to perform similar jobs.

In addition, in technology, the policies of most governments seek to attract, main-
tain and develop technology within their nations for defense and economic pur .
If the United States seeks only to reduce foreign practices while the United States
remains virtually open, the result will be the loss of the technology that is the basis
for future development of advanced technology.

“The urgency of enforcing existing laws which are, in fact, adequate to deal with
some trade and investment problems in the services and high technology industries
and of improving those laws which are not adequate.”

Until there is more testing of the adequacy of U.S. law through specific attempts
to carry out existing provisions, no new laws should be enacted. For example, the
Congress has already given the President power to use Section 301 to press for re-
moval of unfair and discriminatory practices by foreign governments against U.S.
services. Some cases have been brought. Until there is enough experience with these
efforts on a case-by-case basis, there should be no overall effort to pass legislation
that would encompass all of them generally.

“The problem of finding ways to improve monitoring capability in services and
t‘echnol, , when monitoring of trade in manufacturing is not adequately ad-

ressed.

The budget cutbacks and the reduction of data collection by the Reagan Adminis-
tration have already adversely affected the capability of the United States govern-
ment to assess trade flows in ;'Jroducts. To move forward into the categories that are
broadly described as “services” and “high technology products” without a budget ig
to ignore the reality that in today’s climate, there is too little collection of informa-
tion on trade generally.

In conclusion, the AFL~CIO believes that the United States deficit in merchandise
trade, which reached about $40 billion last year, should call into question the fur-
ther delegution of authority in new and unexamined subjects until much more de-
tailed understanding of each part of each sector has been gathered by the Congress.
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In short, Mr. Chairman, we appreciate your raising the issues and hope that this
will be only the first of a great number of hearings on complex and crucial problems
thatldaffect every part of the U.8. economy and U.S. relations with the rest of the
world.

Chairman GiBBoNS. As I understand your statement, Doctor, you
are not really opposed to a negotiation, but you are opposed to a
broad, multilateral negotiation?

Mr. OswaALp. That is correct.

Chairman GiBBoNs. You would like to negotiate with the other
countries on a country-by-country basis?

Mr. OswaLp. Country-by-country or in some cases a much small-
er sector, maritime, so we don't trade off things. The problems of
airlines are significantly different than banking, and to put them
all in one negotiation is premature.

We believe things may be addressed better in bilateral negotia-
tions rather than overall multilateral negotiations. We should reex-
amine what progress has been made and what conformity has been
made to the agreement we made at that time in the Tokyo Round,
but I think putiing a negotiating issue such as this on the table
would unnecesszrily distract the ministers from that reexamina-
tion.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that, if a bill comes forth from this com-
mittee, has a strong direction for multilateral negotiations, that we
will be on such a treadmill that there becomes an automatic result
that may or may not be really what the Congress had intended but
people seem to be committed, that there is then a U.S. commitment
that they have to get an agreement on services on a multilatera!
basis which may or may not been good for us, and we are the only
ones that have the gun to us in terms of achieving those results, so
that under those types of negotiations we are in a weakened posi-
tion.

Chairman GiseoNns. Of course, it is not my aim, and I hope nct
the aim of our own delegates to the ministerial to in any way
weaken the position that we have. Mainly, I would hope that we
could establish a set of international rules to which we all adhere,
that would give us a greater opportunity and not perhaps throw up
as many barriers to the export of high technology and the export of
services that have developed, and are developing, on a case-by-case
basis.around the globe. '

That is what I would hope that we would do at this ministerial.

Mr. OswaLp. That is very important, but I am very concerned
that in negotiations in banking, that we don’t undercut our own re-
sponsibility of the Comptroller of the Currency over U.S. banks.

We just had a major problem in New York with one of the
money funds going broke and being bought out by Chase Manhat-
tan Bank. If that were a foreign bank that would have interrelated,
what would have been the resgonsibilities of that foreign bank, and
what would have been the obligations of the ability to maintain
that large amount of money, some $180 million that are involved in
the changes that were brought about by the default of that major
corporation? -

Similarly, on the insurance industry, each State insurance com-
misgiocner has the responsibility to make sure that there is suffi-
cient funds to pay for claims.



36

If there are certain reserve requirements that are different for
insurance companies in other countries, will those reserve require-
ments be sufficient to meet the type of exposure that corporations
fgom gbroad may enter into in selling insurance in the United

tates?

I think much of this homework has not been done, and needs to
be done on a sectoral basis before we wholeheartedly embrace a
multilateral negotiations in services.

Mr. ScauLze. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have no questions,
and I would like to thank Dr. Oswald for his presentation.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Very good statement.

We now turn to the issue of services.

We have with us the Coalition of Service Industries, Inc., Mr.
Joseph Neubauer, president and chief operating officer of ARA
Services, Peter Finnerty, vice president, Sea-Land Industries, and
Richard Rivers, counsel.

Mr. ScuuLrze. I would like to welcome Mr. Neubauer. He is well-
known for his corporate activities as well as civic activities, and we
are proud to have him here.

STATEMENTS OF JOSEPH NEUBAUER, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF
OPERATING OFFICER, ARA SERVICES, INC.,, AND PETER FIN-
NERTY, VICE PRESIDENT, SEA-LAND INDUSTRIES INVESTMENT,
INC., BOTH ON BEXALF OF COALITION OF SERVICE INDUS-
TRIES, INC.

Mr. NeuBAUER. I am Joseph Neubauer, and my company is a
member of the newly formed Coalition of Service Industries, Inc.,
the first and only national organization representing the service
sector of our economy, with member companies drawn from a wide
range of service industries including banking, insurance, communi-
cations, shipping, and construction.

I am also president and chief operating officer of ARA Services,
Inc., a multinational company with diverse interests in the human
service sector, including food, health care, uaifcrm rental, trans-
portation, books and periodicals distribution scrvices.

It is an honor to appear before you today on behalf of the coali-
tion. Also appearing with me this afternoon are Peter Finnerty,
vice president of Sea-Land Industries Investment, Inc., and Richard
R. Rivers, of the law firm of Akin, Gump, Strauss, Hauer & Feld,
our counsel.

I have a prepared statement and I would like to highlight it.

ARA has 110,000 employees, including 11,000 overseas. Unlike
many of the members of the coalition, our international operations
do not represent a large portion of our total operations, only $200
g}ﬂ}ion or just under 7 percent of our total annual revenues of $3

illion.

However, we recognize that international trade in services is
growing much faster than trade in goods. The United States has a
clear leadership in providing the delivery and management of serv-
ices around the world.

Yet this dominance is facing stronger and stronger challenges as
other nations develop their own service expertise and technology
and can further restrict our ability to expand the services we pro-
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vide simply by increasing their trade restrictions and unilateral
regulations.

The U.S. Government must provide a more favorable environ-
ment for growth and better understand the key role of the service
sector, especially in the international marketplace. Otherwise, we
may well see the U.S. service sector begin to wither and fade before
the onslaught of foreign competition and advancement, just as has
happened in manufacturing.

We can’t let that take p]ace The service sector is an important
part of the future of America’s economy

‘Mr. Chairman, passage of this leglslatxon, H.R. 5383, the Trade
in Services Act of 1982, is therefore of great 1mportance Let me
reiterate what you and the members of your subcommitiee know
well, but what the Americen public may not know: The importance
of the service sector to our economy.

The New York Times on May 18, 1982 recognized the stabilizing
role that the U.S. service sector has played in counteracting the re-
cessilon which has hit many of our manufacturing industries so se-
vere

I have attached to my testimony a copy of the article, headlined:
“Services: Bucking the Slump—Employment in This Sector Has
Gone Up.” Much of our economic thinking in this country is a
matter of conditioned refiexes, reflexes developed many years ago
that desperately need to be modified.

Our Nation is oriented to the economic philosophies of a goods-
producing nation. This is reflected in this country’s economic poli-
cies and in the data we collect and discuss. It is reflected in our
international trade negotiations and just about all phases of com-
merce.,

Yet the facts are—and have been for some time—that we are no
longer a predominantly goods-producing nation. Some 70 percent of
the U.S. work force is now employed in the service sector, long the
fastest-growing sector of our economy.

The service sector makes up 65 percent of our gross national
product and accounted for a $40 billion surplus in our balance of
foreign service trade last year. The volume of exportid services is
growing at twice the rate of exported goods and has given our over-
all balance of trade payments a surplus for the last 2 years.

Further, and more importantly, in the last 6 years, well over 26
million new jobs were created in the service sector. That represent-
ed 90 percent of the job growth in this country.

It is time the economic importance of services be recognized and
that services be placed on an equal footing with goods under the
law of this Nation.

Today, the United States has a service economy in a marketplace
that is truly international. If we are going to make a national com-
mitment to growth by getting our economy back on track again, of-
fering more support to the service sector will give us a better op-
portunity to attain a greater share of world trade, generate higher
export revenues and balance-of-trade payments, receive a quicker
return on national investment, and create more new jobs at home
by bolstering the efforts of the already-established world leader,
the U.S. service sector.
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In the international trade area, H.R. 5383 is an important step in
that direction and a step which, with the minor reservations in my
full remarks, the coalition is here today to heartily support.

The Trade in Services Act of 1982 would accomplish several criti-
cal objectives of high priority to-the service sector. First, it would
serve notice ° our tradi~g partners that the Congress of the
United State . & thrown.its full weight behind the American serv-
ice sector and the efforts of the executive branch in the interna-
tional arena to bring services under the same liberal trading
framework as goods.

These efforts, which have begun in the Organization of Economic
Cooperation and Development, must move aggressively forward in
the General Agreement on Tariffs on Trade and other fora.

Without such combined momentum, which passage of H.R. 5383
woul? prov.de, our trading partners will cease to take seriously the
need for maintaining and improving a liberal world exchange in
the service sector.

Nontariff barriers abroad, whether they be in food services with
which I am particularly familiar, or in the many other service
areas which our coalition represents, will continue to proliferate as
nations seek to protect infant industries.

Such examples are: Highly technological such as data processing,
or in established industries which have become accustomed to mo-
nopolistic or quasi-monopolistic status in their countries.

A sampling of service nontariff barriers reported to the U.S.
Trade Representative: is appended to my statement. Visible politi-
cal suppert in the form both of these hearings today and passage of
this legislation will signal to our trading partners the high priority
which the United States attaches to the service sector and the lib-
eralization of such barriers.

Second, and more specifically, H.R, 5383 will supplement the
President’s negotiating authority with a clear mandate from Con-
gress which includes specific negotiating objectives for services.

Armed with this authority, the President’s negotiators at the
U.S. Trade Representative's Office will be able to attack and chip
away at foreign barriers to service industries abroad.

A third reason for the coalition’s strong support of this bill, and
a reason which is closely related to the above longer term objec-
tives, is the impact which passage of this legislation will have on
tt)l:}e GATT Ministerial Conference to be held in Geneva this Novem-

T.

This conference is the first since the one held prior to the open-
ing of the Pokyo round nearly a decade ago. It is a once-in-a-decade
opportunity to herald the importance of the service sector and the
need for the GATT to begin earnestly a work program in this area.
We strongly support the administration’s efforts to place services
at the front of the GATT ministerial agenda.

A fourth reason, Mr. Chairman, for the coalition’s support of this
bil! is its provision making it crystal clear that section 301, the
unfair trade practices provision of the Trade Ast of 1974, covers
services, including suppliers of services.

H.R. 5383 will erase any doubt of this %oint, which could arise in
future section 301 cases. Let me add at this time that the coalition
urges continued strong administration of this important provision
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of our unfair trade laws and hopes that section 301 may in the
future be used as effectively or evén more effectively in the service
sector.

Mr. Chairman, if the United States is to maintain its competi-
tiveness in the world market, it must come through both the mod-
ernization of our manufacturing capabilities and the recognition
that in order to maintain our international leadersl.p in ihe
highly competitive and rapidly expanding service sector *e have
to strengthen our advantages while they are still advantages.

We must support areas of proven ﬁrowth. We must plan now for
the industries of the future. One such area of growth and potential
for jobs and economic expansion is the service sector. .

I recently discussed this topic before the membership of Town
H Los Angeles in remarks entitled “The Service Indust¥y™

aintaining the Competitive Edge.” Because of its pertinence to
this legislation, I have submitted a copy of this speech, which, with

our permission, we would like to become part of the record of this
earing.

Chairman GiBBoNs. We will make it part of the record, yes, sir.

Mr. NEUBAUER. Thank you. -

I would like to also mention that we at ARA plan a private-
sector institute to study the problems of the service sector, and it
will be endowed fully from private funds.

This concludes my remarks on behalf of the service industries,
and I would be pleased to answer any questions.

[The prepared statement and attachments follow:]

STATEMENT OF JOSEPH NEUBAUER, MEMBER, COALITION OF SERVICE INDUSTRIES, INC.

"' Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, I am Joseph Neubauer, and my company is a
member of the newly-formed Coalition of Service Industries, Inc., the first and only
national organization representing the service sector of our economy, with member
companies drawn from a wide range of service industries including, banking, insur-
ance, communications, shipping and constrvction. I am also President and Chief Op-
erating Officer of ARA Services, Inc., a muitinational company with diverse inter-
ests in the human service sector, including food, health care, uniform rental, trans-
portation, books and periodicals distribution services. It is an honor to appear before
i_',ou today on behalf of the coalition. Also appearing with me this rnoon are

eter Finnerty, Vice President of Sea-Land Industries Investment, Inc. and Richard
R. Rivers, of the law firm of Akin, Gump, Straus., Hauer and Feld, our counsel.

ARA has 110,000 employees, including 11,000 overseas. Unlike many of the mem-
bers of the Coalition, vur inf >rnational operations do not represent a large protion
of our total operations, only $200 million or just under seven percent of our total
annual revenues of $3 billion.

However, we recognize that international trade in service is growing much faster
than trade in geods. The United States has a clear leadership in providing the deliv-
ery and management of services around the world. Yet, this dominance is facing
stronger and stronger challenges as other nations develop their own service exper-
tise and technology and can further restrict our ability to expand the services we
provide simtgclly by increasing their trade restrictions and unilateral regulations.

The United States government must provide a more favorable environment for
growth and better understand the key role of the service sector, especially in the
international marketplace. Otherwise we may well see the U.S. service sector begin
to wither and fade before the onslaught of foreign competition and advancement—
just as has hanpened in manufacturing. We can’t let that take place. The service
sector is an important part of the future of America's economy.

Mr. Chairman, passage of this legislation, H.R. 5383, the “Trade in Services Act of
1982,"” is therefore of great importance. Let me reiterate what you and the members
of your Subcomm " .tee know weil, but what the American public may not know: The
importance of t* serv.ce sector to our economy. The New York Times on May 13,
1982 recognized <« ..abilizing role that the U.S. service sector has played in count-
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eracting the recession which has hit many of our manufacturing industries so se-
verely. I have attached to my testimony a copy of the article headlined: “Services:
Bucking the Slump—Employment in This Sector Has Gone Up” Much of our eco-
nomic thinking in this country is-a matter of conditioned reflexes, reflexes devel-
oped many years ago that desperately need to be modified. Qur nation is oriented to
the economic philosophies of a goods-producing natien. This is reflected in this coun-
try’s economic policies and in the data we collect and discuss. Its reflected in our
international trade negotiations and just about all phases of commerce.

Yet the facts are—and have been for sometime~that we are no longer a predomi-
nately goods-producing nation. Some 70 percent of the U.S. workforce is now em-
ployed in the service sector, long the fastest growing sector of our economy. The
service sector make up 65 percent of our Gross National Product and accounted for
$40 billion surplus in our balance of foreign service trade last year. The volume of
exported services is growing at twice the rate of exported goods and has given our
overall balance of trade payments a surplus for the last 2 years.

Further, in the last 6 years, well over 26 million new jobs were created in the
service sector. That represented ninety percent of the job growth in this country.

For years, Mr. Chairman, many of our beleagured goods-producing industries
have been getting both media attention and Washington aid—attention which they
need to modernize and regain their competitive position and capacity. But, the fact
of the matter is, it has been the service sector which has silently surged ahead, in
big firms and small, here and abroad, to play an ever-growing role in our economy,
in our daily lives, and in our potential for future economic growth.

It is time the economic importance of services be recognized and that services be
placed on an equal footing with goods under the law of this nation.

Yes, we must assist and maintain the capability of our manufacturing industries.
But our real growtl is already coming from and will continue to come from the
ever-growing service sector.

Today, the United States has a service economy in a marketplace that is truly
international. If we are going to make a national commitment to growth by getting
our economy back on track again, offering more support to the service sector will
give us a better opportunity to attain a greater share of world trade, generate
higher export revenue and balai.ce of trade ggyments, receive a quicker return on
national investment, and create more new jobs at home by bolstering the efforts of
the already-established world leader—the U.S. service sector. In the international
trade area H.R. 5383 is an important step in that direction and a step which, with
the reservat’ons express below, the Coalition is here today to heartily support.

The Trade in Services Act of 1982 would accomplish several critical objectives of
high priority to the service sector. First, it would serve notice to our trading part-
ners that the Congress of the United States has thrown its full weight behind the
American service sector and the efforts of the Executive Branch in the international
arena to bring services under the same liberal trading framework as goods. These
efforts, which have begun in the Organization of Economic Cooperation and Devel-
opment (“OECD”), must move aggressively forward in the General Agreement on

ariffs on Trade (“GATT”) and other fora. Without such combined momentum,
which e of HLR. 5383 would provide, our trading partners will ccase to take
seriously the need for maintaining and improving a liberal world exchange in the
service sector. Non-tariff barriers abroad, whether they be in food services with
which I am particularly familiar, or in the many other service areas which our Co-
alition represents, will continue to proliferate as nations seek to protect infant in-
dustries. Such examples are: highly technological such as data-processing, or in es-
tablished industries which have become accustomed to monopolistic or quasi-monop-
olistic status in their countries. A sampling of service non-tariff barriers reported to
the U.S. Trade Representative is appended to my statement. Visible political su
port in the form both of these hearings today and e of this legislation will
signal to our tradingepartners the high priority which the U.S. attaches to the serv-
ice sector and the liberation of such barriers.

Secondly, and more specifically, H.R. 5383 will supplement the President’s negoti-
ating authority with a clear mandate from Congress which includes s;’)ecific negoti-
ating ok{}ectives for services. Armed with this authority, the President’s negotiators
at the U.S. Trade Representative’s Office will be able to attack and chip away at
foreign barriers to seryice industries abroad. These negotiations mggr take place on
either a bilateral or multilateral basis. In the latter context, H.R. 5383 will author-
ize the President to begin to deveiop internationally agreed rules including dispute
settlement procedures, in the service sector. Such rules no doubt will be developed
in the context of the GATT. While negotiations to develop multilateral rules on
services will be a long and arduous process, as they were in the case of developing
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internationally agreed rules for trade in goods, that process nevertheless must at
least commence. In addition, this bill will affirm that the “fast-track” congressional
approval provision of Section 151 of the Trade Act is available for any service trade
agreements the President may conclude. The Section 151 fast-track provision proved
its value well in the Tokyo Round of multilateral trade negotiations.

A third reason for the Coalition’s strong support of this bill, and a reason which is
closely related to the above longer term objectives, is the impact which passage of
this legislation will have on the GATT Ministerial Conference to be held in Geneva
this November. This conference is the first since the one held prior to the opening of
the Tokyo Round nearly a decade ago. It is a once-in-a-decade opportunity to herald
the importance of the service sector and the need for the GATT to begin earnestly a
work program in this area. We strongly support the Administration’s efforts to
place services at the front of the GATT Ministerial agenda.

A fourth reason, Mr. Chairman, for the Coalition’s support of this bill is its provi-
sion making it crystal clear that Section 301, the unfair trade practices provision of
the Trade Act of 1974, covers services, including suppliers of services. H.R. 5383 will
erase any doubt of this point, which could arise in future Section 301 cases. Let me
add at this time that the Coalition urges continued strong administration of this im-
portant provision of our unfair trade iaws and hopes that Section 301 may in the
future be used as effectively or even more effectively in the service sector.

The Coalition also supports Section § of the bill, placing the U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative office in the central role of coordinator of U.S. trade policy in services.
Such a central coordinating body is essential to coherent implementation of a serv-
ice trade policy, and the USTR has demonstrated its skill and activist's attitude in
this area. At the same time the Coalition supports Section 5's grant of authority to
the Commerce Department actively to promote service industry oppertunities
abroad and to improve service sector data collection and analysis. Qur studies show
that of the fifteen priority sectors to which eighty percent of the Coramerce Depart-
ment’s export promotion funds are granted, not one of these is s service sector. Pas-
sage of H.R. 5383 would help remedy such discrimination ir our export promotion
policy. Qur Coalition also attaches high priority to improvement of services data col-
lc:;:tion both domestically and internationally, a goal which this part of the bill will
advance.

H.R. 5383 contains two provisions about which the Coalition has some concern.
The first is Section 8, which would require independent regulatory agencies such as
the Federal Communications Commissiozn or the Interstate Commerce Commission
to “take into account the extent to which United States suppliers are accorded
access” to a foreign market in a scrvice sector when such independent agencies are
developing policies for access of those foreign suppliers to the U.S. market in the
same service sector. While it is not clear what “taking into account” would involve,
the Coalition would not wish to see this provision resulting in the regulatory agen-
cies independently msking trade policy judgments in the service sector. This role, as
we have said, sheuld be centralized and coordinated with the U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative's Office, and indeed Section 5(b) of this bill would require the independent
agencies to notify the USTR and seek this advice when U.S. service industries raise
with those agencies foreign service access issues. We believe this latter provision is
sufficient and we urge that the Subcommittee consider deleting Section 8 altogether.

In addition, we advise that the Subcommittee delete Sec'” n 6, which would add a
subsidization and unfair pricing provision to Section 301 ur the Trade Act of 1974.
We believe that this language is unnecessary, since Section 301 as it is covers such
unfair trade practices. In addition, determining subsidies or unfair priving in the
service sector could prove highlg complex and difficult. Pursuing sucﬁ cases might
also result in foreign countries bringing similar retaliatory cases against U.S. serv-
ice industries, so that the entire provision might backfire in the end. For those rea-
sons the Coalition recommends dropping Section 6.

Mr. Chairman, if the United States is to maintain its competitiveness in the world
market, it must come through both the modernization of our manufacturing capa-
bilities and the recognition that in erder to maintain our international leadership in
the highly competitive and rapidly expanding service sector, we have to strengthen
our advantages while they're still advantages. We must support areas of proven
growth. We must plan now for the industries of the future. One such area of growth
and potential for jobs and economic expansion is the service sector.

I recently discussed this topic before the membership of Town Hall in Los Angeles
in remarks entitled “The Service Industry: Maintaining the Competitive Edge.” Be-
cause of its pertinence to this legislation, I have submitted a copy of this speech
:hic_h, with your permission, we would like to become part of the record of this

earing.
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Mr. Chairman, this concludes my remarks this morning on behalf of the Coalition
of Service Judustries, Inc. I would be pleased to answer any questions you may have.

[ATTACHMENTS]

ExAMPLES OF FOREIGN DISCRIMINATION AGAINST SERVICE INDUSTRIES—REPORTED TO
THE U.S. TrADE REPRESENTATIVE'S OFFICE

ACCOUNTING

Argentine.—Requirement that local audits be supervised by locally registered and
qualified accountants, and audits must be signed by them.

Brazil.—Required that all accountants possess the requisite professional degree
from a Brazilian University.

France.—Pressures to require that French citizens own more than 50 percent of
accounting firms.

ADVERTISING

Argentina, Australie, Canada.—Radio and T.V. commercials produced outside of
the country are forbidden.

Canada.—Income Tax Act prevents expenditures for foreign broadcast media
along with foreign publications from being treated as a business expense for tax
purposes.

AIR TRANSPORT

France.—French government has refused to allow foreign carriers to participate
in the government sponsored Muller-Access Reservation system, while foreign par-
ticipation in Air France Alpha II Reservation System is restricted to non-competi-
tive rates.

Chile.—National carriers are given preferential user (landing and other) rates,
while foreign carriers are not. This places foreign companies at a competitive disad-
vantage.

AUTO/TRUCK RENTAL AND LEASING

Mexico.—U.S. trucks are required to reload at borders while Mexican trucks
travel directly through.

BANKING

Austria.—Policy since 1945 allows foreign banks only representative offices in
Australia. Foreign equity participation in commercial banks limited to less than 10
percent.

Nigeria.—Local incorporation of existing and new branches mandatory.

Venezuela.—1975 General Banking Law. Foreign banks new to Venezuela are lim-
ited to representative offices. Already established banks forced to reduce their
equity participation to 20 percent.

FRANCHISING

Japan.—Foreign franchisors are not allowed to restrict franchise from handling
competitive products.

HOTEL AND MOTEL

Switzerland.—Work permits for foreign employees are difficult to obtain, extend
or renew,

MARITIME TRANSPORTATION

Total percent of U.S. commerce shipped on domestic bottoms has fallen from 11
percent in 1960 to less than 5 percent in 1980. This is due to a variety of problems,
including foreign barriers. Lack of coordinated U.S. policy is equally detrimental to
U.S. shipping interests.

MODELING
Germany.—Requires all models be hired only through German agencies.



43

MOTION PICTURES

Egvpt. —Imports made through state owned commercial companies. No foreign
films may be shown if Egyptian films are available.
France.—Restrictions placed on the earnings of foreign films.

TELECOMMUNICATIONS, DATA PROCESSING AND INFORMATION SERVICES

Brazil.—International links for teleprocessing systems are subject to approval by
the government. The principle criteria used in evaluating requests for data links: (1)
protection of Brazilian labor market; (2) protection of operations of national firms
and organizations. All data links approved are reviewed for renewal.

Germany.—International leased lines prohibited from being connected to German
public networks unless the connection is made via a computer in Germany which
carries out at least some processing.

International leased lines available only if it is guaranteed that they are not used
to transmit unprocessed data to foreign telecommunications networks.

Spain.—Fifty-seven percent import duty on equipment available lccally.

{From the New York Times, Tuesday. May 18, 1982}
SERVICES. BUCKING THE SLuMP—EMPLOYMENT IN THis SEctor HAs GonNe Up

(By Karen W. Arenson)

It is easy to count cars and trucks rolling off assembly lines and ingots of steel
being poured. So as production of manufactured goods has slumped, the depth of the
recession has seemed alarmingly clear.

But the very visible plunge in manufacturing somewhat overstates the distress of
the economy. For most of the widely followed economic indicators ignore the myriad
of services—from medical care to banking to advertising—that account for about
two-thirds of America’s economic activity.

Although these less visible products of American labor are more difficult to meas-
ure than manufactured goods, they have played a major role in cushioning this re-
cession’s impact, as they have in so many other business cycles.

A STABILIZING FACTOR

“The service sector is very much a stabilizing factor for the economy,” said Irving
F. Leveson, director of economic studies at the Hudson Institute. “Service industries
tend to have much less fluctuation in employment than goods-producing industries.
And to a lesser extent, they also have less fluctuation in wages and production.”

Of course, not all service businesses are recession-resistant. Some, such as the air-
lines, have clearly been hit hard in recent months. But while employment in the
manufacturing sector tumbled by 1.3 million jobs between July 1981 and April 1982,
em‘ployment in the service-producing sector rose by 217,000 jobs.

“Not every service industry i€ going up, and not every manufacturing industry is
going down,’ said Samue} ) hrenhalt, the regional commissioner of labor statis-
tics in New York for the Unitgd States Department of Labor. “But even though this
is one of the more severe r ions in the postwar period, and even though this
recession is well past middle gge. we still are having jobs gains in white-collar jobs,
and in services in general.”

Service-producing companieshave also been important in foreign trade. Although
sometimes dismissed as “invisible trade,” sales of services abroad have helped keep
America’s balance of trade positive.

“Banking and other service sector contributors enabled the United States to turn
last year's $28 billion merchandise trade deficit into a $7 billion current accounts
surplus,” said Walter B. Wriston, chairman of Citicorp.

There is no simple way to define services. They encompass a wide range of activi-
ties, including transportation, public utilities, wholesale and retail trade, finance,
health, education, business services and entertainment. Even Government is thrust
under the service heading. Despite the many differences among these activities,
however, economists find it useful to look at them as a group, as distinct from the
four goods-producing sectors of the economy; manufacturing, miring, construction
and agriculture.

Surprisingly, the service sector has accounted for more than half of all jobs in the
United States since at least the 1920’s. But while the percentage of manufacturing
employment, composed heavily of blue-collar jobs, has shrunk steadily during this
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century, the percentage of employment in the services, made up largely of white-
collar jobs, has grown steadily. Today, the service sector accounts for about 72 per-
cent of the nation’s total employment and 67 percent of its economic output.

Perhaps the most important reason for the huge growth in services is that produc-
tivity gains in manufacturing and in agriculture have enabled fewer people to pro-
duce more goods, thus freeing many to move into service jobs. And America’s grow-
ing affluence has allowed consumers to purchase the food, clothing and other goods
they need and have an increasing amount of money left for services.

The movement of women into the labor force has also increased the appetite for
services. Not only has it meant extra income to be spent on restaurant meals, clean-
ing services, and even child care, but it has also made these services more impor-
tant,
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|| The Recession-Resistant Services Sector

Posk
Prerecession  Current

Employment Employment Percont

ity ooty
Transportation and Utilities 5187 5100 - 67 -1.3%
Wholesale Trade 5360 5301 - 59 -1.1%
Retail Trade 15436 15552 + 116 +0.8%
Financial, Insur., RealEstate 5,344 5371 + 27 +0.5%
Other Services* 18,642 18,952 + 310 +1.7%
Private Sector Services 49,949 50,276 + 327 +0.7%
Government 15,092 15882 - 110 =~0.7%
Services Total . v 65041 66158 + 217 +0.3%
Mining 1132 1151 + 19 +1.7%
Construction ‘ 4272 4026 - 246 -57%
Manufacturing 20,535 19,268 -1.277 -6.2%
Goods-Producing Total 25030 24435 - -1277 -5.8%

* Includes empicyment in the following industnies. health, education, legal, data -
processing, advertising, credit and coliections, lodging and hotels, personnel
placement, and amusement, Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics

Dividing U.S. Employment Goods-Producing
Between Goods e 27%
And Services

April 1982 data for
nonhagricultural payrolls

Setvices
73%

Government '
(Partof services sector) 18%

TheNew York Times/May 18, 1962

95-924 0 ~ 82 - 4
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BUSINESSES TURN TO SERVICES

A similar appetite for services had developed in the business sector. Many compa-
nies, for example, are shifting to outside concerns for automobile fleets, legal work
or payroll computation. (Under a statistical quirk, a lawyer—or any other employ-
ee—working for a manufacturer is counted as being in a manufacturing job, while
the same person working in the same job for a law firm or another service concern
is considered a service sector worker.)

While some of the recessionary strength in services undoubtedly comes from its
long-term growth, there are services that appear to fare well during downturns.
When people postpone purchases of automobiles, appliances and other goods, they
do not necessarily cut back equally on purchases of services.

This difference in consumer purchasing patterns has been reflected in spending
over the past year. Purchases of services rose by 12 percent between the first quar-
ter of 1981 and the first quarter of 1982, while purchases of consumer durables fell
slightly and purchases of nondurables were up by only 6 percent.

“Goods are storable, so during a recession, people keep using the ones they have,”
explained Victor R. Fuchs, a professor of economics at Stanford University, who is
widely know for his research on the service economy. “People don’t stop using re-
frigerators, they just den’t go out and buy new ones.” In contrast, he noted, services
Sannot be stored. If they are needed, people must continue to purchase them in a

ownturn.

DIFFERENT APPROACH TO LAYOFFS

There are, of course, services that are more luxuries than necessities, such as res-
taurant meals or travel, that may be reduced in periods of financial strain. Unlike
manufacturing companies, however, which accumulate inventories and then lay off
workers until stocks are worked down, the service sector cannot do business if it
lays off all its workers since it cannot inventory its product.

So while employment in some services may edge down a bit, there generally are
not the mass layoffs found in manufacturing. If a hotel or a restaurant wants to
stay in business, its staff must be there every day.

Mr. Leveson of the Hudson Institute added that many service employers feel less
pressure to dismiss people since their salaries often do not represent fixed costs, but
are paid in tips or commissions.

That is not to say that service businesses are entirely protected from downturns.
Asg Edward Guay, chief economist at the Cigna Corporation, said in an interview, “A
service business can overexpand and misallocate capital, just as in manufacturing.”

One service sector that has not held up well during this recession is government.
Between July 1981 and April 1982, Federal employment fell by 60,000 jobs, to 2.7
n;xilzlion,1 ]while state and local government employment declined by 50,000 jobs, to
13.2 million.

Despite the seeming vitality in the overall service sector, industry executives cau-
tion that its growth could be hampered by trade barriers imposed by other coun-
tries. American companies in the service sector earned about $60 billion in foreign
revenues in 1980, according to an estimate by Economic Consulting Services Inc.

“The foreign markets have become very important for certain service businesses,”
said Ronald K. Shelp, vice president for international relations for the American
International Group Inc. Among these, he said, are telecommunications, data proc-
essing, advertising, insurance and hospital services.

But while American companies now account for about 20 percent of total world
trade in services, their market share has been shrinking. And service sector execu-
tiw:ies are asking the Government to pay more attention to policies affecting their
industries.
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Good afternoon ...
“The American We all know the American
economyisin } economy is in difficulty—to a
difficulty—~ ‘| degree much deeper and larger
much deeper } than the current recession. The
than the current | continued erosion of the
recession” 1 American economy is having a
serfous impact on the ability of
U.S. businesses to compete in the world marketplace;
to provide continuing employment; and to sustain
major growth,

The growth rate of U.S. Gross National Product
has continued to decrease, especially in comparison
to our foreign trade partners. In fact, the seasonally
adjusted GNP for the fourth quarter of 1981 actually
fell at an annual rate of 5.6 percent and is expected to
continue to decline in the first quarter of 1982, a stag-
nant trend in our economy which has stretched over
several years.

Growth in disposable personal income in the
U.S. Is lagging drastically behind most other industriai
countries; and in January, real weekly gross take-
home pay for American workers fell from the 1967
average level of $185 to $164. That means in terms
of real earings in 1982 our workers have $21 less
in their paychecks to spend on goods and services
each week than in 1967.

Unemployment continues to mount. The loss
of jobs put nearly one million Americans out of work
between last July and November alone. Statistics
show that almost all of that loss was in the manu-
facturing sector of the economy.

On the international scene, we have lost con-
siderable export market share to foreign competitors.

In the 1960s, our world market share dropped
16 percent. In the *70s, it dropped another 23 per-
cent, even though the dollar was deprefiating 40
percent in value, making our exports cheaper and
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foreign imports more expensive. Since 1970, a $2.6
billion surplus in goods exported over goods im-
ported has deteriorated into a $27.8 billion deficit

in our manufactured goods balanice of trade last year
This decrease in intemational market share is esti-
mated to have meant a loss of two million industrial
jobs in this country.

Automobile production continues to limp along.
Some 91,000 cars were produced during the last
week of February 1982 compared to 131,000 the
same time a year ago (a bad year) and to the 142,000
average during 1967. That'’s a 40 percent drop.

Imported cars registered account for nearly one
out of three new cars sold.

Last year, the steel industry finally chalked up
some significant profits, but at the expense of
drastically reduced capacity and employment. This
voluntary industry shrinkage may serve the short-
term interest of the steel industry, but further illus-
trates the growing loss of the industrial dominance of
the ULS,

The U.S. aerospace industry, once a bastion in
the world market, is seeing its international domination
challenged. Exports of $18 billion last year were up
only 6 percent In real dollars compared to a real gain in
imports of 13 percent. In fact, in the last five years
aerospace imports soared from $575 million to $3.7
billion —a seven-fold increase!

These declines in the role of the manufacturing
portion of our economy will not recover as the recession
ends—they began before the current recession and will
continue beyond it. This change marks a fundamental
shift in the structure of our economy from domination
by manufacturing to domination by services.

Today, some 57 percent of our GNP comes from
the service sector.

Over six out of every 10
“This change ] Arnerican workers are employed
marks a funda- § by service companies, and service
mental shiftinthe J sector employmentis expected to
structure of our § jump to over seven out of 10 by
economy to | theend ofthe decade. Asrecently
dominationby | as 1950, services accounted for
services” 1 less than half of overall U.S.
employment,

Some view this change with alarm. It is pointed out
that historically, productivity growth has been slower in
the service sector than in manufacturing; that services
have a smaller multiplier in employment creation than
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industrial jobs; and that services lack the export potential
of goods.

These issues are complex, and [ am not here to
argue that an economy devoted exclusively to services
would be a healthy one. But services will inevitably play
a larger and larger role in our econcmy, and recent
improvements in the performance of the sector demon-
strate its ability to contribute substantially to the recovery
and sustained growth of the U.S. economy.

Tremendous advances in technology, management
techniques, and growth in national and intemational
service management companies are offering quantum
leaps in productivity, and quality of services offered.

In fact, our current recession would be much
deeper if it weren't for the positive impact of the
service sector.

First, the service industry is

“Our current [ extremely diverse. Service
recession would } workers range from security

be much deeperif | guards, to nursing home special-
. it weren't for the }§ ists, to business consultants,
positive impact of § doctors, lawyers and computer
the service ] programmers,
sector” Within this non-homogen-
eous mixture are industries, such
as health care and computer software, which are
* booming, and others, such as real «state and travel,
which are depressed.

This very size and diversity has dampened the

- impact that the recession would h.e had on an
economy dominated by manufacturing. If the economy
were still reliant on a few large hard goods pro-
ducers, many more American workers would now
be unemployed.

Instead, the service industry not only absorbed the
millions of factory workers displaced by modem
machines or declines in production, but has also given
jobs to many women, minorities, and “baby boom”
youth who entered the workforce for the first time in
growing numbers.

Consumer spending for services is less sensitive to
business cycles, as evidenced during the 1970-75 reces-
sion when durable goods spending was down 7.2 per-
cent, while personal consumption on services actually
increased by 2.3 percent.

Additionally, while manufactured exports have
taken a disastrous beating at the hands of foreign com-
petitors, the service industry has had significant, and yet
unheralded, gains in exports.
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In fact, the service sector is
“The sexvice sec- | responsible for two successive

tor is responsible | years of positive balance of trade

fortwosuccessive | and a stronger U.S. doliar over-
years of positive | seas. According to the Commerce

balance of trade” § Depariment, the export of U.S.
knowledge and expertise resulted
in a $40 billion service trade surplus in 1981 and put our
overall balance of payments some $12 billion in the black.

It may surprise you but our two biggest foreign
competitors, West Germany and Japan, are net
importers of services, and this combined with other
imports, contributed to the fact that they had a negative
balance of payments last year.

Yet, despite the significant contributions of the
service sector in terms of employment, GNP and foreign
trade, almost all attention has been focused on the
probler_ of the industrial sector.

Instead of looking to where our economic strengths
lie—industries where real growth gains are more likely
—our policy makers have concentrated on our areas
of weakness,

So I have chosen to talk today about “The Service
Sector: Maintaining the Competitive Edge” because our
best opportunity to attain a greater share of world trade,
generate higher export revenues, receive a quicker
return on national investment, and create more new
jobs at home, is by bolstering the efforts of the already-
established American service industries.

To be sure, the industrial sectcr must be modem-
ized to increase productivity and efficiency. I am con-
fident that the American industrial leadership will do
that and will do it without the kind of public subsidy
suggested by those who advocate the “re-industrialization
of America” through major government involvement.

Yet, | believe not enough research and recognition
have been focused on the impact of the service sector
on our economy, nor its future potential.

If we look to expanding
“Wemust broaden | opportunities, rather than just
our national focus § solving problems, then we must
tothoseindusiries } broaden our national focus and
which offer the | direct our efforts to those in-
best opportunities § dustries which offer the best op-
for long-term | portunities for long-term growth
growth! | and greatest retum oninvestment.
A dollar invested in the
service sector has its multiplier effects.
" And with an expected 72 percent of Americans
employed by the service sector by 1990, there should
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no longer be any doubt where the future growth of our
2conomy les.

" The service industry is a large pa.. of America’s
econornic future. To strengthen this advantage, we need
to recognize the importance of services as a irade com-
modity. This offers several significant benefits.

Our service companies have already proven them-
selves both dor 1estically and overseas, and are in a
strong positio*: to expand their present leadirg role.
Our comparative advantage currently hes in our service
capability.

The service industry is already in place and per-
forming well. As a nation, we should make certain that
trade barriers, tariff and non-tariff, are reduced, that
government policy recognizes the importance of
services, and that tax policy gives the same investment
and R and D incentives to services as to manufacturing,
The service sector has grown tremendously, almost un-
noticed; now is the time for notice to be taken, for
Jovernment to recognize the significance of services.

The re-industrialization debate, practically ignoring
services, has been cast as a “winners vs. losers” issue.
Many foreign countries, including our major competi-
tors, support “winners,’ while the United States is often
accused of supporting “losers”’

Lthink that is too harsh an over-simplification. What
we'e really talking about is the “ailing” and the “healthy”
and it is not a mutually exclusive choice. We have to
support, aid and encourage both so the ailing can regain
t..eir economic vigor and the strong can continue to
grow and expand.

And the assistance must be timely—well before the
“ailing” has become a terminal case or the “healthy”
has lost 1ts potential for growth.

To this end, | am suggesting that services be given

the same public policy attention
“Ninety percent of § received by the rest of the
the job growth in economy. lt is in the service
the past years has sector that job creation will occur
beenintheservice | in the future, in computer and
sector” I information services, engi-
neering, biogenetics, food service,
personal and health services, In education services, and
in financial services.

To emphasize that point, an amazing 90 percent of
the job growth in the past six years —well over 26 million
jobs—has beer: in the service sector.

Why did this growth take place? And how did the
U.S develop such a strong competitive edge over other
counties?
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As personal income rises, people devote more and
more of the increases to services. And since the U.S.
has had a high per capita income, demand for services
has been growing. In 1981, for example, the percentage
of real personal consumer dollars spent on durable
goods decreased, while the amount on services in-
creased dramatically. Last year, we spent over $230
billion (in constant 1972 dollars) on durable goods,
but over $880 billion on services. Thar's nearly four
times as much.

This demand has lead to specialization within the
service industry and a greater efficiency in production
and delivery of services.

Now, as incomes rise in other countries, their
demand for services is increasing as well. Over the past
three years, the world trade-in-services has been in-
creasing more than twice as fast as trade in goods. This
has created tremendous opportunities forthe U.S. in the
export of services, as evidenced by our dramatic balance
of payment surpluses.

However, our advantage may not last for Jong.
Rising-incomes increases in foreign countries will in-
crease their need for services, and they will not need
to wait until they reach the current U.S. per capita
level of GNP to experience the transition U.S. service
industries are going through.

These service sector tech-
“Theintemational ] niques and management prac-
transmission of | tices can be learned and copied
knowledge is |} just as they have been in manu-
happening at an ]| facturing. The internaiional
acceleratingrate | transmission of knowledge is
in service happening at an accelerating
management. | rate as more detailed knowledge
and experience is gained in the
relatively new field of service management.

QOur company, ARA, entered a joint venture with
Mitsui & Co., Ltd., which gave us an entry into the
Japanese market by providing food service at their cor-
porate headquarters in Tokyo, We are training Japanese
managers in our Philadelphia headquarters. They buy
these training services from us because we have systems
and expertise developed over several decades in pro-
viding food service at a level far above the normn Japan.

For example, we recently started providing dietary
food services at a Japanese hospital— the s....e kind of
service we've been providing in this country since 1952,
but in Japan it was revolutionary. There it had been—~
and still 1s in most hospitals — customary for the families
to bring meals in for the patients.
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We recently introduced Coffee System —installing
and servicing coffee brewers in small offices—in Japan.
Again something totally unheard of, yet we have them in
84,000 office locations in this country.

This phenomenon of service expansion and
adaptation is happening around the world. And soon,
the competition for these services is going to grow more
fierce as foreign competitors learn, utilize and perhans
even improve on the techniques they have learned
from us,

As demand grows and service knowiedge becomes
more widespread, challenges to our current competitive
advantage in intemational service will also grow more
intense. This is exactly what happened to our manufac-
turing dominance. Our technology and innovation were
copied, improved upon, and used against us to beat us
at our own game because we didn’t work to keep up, let
alone stay ahead. | strongly favor the transfer of
knowledge, because 1 firmly believe it serves the world
well. Thus, our job is to maintain, better still to sharpen,
our competitive edge.

lam deligﬁted that U.S. service companies have
taken steps to confront the challenge facing them by
recertly organizing the Coalition of Service Industries.
ARA fullyintends to play its part in this new organization.

A prime mover behind this has been American
Express Chairman James Robinson, who recentlywamed
that “the potential for growth in U.S. service exports is
tremendous, as long as foreign markets remain open.
Barriers, both visible and invisible, to trade services are
in place and growing. As the world economy undergoes
service strains, the barriers will multiply.”

[ agree with Mr. Robinson. Previously, the General
Agreements on Tariffs and Trade have focused on barriers
to merchandise trade. When the next round of multi-
national trade talks begin in Geneva, the U.S. will be
pressing the subject of restraint of trade, and service
trade barriers will receive equal attention.

I'am delighted, too, that our national legislators are
beginning to recognize the importance of the service
sector. Very recently legislation was introduced in the
House and Senate which will provide, if adopted, a
clearer focus on the needs of the service sector.

The new Coalition of Service Industries should
carefully examine this legislation and, where needed,
improve it. | applaud its introduction It will contribute
to what I believe is a growing and healthy national
discussion about the role of services in the American
economy and its impact on foreign trade.

The service industry is steadily matunng in its
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operational approach, expanding and becoming more
professional. National service

“The service | management companies are

industry is one | applying their management, tech-
in transition” ¥ nical and operational techmques
across industry lines, (This by the
way is why ARA can effectively manage food services,
hospital emergency rooms, uniform rental, airport
services, interstate trucking, and child care centers,
among others.)

The industry is one in transition — change brought
about by growth and a learning process that will mean
better, less-expensive, broader service, with standardized
delivery and higher quality and performance. lts very
size and diversity have worked to hide the tremendous
impact this sector is having on our national economy.

There 15 also a great need for better data on the
service industry. The current industrial code used by the
Commerce Department is strongly skewed in favor of
the goods producing sector. In fact, the 1980 edition of
the U.S. Industrial Outlook devoted only eight percent
of its space to the services. And then, all services were
excluded from its projections beyond the current year,
while manufacturing was projected over three years.

ARA Services has grown from a $20 milkon vending
operation to a $3 billion international diversified service
management corporation with 110,000 employees, and
yet there are few of the industry codes which are used
by government to collect data about the economywhich

fit the individual lines of business
“Wemustbecome | which we conduct. Even the
committed to eco- § FORTUNE 500 lst does not
nomic expansion” 1 include companes like ARA, or
even AT&T.

In the same way, the productivity data collected and
analyzed by the Bureau of Labor Statistics lacks the
precision and quality of that done for the manufacturing
sector. In part that is because of the inherently more
difficult task of measuring service outputs, but it is also
because the Bureau of Labor Statistics has simply not
devoted the necessary resources to perfecting their
service output measures. As another example, there are
10,000 different classifications for reporting imports and
exports in goods. Yet, only six classifications exist for
reporting service transactions.

Industry, our universities, and government need to
keep better -ack and develop more appropriate
mechanisms to monitor the production and distribution
of services and theieby create more knowledge and
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understanding of the role of services in our economy.
This is why ARA is examining the possibility of estab-
lishing an academic-based institute devoted to the study
of the service sector, with emphasis in its early years
on productivity improvement.

So, the question facing us today 1s* “How can this
national resource, the service sector, be expanded at
home and abroad, become more productive, and be
utilized more effectively as a competitive tool?”

The answer lies with us all —with government, with
business, and with the service industry itself. We've been
used to an ever-growing economic environment. Growth
has always paid the bills for social programs and a better
quality of iife.

That growth has stopped —and even declined. To
get it going again, we all must become committed to
expansion. Business will always need to do better, to

grow, to expand. But govern-
“Services repre- § ment, in its taxing, monetary and
sent unlimited § regulatorypolicies, is also a major
growth, because | influence. It sets the rules and the
the demand for ]| tone under which business must
services willnever | operate.
be filled” Compettive advantage must
be a central economic goal.
Policies are needed with emphasis on growth —without
growth those goals which may depend on some redis-
tribution of income become impossible. Lack of growth
over the past decade has seen the U.S. standard of
living decline {based on per capita GNP) from first to
tenth place.

As the dominant force in the economy, the service
sector has the responsibility to keep itself modern and
growing. And that means developing the technology
and management technigues to increase productivity
and maintain our advantage over foreign competitors
which are learning more each day—from us.

Only recently has new technology been applied to
service industries which are generating major advances
in service system development.

We are also seeing the results of past steps taken in
management and training only now coming to the fore-
front in increased productivity. The service industry is a
people industwy. It 1s labor-intensive in employment and
person-oriented in its delivery.

Service 1s a personal thing [t is still pnmanly a one-
to-one relationship. It can involve such diverse factors as
the speed of a computer print-out to the smile on a face.
And managing the delvery of that service is a critical
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function. We at ARA serve 10 million people everyday
and we serve them one at a time.

Service companies have continuously invested a
great deal in employee training. We are now starting to
see the payoff of that investment in job experience and
better services.

America is also seeing goods-producing companies
emphasizing services. Today, IBM is not selling its
computers as much as it is selling the services and
systems that go with them. Its competitors can match
its machines, so IBM has developed a competitive
edge in the services it offers to its customers.

Today, service and production are intertwined more
than ever. And that's why it is so critical to recognize
the extent to which service contributes to output and
growth, in both sectors of our economy.

Thecompetitiveedge . . . the cuttingedge of change
. . the forefront of innovation and ideas. American
industry has always been right there, as a leader, a
catalyst, and as an example to the rest of the world.

Yet, the U.S. has seen its competitive edge and
economic dominance eaten away around the world and
even assaulted in the domestic marketplace.

The service industry is in a position to stop this
decline abroad and oifer more growth here at home.

Services represent almost unlimited growth oppor-
tunities because the demand for services will never be
filled. Unlike the need for manufactured goods, which
are finite, research, technology and innovation will
continue to open new doors for the delivery of services
and even more emplcyment within the service industry.

In meeting that demand, the U.S. has already built
up a significant competitive advantage in the export
and delery of services and service systems around the
world. We cannot afford to let this advantage slip away
as we did with our manufacturing capabilities.

The “bottom line” has been the catch phrase for

the "80s. If we maintain the
“We cannot let our | competitive edge, the bottom line
service advantage [ will take care of itself. If not, it will
slip away as | be on the ledger books of com-
we did with panies across the seas.
manufacturing’ One final note: the seivice
sector represents hope for the
future. ARA uses this tag line in its advertising: “The
world will never outgrow its need for service”” | happen
to firmly believe that. Not just the services ARA provides
but the vast and steadily increasing services a growing
legion of American companies are providing.



58

Mr. FINNERTY. | have a few brief comments to add, if I may.

Sea-Land is in the ocean shipping business and ocean shipping is
an important international service industry, vital to America’s in-
ternational defense and international trade division.

Sea-Land Service, Inc. is the world’s largest container shipping
company and operates 40 U.S.-flag containerships without benefit
of Federal maritime subsidy. We also operate 20 smaller foreign-
flag feederships and have substantial added investment in 81,000
containers and 46,000 chassis.

Sea-Land provides regular service between over 120 ports in 50
countries and territories. In 1981, Sea-Land’s gross revenues ex-
ceeded $1.6 billion.

Sea-Land is the largest of nine major U.S.-flag liner shipping
companies engaging in international commerce. In addition, nu-
merous American companies operate hundreds of dry and liquid
bulkships in international commerce throughout the world. The
collective activity represents billions of dollars per annum.

H.R. 5383 is welcome legislation to strengthen U.S. Government
efforts on behalf of American service industries competing in the
global economy. Approval of the bill is needed to overcome barriers
to U.S. service industry market access abroad, growing foreign gov-
ernment intervention and a deterioration of services market shares
due to deficiencies in U.S. policy.

Competitor nations discriminate and impose various unfair trade
practices.

American marine insurance underwriters have compiled a list of
39 countries that discriminate in that service sector alone. Japan
and European countries announced last year that they intend to
ratify a Code of Conduct for Liner Conferences developed under the
auspices of UNCTAD in Geneva.

The UNCTAD Liner Code, taken with other initiatives of the
UNCTAD Secretariat, move worldwide liner shipping away from
open market competition toward inefficient and discriminatory
government economic control. It is expacted that the UNCTAD
Liner Code will enter into force later this year.

Many individual countries have taken steps to interfere in pri-
vate-sector shipping markets in advance of the Code through adop-
tion and enforcement of rules which encourage, and give prefer-
ence to, use of their national flag vessels for transport of imports
and exports. ‘

In addition, private ownership of the means of international
ocean commerce is disappearing. More and more governments are
becoming owners and operators of liner fleets or direct investors in
partnership with citizens of their countries. Such state-controlled
carriers are not profit motivated and can offer unfair competition
against private enterprise carriers.

H.R. 5383 will provide significant clarification of U.S. Govern-
ment authority to apply section 301 when U.S. retaliation may be
warranted. The executive branch also needs clear authority to ne-
gotiate intergovernmental agreements for service industries, espe-
cially liner shipping.

Intergovernmental liner shipping agreements are the only feasi-
ble U.S. counterproposal to the UNCTAD Liner Code. Unilateral
attempts at povernance of the international marketplace by other
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countries of the United States cannot maintain healthy and com-
petitive conditions over the long term.

_Passage of H.R. 5383 will be of substantial benefit to ocean ship-
ping and other U.S. service industries. Sea-Land respectfully urges
the subcommittee to approve the bill as soon as possihle.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Thank you.

Mr. Rivers, do you have a statement?

Mr. Rivers. No statement for the record, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBONS. Both of you were here when the AFL-CIO
testified a while ago. The thrust of their testimony, as I recall, is
that it is not going to help us in producing jobs, because we don’t
know where we are going and we don’t know what we want, and
we would be better off, if we understood all of that, to do it on a
bilateral basis.

What is your response to that?

Mr. NEusAUER. Mr. Chairman, we in our particular case in in-
dustry have created a significant number of jobs here in the United
States, particularly in Pennsylvania, which involve design of serv-
ice systems in the food industry to be utilized in many, many other
countries.

We also have devised several delivery systems in the health care
area currently being used in foreign countries, so that many, many
jobs were created in this country and continue to be created in this
country due to our ability to export our technology to foreign coun-
tries. Trade barriers to such arrangements which we have encoun-
tered in various countries, both tariff and nontariff barriers,
hamper the job creation here in the United States.

As far as not knowing exactly where we are going, it is always
true that when one embarks on a new venture, one does not know
all its ramifications. That is certainly no excuse for not embarking
on the adventure, and probably as one in any negotiation enters
without knowing the full extent of the exact outcome of the negoti-
ation, that should not be a reason for not entering in the negotia-
tions.

Mr. FINNERTY. Mr. Chairman, I would like to point out that one
of the industries, one of the sectors that Dr. Oswald referred to was
the maritime industry, and it is that area that I know well.

I would emphasize that there is nothing mutually exclusive
about proceeding with the bill and the GATT ministerial meeting
and movement toward, over the next several years, a multilateral
approach that would create uniform international rules, on the one
hand, and initiating bilateral discussions in maritime or certain
other sectors earlier than that or concurrently with such proceed-
in gs.

1 don’t think that there is anything in the bill that would pt .-
vent that from happening. It would help it move forward.

We definitely need that approach. Ultimately, a multilateral
framework is preferable. It is a superior trading environment.

Chairman GiBBoNs. You caught me off guard, because I was not
prepared for what you were about to say about the UNCTAD ar-
rangement. Go over that again.

Mr. FinNerTY. The UNCTAD Secretariat in Geneva has taken a
particular interest in the service industries as one of the prime op-
portunities for developing countries through governmental action
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to try to reserve a portion of those economic sectors to their coun-
tries, and to industries in their countries.

Linear shipping was chosen by them in which they drafted the
first convention ever produced by that Secretariat, and it now has
received an endorsement by something like 50 foreign countries. It
needs one or two of the Western countries such as Japan or West
Germany to ratify in order to trigger its entry into force.

It is a document that differs very, very substantially with our
laws in the United States with respect to shipping, and would be a
marked departure from the kind of principles that have existed in
OECD shipping activities for years.

The Europeans and the Japanese last year indicated to the
UNCTAD Secretariat that they are going to proceed with endorse-
ment and ratification of that convention, and to date, the U.S. Gov-
ernment has not announced what step it intends to take as a coun-
termeasure.

In our opinion, the only way that the United States will be able
to retain anything like the environment that we have today which
entails basically open access and competitive markets with an al-
lowance for private enterprise decisionmaking is to create a bilater-
al or multilateral framework in which foreign governments will
agree not to interfere in the market.

If the United States continues to remain passive in the face of
the growth of this international convention, the control of the ship-
ping market is going to be turned over to foreign governments, and
it is another reason why this legislation makes sense.

Chairman GiBBoNs. It points up also that unless we begin to
move, UNCTAD and the other U.N.-type agencies are going to
move in. While they are highly motivated, I do not really identify
myself with their motives. I think we are going to see a form of
world socialism practiced through those auspices, and that worries
me.

Mr. FINNERTY. Yes, sir.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Mr. Neubauer, I hate to ask you this. I don’t
know what kind of business you do. You are in the services busi-
ness, but I missed that.

Mr. NEuBAUER. We are in the services management business. We
are in the provision of food services. That is a wide range of service
all the way from food service at schools and colleges to hospitals, to
industrial clients throughout the land, to various organizations
right here in Washington such as the Pentagon, Justice Depart-
ment, et cetera.

We are also in the health care business. We operate nursing
homes and child care businesses. We are in the transportation busi-
ness, and we are in the book and periodical distribution business,
and the textile uniform distribution and we employ 110,000 people,
including 11,000 overseas.

Chairman GiBBONS. Overseas?

Mr. NEuBAUER. 11,000 overseas; yes sir. We are a very highly
labor-intensive organization.

Chairman Giesons. How much of your 110,000 do you think, are
involved in exporting services?

Mr. NEuBAUER. Well, the direct number is difficult to measure,
because as I mentioned before, the various research and develop-
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ment that goes on isn’t differentiated between domestic and inter-
national research and development. The provision of the overseas
services such as I described, Mr. Chairman, is a fairly new phenom-
encn that has grown in the last 5 to 10 years, and our entire indus-
try itself is only about 25 years old.

I would say a significant and growing number of our people are
involved in overseas ventures and the technology and the export of
know-how that comes from this country from the job creation here
gives us a competitive edge in such areas. We just won the contract
to operate Wimbley Stadium outside of London. It is very interest-
ing to have an American company through its United Kingdom
subsidiary operate in a British football match on Sunday afternoon.

Chairman Giesons. Fish and chips?

Mr. NEUBAUER. And some other American foods. It is a fast-grow-
ing area and one that we are very proud of. We were also selected
by the various Olympic game committees to be the technical ex-
perts to them on food technology, both in the Olympic games in
Montreal, and the one in Mexico City, and the most recent winter
games in Lake Placid. I am happy to say we are also going to pro-
vide the technology to the 1984 Olympic games in Yugoslavia, so
that we are providing a lot of technology throughout the world.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Very interesting. Thank you very much.

Mr. Stark, would you come forward, please. We will take you
next.

STATEMENT OF HON. FORTNEY H. (PETE) STARK, A REPRE-
SENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Mr. Stark. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I am pleased to appear in support of two proposals to expand
trade in the areas of America’s greatest potential and growth—
services and high technology.

First, on services.

Last year, I sponsored H.R. 3848, the House version of the
Inouye-Pressler bill, which basically requires the Department of
Commerce to pay more attention to trade in the services sector. As
you know, we usually run a $25 to $40 billion trade deficit in mer-
chandise, but our balance of payments is somewhat saved by the
$30 billion surplus which we accumulate in services.

Services is clearly the wave of the future; it is often very high
technology and based on our ability to massage information or
offer quality financial services. We need to remove barriers to our
potentials for growth in this sector. While much work has been
done in services trade in the past few years, and while the adminis-
tration is to be congratulated on making this an issue for the fall
GATT Ministerial Conference, a lot more work needs to be done.

I believe that the introduction of this bill and its recent passage
in the Senate has helped insure continued, priority attention te
this sector.

However, because the bill I first put in, H.R. 3848, made the De-
partment of Commerce the lead agency in working on services, it
was referred to five committees—which is the best way to kill a bill
that I know of. Therefore, this spring, I redrafted the bill, concen-
trating the services sector work in the USTR. I believe that the

95-924 0 - 82 - 5
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USTR could do a more efficient job—and I also hoped that this
would cause the bill to be referred only to your subcommittee. Un-
fortunately this new bill, HR. 5690, was also referred to House
Foreign Affairs. Still, that is better than five referrals.

Mr. Chairman, your bill on services, H.R. 5383 is more forceful
than either of my bills or the recently passed Senate bill, in that it
more clearly brings the services sector into the section 301 process.
While the section 301 process has not been the tiger many of us in
the Congress had hoped, it at least has come claws and teeth.

Therefore, I support the enactment of Chairman Gibbons’ bill
first, and my bill, H.R. 5690, second. But in any event, I believe it
is important that the House pass a services bill this year, to indi-
cate congressional interest in this growth sector.

One technical note. Since introducing these bills, representatives
of U.S.-flag carriers have indicated that we should include in the
definitions of services “operations and maintenance of aircraft at
foreign airfields.”

Let me turn to the high technology trade issue.

This spring, Chairman Gibbons, myself, and many in the Califor-
nia congressional delegation introduced H.R. 5579—a strong bill re-
quiring fair trade in the key high-technology sectors, such as semi-
conductors, electronics, communications, et cetera.

That bill caused the entire electronics industry to focus on the
long-festering problems of high-tech trade and Japanese competi-
tion, and out of this, a new bill has just been developed, H.R. 6436
and H.R. 6433.

Because the original bill, H.R. 5579, had elements of “reciproc-
ity,” it will undoubtedly be controversial and subject to a lot of
criticism. The new versions should be much less controversial, in
that they stress “national treatment.”

Let me say that I think a tough bill is what is needed. Japan—
MITI, the Economic Planning Agency—are committed to a high
technology future, to an information society. They realize, much
better than we do, that these are the industries of the future. In a
world of increasing concern about pollution and increasing short-
ages of materials and energy, high-tech industries are the only in-
dustries that make sense for an educated socizty. They have staked
the future of their nation on superiority in “hese sectors. They will
play hardball on trade in these sectors in ways that will make
their intransigence on beef and oranges look like child’s play.

We will need to be equally tough—both in trade and in develop-
ing internal domestic policies designed to promote the growth of
the high-technology sectors.

In sum, I believe it is essential that we pass a high-tech trade bill
this year. To me, either bill would be useful. H.R. 6436 and 6433
are less controversial and therefore perhaps easier to pass. What is
important is that something pass and that it be administered with
vigor.

Failure to be tough in trade and in promoting high-tech indus-
tries will be fatal to the future growth opportunities of our Nation.
Your subcommittee’s recent trip report to the Far East states the
danger and why we must respond:

* * * if Japan becomes the world leader in high technology products, she will be
driving us. She will control when certain technologies and processes—including
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those important for defense—can leave Japan. She will become the low-cost produc-
er in any area she wants; she will be able to target industry after industry, thus
placing irresistible pressures on the Congress to extend a web of Voluntary Re-
straint Agreements and Orderly Marketing Agreements to more and more products.

In addition to enacting some form of high-tech trade legislation
this vear, I hope your subcommittee will continue to stress the
need for better domestic policies to make the United States more
competitive. I would like to call your attention to several such bills:

H.R. 5532, to make the 1981 R. & D. tax credits permanent and
to make the repeal of the section 861 allocation regulations perma-
nent.

H.R. 5573, to speed the process of computer familiarity by en-
couraging corporations to donate computers to elementary and sec-
ondary schools.

H.R. 6435, to provide a tax credit for a 5-year period for the ex-
penses of collecting high-tech data in certain countries, such as
Japan and Germany.

A coordinated trade and tax approach to the high-tech sector can
help insure that the United States remains competitive and does
not fall to second-rate economic status. As chairman of the Select
Revenue Measures Subcommittee, I would like to work with you in
such a coordinated approach.

I am happy to answer any questions.

Chairman GieBoNS. I am happy to hear your concern on where
we are going.

You know, we have a terrible agenda facing us this year, and one
of the things we are going to have to do is fight for agenda space.
Sometimes trade matters get left out because tax matrers seem to
have a higher priority, but in the long run, these trade matters are
extremely important. You can only catch them at certain times,
and it is important for us to get moving.

Anyway you can help me move this a little higher on our
agenda, it would be greatly appreciated.

Mr. Stark. I would be happy to help, either by not endorsing
your activities or working for them.

Chairman GiBBoNs. That is a generous offer. Thank you.

Our next witness is Mr. Jim Shannon, who is a Member of Con-

gress from Massachusetts and a distinguished member of this com-
mittee. We welcome you.

STATEMENT OF HON. JAMES M. SHANNON, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF MASSACHUSETTS

I\'II}'. SHANNON. Let me apologize at the outset for not being here
earlier.

t;Jl'zlairman GiBBONs. You explained to me the reason and I under-
stand.

Mr. SHANNON. I want to thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I appreciate the opportunity to come here today and talk abou*
one of the single most important trade issues of.our generation.

I am here to ask for support. of H.R. 64383, the High Technology

Trade Act of 1982, which you and I and 18 of our colleagues intro-
duced last week.
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Why a High Technology Trade Act? Why do we need a pro-free
trade bill affecting one of America’s most vital and growing indus-
tries? In recent years this part of our economy has been growing at
just a tremendous rate. That is the good news.

I can tell you as one who represents an area that was previously
depressed, the American economy is seeing the effects of that
growth.

The bad news is that we have got some very tough competition
hﬁaded our way. And so far, this Government has done nothing
about it.

The goal of this bill is to insure that we do do something. Its goal
is to insure that we and other nations trade in an environment
where high technology can prosper.

This bill aims for an open market so that foreign barriers to the
sale of our high-tech products are removed. No other category of
trade is so dependent upon open international markets. No other is
so threatened by the restrictive policies of other countries.

At this very moment, our Nation’s current advantage in the
high-tech area is slipping away. It is happening because foreign
governments simply will not allow us equal access and equal busi-
ness opportunity. The High Technology Act will change that.

It gives the President, for the first time, the authority he needs
to negotiate on high-tech issues. It sets up a monitoring committee
so that we will be always aware of what is happening internation-
ally in the high-tech area.

And where trade barriers exist, this committee will work with
the President, the Secretary of Commerce, and the U.S. Trade Rep-
resentative to get rid of them. America’s thriving high-tech indus-
try is not seeking protection. Just the opposite.

They know that curbing freedom of trade and investment pre-
vents thousands of businesses and engineers from being part of a
worldwide exchange. An exchange which is essential if the high-
tech firms of all nations are to flourish.

Yes, our own interest is unquestionable. There is probably no
other category of products more important to the United States.

All we are asking for is the opportunity to compete, fairly and
squarely. That can’t happen now. For years we have stood idly by,
while the Japanese and others have grown increasingly protection-
ist. For them, it has been a matter of national policy. For us, na-
tional policy has meant avoiding the problem.

We can do so no longer. Through a variety of tariff and nontariff
barriers, through the use of special treatment and exclusionary
performance requirements, our competitors are literally killing
free trade for American firms.

We know what has happened in the past. If we don’t act now,
our high-tech industry could be ruined. We have seen it in steel,
and we have seen it in autos. Let’s not see it in high-tech, too.

H.R. 6433 will insure that at last we have a policy that prevents
such economic disaster. This legislation will bring about the open
markets that the high-tech industry needs to survive.

It will mean saving thousands of jobs, and it will keep an essen-
tial part of our economy strong and healthy. Mr. Chairman, I
thank you for your time. I ask you and all my colleagues to join me
in taking this long overdue action.
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Chairman GiBeoNs. We will need all the support we can get
when we get this bill out of subcommittee and on the full commit-
tee’s agenda, and so I am sorry you are no longer a member of this
subcommittee. But you are equally as important to me and to this
legislation being on the full committee.

Mr. SHANNON. I hope I will be back on this subcommittee before
too long, and I want to say that I think that we have a tendency
here in the Congress to address illnesses only after they become
terminal and what we have got to try to do is get ahead of this one
and not let happen to the high-tech area what has happened to
other industries in the United States.

Various industries involved with high-tech recognize this prob-
lem, and are thinking ahead 3 or 4 or 5 years down the road.

I want to thank you for your leadership in this area.

Chairman GiBeoNns. I think you know the attitude of the high-
tech industries has been outstanding. They have anticipated a
problem and are going ahead to tackle it before it becomes a seri-
ous catastrophe. It is obvious that areas such as your own, where
emphasis upon education has been high, and California, where em-
phasis has been very high on education and on technology, are the
areas that are moving ahead. We welcome your leadership.

You have a fine bill. I am glad to join you and hope we can turn
it into law this year.

Mr. SHANNON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Gissons. Thank you.

We will next have a panel of the Chamber of Commerce of the
United States, the U.S. Council for International Business, and the
International Engineering and Construction Industries Council;
Mr. Shelp, Mr. Freeman, and Mr. Hodge.

Mr. Shelp, you are the first.

STATEMENT OF RONALD K. SHELP (VICE PRESIDENT, AMERICAN
INTERNATIONAL GROUP), VICE CHAIRMAN, INTERNATIONAL
SERVICES AND INVESTMENT SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE CHAM-
BER OF COMMERCE OF THE UNITED STATES, ACCOMPANIED
BY GORDON CLONEY, DIRECTOR, SPECIAL POLICY DEVELOP-
MENT

Mr. SHELP. I would like to give an oral summary. Of the cham-
ber’s 240,000-member organizations, over 160,000 are service estab-
lishments, which suggests something about the importance of serv-
ices in the U.S. economy.

Thus, we are cognizant of the trade problems of the service
sector as well as the issues facing the business community at large.

Our comments today deal witn trade policy and services indus-
tries. However, I should note there seems to be some confusion
over the relationship between services legislation and reciprocity
legislation.

We see the two as separate issues. Service legislation is to bring
service industries fully within U.S. trade policy on a par with man-
ufacturing and agriculture. Reciprocity legislation is addressing
market access issues.

The U.S. Chamber supports H.R. 5383 subject to one reservation
having to do with section 8.
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Since 1974, the chamber has devoted much attention to trade leg-
islation as it relates to our service industries. The growth of bar-
riers to trade in services clearly justifies the pioneering authorities
to negotiate reductions in such barriers provided by the Congress
in 1974 and strengthened in the Trade Agreements Act of 1979.

Based upon experience to date, we feel that this coverage is in-
complete. And the mandates of the USTR and the Commerce De-
partment need to be set out more clearly.

We believe that H.R. 5383 addresses the principal current short-
comings as follows:

Presidential negotiating authorities: Services need to be given a
priority equivalent to that given merchandise and agricultural
pﬁoducts. H.R. 5383 addresses this need and the chambe, supports
this.

Barriers to establishment: We feel that barriers to establishment
of U.S. service enterprises in foreign countries are within the
realm of “barriers to international trade” as that term is used in
section 102 of the Trade Act of 1974.

However, arguments are made that establishment-related issues
are not covered and legislative clarification is needed. Sections 4
a}xlld 10 of H.R. 5383 include provisions to this effect. We support
them.

The definition of services 1s usefully clarified in H.R. 5383, sec-
tion 10. We note the timeliness of mentioning information flows in
this subsection. We support this.

However, we suggest this definition also include protection of the
right to commercial information itself. Explicit reference to the
need to achieve fair treatment of industrial property rights
through international negotiations would be in the U.S. commer-
cial interest at a time when traditional standards for protecting
such rights are being eroded throughout the world.

Consultation by U.S. negotiators with the private service adviso-
ry committees when developing negotiating objectives is necessary.
P%I.R. 5383 addresses this need in section 4(c). The chamber supports
this.

State regulators must be part of any negotiations dealing with
the services they regulate. Provisions to this effect are made in
H.R. 5383, section 4 (bX1) and (b)2) which we support.

Central coordination of U.S. service trade policy is absolutely es-
sential. The coordination of service policy is complex, because not
only Cabinet departments are involved; regulatory agencies also
are part of the picture. Consequently, the problem is a delicate one.

We believe the USTR should have the lead responsibilitv and the
authority to inform and invoive Federal departments and agencies
in service trade policy formulation and negotiation.

The coordination process must be two way. Federal departnients
and agencies responsible for service sector activity and regulation
should advise the USTR of pending trade matters, in particular, of
allegations of unfair practices by foreign governments or service
companies. And they should consult with the USTR prior to the
disposition of such matters.

The relationship between the regulatory agencies and USTR
should be essentially consultative. The USTR does not need author-
ity to dictate regulatory decisions. However, when acting to remedy
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unfair trade practices, the final, primary decisionmaking should lie
with the 1JSTR acting for the President.

Otherwise, we do not have a coordinated trade policy.

Thus, we support sections 5 (a) and (b) of H.R. 5383 which would
strengthen overail policy coordination.

In further reference to Federal regulatory agencies, we suggest
section 8 be deleted from H.R. 5383 because it has come to be
viewed as a reciprocity provision. We do not support sectoral or
regulatory reciprocity in services trade.

Clear Department of Commerce accountability for administering
a program of work to support the USTR lead in service trade nego-
tiations and to carry out service trade promotion is necessary.

The Department of Commerce has just gone through the third
reorganization of its service functions in 4 years. The trend to date
has consistently been to improve service trade programs in quanti-
tative and qualitative terms.

However, the absence of legislative mandate also means that
future reorganization could be used to reduce or eliminate these
strengthened programs. As it would assure permanency of Com-
151:1))(381'30e work in services over time, we support section 5(c) of H.R.

We believe the remedies under section 301 of the 1974 Trade Act
as amended envisage the imposition of a fee or restrictic n a sup-
plier of a service in addition to restrictions on the se. .e itself.
But this is another area where there has been confusion, and clari-
fication is needed as you provide in the bill.

Subsidization and unfair pricing: Equality of treatment under
U.S. trade laws requires providing U.S. service industries a form of
redress irom injurious subsidized competition or unfair pricing by
foreign suppliers as has been provided goods and commodity export
firms for over 80 years.

We believe that section 301 as amended is intended to address
subsidies and unfair prici. - ‘n the service sector. Yet, in practice,
questions have been raisea .oout executive branch willingness to
apply this section in such cases.

Clarification of section 301 may be needed to resolve uncertainty
and we support H.R. 5383, section 6, which provides needed clarifi-
cation.

In conclusion, the U.S. Chamber feels that the United States
must continue a single-minded effort to bring service trade barriers
to the multilateral and to the bilateral negotiating tables.

And, the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade must under-
take a work program that will set the stage for a GATT round of
multilateral negotiations on services.

We consider passage of this legislation an important step in
achieving those goals.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepsred statement follows:]

STATEMENT oF RoyaLb K. SHELP, oON BEHALF OF THE CHAMBER OF COMMERCE OF THE
UNITED STATES

I am Ronald K. Shelp, vice president, American International Group, and vice
chairman of the U.S. Chamber’s International Services and Investment Subcommit-
tee. With me is Mr. Gordon J. Cloney, director, special policy development, U.S.
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Chamber of Commerce and executive secretary of the Subcommittee. We appreciate
the opportunity to be here.

The Chamber of Commerce of the United States is the largest federation of busi-
ness and professional organizations in the world, and is the principal spokesman for
the American business community. The U.S. Chamber represents more than 240,000
members, of which more than 235,000 are business firms, more than 2,800 are state
and local chambers of commerce, and more than 1,300 are trade and professional
associations. :

Over 85 percent of the Chamber’s members are small business firms having fewer
than 100 employees, yet virtually all of the nation’s largest industrial and business
concerns are also active members. Besides representing a cross-section of the Ameri-
can business community in terms of firm size, the U.S. Chamber also represents a
wide spectrum by type of business. Such major individual sectors of American busi-
ness—manufacturing, retailing, construction, wholesaling, finance and other serv-
ices—each have more than 15,000 businesses represented as members of the U.S.
Chamber. Thus, we are very cognizant of the trade problems of the service sector as
well as the issues facing the business community at large.

The U.S. Chamber supports H.R. 5383 subject to one reservation having to do with
Section 8. This is addressed subsequently in this testimeny. We agree with the
author that service trade should be expanded and barriers reduced; that addressing
service trade issues needs to be fully integrated into U.S. trade policy and the proc-
<-:€IsS rlgoordinated through the Office of the United States Trade Representative
( R).

BARRIERS TO TRADE IN SERVICES

Service industries are heterogeneous. They deal in advertising, accounting, archi-
tecture, banking, insurance, air transport, lodging, licensing, education, entertain-
ment, leasing, franchising, investment and finance, construction, communications,
data transmission, information, shipping, motion pictures, tourism and other serv-
ices.

The diversity of service “products” and the widely differing processes which
create them often leads to the conclusion that barriers to trade in services must be
equally diverse and a multilateral, multi-industry approach tc the trade barriers af-
fecting services is not possible. The Chamber has reviewed this, concluding the dif-
ferent services, as varied as they are, do face common trade barriers which are very
similar in nature to nontariff barriers in merchandise trade. These barriers to serv-
ices amount to unfair trade practices because they are used by a service importing
economy to protect the country’s local service industries and market.

Defining service trade barriers requires a broader conceptual framevrork than is
the case with merchandise trade. Some barriers affect services provide through in-
ternational trade, that is, when the service is provided from a source a the export-
ing country to a consumer or client located in the importing country. However, bar-
riers also affect service trade carried out through “establishment;’—that is they
impact on the setting up and/or the operation of the local branch or subsidiary
which may be essential tc doing business in a particular service industry. Also, gov-
ernments may require establishment by the foreign service firm for ease of regula-
gon even though the firm’s service could be provided on an “international trade”

asis.

American service industries are encountering growing barriers both in developing
and industrial countries. In spite of the diversity of the service sector, many of the
obstacles faced are common and, in many cases identical—whether services are sup-
plied through trade or through local establishment of subsidiaries, branches, etc.
Furthermore, barriers are looming over some of the new, heretofore unrestricted
and high potential service activities, such as information transmittal, electronic
communication, and transportation data flows. Also, in certain service areas where
international arrangements once protected international commerce, for example, in
the acquisition and protection of industrial property rights, the traditional protec-
tions are being eroded and ignored.

Major types of barriers to trade in services, both barriers to “international trade”
and to “establishment” can be grouped as follows:

Interference with access to market.—The provision of a service may be blocked by
a country prohibiting across-the-border importation of a service and/or by denying
the foreign service enterprise the right of establishment. Other less blatant protec-
tionist practices—for example, discriminatory licensing and registry of foreign serv-
ice firms—can have the same effect of blocking market access.
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Interference with transactions and financial structure.—Regulatory practices can
be used to slow or block international transactions by foreign service firms. Discrim-
inatory taxation or tariffs may c:eate barriers. Issuance of foreign exchange can be
denied both to service firms and to clients purchasing a service. Unreasonable dis-
criminatory requirements may e applied to capital st ructure, ownership and finan-
cial management of establishments.

Interference with access to production inputs.—Foreign service firms may be
denied access to necessary equipment; visa restriction may limit access to foreign
personnel or access to producer services sourced outside the importing economy may
be denied. Or, access may be restricted by local content requirements, performance
requirements, or employment quotas. Proprietary information, industrial property
rights, processes, or know-how used by a firm may not be protected.

Interference with marketing.—Sales by foreign service enterprises may be subject
to quotas or restrictions which limit their range of commercial activity. Technical or
other standards may be used te block foreign services sales. Marketing practices by
foreign service firms may be curtailed or prohibited. Government procurement op-
portunities may be denied. Contract arrangements with local customers may be un-
enforceable. Monopolistic arrangements by local private sector companies may, with
official cognizance, close a service market to foreign competitiors or official policies
may also restrict sales to national or other selected companies.

Trade-distorting Government behavior.—The provision of most services is heavily
regulated and this offers great opportunity for interference with the trade of foreign
service companies through discriminatory, protectionist behavior by regulators. Pro-
tectionist regulatory behavior may be formal, based upon law or written regulation,
or it may be achieved indirectly through pettifogging, delay or other arbitrary prac-
tices by officials Also, government-controlled services or government facilities that
are made available to local competitors may be denied to foreign firms or made
available on less favorable terms. Susidization of national service firms can skew
competition in domestic markets and in third country markets. Such subsidization
may make it possible for the national firm to offer its services at prices that would
otherwise be uneconomic and to sustain the operating loss for indefinite periods of
time.

The widespread use of barriers to trade in services clearly justifies the pioneering
authorities to negotiate reductions in such barriers provided by the Congress in
1974, authorities that were restated and strengthened in the Trade Ag ements Act
of 1979. Legislation to further strengthen U.S. policy toward multilateral negotia-
tion to reduce barriers is needed. And, it is important that our trading partners
know the Congressional intent remains firm.

SERVICE TRADE PROMOTION

The Chamber supports a comprehensive centrally coordinated trade policy. The
question of discriminatory practices and barriers is the defensive aspect. There 1s a
second aspect—the promotional challenge which service industries and the govern-
ment face together. This challenge comes from competitor nations where, using
“fair” practices, the governments have done a much better job of promoting and ad-
vancing their service trade than we have. Tiiese governments, often in countries
having modest service trade accounts, have recognized what we, with a $38 billion
surplus in our services account, have taken for granted—the major role service com-
panies play in trade, in balance of payments accounts, and in support of a country'’s
general economic weli-being.

The Chamber has reviewed th.e area of service trade promotion by the U.S. gov-
ernment and has reached several conclusions.

First, service trade promotion must be a priority on a par with manufacturing
and agricultural trade promotion. We understand the Administration is taking steps
to bring this about.

Second, many existing U.S. promotion programs now focusing on goods can be
adapted to include services. This is important in a time of tight budgets. Mew pro-
grams should be developed on a shared-cost basis.

Third, the country specialist staff within the Commerce Department and the over-
sees staff of the U.S. Foreign Commercial Service have not been directed to support
services (e.g. develop leads, build a body of foreign market information, etc.) with
the same vigor they are expected to support manufacturing and agricuitural ex-
ports.

Finally, financing for service trade appears deficient but more analysis is needed.
The Export-Import Bank, U.S. agencies monitorir.g the multilaterai development
banks, and the Agency for International Development do not seem to give services
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sufficient attention. U.S. service trade potentials are not factored into their strate-
gies nor are the service opportunities the programs create given sufficient attention.

TOWARD STRENGTHENED LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITIES

The Chamber, through several task forces and policy groups, has devoted consid-
erable attention to the adequacy of U.S. trade law as it relates to the problems and
needs of our service industries. We feel that in general such coverage is incomplete.
The mandates of the USTR and the Commerce Department need to be more clearly
set out. In general, radical surgery is not needed to address these shortcomings
which are discussed below.

Presidential negotiating authorities now cover services. However, services need to
be given a trade priority equivalent to that given merchandise and agricultural
products. A clear congressiona' directive to the President to seek agreement in serv-
ice trade as a principal objective under Section 102 would prevent services from
being virtually ignored in any future negotiations as occurred during the past Tokyo
round. Section 4(a) of H.R. 5383 addresses this need.

Barriers to establishment present a potential negotiating problem. While we feel
that barriers to establishment of U.S. service enterprises in foreign countries are
within the realmr of “barriers to international trade” as that term is used in Section
102 of the Trade Act of 1974, arguments have been made that establishment related
issues involve investment, not trade, and therefore are not covered. Legislative clari-
fication is in order, we feel, to prevent any potential problem. Sections 4 and 10 of
H.R. 5383 include provisions to this effect.

Definition of services are usefully clarified in H.R. 5383, Section 10. We note the
timeliness of mentioning information in this subsection. We support this and fur-
ther suggest that this definition include restrictions on the right to commercial in-
formation includi..z industrial property rights. Explicit reference to the need for
fair treatment of industrial property rights in service trade negotiations would be
important and in the U.S. commercial interest at a time when traditional standards
for protecting such rights are being eroded throughout the world.

Censulation by U.S. negotiators with the private advisory committees while nego-
tiating objectives are being developed is necessary. This would ta’ » the advisory
process a step further than was the case during the Multilateral Trade Negotiations
(MTN) when, as a rule, negotiating objectives were not developed jointly although
the advisory ~ommittees were kept informed of negotiating developments. H.R. 5383
addresses this need in Section 4(bX(3).

State regulators must be part of any negotiations dealing with services they regu-
late. The USTR should consult with the states before the U.S. sets its negotiating
strategies or decides on methods of implementation. Provision to this effect are
made in H.R. 5383, Section 4 “(bX1)” and “(bX2).”

Central coordination of U.S. trade policy is absolutely essential in the Chamber’s
view. This applies equally to policy affecting merchandise and services. The coordi-
nation of services policy is the more complex, however, because not only cabinet de-
partments are involved. A number of independent regulatory agencies also are part
of the picture. Consequently, there is a need for coordination and the problem is a
delicate one. We believe the USTR should, through the Trade Policy Committee and
its Subcommittees, have the lead responsibility and the authority necessary for in-
volving federal departments and agencies in service trade policy formulation and
negotiation.

The coordination process must be two-way. Interested departments and agencies
must keep the USTR informed of developments affecting trade in services. Federal
departments and agencies responsible for service sector activity including its regula-
tion in the U.S. should advise the USTR of pending matters involving: (1) the treat-
ment accorded United States service sector interests in foreign markets, or (2) alle-
gations of unfair practices by foreign governments or enterprises in a gervice sector
and proposed disposition of such matters.

The relationship between the regulatory agencies and USTR is essentially consul-
tative and USTR should not have authority to dictate regulatory decisions. By the
same token, the agencies consulted by USTR on service sector trade policy develop-
ments (including any negotiating strategies) should not have primary responsibility
for trade policy formulation. Particularly when addressing unfair trade practices,
the final decision must lie with the USTR, acting for ti.e President. Otherwise, we
do not have a coordinated trade policy.

We support Sections 5 (a) and (b) and 7 (b) and (c) of H.R. 5383 which provide for
such overall coordination.
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In further reference to federal regulatory agencies, openness of f..cign country
markets should be ~ consideration in agency decision-making, tugether with the
other criteria conside:ed by the agency, although we do not support sectoral or
mirror image reciprocity in U.S. regulatory proceedings or in services trade. Be-
cause it has come to be viewed as a reciprocity provision and, hence, controversial,
we suggest Section 8 be deleted from H.R. 5383,

The Department of Commerce accountability { carrying out a program of work
to support the USTR lead in service trade negotiations and to carry out service
trade promotion (for which Commerce has the lead) is necessary. The Department of
Commerce has just gone through the third reorganization of its service function in
four years. Although the trend to date has been to improve service trade programs,
in qualitative and quantitative terms, the absence of a clear legislative mandate
means that frequent reorganization could in the future be used to reduce or elimi-
nate service trade programs. Hence, to assure permanency over time, we support
Section 5(c) of H.R. 5383 which would authorize the Secretary of Commerce to estab-
lish a service industries development program designed to promote U.S. service ex-
ports, and collect and analyze information concerning international trade in serv-
ices and U.S. service sector competitiveness. The responsibilities of the Secretary of
Commerce in this area should complement the trade policy formulation and coordi-
nating role of the USTR. In carrying out the mandate of Subsection 5(c), the Secre-
tary should take greac <are not to impose unnecessary or burdensome reporting (or
other) requirements on s2rvice sector enterprises.

Section 301 of the 1974 Trade Act provides for the imposition of “fees or other
restrictions” on the services of foreign countries in the U.S. market to retaliate
against foreign trade practices which are either unjustifiable or unreasonable and
which burden U.S. commerce. This provision is, we believe, intended to cover the
imposition of a restriction on a supplier (actual or potential) of the service through,
for example, a denial of a request for a license to operate, in addition to restrictions
on the service itself. But because a question on this point has been raised, we sup-
port Section 7, Subsection (a) of H.R. 5383 which would amend Section 301 to ex-
pressly include foreign suppliers in the U.S. market.

Subsidization and Unfair Pricing. We feel that equality of treatment of trade in
services and trade in products under U.S. trade laws requires providing service
sector industries a form of redress from injurious subsidized competition or unfair
pricing by foreign suppliers. While such problems may not exist for some service
sectors (e.g. banking), in other areas (e.g. air transportation), subsidized competition
and below cost sales have caused significant problems.

While we believe that Section 301 as amended is fully intended to address subsi-
dies and unfair pricing in the service sector, in practice questions have been raised
about executive branch willingness to apply this section in such cases. Clarification
of Sectior: 301 may be needed to resolve this situation. H.R. 5383 addresses this issue
in Section 6 which we support.

In conclusion, the U.S. Chamber feels that Congress, U.S. industry, and the Ad-
ministration must continue a single-minded effort to bring service trade barriers to
the multilateral negotiating table. The General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
(GATT) must undertake a work program that will set the stage for a round of multi-
lateral negotiations. During the second half of this decade, such negotiations should
begin the process of subjecting barriers to trade in services to rules and constraining
procedures just as was done to merchandise trade barriers. This process will be no
easier than was the effort in barriers to trade in merchandise and in commodities.
Precisely because the process cannot be -een as rapid or simple, we must move from
the analytic to the negotiating stage.

We are grateful for the opportunity to present these views. Trade in services is an
area of great importance. We compliment this Subcommitzee and the author of H.R.
5383 for considering means to enhance related U.S. policy. We urge positive action
on H.R. 5383 this year if at all possible.

Chairman GizBons. Mr. Freeman?
STATEMENT OF HARRY L. FREEMAN, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT,

AMERICAN EXPRESS CO., ON BEHALF OF THE U.S. COUNCIL
FOR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS

Mr. FReemaN. I am Harry Freeman, with a moderately sized
company and a moderately sized statement. I am here to testify on
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behalf of the U.S. Council for International Business, which is the
U.S. affiliate of the International Chamber of Commerce.

I would like to say in the strongest possible terms that we en-
dorse H.R. 5383 and would like for you to move to markup, to full
committee, and passage. We do have some technical comments on
sectilf:ms 7 and 8, which I will make for the record later in my re-
marks.

In the interest of time, and in making the sirongest possible
point, I would like to say that I agree fully with Mr. Neubauer and
Mr. Shelp, who testified earlier with Mr. Finnerty.

Mr. Chairman, you and I have been talking about the service
sector for a number of years. I don’t know who started first—I will
gladly yield that distinction to you—but we are now very much at
a watershed.

A number of us testified last week before the Senate; and as you
know, they passed S. 1233, the Service Industries Act.

They are moving over there and I see movement here. I was de-
lighted to see Congressman Florio and Congressman Stark here, ac-
tively supporting this issue.

I think now we are at a watershed point where we are looking
forward to the GATT ministerial meeting in November, where the
service sector has come to attention. Even the media now picked
this up in very, very strong terms. My statement includes the
aforementioned New York Times article.

I think the momentum is there, now is the time to act. We are
calling on you as chairman and members of your committee and
the Congress and the House to move now.

As you said in comments a few minutes ago, it is rough to get on
the agenda, and we are fully understanding and sympathetic with
that. There is a lot to do between now and adjournment. Trade
sometimes does take a back seat. Given the economic environment
in the world and in the United States and the level of unemploy-
{nent, the time could not be more ripe for moving this type of legis-
ation.

I have listened to my colleagues from AFL-CIO. I think the
answer to what Dr. Oswald has said really is: We share a lot of
those concerns about negotiations, that we do not really know ex-
actly how they are going to come out and we do not want to trade
off one sector against another sector. But I think we really have to
move forward now.

I have confidence that in the Trade Representative’s office, now
with Bill Brock and formerly with Bob Strauss, will take into ac-
count not only the interests of labor, of employees, of business in-
terests, but the real national interest in maintaining and develop-
ing the service sector. I think we ought to move ahead and take
some risks.

So that is really my statement. The momentum is there now. We
are now toward the end of May 1982, shaping up in the second year
of the session. I think there is time.

We in the private sector really do have our act together in the
service sector. We are anxious to help, we are anxious to work with
you and your colleagues to move this bill through to become law.

Thank you very much.

[The following statemeut was subsequently submitted:]
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I would like to stress that the U.S. Council for International Business supports
the purpose and general content of H.R. 5383. However, the Council has reserva-
tions about some sections.

Specifically, I refer to Section 8 which might encourage independent retaliatory
action by U.S. agencies; and Section 6 which would apply subsidy and countervail-
ing/dumping remedies to services. Some members of the Council believe that this
latter section would be impractical for application to the service industry.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Thank you very much for your fine state-
ment.
[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF HARRY L. FREEMAN, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, AMERICAN ExpPRrESs Co.,
ON BeHALF oF THE U.S. COUNCIL FOR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS

Mr. Chairman and distinguished members. My name is Harry L. Freeman, Senior
Vice-President of American Express Company. I am pleased to be here today to tes-
tify on behalf of the U.S. Council for International Business. The U.S. Council repre-
sents 250 U.S. companies, serving as the U.S. affiliate of the International Chamber
of Commerce, the International Organization of Employars and the Business and In-
dustry Advisory Committee to the OECD.

We endorse the principles of H.R. 5383 and commend Congressmen Gibbons and
Vander Jagt for taking the initiative in recognizing the need for services legislation.
'The U.S. Council believes that we must broaden our trade prospective and policies
to include trade in services as well as trade in goods. These hearings today demon-
strate that this is beginning to happen. We are very pleased to see that the Senate
passed the Service Industries Development Act S. 1233. It is vital that the House
expedite passage of comparable legislation. Service industries do not want prefer-
ence or protection—only parity. Mr. Chairman, H.R. 5383 is a key step in this direc-
tion.

In the not so distant past, it was a major event to spot a news item containing a
reference to so-called “invisible trade in invisible gocds.” Now I am happy to report
hardly a day goes by without the appearance of an article or speech pertaining to
the service sector. Only last week, the lead article in the New York Times Business
Section read, “Services: Bucking the Slump.” The service sector is finally beginning
to receive the recognition it deserves and reguires. Services play a vital role 1n both
the domestic economy and international trade. This is no longer an issue. A few
facts will be sufficient to demonstrate my point. Attached to the testimony are var-
ious charts which depict these figures.

At the outset we would like to note that in some ways the term “service sector” is
a misnomer and does not do justice to the wide diversity of industries that are in-
cluded in the area. Service companies range from transportation to financial serv-
ices to coinmunications, to name a few. It is important to keep this in mind in order
to recognize the magnitude of the area we are discussing today and its importance
to the U.S. economy.

Services represent 67 percent of U.S. economic output—>51 percent if government
activities are excluded.

Approximately 66 million people—72 percent of total employment of 92 million—
are employed by the service sector.

Services are growing twice as fast as the manufacturing sector.

There wae a 20 percent increase in labor and capital productivity from 1967 to
1979, versus 10 percent in manufacturing.

On the international side the facts are just as impressive.

The United States now has a comparative advantage in international trade in
services.

U.S. businesses account for 20 percent of total world trade in services. Last year
gggzsscontributed to the first overall surplus in the U.S. balance of payments since

World trade in services expanded at 17 percent average annual rate in the past
decade, compared with an average growth of 6 percent for world trade as a whole.

Why services legislation now?

There are some who would argue that services are doing so well on their own,
they do not require government attention in the form of legislation or additional
resources. But the truth is, we often behave as if the service sector doesn't exist, we
look at our economy with only one eye—the industrial eye—when we should be
using two. We need to open the services eye, so that we can see our economy in its
entirety. ] am not advocating that we should ignore or withdraw resources from
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manufacturing, agriculture or mining. What I am saying is that we should give
services their due recognition and support service sector interests by giving services
parity with goods in U.S. trade law.

Passage of the key elements of the Trade in Services Act legislation is essential
now for a variety of reasons. The current state of the trade environment is grim, to
say the least. Deteriorating trade relations and growing trade dificits have created
tensions between our allies and trading partners. Strains on domestic economies
have resulted in increasing protectionism as countries turn to tariff and non-tariff
barriers as a means of protecting domestic industry and fostering national interests.

Headlines frequently rele.z the problems of the steel and auto sectors as they en-
counter problems iz maintaining market share and combating foreign competition.
In contrast, little attention is given to the growing proliferation of non-tariff bar-
riers that affect the service sector. These barricrs appear in the form of more subtle
mechanisms: personnel restrictions, discriminatory licensing procedures, discrimina-
tory taxation, discriminatory foreign exchange restrictions, tariff and customs proce-
dures, and denial of entry into foreign markets For example:

The Canadian Income Tax Act denies the deduction on any expenses of an adver-
tisement carried by U.S. stations broadcasting into Canada. A section 301 case of
the Trade Act of 1974 has been filed. However we must strengthen existing trade
laws to provide adequate remedies for this type of situation without seeking other
kinds of legislation.

In Australia, there has been a ban on the establishment of new branches or sub-
sidiaries of foreign banks since 1942. In many countries including Brazil, Canada,
Egypt, El Saivador, Finland and Greece, foreign equity participation in indigenous
banks is severely limited.

Other potentially threatening and disruntive barriers are restrictions on the flow
of information across naticnal borders. Germany, for example prohibits companies
from transmitting data out of Germany unless the company carries out some data
processing within the country.

This is just a small sampling of the numerous non-tariff trade barriers that inhib-
it service sector trade.

The time to act is now—to maintain the growth of services which are the bright
spots on the U.S. economic horizon. We must also recognize the vital linkage of
trade in services with trade in goods. Through dramatic increases in technological
capabilities, more and more international transactions in goods and merchandise
depend on the capabilities of the service sector.

As Bill Brock, United States Trade Representative, recently stated “...twa-thirds
of the American people work not in the production of goods, but in engineering, in-
surance, data transmission, communications, shipping, banking—all of those fields
that are covered by no effective international rules at all. So it is insane to think
that you can long continue trade in goods if you have total barriers to the services
which facilitate the trade in these goods. The two are totally intertwined, and you
can’t separate them. And that’s why the United States has put a top priority on
establishing an international regime over the next 5 years in the services and in-
vestment sectors.”

Despite the important role that services play, services do not have parity with
goods in U.S. trade law. In order to combat the growth of non-tariff barriers, it is
essential to give U.S. trade authorities adequate capabilities for negotiatiag on the
part of service sector companies. Although current U.S. trade law makes some refer-
ence to services, a few relatively smail but significant chan%is are necessary to clar-
ify the US. mandate to address service sector problems in both bilateral and multi-
lateral discussions.

On the international side, services have not yet been given attention by the
GATT. With the upcoming GATT Ministerial in November, it is crucial for the
United States to send a positive signal to its trading allies demonstrating our com-
mitment to the pursuit of an open trade environment for services as well as goods.
The Tokyo Round of multilateral trade negotiations concentrated on goods, leaving
services to be dealt with at a later date. Negotiators also lacked sufficient data on
service sector problems to commit themselves t¢ any agreements in this area. The
November GATT Ministerial offers the United States an opportunity to focus high-
level international attention on barriers to trade in services, including restrictions
on international information flows. The first step is to ensure that U.S. trade offi-
cials have the adequate authority and mandate to pursue this type of discussion.

We must act now to prevent the services situation from deteriorating to a point at
which solutions are less palatable. If we work together with the U.S. Government
and with our international partners we can hope to contain the proliferation of non-
tariff trade barriers before they dramatically injure trade in services or goods.
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The proposed legislation is essential for giving services parity with goods in U.S.
trade law. H.R. 5383 has several key components:

The bill amends the negotiating objectives of the Trade Act of 1974 to include the
discussion and negotiation of services as principal goals in both bilateral and multi-
lateral discussions and negotiations.

The bill would consolidate the coordination of services trade policy in the U.S.
Trade Representative’s Office and would grant Commerce a broad mandate to im-
prove its services data base.

The bill amends section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 to cover service sector prob-
lems more completely and explicitly, removing any possible ambiguity that Section
301 remedies do in fact cover services.

There is one provision regarding the role of independent agencies, section 8, that
causes us some concern. Since it is not clear how agencies would interpret the lan-
guage “taking into account” U.S. market access in other countries, we feel that this
authority would best remain under the jurizdiction of the U.S. Trade Represeu.a-
tive’s Office as described in section 5. We hope the Subcommittee will amend or
delete this section without impeding the rapid passage of this legislation.

Thank you for the opportunity to address this important issue. I would be happy
to answer any questions you may have.
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STATEMENT OF RAYMOND J. HODGE, CHAIRMAN, INTERNATION.
AL ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRIES COUNCIL

Mr. HopGe. My name is Raymond J. Hodge, and I am a senior
partner in the consulting engineering firm of Tippetts-Abbett-Mc-
Carthy-Stratton.

I am testifying here today on behalf of the International Engi-
neering and Construction Industries Council {IECIC] in my current
capacity as chairman. The IECIC is composed of the American Con-
sulting Engineers Council, the Associated General Contractors of
America, the National Consiructors Association, and the American
Institute of Architects.

Together these organizations represented over 5 billion dollars’
worth of design and construction work last year and significantly
contributed to the positive components in the U.S. balance of trade.
This is a minimum estimate and it could be substantially higher.

IECIC welcomes this opportunity to voice its support for the gen-
eral thrust of H.R. 5383, the Trade In Services Act of 1982.

The theme of IECIC's VI Action Conference held last October
was “A New Commitment: Rebuilding American Exports.” The

findimgs-of-this conference are outlined-in the proceedings of this
conference.

I would like to submit a copy of the IECIC Conference proceed-
ings for the record.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Without objection, they will be included.

Mr. Hopge. Thank you.

We have seen since that date increased attention to services ex-
ports by the administ-ation and in the Congress with the introduc-
tion of legislation such as S. 2058 in the Senate, H.R. 5383 in the
House, and the recent unanimous Senate passage of S. 1233, the
Services Industries Development Act.

U.S. Trade Representative William Brock and Department of
Ccmmerce Secretary Malcolm Baldrige participated in our confer-
ence and both acknowledge the important contribution our indus-
tries make to U.S. trade as engineering and construction overseas
contracts are often the lead-in for exports of related U.S. goods and
services.

Many of the major problems raised at the IECIC Conference are
addressed in H.R. 5383, IECIC members are looking for further leg-
islative and executive action in the areas of competitive export fi-
nancing, effective export promotion policies, reduction of irterna-
tional protectionist practices, and modification of some existing leg-
islation such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, antitrust regu-
lations and antiboycott laws.

IECIC applauds the stated purpose of the Trade In Services Act
of 1982. Integration of service sector trade issues in U.S. economic
and trade policy is long cverdue. This becomes readi.y apparent
when one analyzes the positive and negative components of the
U.S. balance of trade. Section 4 of this bill will place the negotia-
tion of reductions in barriers to trade in services in its proper pri-
ority among the top of U.S. trade issues. Moreover, section 7 pro-
vides the needed clarification of the term “services’” under the defi-
n}t{gxr;‘iof ‘“unfair trading practices” in section 301 of the Trade Act
0 .
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We have great confidence in placing the responsibility of coordi-
nation and implementation of U.S. trade in services policies with
the U.S. Trade Representative and the Trade Policy Committee as
suggested in H.R. 5383. As Ambassador Brock stated in his testimo-
ny before the Senate, he has spent an extraordinarily large amount
of his time on the question of negotiating international barriers to
trade in services through the GATT and he should be commended
for these efiorts.

The design/engineering/construction industry began working
with the U.S. Trade Representative’s Office in 1980 to identify ob-
stacles and problems encountered by engineers, contractors, and
consultants in working overseas. This information was then pro-
vided by the U.S. Government to the OECD for a pilot study on
this sector. We viewed this effect as an important first step in de-
termining the barriers encountered by our industry. JECIC will
continue giving the ambassador and his staff the support they
need.

In regard to the creation of a service industries development pro-
gram in the Department of Commerce, section 5, IECIC believes
the proposed functions of such a program can effectively be carried
out, giving these issues the coordination they have often lacked in
the past. We are particularly interested in giving the Department
the necessary support to develop a reliable and useful data base for
services.

We are pleased that section 5(c)5(v) provides for an anaiysis of
the adequacy of U.S. financing and export promotion programs. We
believe there should be greater rcognition of the need to promote
service industries as part of U.S. trade policy and the need to allo-
cate existing resources to service industries as well as goods.

For example, in 1980, the Export-Import Bani: of the United
States provided only $93 million in direct credits to support service
contracts, which represents less than 2 percent of total direct cred-
its authorized. Given the important role that services play in
export trade, we believe that greater emphasis should be given to
financing of service exports.

We also approve of the parts of section 5 which recognize the
need to analyze U.S. Goverment disincentives to services. We be-
lieve that this is extremely important. The U.S. Government im-
poses significant barriers to American engineering/construction in-
dustries, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, conflicting an-
tiboycott laws and antitrust policies. We strongly support these ef-
forts and encourage congressional action to remove these disincen-
tives.

IECIC supports passage of H.R. 5383. However, there are two
major reservations. We recommend the deletion of sections 6(A)
and section 8 of this bill in order to fully separate the issue of reci-
procity. We support the efforts of this subcommittee and the pur-
poses and proposed actions found in H.R. 5383, with the exceptions
noted above.

We agree with Ambassador Brock that it would be helpful for
Congress to pass this legislation before the GATT ministerial meet-
ing in November.
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Productive bilateral and multilateral negotiations will increase
our competitiveness and we believe legislation such as H.R. 5383
strengthens the U.S. position in such endeavors.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, for giving me this opportu-
nity to present our comments.

[The IECIC conference proceedings previously referrad to follow:]
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Proceedings of the IECIC VI Action Conference

With the advent of the Reagan Administration, 1981
seemed to be an especially propitious year in which to hold
the bi-ennial conforence of the International Engineering
and Construction Industries Council This was proven true
by the outstanding success of the Conference, held in
Washington, D.C., on 14-15 October 1981 at the Shoreham
Hotel The Conference attracted engineering and construc-
tion executives, as well as other participants from the pri-
vate sector, and numerous high-ranking government offi-
cials and obeervers.

As set forth by the Chairman of the Conference, Raymond
J. Hodge, in his opening remarks: *“The Conference goal 1s
to continue the process, begun by this Administration, to
testore the U S. to a position of pre-eminence in Interna-
tional trade.” Mr. Hodge further delineated this goal, say-
ing. “We will defii: 1. ... Jumentsto U S. export, and, more
significantly, identify strategies for overcoming barriers to
increase the U.S. share in export marketing, and assess the
roles the iegistative at d executtve branches of government
play in this effort, and the role we 1n the private sector must
play m recapturing our share of the international market "

The Chairman underscored the role of the engineering and
construction 1ndustries in world trade *The engineering-
construction industrnies has the potential to be the catalyst
for increased export trade. As the designers, planners, and
constructors for multi-billion dollar projects we can pro-
vide foreign markets for U.S manufactured matenals, in-
stalled machinery. and construction equipment, and a con-
tinuing market for spare parts Our contnibution, therefore,
can go beyond the primary impact of 1mtial contracts for
professional services

Mr Hodge pointed to the recent precipitous decline of the
engineering and construction industries of the United
States in the world market and noted, as well, the impor-
tance of these industries to helping to achieve the Adi.in-
1stration’s goal of economic recovery for the United States.
Emphasizing the undetlying philosophy of the twa-day
session, the Chairmen said, **We believe that progress to-
ward restoring U.S. position in world ttade and extending
U.S. presence abroad will be achieved by cooperative ef-
forts between the private secto: and the government.”

Mr Hodge noted a number of specific U.S. governiuant
policies and regulations which have contributed to the
decline of the overseas work of the industry in the past.
These include taxation of personal income earned abroad.
taxation of housing allowances for employees working in
foreign countries, failure to provide loans and grants to
U.S. firms for feasibility studies; faslure to tie loans to U.$
contractors, architects, and engineers; application of do-
mestic anli-trust acts to services and contracts in foreign
markets; 1ailure to provide bonuses and tax credits for for-
eign projects:; lack of credits for value-added tax on ex-
ported materigls, rquipment, and services; uncertain en-
forcement of the corrupt practices act; and, in some cases,
the requirement for environmental :mpact statements for
some foreign projects. Emphasizing that the U.S. govern-
ment is not only to blame, he said that the engineering-
construction industry had itself also contnibuted to the
dechne of export trade, through failure to communicate
effectively our position and the impact which it has on the
domestic economy. He noted tnat the industry had also
failed to supply U.S. government officials with data and
nfermation required to assist successfutly U.S contractors



and engineers operating in the overseas market. "What e
can and must create through this dialogue is a realistic
assessment of the problems and strategies or their solu-
tions,” said the Chairman.

He commended the new Administration for the bold and
deliberate step already under way toward removing the
barriers to export trade. Underscoring the recent passage
of the economic recovery tax act of 1981, the Chairman
termed it a “*highly significant milestone™ in the direction
of assisting the U'S industry to compete successfully in-
ternationally He added that as the U S. government and
private industry continued its mutual efforts to enh

88

The Administration'’s
Commitment Statement
on 1.8. Trade Policy

The Honorable William E. Brock
U.S. Trade Representative

In introducing the United States Trade Representative as
the keynote speaker for the Conference, the Chairman noted

the export trade, *'we must keep in mind the relationship
between export trade and domestic economic well-being.
Too often, the two are trpated as though they were distant
cousins, if indeed related at all.” He pointed out that a
strategy whereby the United States obtains “‘engineeting-
construction dollars” from those countries that are getting
our “petro dollars” would greatly assist our u mestic eco-
nomic picture. The unique character of the engineering
and construction industries in obtaining multi-million dol-
lar export projects must be thought of In terms of national
as well as corporate advantages Ontherole of this industry,
the Chairman pointed out that it has a singular opportunity
to assist 1n expanding thetotal US export picture as direct
contractors, as suppliers of US services and goods for
foreign markets, and as sources of referral for additional
US products for foreign markets He promused the full
cooperation to government of the engineering and con-
struction industry and commended the new Adn.inistra-
tion for “*dedication to economic recovery and increased
export trade.”

that Ambassador William Brock enjoyed the active support
of President Reagan. He said that the Ambassador has “as-
sumed the most aggressive posture in support of the in-
creased export trade of any government official in recent
history He has not only brought to this position a keen
understanding of the importance of incrensed export trade
to the domestic economy, but has successfully conveyed
this critical concept to the legislatures, the business com-
munity, and the public at large.”

Ambassador Brock emphasized the unawareness of the
American public on how interwoven the United States
actually 1s in the world economy and how interdependent
itison world trade Pointing out the historical fact that this
nation had been blessed with the world’s largest common
market for the past two-hundred years, he said, “Conse-
quently, we didn’t pay a whole ot of attention to interna-
tional economic oppoxtunities " In terms of the gross na-
tional product, exports ten years ago amounted to 6%z per
cent of the GNP, and have almost doubled today "“We're
talking 250 bithon dollars, and 'm not sure if people realize
just what that means in terms of the ability tohave a healthy
US economy at home,” sa d Ambassador Brock

Ambassador Brock noted the number of disincentives 1m-
posed by policies and rul-s of the U.S. government upon
U.S. industries operating .broad. such as taxation of earn-
ings of US citizens overseas and the high-interest rates
required of the U S. Export-Import Bank He stressed the
necessity of enforcing existing U.S laws, while ensuring
that the industry 1s not disadvantaged by unfair competi-
tion in terms of foreign subsidies and trade barriers He
said that the General Agreement on Tariff and Taxation hes
been specifically devoted to goods in the past, while it1s
now necessary in international codes for the international
community to think also in terms of services

In the question and answer peniod following Ambassador
Brock’s talk. he said that 1n our domestic economy, “Ex-
ports should be the front edge of the recovery effort, not
the trailing end "' He noted the importance of such an n-
stitution as the Export-Import Bank in assising U S trade
efforts overseas, as well as the Export Trading Company
concept, passed unanimously by the Senate but statled m
the House of Representaives Ambassador Brock aiso
pointed out the overall importance 1n the scheme of inter-
national financing of the international financial institutions
such as the World Bank



The New Commitment:
Government Programs
Policies in Action

Moderator: Netlo L. Toer, Jr.
Nello L. Teer Company

Panelists: Elive R. du Pont, Agency for International
Development
Donald Earnshaw, Department of Commerce
Harry W. Kopp, Depariment of State
Harry Fliakas, Department of Defense

In his opening remarks, Mr. Teer noted that although a
little progress had been obtained by the engineering ard
construction industry over the past 14 years of IECIC Con.
ferences, ““The Reagan Administration now has the oppor-
tunily to demonstrate 's willingness to address our
needs.” Noting the long absence of any meaningful con-
struction export policy of the government, Mr Teer said
that the U.S. government officials tepresented on his panel
presented & goiden opportunity as people to whom indus.
try should identify it's needs and problems

The Assistant Adminsstrator of AID, Mts. du Pont, said that
she was bringing a new bureau for Private Enterprise in the
Agency into existence to shift the emphasis of U'S foraign
assistance program from that of resource transfer to tech-
nology transfer m institution building. It was hoped by the
present Administration that the new Bureau would become
a catalyst for that transfer The goal of this Bureau 1s to
“transfer know-how, capital, and management skills of
American private enterprise in order to build stronger pri-
vate sectors in the developing world." Pointing to the re-
cent history since World War If of areas such as Singapore,
Taiwan, and South Korea, which achieved remarkable
progress in a verv short period of time, she termed the
common denominator of this program on what the Presi.
dent has termed *'the magic of the marketplaze *

Noting the decrease in development assistance budgets of
the major nations of the world, including the U S.. Mrs dy
Pont said that one of the goals of the new Agency 1s to
leverage foroign assistance doilars in order to create a mul.
tiplier effect by support of private enterpnse projects
abroad. Emphasizing the fact that the Resgan Administra-
tion is endeavoring to bring a tatally new thrust of involve.
ment 1n the energies. talents, and productive genius of
American private enierprise into areas formally dominated
by the government. Mrs. du Pont said the new operation 15
a logical extension of that effort A fourth objective of the
bureau is that of rebuilding exports so that U' S industries
may be able to compete aggressively 1n the export markets

To arcomplish this thrust Mrs du Pont said that AlD was
commencing with a s1x country target group singled out
for special attention These countries nclude Indunesia,

Sri Lanka, Jamalca, Costa Rica, Kenya, and the Ivory Coast,
Each will be the subject of an AID survey mission to deter-
mine what might be U.S. private enterprise intereats in the
development of these nations Worling with the office of
the U.S Trade Representative, the Commerce Department,
and the Department of State, the primary effoits will be o
leveraging resources and trying to stimulate private jn.
vostment in the lesser developed nations. One of the mech-
anisms to be used is a thrust towards mixed financing or
co-financing, although in the past this has not been U.S.
government practice. The role of the Trade and Devslop-
ment Program was mentioned briefly .y Mrs. du Pont as
one which would be explored further in the afterncon’s
panel session

The Deputy Assistant Secretary of Commetce for Traca and
Development, Donald Earnshaw, described his present po-
sition as an export marketing activity in the US govern-
ment He stated the conviction of the g~vernment that on-
gincering and construction wete in the forefront of the us
oxport picture and noted further that “the success which
you achieve in those contracts nas a tremendous bearing
on the export actvity of thoss that come behind aad take
advantage of what you have built out there *

Mr Earnshaw described the business onientation of the
new Administration and the fact that finally government
officials were using the influence of theyr position to
achieve the award of business to American firms The 1m-
portance of the new Foreign Commercial Service i this
scheme was pointed out by Mr Earnshaw, as well as the
need (o attract business grounded wmdividuals mto the
Service

The importance of overseas trade misstons, a function of
the Department of Commetce, was cited by Mr Earnshaw.
He 2lso noted the formation of a new President's Exgort
Council and that among the five subcommuttees to be
formed witiun the Council is one on trade and services He
sad that this was another manifestation of the growing
realization of the importance of the services sectors In the
export picture of the United States Termung the present
budget reduction process of the U.g government as "‘a rea)
opportumty,” he called this a unique chance to examine
closely how the government 1s organized, what 1t's prion-
hes are, and to make changes to obtain the correct structure
a1d priorities to deal with responsibiities and relation-
ships with private industries

Mr Harry Kopp of the Department of State spoke of the
pressures that are being placed upon the world's present
trading system and how the new Administration intends
to respond to those pressures domestically and nterna-
tionally Noting merchandise trade deficits of about 3 bi-
lion dollars 1n 1980, he said that these wete murrored in the
world by what continues to be a substantial surplus of
almost 120 bithion dollars held by the OPEC countries
Because of these pressures he felt that governments will
turn ancreasingly protectionist in the future
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Panel en Gevernmont Progroms and Policies in Actien

The need to maintain open markets and investment flows
is thus more vital than ever, Mr. Kopp stated, and that
Administration policies will be diracted to accomplish just
' at. He said that internationally the U.S. government is
committed to » market approach and will be aggressive in
enforcing rights under the GATT and looking towards new
negotiations to keep markets open. He felt that in terms of
development, investment was the key and the secret of
growth is to maintain a good investment climate Precedent
for such an approach exists in the most successful examples
of Singapore, Tatwan, and Korea. The need for creating
some form of multi-lateral insurance facility to provide
protection for foreign investment and against political risk
is a future goa! of this Administration He underscored the
necessity for the Administration to have the advice of U.S.
private enterprise which “knows far better than we in gov-
ernment do what is helpful in the operation of the market
in the world, which can advise us on how market oper-
ations can be improved, where our negotiating strengths
lie, and where 1t is that we should be seeking advantages

through various field divisions and districts and until quite
recently required international competition for such con-
tracts. In November 1980 a policy called the American
Proferences was established applying to the Indian Ocean
area because our aational interests are so closely linked to
that very volatile and unstable region. tie noted that deli-
cacy of enforcing such a “Buy American” provision
through legislation, but said that the Department’s use of
the American preference policy should in the future greatly
ass1st Amernican enginsers and contractors He asserted the
fundamental importance of the American architectural, en-
gineering, and construction industries to accomplishing
overseas work and the fact that American industry partic-
ipation is not only desired but required

Following the presentation of the four members of the panel
on Government Programs Policies in Action. the punehsts
answered a number of questions from the audience. Mrs.
du Pont was questioned on the specifics of how her Bureau

pl d to operate in relationship with industry She re-

Mr Fliakas of the Department of Defense discussed the
overseas programs of that Department. He note( thet unlike
therest of the government, the programs in the Department
of Defense are expanding and that presently 24% of the
armed forces is now deployed overseas or afloat. There are
presently 1,600 installations overseas which require mih-
tary construction programs to support, witi 40% of the
total construction effort of the Defense Dopartment now
conducted overseas Noting that although this overseas
program was totally world-wide in effort, Mr. Fliakas cited
the very great importance of efforts in the Persian Gulf.
Over the next 5 to 6 years, this program alone could exceed
1% billion dollars in construction of facilities

The two primary construction requirements of the Depart-
ment of Defense are the Corps of Engineers and the Navy
Facilities Engineering Command. He pointed out that these
construction and design ager.ts contract all of their work

sponded by saying that the Bureau was new and still feeling
its way towards a successful type of operation. She believed
that there were a number of ways in which the Bursau
would interact with the private sector. including creating
an advisory council of chief executive officers from the
private sector to use for a sense of direction for the Bureau

She said that the Bureau would be looking to businesses to
bring investment ideas to 1t in an effort to leverage the
activities She held out the hope of joint financing, some of
which 1s expected to come from the host country, both
public and private sectors, as well as from the Bureau

On the subject of the U S. Foreign Commercial Service. 1t
was pointed out that the U.S. pnivatesector had histoncally
taken quite lightly the value of such a service. Mr. Earnshaw
responded thet one of the major goals of the Dept of Com-
merce was to enhance greatly the stature. knowledge. and
helpfulness of Foreign Commercial Service officers and
that a formal education program for them was being de-



rived. He also felt strongly that American ambassadors
abroad must focus more of their attention on the needs of
U.S. commerclal world.

In 1egards to the Indian Ocean Project, a question was
raised with respect to the eligibility of the subcontractors
to the general contractors. M1. Fliakas answered that he
Was not sure about the specific case asked but that he would
check into it and that it was the intention of the Dept. of
Defense the! such subcontracting would be limited to U.S.
firnas,

Again on the subject of the Foreign Commercial Service, a
question was asked as to the process of assessing the
qualifications of a foreign commercial sorvice officer Mr.
Earnghaw said that this would be a joint responsibility of
the Director General of the Foreign Commercial Service
and the Ambassador involved. He spoke of the fairness of
the present system saying.”It's a remarkable system, but it
does work.”

In answer to a question regarding U.S. trade policy towards
the People’s Republic of China, Mr. Kopp stated that the
PRC is a special case. He said that the U S, anticipates a
gradual expansion of trade, but not a very rapid giowth

since the Chinese do not have resources currently to spend
on imports and are also pursuing a most conservative bor-
Towing poiicy. He noted that the United States and the
Peaple's Republic of China would be holding their first
Joint Economic Commission meeting in early 1982, which
wouid be chaired for the U.S
Baldrige.

by Secretary of Commerce
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Malcole Baldrige

Lunch with the
Secretary of Commerce

The luncheon address on the first day was given by the
Secretary of the Department of Commerce, Malcolm Bal-
drige Congratulating the audience on the fact that n 1980,
US contractors captured almost 45% of the $108 llion
In new foreign awards worldwide, Mr. Baldrige pointed
out that the increase in dollar value for U.S, firms was an
smazing 120% in 1980 with a total incraase of 60% of new
foreign awards. He stated that although US. firms are
clearly first in the feld, “This nse is accomplished in a
time when U.S. regulations couldn't have made 1t any
harder for firms such as yours to compete abroad. That
makes these accomplishments border on the fantastic, in
my opinion.”

Mr. Baldrige emphasized the new Admimstration's com-
mitment to substantial changes in the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act Noting the ambiguities and unnecessary pa-
per work imposed by the Act. he said that one survey
showed that accounting and auditing costs were increased
by approximately 30% as a result of that Act. Describing
discussion of changing the Act as often involving an emo-
tional issue, Secretary Baldrige said, “All we want is a
piece of legisiation that 1s clear in its definitions and fair in
its penalties, one that doesn't keap an honest businessman



from selling overseas because of the fear of inadvertently
breaking the law.”

Secretary Baldrige stated that the U.S banking and anti-
trust laws need to be revised to allow establishment of U S
export trading companies. Citing the fact that perhaps 1%
of US companies do 80% of U 3. « .porting, he said that
one of the goals of this legislation is to entice into exporting
small sad medium-size firms, as well as large firms who
are not currently doing so He said that such & law would
be of definite advantage to engineering and construction
industries in competition with major compating nations,
since the anti-trust exemption previded in ths Adminisira.
tion version of the bill (5.734, H.R.1648) would cxtend
Webb-Pomerene Act protection to firms engaged in ser-
vices Secretary Baldrige pointed out that most other major
nations in the worid market use the export-trading com-
pany concept to great advantage. Although he did not feel
that the legislation enactment would provide a quick fix for
total U.S export performance, he felt that it might well
provide a great deal more than originally envisioned.

Secretary Baldrige next spoke about the number of actual
export barriers erected by foreign governments One of the
mafor ones, he stated, are subsidiss provided by foreign
governments to naticinal or local firms 1n third country
markets Noting that this type of subsidization takes many
forms, including direct and indirect financial assistance
from the government, tax breaks, and government risk
shares, he stated 1t to be the future policy of the U.S. gov-
emment to endeavor to diminish or eradicate such barriers
wherever and whenever possible He noted also the strong
correlation between the nationality of those firms which io
feasibrlity studies and of those which received the .nal
contract award' “That happens because plans »su-.ly are
drawn for the specifications of goods and services consul-
tants are most familiar with We all know that if govern-
ments subsidize thewr national’s feasihility studies or bids
on foreign projects, their firms have an unfair competitive
advantage nght away.”

Mr Baldrige spoke again on the subject of foreign trade
barriers which restrict operation of U.S companies abroad.
Citing import ficensing restrictions on our foreign currency
exchange, and discnmnatory application of domestic reg-
ulations, as well as a wide vanation in national bidding
procedures, he stated that one of the major weaknesses in
the present international trading system is that, “There 15
still no formal muitilateral mechanisin to resolve trade
problems in the engineening and construction services
field. In fact, they are lacking for the service sectors as a
whole.”

He said that one of the major initiatives of the new Admin-
1stration has been a concentrated effort to focus widespread
attention on the treatment of services in the international
trading community '‘Our object.ve 1s to develop interna-
tionally agreed upon rules and discipline ior trade and
services This 1s not going to be easy. but it's a task we've
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set for ourselves and we're all in agreement on that." He
challenged the international community te be “bold and
imaginative in taking up the services issue.” He noted that
any international forum, including OECD, GATT, or any
other appropriate organization, should be utilizad to try to
solve some of the problems currently surrounding provi-
sion of services. Another fsctor which Secretary Baldrige
pointed out is that the role of the developing countries, and
the markets that they offer, are often quite substantial. This
is a factor which must be taken into account in such
negotiations.

The Secretary of Commerce then described programs cur-
rently available in the Commerce Dept. which are directly
available to assist the engineering-construction industries.
Among the ones he mer.tioned were the Major Projects
Program, the Commerce Action Group for the Near East,
and the Foreign Commercial Service Noting that the For-
eign Commercial Service was acquired by the Dept of Com-
merce 1n 1980, Secretary Baldrige said, 'We are working
hard to make it an efficient and effective representative for
U.S. business ebroad and responsive to your needs, work-
ing for business ”

~ \

Wilson V. Binger, left, Chairman Hodge, OPIC President Craig
Nalen, Secretary Baldrige

He felt that a very selective process had been established
to recruit talented and motivated officers to the Service
Unlike a number of other government programs, much of
the recruiting 1s being done in the private sector since the
Service is seeking people with industry experience to be
brought in at senior grades In addition, a comprehensive

kills development program is being developed 2s part of
cach Foreign Commercial Service officer’s career track The
Secretary also explaned that upon taking cffice he had
requested the Secretary of State to enlist the aid of US
Ambassadors 1n assisting the business community. Al



Haig sent a telegram to e ory ambassador ssying that pro-
tnoting trade, helping business is a pact of your job, and
further, politely at the end of the telegram, indicated that
this effort would be part of thexr review given by the State
Depariment at the ead of the year. determining how they
wute ranked in thexr job * Hz noted that as a resait of this
tel of ambassadors had come to seo lum 1o

2 anu h
determine how best they could assist -

Secretary Baldnge underlined the determnation of the
Presidont and this Admnistrabion to do e erything vossi-
ble to help the ynivate sector lio aoted that the economic
recovery program of the Admmstration could be con-
densed into one word, “jobs " Stating that 1nflation 1s the
number one problem, “right now we're running at 25% less
this year than last year It'« one of the best kept secrets 1n
the press that | have seon * Ser tetary Baldnge saia that
such a program is exttemely di¥fis uts and ons which wotud
take time “But there is nn other way to end this battle,”
said the Secretery. In conclusion, Sectetary Baldnige stated,
“The gavernment can go only so far It's i your hands,
gentiemen, and 1 know 1t's 1n good hands *

In an answer {0 a question on the tmpart of business inter-
ests on foreign policy and advisors to the President, Sec-
retary Baldrige saia that the new cabinet form of govern-
ment, ade ‘ad by President Reagan. was an excellent way
of msuar g tha Major 1ssues were thoroughly aired by all
concern 1\ wranc, - f government before policy de irtons
were mace "' . ¢, 3 there hasn't been one single issue
that I'm a are of, u, _ * *tink I'm aware of them all, that we
haven't got our [seks sn » 1» adonting such a process, Sec-
retary Baldrige noted that t nal decisions were achieved
only after ell concerned agencies had a chance to wpekn
thesr views thoroughly known on the 13s 16

Dealing With the
Intemational Environment

Modervtor  William N. Walker, Esq, Mudge Rose
Guthne & Alexander

Panehists Dan Wilson, Foreign Cenunerria! Sezvice
Nancy Adems, Oftie of the U' S Trade
Represent tive
Cheistian Holmes, Trade and Development
Program
Johs D. Lange, ' § Department of
Treasury

Issues .0 be cons.dered by gavernment officials 1 mple-
menting US expart poluy in the curmrent wnternatinnal
arena were addressed by a panei of trade experts fepre-
senting ‘our different federal agencies Mr Wilram N
Walker, former chief negotiator onnny the Tokvo Round
of the Multilateral Trade “egutiaaens remarked thar ' S
business was only now Coniag o assess the specific trqde
barniers inposed by fureign governments 1n overseas mar-
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kets If they didn't 1ake the time to identify those barners,
Mr Walker said, US firms would obviously be unable 1o
address ways in which they could be cvercome. As a result,
'S firms have accepted actions by foreign governments
which they would nisver tolerare 1 takeo by our own
government

The chimate 1s changing, however, both internationally and
domesticaily “Congress and the Admumstration ave now
brepared (o do nrore to deal with the kinds of problems that
Dustiessieen tace ” My Walber .o budeg Roth the Cos:-
merce Department aud Olfice of the U S Trade Represen-
tative were agenctes that individual firms shoyld be en-
couraged to contact dwectly with specific problems thuy
funinto working overseas The current Administration was
committed to helping U'S businesses practrate axpert
maikets more suctessfuily, he said so opportunities for
help exist f companies would smply take advantage of
them

Mz john D Lange Director of the Troasary Departinont’s
Oftic e of Trade Finance, discussed current Admmistration
efforts to reduce export credit subsidies by our trading
parteers as well as by our own Export-Import Bank Under
previous Admunistrations, he sard, “We found ourelves
watching aae foshsh subsidy vata avother foohst. sub-
sidy " Asaresult the Eximbank has found itsell i a dericns
posttion for the first time in its history A “war chest bill”
had been intreduced en Caputel Hill by Senator john Henz
{R-PA} and Representahive Stephen 1. Neal (D-NC} which
wauld enable the Bauk to continue match g feugn axpom
csedit subsidies with an additisnal $1 billion 1 funding




he added. This only amounts to a continuation of the same
old trend. however, which is not reully consistent with the
Admlnistration's free trade stance, he sald.

Mr. Lange noted that the world's developed nations had
just met to increase standard sxpott credit rates to 10% on
{nternational trady. This represented a step in the right
direction, sven though the Japaness would have serious
problems complying, but it was nevertheless still a heavily
subsidized rete. The U.S. government is committed, he
said, 10 eliminating all such subsidies.

Financial support for project feasibility studies was dls-
cussed by Trade and Development Program (TDP) Director
Christian Holmae, whose office represents one of the few
foderal ager .ies directly assisting L 5. firms competing
oversess. ” he TDP has « twofold objective of fostering in-
ternationa development and of facilitating the sale of U.S
goods and services abrosd, he said, especially for those
projects with good prospects for eventually coming on line.
These sales are seen as generating substantial revenues to
the U.S. economy in the form of follow-on work and
procurement,

Mt. Holmes described several examples of studies financed
by TDP which led to large contracts to U.S. firms. These
included a stesl mill project in the Philippines and a coal
gasification and natural gas pipeline project in Thailand.
In describing projects likely to be addressed by TDP in the
future, Mr. Holmes cited a coal conversion project in Pan-
ama, s mineral transport study in Peru, coal conversion
facilities in Jamaica and Cyprus, and a petro-chemical proj-
ect in the Philippines. “We have to really be able to prove
that the Trade and Desslopment Program does not just help
the country devalop, but also actually generates jobs in this
country,” he said. "1 belleve that it is vital thut we do what
we can to help countries develop, but | believe it is even
more vital that we incresss employment in this country.”

Ms. Nancy Adams, an international economist with the
Office of the U.S. Trade Representative {USTR), described
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her «gency’s wotk over the past several years to promote
trade in sc-vices, which had not been specifically addressed
during the Multilateral Trade Negotlations. Our trading
partners have commitied themselves to look serinusly at
trade in services, howsver, and the USTR's office was cur-
rently collecting data with the eventual goal of developing
principles, rules, and procedures to allow a freer flow of
that trade. Engineering-construction conatitutes one of the
primary U.S. setvices, she added, and the industry has boen
among the most cooperative in terms of providing assis-
tance and supgont.

Ms. Adams concluded that the USTR's office hoped to
become one of the foremost advocates of U.S. business
interests oversess. **‘When you've got problems now getting
into a market and you necd assistance, we are going to try
to do a better job . . to resolve that problem for you,” she
said. It is anticipated that one outcome of this commitment
will be & formal multilatersl mechanism for solving prob-
lems in trade in services.

Mr. Dan Wilson described changes in the Foreign Com-
mercisl Service designed to improve the collection and
dissemination of commercial intelligsnce overseas for the
benefit of U.S. firms. The transfer of the FCS from the State
Depariment to the Commerce Depariment had enhanced
the business orientation of commercial officers in U.S. em-
bassies around the world and should result in an improved
analysis of business opportunities abroad. Foreign govern-
ments have traditionally placed great significance on their
commercial representation around the world, he said, and
the U.S. must do the same if we are to . smpete successfully.

One of the pioneering moves taken by the new Foreign
Commercial Setvice, Mr. Wilson added. is the development
of a program through which officers returning to the U.S.
from overseas consult with trade associations representing
companies sactive in areas whers they are to be assigned.
Fe noted that in this context, the Service had worked
closely with staff representing the four constituent ssso.i-
ations of IECIC to better understand the particular needs of
their member firms which are competing sbroad.



H. Poter JoR, Rxionbank Chairman William Draper,
OPC Prosident Craig Nalem

Facing The Competition:
Financing Projects Overseas

Moderator: 1. Peter Guttmann, HPG Associstes
Panelists: William H. Draper i1, Export-Import Bank
ofthe U.S.
Craig A. Nalen, Overseas Private
Investment Corporation

William D. Trammell, Fluor Corporation

Citing recommendations made on export financing by the
International Engineering and Construction Industry
Council at its action couference two yeats earlier, moder-
ator H. Peter Guttmann initiated the panel’s discussion by
stating that the insdequate supply of official U.S. export
credite remains the single greatest disincentive facing
American expnrters. In 1979 participants in the IECIC V
Action Conference had supported: a fourfold increase in
the annual lending limit of the Export-Import Bank; autho-
rization for the Bank to use concessionary financing to meet
foreign competition; the development of a competitive pro-
gram for Anancing project feasibility studies; the formation
of a comprehensive worldwide Insurance facility against
foreign commerctal, political and inflation risks; and the
federal funding of com.nercial banks for making competi-
tive fixed rate loans,

At the same conference, Mr. Guttmann continued, the var.
fous aspects of the French government's export support
program were listed. Now, two years later, it was very
interesting to study the success of French exports world-
wide in comparison with our own, he said. The issues
examined at IECIC V were sti)) important for the current
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panel to consider, he concl' A2d, and many of the same
recommendations are still sppropriste today,

Mr. Willism Trammell, Manager of Project Finance for
Fluor Corporation, pointed out that the award of an engj-
neering-construction project to an American firm had a
great impact on the entire U.S. economy. Citing a $336
million Fluor project underway in Algeria financed by the
US. Eximbank, Mr. Trammell noted that $220 million
worth of supplies and services was sourced In the United
States. In instances where the financing was secured else-
whete, however, as forthe SASOL facilities in South Africa,
the potential sales of squipment and services wers lost 1o
U.S. manufacturers. Unfortunately, the distinct trend in
high technology projects of this nature was away from the
United States, he said. Only the actlve intorvention of the
Eximbank in 1979 helpad U.S. firms capture awards for
several hydrocracker facilities, s technology in which we
were clearly dominant 10 years 480. "Our overseas om-
petition {s using financing ss a tool to overcome U.S. od-
vantages in the international merketplace,” Mr. Trammell
concluded, and only by supporting a banking facility ca-
pable of reacting to the realities of the marketplace can we
hope to survive as exporiars.

Eximbank President William H. Draper Il described the
dilemma he saw himself facing as the Bank anticipated its
first deficit. The promotion of exports is becoming an im-
portant part of public policy. The job of the Eximbank {5
not to replace commercial financing but rather to supple-
ment and facilitate it where necessary, Mr. Draper stated,
adding that the ability to accomplish export goals is de-
pendent upon the success achiaved by the entire Admin.
istration in improving the economic health and stability of
the nation as a whole.

Describing the Eximbank’s balance sheet for 1982, Mr,
Draper concluded that under the current climate of budget
cuts the Administration had to be conremed about the
Bank's failure to show a profit. This is especially true for a
President committed to sliminating the use of subsidies by
governments to promote their firms in the international
n arketplace. *“We consider export credit subsidies to be an
unwarranted and extravagant interfersnce with the oper-
ation of private markets and (are) determined to work for
their elimination,” he said. He hoped U.S. business would
consider him a true partner in promoting U.S. export in-
terests which should ultimately be based on the competi.
tive benefits that an open and free enterprise system wonld
provide.

With regard to the scops of the Bank’s operations in FY 82,
Mr. Draper stated that although he expected to have about
$4.4 billion in lending authority, he was complying with
the President’s request for further budget reductions and
was cutling back to about $3.9 billion. Of that amount, $1.5
billion had been committed in advance under the previous
Administration, leaving only $2.4 billion for new loans.

onsidering the current demand for export credits by U.S.



business, he admitted he faced a substantial problem in
stretching availsble funds in as uceful and productive a
way as possible. He concluded by soliciting suggestions
from the U.S. international business community for making
the system work.

Mr. Cralg Nalen, President and Chlef Executive Officer of
the Overseas Private Investment Corporation {OPIC), de-
scribed his principle responsibility as enhancing and en-
couraging the investment of private U.S. capital In friendly
third world countries. OPIC has traditionally provided po-
litical insurance against war, robellion, insurrection, and
the inconvertability of currency, he said, and under a new
mandate from the Congress may now insure against civil
strife. That mandate also e<pands the number of countries
in which OPIC can work and now covers a great majority
of the Third World.

Mr. Nalen did not share the satisfaction expressed earlier
by Commerce Secretary Baldrige with the progress made
by U.S. exporters in recent months. The figures compiled
by OPIC showed that U.S. market share in the Third World
continued to drop, a situation which must be remedied,
especlally in light of continuing U.S. trads and payments
deficits. OPIC views itself, Mr. Nalen said, as playing a
major role in encouraging firms to enter these export mar-
kets. He noted that OPIC had summarized the range of its
programs in a brochurs which was available to all confer-
ence attendees.

As a financially self-sustaining agency, OPIC has been able
to expand its areas of coverage at a time when other agen-
cies were forced to cut back, he said. The construction and

Congreseional Responsibility
for U.8. Trade

Moderator:  fohn C. Richards, The M. W. Kellogg
Company
Parelists: Senator john M. Chafee (R-RI)

Senator Daniel K. Inouys (D-HI)
Represeatative Bill Alexander (D-AR)
Representative Jonathan B. Bingham (D-
NY)

Representative Stephen L. Neal (D-NC)

Emphasizing the critical role the Congress plays in eatab-
lishing U.S. trade policy, Moderator Jack Richards set the
stage for congressionsl member presentations by urging
conference participants and other industry representatives
to provide more concise summaries of ideas for facilitating
exports to the Congress and their staff. He reminded the
audienca that 75% of the legislative agenda is occupied by
domestic issues, thus heightening the importance of ac-
curate and timely educational efforts on the importance of
service exports.

As a meinber of the Senate Banking Subcommittee on In-
termational Financial and Monetary Policy, Senator John
Chafee said that he has devoted much of his time to date to
three moior export issues: the taxation of Americans abroad.,
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), and the estab-
lishment of oxport trading companies. Strongly believing
that the Congress has the responsibility to act on each of
these issues, Senator Chafee led the fight for Senate ap-
proval of changes {n the taxation of foreign earned income

engineering industries were particularly int g to
OPIC both because of their role in promoting follow-on
work and because they had clearly not been getting their
fair share of Third World markets in recent years. In addi-
tion to the more traditional investment insurance pro-
grams which were avatlable to engineer-constructors, OPIC
has also offered reconnaissance and feasibility study fund-
ing for potential investors, as well as training grants which
have been very successful. Mr. Nalen noted that smong the
most significant projects undertaken by OPIC is a $1.7 bil-
Hon contract to Blount Brothers Construction Corporation
to build university facilities in Saudi Arabia. The increased
level of commitment and determination expressed by the
ongineering-construction industry was evidenced by the
industry's sponsorship of the IECIC Conference and partic-
ipation in other seminars, he said, and should result in
increased U.S. exports over the next few years. *I think we
are passing through the threshold and are well on our way
to seeing & real heating up of business ativity overseas.
And it is my expectation that this industry—construction
and engineering—will play a leadership role in that
movement.”
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dopted in the 1981 Fconomic Recovery Act.

He also initiated legislation to clarify the ambiguities in
lhe Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. In descnibing the

dopted by the Senate on the bribery provisions,
Senntor Chafes stated, “While it s still not an absolute
clear standard it is a major step forward. The proposed
provisions state that a company is liable if they direct or
authorize, expressly or by a course of conduct, a third party
to pay & bribe.” Specific reference was made to the lack of
industry witnesses during the lengthy Senate committee
hearings on the FCPA legislation.

Looking at the future of U.S. exports, Senator Chafee sug-
gested a review of the general system of preferences and
that we recognize the “geographic™ shift on the focus of
world trade from Western Europe to the Pacific base along
with “the shift in the nature of our exports from goods to
services "

Exports issues and North-South issues are the junisdiction
of the House Foreign Affairs Subcommittee on Interna-
tional Economic and Trade Policy. chaired by Represen-
tative jonathan Bingham. The Overseas Private Investment
Corporation’s (OPIC} renewal was discussed by Mr.
Bingham, with specific attention given to the new higher



per capita income country restrictions which permit priority for the Bank, that of fighting export credit subsi-
OPIC business in Cyprus, Taiwan, Jamaica, Barbados, Ar- dies. The ultimate goal of Representative Neal is to reduce
gentina, Turkey, and Brazil. Having had the vote in com- export credit subsidies, “‘so that products can compete on
mittee to expand the authorization of appropriations for the besls of quality, service, price and so on instead of the
the Trade and Development Prog.sm, Representative competition belng based on a big Jevel of subsidy.” Mr.
Bingham stated his doubts that the Administration would Neal wont into some depth describing the so-called “war
make any effort to strengthen the program, sfter placing it cheat bills™ that emerged in the Senate and House. “There
back under the AID umbealla. Oversight hearings on the is the Heinz version which sets up a billion dollar war chest
sdministration of the Export Administration Act and on to be used to finance exports. Mine sets up a billion dollar

the competitive positicn of the construction industry will war chest to be used to subsidizc exports; we're trying to
bhe held by Mt. Bingham’s Subcommittes in the coming make sure that others don't subsidize theirs .., we think
yoar and he welcomed Industry spokesmen to participate. ours is a little better because it would leverage that billion
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Pomel an Congrassioual Responsibility for U.S. Trade

Senator Danie] Inouye is the author of $.1233, a bill to dollars several times." Both versions are a potential tool for
promote service industries through new programs in the UsS. tiators. Another issue handled by Mr. Neal’s com-

&

Department of Cc ce, snd a ber of the Appropri- mittee is the International Monetary Fund. It is an institu-
atiors and Commerce, Science and Transportation Com- tion he feels deserves continued full support, contrary to
mittees. During his comments on service sxports, he stated, the wishes of the Administration.

“Thie fe**  1east understood and least appreciated of all i

e iour mafor export areas as far as policymakers are con- Communting briefly on the Export Trading Company leg-
cerned.” Senator Inouye made sovers] suggestions wherein islation on which his committee held bl‘le hearings, Rep-
the private sector could direct its efforts, one of these being Tesentative Neal said he is urging the Judiciary Committee
a concentrated effort to obtain legislative squity for service tohsolv;its qu?"""’ and to bring a bill to tha House floor
exports, i.e. in comparison to manufacturers. where he predicts 8 winning vote.

Discussing the extraterritorial application of antitrust Jaws, As immediate past chairman of the House Export Caucus

he said he elieved in their strict application in the U.S. and a member of the House Appropiations Subcommittee
butadded, “When we get outside, Ithink thebest weshould 00 Military Construction, Representative Bill Alexander
do is give our people the same kind of tools that other has a wide-ranging knowledge of export disincentives.
countries give theirs.” On a positive note, the Senator com-

mented. "' Starting seven years ago [ put in a bill every year ‘The House Export Caucus was established to set trade prior-
to iry to include services in the Webb-Pomerene Act. I think ities because, as Mr. Alexander stated, “Congress is not yet

this time we are going to get it.” up to or is not orgenized in a way to promote foreign trade,
promote foreign involvement.” A quick glance at overlap-

Representative Stephen Neal, as Chairman of the House ping Congressional committee jurisdictions confirms this.

Banking Subcommittee on International Trade, handles an

issue critical to export growth, the Export-import Bank, Many problems have developed overseas, stated Mr. Al-

With the Administration supporting a reduction in Exim- exander, “Because of the naivete of the American people

benk authorization, Mr. Nes! has led the effort to set a new about the need for trade One is the fact that we have
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mistreated our citizens living abroad.” Commenting that
the change in the tax laws did not go faz enough, he said,
"The practice of diuble taxation of Americans living
sbroad has led to the development and what we call the
third countries’ National Representative for American
Companies.”

Mr. Nua{ sald he has introduced sume legislation for con-
sideration, including a hill to create a delugate in Congress
for Americans living sbroaa. It would provide this constit-
uency with immediete occest to a non-voting member of
Congress who had access to the committee structure. In
sumary, Mr. Mea! said, "{ agrec with the othor panelists
here that it's timu to assert the American way by becoming
competitive overseas and promoting Ame:ican products
stusd 1t is time to encourage Ameticans to extend the
Ametican business frontier to foreign countries.”

The Administration’s Commitment
To Legtslative Change

Paul Vander Myde, Assist
Congressional Affairs

t S y of Com for

Examining the current political arena from twenty years of
governmunt expotiance, Mr. Vander Myde viewed Presi-
dent Reagan as a leader who has come in and done the
things he said nc would. He predicted this same perfor-
mance would carry over to legislative priorities in the ex-
port field.

The Department of Commatce has a vite! role to play. Mr.
Vander Myde said. “I think Ralph Nader has called us
cheerleaders for business. Actually, Lrather lixe that. 1 think
that's a roia the Departnient is playing and it can play and
certainly it will play as long as Secretary Baldrige iz at the
helm,” he stated, adding that after finishing the first task of
putting together ax effective toam, the next step will be to
use the Department to win legis!stive battles.

The Assistant Secretary outlined several legislativs issues
on the “front burner.” Hu referred to the recent changes in
the taxation of Americans working abroad as a “tax measure
that goes a long way in trying to remedy that situation.”
Mr Vander Myde noted the strong efforts Uy his Depart-
ment to win passage of the Export Traaing Company (ETC)
legislation in the Senate and their ongoing efforts in the
House. During the question and answer period, the ETC
legislation was discussed. An industry representative
urged Mr. Vander Myde, on behalf of the Administration,
to let the Justice Department know the Administration sup-
ports the legislation. The private sector, stated the repre-
sentative, can survive without banking support for the com-
panies, but the antitrust provision, the other stumbling
block, must be clarified. Mr. Vander Myde said progress
was being made on this specific issue.

The Commerce Department is also working very closely
with Ambassador Brock and the U.S. Trade Representa-
tive's office on clarification of the 1977 Foreign Corrupt
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Practices Act (FCPA). Recognizing that the vague standards
of liability in tho present legislation are a real disincentive
to people working sbroad, Mr. Vander Myde stated that a
tough fight lles ahead to get the House to pass the Senate
version of amending legislation.

Speaking in gereral about the Administratlon’s program,
the Assistant Secratary stated, “‘We really want to bring
about a total package which is going to, I think, enhance
our overall export position.”

In a final comment from the audience concerning the need
to grant internstional personnel at the Commerce Depart-
ment the ability to gain and retain valuable experience in
their positions without constant changing, Mr. Vander
Myde wholeheartedly agresd and sieted, “What we are
fighting for at Commetce, in the sense of the revised March
budget which is coming from OMB, is to have the flexibility
to allow this.”

Industry’s Commitment to an
Effective U.8. Export Policy

Luncheon Speaker: Wilson V. Binger, Chairman,
Tippetts-Abbett-McCarthy-Stratton
and #vesident, International
Federation of Consulting Engineers
(FIDIC)

Under the assumption that there are two sides to every
question, Mr Wilson Binger opened his remarks by stating
that the engineering, architectural and construction indus-
tries ate not “unduly looking for federal government assis-
tance” but are “only trying to stay in the running with our
overseas competitors.”

Lunch Spasker Wilson V. Binger



“A new beginnirg is necessary. Furthermore, it s in the
making." Mr. Binger felt there is much evidence to support
the existence of & new attitude on the part of the Admin.
istration and the Congress. The challenge. stated Mr. Bin-
ger. Is for industry to effectively respond. Progress on the
tax laws, the concept of export trading companies, and
roposals to clarify the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act were
given as positive steps. Export financing and a closer rap-
port between the international business community and
the diplomatic services of the U.S., however, are aress Mr.
Binger agrees have not been sufficiently exploited. With
respect to our diplomatic network Including the new For-
eign Commercial Service, he said, ““As businessmen oper-
ating, or hoping to operate oversess, we should know about
it, seek Its help and seek to help it.” Industry must take the
responsibility to help educate the commercial officers of
U.S. embassies.

Mr. Blnger was careful to divide the responsibility for ex-
port promotion between the private sector and the govern.
ment. He also, however, enumerated past frustrations he
had experienced in working with government and asked
the question, “If we are not treated properly by our own
government, how can we expect 1o be treated properly by
other governments?"

In summation M. Binger challenged all of the industries
comprising IECIC to “take advantage of present opportu-
nities, and create new opportunities, in order to recapture
4 major share of the overseas market.” **All of us,” he stated,
“both government and private Industry, have problems,
and some of them are mutual; however, there is an old
adage, particularly populsr among engineers, that a prob-
lem understood is a problem half solved."”

Moderator:

John S. Withers Jr., H. B. Zachry Company
Panelists:

Richard ). Hesse, Harza Associates
Neil Krumwiede, Grove Overseas
Corporation

Richard Roth Jr., Emery Roth & Sons
Herbert T. Gouldon, The Lummus
Company

William E. Brock, U.S. Trade
Representative

Raymond J. Hodge, Tippetts-Abbett-
McCarthy-Stratton

Panel Moderator John Withers noted that the final confer-
ence panel was devoted to a wrap-up of ideas exchanged
during the two-day session and would provide a forum,
with the participation of Ambassador William E, Brock, to
discuss implementation of these ideas. He asked for dis-
cussion by the association representatives in the following
order:

Richard J. Hesse—Government Programs

. “Before we can really act effectively, we've got to do two

things: one is to provide the focus, decide what it is we
want to do, and secondly decide who is going to do it.”

In reviewing the current government export programs with
respect to issues still requiring action, Mr. Hesse found
ateas where the private sector had more work to do then
the government agencies. The first action item, he sug-
gested, wherein industry has prime responsibility, is to
provide accurate data on the positive effects of the change
in taxation of Americans living abroad. The new tax law
must .lay in place. stated Mr. Hesse. It will probably take
us several years to recover the basis of operation that we
lost as azesult of the 1976 and 1978 tax laws. And we can't
afford to let that happen again.”

Again, Industry must act in order to obtain more funding
for feasibility studies. The agencies and specifically the
Trade and Development Program cannot do much to obtain
additional appropriations without strong and vocal sup-
port from private industry. According to Mr. Hesse, the
very same rationale applies to the Export-import Bank.

On a more positive note, Mr. Hesse falt the Foreign Com-
mercial Service move to the Commerce Department is a
good step. “Once again, the managers In Commerce will
need the input from us. We are going to have to bring back
reports from the field as to who's producing and who is
not—and make the information available to the managers
in Commerce *

Action flems for the government agoncios, according to Mr.
Hesse, should be to inform the private sector about the
existing advisory councils, who the representatives are,
and what function the committees serve. Another is for the
agencies to review their procurement processes. “Within
the law, government agencies function in a manner which
is consistent with ths best interest of U.S. firms. Are the
agencies using practices which are conducive to reducing
averhead, hence increasing productivity?"
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Panet on Rebuilding U.S. Exports

Numerous action items for both industry and government
are required for, as Mr. Hesse stated in his opening com-
ments, “This whole matter of our export posture without
question {s a joint effort of the government and the private
sector.”

Nell Krumweide—Legislative Action

Mr Krumweide, speaking for the industries represented by
IECIC, presented the following list of legislative 1ssues for
action.

® Passage of the proposed amendments of the Foreign Cor-
rupt Practices Act.

Passage of the export trading company legislation in-
cluding the provision to extend antitrust regulations of
the Webb-Pomerene act to services

Passage of legislation simplifying anti-boycott laws and
specifically repeal Section 999 of the IRS code which
links tax benefits to compliance with boycott regulations.

® Increasing the funding authorization for the Trade and
Development program.

® Passage of legislation greatly expanding the lending au-
thority of the Eximbank in order to insure the com-
petitiven  of the U S. industry in financing projects
overseas

® Support passage of Senator Inouye’s bill, S 1233, and its
implementation by the Department of Commerce.

Support by industry rep tatives for Congl
Bingham's hearings in 1982 on the competitiveness of
the construction industry overseas.

Re-examine provisions of the Export Administration Act,
with specific attention to expert licensing regulations

Consider Congressman Alexander’s bitl to allow a dele-
gate in the Congress who represents overseas Americans
affording him full access to the committee structure

“All of these legislative proposals recognize that we want

a free open competitive market. But we also must recognize
that until our government is successful in its negotiations
with the foreign governments who support our sompeti-
tors, overseas legislation is noeded to kocep Americans
working overseas,” said Mt. Krumweide. Therefore, *In-
dustry has a responsibility to help the Congress and the
Adminlistration with passage of these laws,”

Mr. Krumweide expressed the thanks of industry Jor the
work to date of the Administration on amendments to clar-
ify the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the effort which
won passage of tax relief for Americans working overseas.

Richard Roth, Jr.—Export Financing

Representing The American Institute of Architects in their
first IECIC Conference, Mr. Roth praised the meeting for
the information and knowledge he gained from it

In his ramarks on export financing, Mr. Roth stated: *My
part of this summary is probably the easiest because as |
read it, nothing has really happened n export financing: if
anything it's gotten worse. With the attitude of the govern-
ment 1n favor of trade but with the attitude to eliminste
export credit financing, I feel we have to walit for a few
countries that are competitors to go bankrupt so that one
cen be eliminated " Mr. Roth recommended that IECIC
must re-evaluate government subsidy support of service
professionals overseas and suggested that perhaps a new
agency is needed. Mr, Roth placed the responsibility with
the private sector to suggest to government how competi-
tive financing can be found. *I think,” said Mr Roth, “If
we can come up with some clever way without waiting for
the bankruptcy of other countries, we can accomplish and
make it acceptable in the politicat arena.”

Herbert Gouldon—Putting Ideas in Action

"“The purpose of the meetings is to develop mutual pro-
grains for redressing ineqaities affecting our ability to com-
pete in msternational markets The problems can be reduced
very simply to two items first, our foreign competitors are



practically completely free of government restriction. and
tn addition they teceive government subsidies. Secondly,
we not only can’t meet their competition, but in addition,
of our own free will, of our own volitlon, we place impe-
diments in our path. We do this without being forced to do
this because of certain individuals in government who feel
that this {s the way we should conduct our foreign trade.”

To restore our industries back to their position as number
one, Mr. Gouldon suggests that IECIC first develop s co-
hesive, concise summary of all points discussed st the
Conference. Having established a list of realistic, achiev-
able goals, IECIC should then discuss them with the rels-
vant government agencies, laying out programs and devel-
oping “a timetable for benchmarks of achievement.” What
must transpire is ““a continuous dislogue." Finally, indus-
try must do its homework and collect responsive date. Mr.
Gouldon pointed out that IECIC VI was a historic confer-
ence in that Ambassador Brock, as this Administration’s
spokeyman. served as keynote speaker and followed
through to the final The Ambassador’s participa-
tion was deeply appreciated by all, Mr. Gouldon said.

Ambassador Brock—Conference Follow-up

*“The frustrations that I have with most things in life1s that
people have great ideas, but nothing evzs happens. It's true
in government, it's truc in business and I think you do need
a very true and specific agenda and organizational process
which does have specific benchmarks and timetables to
maske your point.” Ambassador Brock vol d the help
of his office in providing information, introduction, or ac-
coss to governmenl agencies where he believes many of the
action items could be accomplished Congress is the other
battlefield. In order to proceed here. more business partic-
ipation is needed and again Ambassador Brock made ref-
erence to the lack of it during the FCPA hearings in the
Senate When dealing with the government or the Con-
gress, Ambassador Brock said ““not to lose sight of the fact
that we wortk for you. If you have an incompetent employee,
he either shapes up or ships out.” Elections also provide
that opportunity.

Referring to eatlier comments on the Foreign Commercial

M ?
1ECIC Conference in Session
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Setrvice the Ambassador welcomed industry input. “If you
all run into prohlems out (n the embassies of this country
and sround the world and don't tell us about it, there is not
a thing in the world we can do about it because we won't
even know it exists.”

Finelly, Ambassador Brock praised the advisory council
system snd urged its use hy other government agencies.
“If you would suggest to the other agencies of government
that you are interested in this sort of thing, and press them
on it, I think we could start making the differenve in de-
veloping a much closer relationship between the business
community and the government.”

In summarizing his thoughts on the entire Conference,
Ambassador Brock emphasized that the opportunities “out
there” haven't been adequately seized, but we can. “if we
don’t take trade as the cutting edge of our economic recov-
ery, we are going to have a much slo*~ar economic recovery

. Tho export potential of this country can cut our interest
rates, it can increase our sales, it can increase our eatnings
and our preductivity and our profitability, s}l of which are
essential to our domestic well-being.”

In answer to a question on how to improve industry’s dia-
logue with the government and how industty perceives
those people who are on the other side of the argument,
Ambassador Brock again noted the desirability of more
advisory committees in every agency. In response to an-
other question, the Ambassador stressed the requirement
for accurate data and the presentation of that data. Referring
to the commonly quoted figure o1 40,000 jobs for every
billion dollars in exports, he warned, “*One of the hazards
in using numbors is that it is not true in a lot of sectors and
1s probably not true in this one.”

Examining the construction engineering industries argu-
ments of export subsidies. Ambassador Brock stated that
the case was being made the wrong way “If you want to be
competitive, let's get competitive. Let’s just take the tax off
exports. You can't stop at that point. you've got to do your
numbers, you've got to quantify what it 15 you get for giving
up something.” He concluded, “We've got to change the
attitude of government and how they look at things. All the
way up and down the line.”



Cloeing Remarks
Of the IECIC Chatrman

Although the conforence was primarily a discussion of
problems, Chairman Ray Hodge closed the IECIC VI Action
Conference by describing the progtess that has been made
in conquering export disincentives. ‘' Part of the reason for
this is the efforts of this group and other groups. In addition,
we have an Administration that has committed itself to-
wards expanding the business sector and the private sector.
An Administration committing itself to exports An Ad-
ministration that is willing to listen to us and work with
vs. So, I really think things ate getting better.” he stated

While more work is noeded on remaining disincentives,
the Chairman suggested it is time “To get on the business
of increasing fncentives.” In this regard, the IECIC Chair-
man called on IECIC for the establishment of a set of action
priorities and a rethinking by IECIC on the current methods
of educating and communicating with the Congress

Conclusions and
Fuature IECIC Action

Stemming from this VI Action Conference of IECIC were a
number of concrete conclusions and possible courses for
the engineering and construction indusiries to take to en-
hance the position of this nation in the world’s market-
place Due to the unanimously fine calibre of the partici-
pants in this Conference, it was agreed by the attendees that
the attention of the U.S. government had been attained and
that it was sympathetic in supporting mutual efforts to
enhance the export stature of these industries.
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Two principle conclusions emerge from the VI Action Con.
ferenco:

1. There is need for clearer and niore direct communi-
cation between the International engineering and
construction industries and the Government of the
United States, Le., the Adminlistration and the Con-
gress.

7 To this end the industry and the government must
jointly assemble a comprehensive data base to inform
Congressional lagislation and consequent Executive
policias.

The U.S. Government appears to have finally recognized
that its tax and trade laws were not well serving the inter-
national practice of Ametican engineering and construc-
tion skills. Revision of the tax laws applied to U.S. citizens
working abroad is an initisl and significant step to remedy
these difficultics. An IECIC Action Committoe has now
been empanelled by the IECIC Chairman to sustain this
progress by developing recommendations for further leg-
islative and executive action concerning:
--Substantially more competitive 'methods of financing
overseas projects
—Effective export promotion policies
—Reduction of international protectionist practices
—Continued improvement of the Foreign Commercial
Service
—Modification of the Webb-Pomerine Act, tha Foreign
Corrupt Prictices Act. the anti-boycott provisions of
the Export Administration Amendment of 1977, and
section 999 of the Internal Revenue Service Code.

The primary goal of the IECIC Action Committee is thus
rather clearly delineated—a plan for**Rabuilding American
Exports,” the thema of the IECIC VI Action Conference
Thus plan will require the participation and cooperation of
the Administration, the Congress, and our industries. Any
less an effort, after so successful a Conference, would ne-
gate the tremendous step forward achieved in October
1981.

Richard Roth, ek, and Chairman Hodge

Ambassador Brock, left, IECIC Secretary J. K. Morrison
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Chairman GieBoNs. I thank all of you for your participation. I
think most of you were present when the AFL-CIO testified about
their concern regarding the legislation.

How would you answer their concern? Were you all present at
that time?

Mr. SyeLp. Mr. Chairman, the way I understood the thrust of the
AFL-CIO testimony, it was a belief in a bilateral approach as op-
posed to a multilateral.

Chairman GiBBoNs. That is the way I understood it.

Mr. SHELP. I would agree with them to the extent I think we
should continue having bjlateral negotiations while we are prepar-
ing for the long multilateral ne%otiations. What concerns me is the
number of barriers there are. If you have seen the computerized

rintout of the Trade Representative’s Office, there are some 2,000

arriers, the list running to 220 pages. The thought of addressing
those individually on a bilateral basis strikes me as the sort of ex-
ercise that would take even longer than multilateral negotiations.
That is why in the lon; term I believe we should have muitilateral
negotiation and international rules. That offers the best chance of
minimizing these restrictions.

Mr. FReeMAN. Both the SPAC, Services Policy Advisory Group to
Ambassador Brock and the ISAC at the Department of Commerce
level are broadly representative of people from various size busi-
nesses and various industries and labor representatives. This will
be discussed and has been discussed, as those committees go on as
you go into a study program phase, which is all we are talking
about, for at least a couple of years and then into negotiations if
and when they come.

I do not think this is any kind of confrontation between manage-
ment and labor. We are really talking about perhaps negotiating
techniques. We all think there are and theie will be bilateral prob-
lems and bilateral negotiations. We all think there would be multi-
lateral negotiations under the GATT, most likely, if not exclusive-
ly. What I think the representatives from the AFL-CIO are very
concerned about, as mentioned earlier, is some kind of negotiation
where you get one traded off against another to the prejudice of
the employee working force. We are also concerned about that. But
I think they are more in favor of looking at it a little longer before
we sort of take that first leap.

The rest of us are now ready to say OK, we have to start moving
because of the circumstances we have all described. I think it is a
matter of degree, not a confrontation.

Chairman GiBroNs. Very good. That is good to hear.

I thank you all for coming. I hope that we can accelerate this leg-
islation on the agenda, get it considered and passed this year. That
is my objective.

Mr. Suerp. Thank you very much.

Chairman GisBons. Before I call our last panel, let me say I am
going to get you started here.

I have just been informed by my electronic wizardry up here that
we are about ready to vote on the Obey substitute. If I have to in-
terrupt you, I hope that you will understand.

Our final panel is composed of people who are interested in high
technology. If they would all come forward, I think they know who
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they are, Computer & Business Equipment Manufactvrers Associ-
ation, Pfizer International, Semiconductor Industry Association,
Perkin-Elmer Corp., and American Electronics Association.

While you are taking your positions—the bells have just gone
off—I will go vote and be right back.

[Recess.]

_Chairman GiBBONS. Let us resume. Our first witness is Mr. Hen-
riques.

STATEMENT OF VICO E. HENRIQUES, PRESIDENT, COMPUTER &
BUSINESS EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION

Mr. HEnriQuEs. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

This statement is on behalf of the Computer & Business Equip-
ment Manufacturers Association, which represents 37 companies
accounting for 85 percent of the sales volume of computers and
business equipment produced in the United States.

During 1981, CBEMA member companies had revenues in excess
of $50 billion, employed 750,000 workers in 50 States, and had a
trade surplus of $7 billion.

Because the CBEMA companies rely so heavily on exports and
foreign investment, we welcome this opportunity to comment on
the various trade bills, particularly those bills relating to high-tech-
nology trade now pending before the Congress.

Furthermore, we would like to compliment the chairman of the
subcommittee, Mr. Gibbons, for holding this hearing to permit a
discussion on trade in services and in high-technology products.

Before we address specific issues, we believe it is essential to dis-
cuss trade policy principles during this period of rapid economic
change. Such a discussion permits us to review the past and to look
into the future.

It also requires all of us to assess the successes and failures of
our trade policy, to articulate what the basic principles underlying
that trade policy should be, and to identify those areas in which
U.S. international trade policy must be adjusted to address the
problems of the future.

Given the subject of this hearing, we believe it is essential to con-
sidlgr, if only briefly, the origins of modern U.S. international trade
policy.

For the past 50 years the goal of our trade policy has been to
expand open and nondiscriminatory world trade. Since enactment
of the Reciprocal Trade Agreements Act of 1934, the fundamental
principle underlying this policy has been most-favored-nation treat-
ment for imports into the United States and for U.S. exports to
other countries.

During the same period, an equally important corollary to the
MFN principle has been national treatment for American gcods
and investment once they have gotten past a foreign country’s bor-
ders and entered the foreign marketplace.

Since the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade came into ex-
istence in 1947, the United States has pursued its trade policy goal
largely through multilateral and bilateral trade negotiations under
the auspices of that institution.
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In these GATT negotiations, the United States has always sought
and should continue to seek concessions from other countries which
asre of comparable benefit to the concessicns granted by the United

tates.

Under the GATT system, of course, trade concessions are gener-
ally granted on an MFN basis with the result that each GATT
member countr achieves benefits which are, on a global basis,
comparable to the concessions it grants.

In this sense, U.S. international trade policy has incorporated
the concept of negotiated reciprocal benefits for many years and
should continue to do so.

The international trading system, which was designed largely by
the United States, and the U.S. international trade policy since
1934 have resulted in enormous benefits, both for the United States
and the world. These benefits have been achieved through progres-
sive lowering of barriers to trade in goods and elimination of dis-
criminatory practices which distort trade.

This approach to international trade policy has been remarkably
successful. The statistics now speak for themselves.

U.S. international trade now accounts for almost 17 percent of
our gross national product. Furthermore, it has been estimated
that one in six manufacturing jobs is attributable to manufacturer
for export and that one in three acres planted by U.S. farmers pro-
duce crops for export.

It is obvious that our trade policy has, generally speaking, served
the interests of the United States well in the past. The question
which has been raised recently is whether it will continue to pro-
mote the interests of the United States.

In the future, competition for world markets will intensify. Gov-
ernment intervention in the marketplace will increase, inevitably
creating new forms of barriers to trade and investment and dis-
crimination. Furthermore, the United States will become even
more dependent on exports and imports.

These changes in the world economy and in the importance of
international trade to the United States are not speculative. They
are realities, realities which are already having a significant
impact on U.S. commerce today.

U.S. trade policy must be based on a firm understanding of these
new realities. It must aggressively seek elimination of new barriers
and distortions to trade in goods and services and to U.S. invest-
ment abroad.

It i emphatically our view that the best framework in which to
carry out such a trade policy in the future is through negotiations
within the existing international stricture and existing U.S. inter-
national trade statutes.

We hold this view because of the historical success of this ap-
proach for the United States. Furthermore, we are convinced that
American industry can compete effectively on world markets if ex-
isting domestic and international rules are honored.

Therefore, we are convinced that there is absolutely no reason to
question the basic goal or the fundamental principles of U.S. inter-
national trade policy.
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THE ‘“‘NEW’’ RECIPROCITY?

We feel compelled to make this assertion because recently there
has been much debate about the need for a fundamental change in
U.S. international trade policy.

The frustrations leading to this debate are real. Persistent trade
deficits, lack of compliance with or avoidance of international trade
rules, such as GATT, and increased competition from both devel-
oped and developing countries are realities.

These realiti. -, how. ver, do not prove that the U.S. international
trade policy is not working. Nor do they rrove that the internation-
al trading rules do not work. In our view, these realities require
action within the traditional system. They do not require destruc-
tion of a system that has served our interests well.

Nonetheless, some people have suggested that U.S. trade policy
should be based on what they conceive to be a new principle of re-
taliatory bilateral reciprocity.

As members of the subcommittee know, this principle, taken to
its extreme, would require that for every product imported into the
United States from a given country, there be one similar product
exported to that country from the United States.

There appear to be two arguments used by the proponents of re-
taliatory bilateral reciprocity for moving from the MFN and na-
tional treatment principles to the “new” reciprocity as the basis for
our trade policy.

First, the historic procedure for eliminating trade barriers and
discriminatory practices through GATT negotiations, the results of
}vhich are implemented on an MFN basis, will not work in the

uture,

Second, existing international rules and U.S. laws do not ade-
quately address the problems of the future.

With respect to the first argument, retaliatory bilateral reciproc-
ity is not a new concept. We cannot forget history. Before the
1920’s, the United States did pursue a trade policy based on retali-
atory bilateral reciprocity. According tc a 1919 report on rcciproc-
ity and commercial treaties by the U.S. Tariff Commission, the
result was:

(A) policy of special arrangements [leading] . . . to troublesome complications. . . .
When eack: country with which we negotiate is treated by itself und separate ar-
rangements sre made with the expectation that they shall be applicable individual-
ly, claims are nonetheless made by other states with whom such arrangements have
not been made. Concessions are asked; they are scmetimes refused; counterconces-

sions are proposed; reprisal and retaliation are suggested; unpleasant centroversies
and sometimes international friction result.

The consequence was beggar-thy-neighbor trade policies, which
played a major role in making the 1929 depression the most severe
in world history.

There is no reason to beliove that the results of a pelicy of retali-
atory bilateral reciprocity would be any different in the future.
Each country would seek special arrangements exclusively benefit-
ing its trade. The result was, and would be, a dramatic increase in
bar(xl'iers and distortions resulting in dramatic collapse of world
trade.

There is considerable evidence that a trade policy based on reci-
procity cannot work and wiil, in fact, injure the United States.
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There is also considerable evidence that a trade policy based on ne-
gotiations, multilateral trade rules and the MFN and national
treatment principles will achieve benefits for the United States.

THE NEED FOR CHANGES IN GATT

The second argument used by proponents of the new reciprocity
is that existing international trade rules and U.S. statutes do not
adequately address the problems of the future. Although we believe
that certain limited changes to U.S. statutes and changes to the
GATT rules are necessary to address the problems of the future,
we do not believe that the adequacy, or lack thereof, of U.S. law or
the GATT has any bearing on the appropriateness of MFN and na-
tioFal treatment as the basis for United States international trade
policy. -

With this in mind, we point out that it is obvious that existing
international rules, such as the GATT or Treaties of Friendship,
Commerce, and Navigation, do not adequately address certain prob-
lems. For example, barriers to international investment flows, to
certain kinds of high technology trade, for example, international
information flows, snd to international trade in services are not
currently subject to any effective infernational discipline.

These problems will become increasingly significant in the
future. It is imperative that the United States make every effort to
cure the inadequacies of the existing international system in this
regard through negotiation of new rules at the earliest possible
date. We stroungly support the initiative of the administration, and
particularly of Ambassador Brock, in seeking to raise the problems
of investment, high technology, and services at the GATT ministe-
rial meeting this November. It is imperative that the United States
sustain this effort which will inevitably require several years of
hard work and negotiation.

It is even more obvious that existing internstional rules must be
enforced aggressively and effectively. We cannot conclude that the
GATT systern does not work until we and the other GATT mem-
bers have made a genuine effort to make the system work. This
effort must include aggressive use of dispute settlement procedures
by the U.S. Government to assure compliance of other countries
with the GATT rules. Finally, and most significantly, this effort
must be effective. That is, our trade negotiators must consider the
nature of the GATT system and the kinds of disputes which, realis-
tically, can be resolved through that system.

On this point, it i3 important to remember that GATT is not a
court. Nor is it a purely political institution. It is a system of rules
requiring or prohibiting certain kinds of Government behavior
with procedures for resoiving disputes under those rules.

In essence, the GATT is au institution which is designed to force
negotiated resolution of international trade disputes within a
framework of legal obligations. Disputes which relate to Govern-
mnent laws, regulstions, or policies, and which present violations of
the letter or spirit of GATT rules are clearly suitable for negotiat-
ed resclution within the framework of the GATT rules. It is this
kind of dispute which the U.S. Government should pursue aggres-
sively through GATT.

95-924 0 - 82 - 8
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Turning now to existing U.S. trade statutes, we believe that a
primary issue is whether the President is using his current author-
ity to take appropriate and effective actions in pursuit of the goals
of the U.S. trade policy. We do not believe the executive branch
has done as much as it can do under existing law.

With some exceptions, which we discuss later, we strongly be-
lieve that the existing statutory framework is sufficient to permit
effective action if the President chooses to use that authority. The
President has extraordinarily broad authority to take actions in
the pursuit of better access to foreign markets. Sectior:s 102, relat-
ing to nontariff barrier agreements; 122, relating to balance of pay-
ments; 123, relating to compensation authority; 301, relating to
unfair trade practices; 404 and 405, relating to treatment of non-
market economies; and 501, relating to GSP, of the Trade Act of
1974 are just some of the statutory provisions which the President
may use to pursue U.S. objectives through negotiations. These pro-
visions give him leverage during negotiations by enabling him to
threaten action should the negotiations fail. They also give him au-
thority to retaliate, in fact, in accordance with GATT rules if nego-
tiations do fail.

Rather than spending an inordinate amount of time discussing
the terms of new, unnecessary, authority based on the “new” reci-
procity, we should consider whether existing legal authority is
being used as effectively as it can be used. We do believe it would
be helpful to incorporate a number of the concepts we discuss
below into U.S. trade statutes.

However, to the extent that legislation focuses solely on the mis-
conceived and, in our view, largely irrelevant concept of bilateral
retaliatory reciprocity, we are convinced that such legislation is not
timely. This is because the current condition of the economy and
the emotional level of the current debate on the “new” reciprocity
requires forward looking and positive proposals if we are to avoid a
Christmas tree decorated with numerous counterproductive protec-
tionist proposals.

ISSUES RAISED BY PENDING BILLS

Let me now turn to positive concepts which will promote rather
than impair trade, in particular, high-technology trade. A number
of bills before the Congress, including H.R. 6433 and 6436, would
provide the President a mandate to enter into international high
technology, investment, or services negotiations. We believe this
makes good sense in the context of traditional U.S. trade policy.
Such an action on the part of the Congress would be a significant
signal to our foreign trading partners that the initiatives of the ad-
ministration in these areas have the support of the U.S. Congress
and U.S. business communities.

We also believe that the concept of adding investment practices
which are unreasonable, unjustifiable, or discriminatory to the
scope of section 301 would be useful. In this regard, we believe it is
important that the President not be required to retaliate against
foreign investment during an investment dispute. We would go
even rarther and not grant the President any new authority under
section 301 to restrict foreign investment in the United States. We
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believe that, in an investment dispute under section 301, the Presi-
dent should be permitted to retaliate against goods or services
using his section 301 authority or to retaliate against investment
under other existing authority.

A number of bills, including H.R. 6433, would require the USTR
and the Department of Commerce to conduct regular studies of for-
eign government laws and practices, including high-technology in-
dustrial policies, to identify barriers to trade. We believe this con-
cept makes good sense so long as the administration is not required
to take action based on the results of a study or to reveal its negoti-
ating strategy and tactics.

During his testimony before the Subcommittee on International
Trade of the Senate Committee on Finance, Ambassador Brock sug-
gested that a statutory provision authorizing the President to enter
into negotiations to eliminate or reduce barriers under foreign gov-
ernment laws or practices designed to protect and promote their
high technologies would be desirable. H.R. 6432 contains such au-
thority. We support Ambassador Brock’s suggestion.

However, a number of bills imply that sectoral trade balancing
in the quantitative sense should be a goal of trade policy. This kind
of sectoral approach to trade policy is dangerous. Taken to its logi-
cal extreme, quantitative sectoral reciprocity could stop all trade.
As stated earlier, we believe the basic principles which must under-
{)ig I{l.S. trade policy are MFN and national treatment across the

ard.

Some bills would amend section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 to
add a cause of action for the denial of competitive opportunities
equivalent to those in the United States. In our view, the practices
now covered by section 301, that is, those that are unreasonable,
unjustifiable, or discriminatory, cover virtually any foreign govern-
ment action which impairs open market access. We are not con-
vinced that there is any need for change.

Some bills permit independent regulatory agencies to consider
discriminatory foreign government practices when they review for-
eign government activities within their jurisdiction. This would
create multiple trade policies beyond the control of the President,
and, therefore, would be unacceptable.

Some bills would permit the President to unbind tariffs in GATT
and to raise U.S. tariffs on certain newly developed competitive or
high technology products. We believe this concept is extremely dan-
gerous. It would serve as an open invitation to other countries to
do the same thing to protect their “infant industries” thereby ex-
cluding many of our most competitive exports, such as the exports
of the companies which are members of CBEMA.

A number of bills, including H.R. 6433, would authorize the
President to negotiate increases or reductions in U.S. tariffs
through trade agreements. We believe this is a necessary authority
for the President. For this reason, CBEMA urges the extension of
tariff negotiating authority under section 124 of the Trade Act of
1974 or comparable authority.
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CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the goal of U.S. international trade policy must be
to continue tc expand open and nondiscriminatory world trade.
The existing international trading system is the best structure in
which to pursue this goal. Tha MFN and national treatment princi-
ples are the most principles on which to base this policy. We do be-
lieve that certain changes in the scope of GATT must be made to
add;ess problems of investment, services, and high-technology
trade.

We also believe that certain changes in domestic law are desir-
able to promote negotiations on investment, services, and high-
technology products. However, we underscore that the essential
issue before us today is into the adequacy of international or do-
mestic rules. Rather, the essential issue is the willingness of the ex-
ecutive branch to aggressively and effectively to pursue the basic
goals of our trade policy.

[An attachment to the prepared statement follows:]
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MEMBERS

CBEMA

COMPUTER & BUSINESS EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURERS ASSOCIATION

ki Liquid Paper Corporation
Acme Vigible Recorxds, Inc. Micro Switch, s Honeywell Division
AP Incorporated NCR Corporation
Apple Computer Inc. Olivetti Corporation
Bell & Howell, Phillipsburg Division Philips Business Systeas, Inc.
Burroughs Corporation Pitney Bowes
Contitronix Inc. Quality Micro Systems, Inc.
Control Data Corporation Renington Rsnd Corporation
Dictaphone Corporation Royal Business Machines, Inc.
" Digital Equipment Corporation Sanders Associates, Inc,
IXXON Enterprises Sony Corporation of America
Esstman Kodak Company Sperry UNIVAC
CF Business Equipment, Inc. TRW Incorporated
General Binding Corporation Tektromix, Inc.
Harris Corporation Texas Instruments Incorporated
Hevlett-Packard Company The Standard Register Company
Honeywell Information Systeas, Inc. Topaz, Inc.
IBM Corporation UARCO Incorporated
ICL, Incorporated Xerox Corporation

Lanier Business Products, Inc.

4/82

Computer and Business Equipment Manufaciurers Assocution 311 First Street, N.W. Sulle 500, Washington, DC 20001 (202) 737-8888
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Chairman GiBBoNs. Our next witness is Mr. MacTaggart.

STATEMENT OF BARRY MacTAGGART, CHAIRMAN AND
PRESIDENT, PFIZER INTERNATIONAL

Mr. MacTaGc ART. I am Barry MacTaggart, chairman and presi-
dent of Pfizer "aternational, a subsidiary of Ffizer, Inc. Pfizer is a
research-based pharmaceutical company, with additional business-
es in specialty chemicals, agriculture, materials science, and con-
sumer products.

In 1981, Pfizer had worldwide sales of $3.2 billion. More than
one-half of these sales were from foreign operations.

Pfizer’s international businesses, like those of most U.S. pharma-
ceutical companies, are primarily handled through foreign subsid-
iaries. This is due, in part, to the regulated nature of our industry.

With the exception of certain antibiotics, U.S. statutes prohibit
the export of drugs not yet approved for marketing in the United
States by the Food and Drug Administration. Since our new drug
products are generally approved by foreign regulatory authorities
sooner than in the United States, we must manufacture abroad if
we wish to enter these foreign markets.

Pfizer first went abroad in the early 1950’s and currently has or-
ganizations in 62 countries, manufacturing operations in 38 coun-
tries and sales in over 100 countries.

Before turning to the subject of today’s hearing, permit me to
make two related comments.

First, we must be careful not to define the issue of high-technol-
ogy trade and investment too narrowly. High technology is a con-
cept best viewed in the broadest terms possible. When someone
refers to “high-tech” products, there is a tendency to think only of
computers, semiconductors, or micro chips.

In the United States, however, innovation can be found every-
where and not only in the traditional R. & D.-based industries. Ag-
riculture is a prime example.

Whether it is in the production of new equipment that increases
productivity, the development of land reclamation technologies, the
discovery of new pesticides or fertilizers that increase crop yields,
or the development of genetically improved livestock, agriculture
in the United States is a high-technology business and the United
States is the world’s leading high-technology agricultural producer.

Second, the recent debate over high-technoiogy trade and invest-
ment has focused upon distortions imposed by foreign nations. But
there is also a domestic dimension to the issue. No matter what
occurs abroad, we cannot be competitive in international markets
unless we have a domestic economic environment conduciye to in-
vestment, research and development, productivity, and stable eco-
nomic growth.

We must carefully examine how domestic economic policies and
practices discourage technological irziovation. This is not to suggest
that the U.S. Government take on the role of national planner or
America, Inc. It means that our Government must recognize, as
our trading partners have, that Government policies should not
impede private research and development.
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In this regard, we welcomed the House Ways and Means Com-
mittee’s approval last year of the R. & D. provision of the Economic
Recovery g‘ax Act of 1981. The 2-year moratorium on the R. & D.
allocation requirements of section 861.8 of the IRS Code was a
laudable step toward eliminating a regulation that penalizes do-
mestic R. & D. and drives U.S. research dollars abroad.

I understand that legislation to make the 861 moratorium, as
well as the R. & D. credit provisions, permanent parts of the IRS
Code has already been introduced by members of this committee. I
urge you to give this proposal your serious consideration.

Other domestic impediments to innovation remain, however.
There are significant weaknesses in the U.S. patent system, for ex-
ample. U.S. patent law provides a holder of a patent with 17 years
of market exclusivity.

However, for products like ours that are subject to premarket
testing and regulatory approval, almost one-half of the patent life
is gone by the time a product is approved for commercial market-
ing. This significantly reduces our ability to recover R. & D. costs.

To rectify this, legislation is pending in the Congress to restore
the patent life lost due to Federal regulatory review requirements.
It is our hope that the legislation will be enacted this year.

Turning to the specific subject of this hearing, increasing foreign
impediments to international trade and investment are, neverthe-
less, a real and growing problem.

As tariffs, the traditional barriers to world trade, have been sub-
stantially reduced through multilateral negotiation, less easily
identifiable, though equally distorting, nontariff barriers [NTB's]
have flourished.

And NTB’s are often directed toward high-technology industries
in which the United States has traditionally been most competi-
tive.

While increasingly protectionist policies abroad are partly due to
the worldwide recession, they are also due in part to structural
changes in the international economic system.

Technology has replaced capital as the scarce international re-
source. And the source of international competitiveness in the
1980’s and 1990’s will be in the knowledge-based, research-intensive
industries.

Our major trading partners, both in the developed and newly in-
dustrialized countries, recognizing this reality have responded
through national economic policies that target and favor high-tech-
nology products and industries.

National industrial policies established in Europe, Japan, and
the newly industrialized countries have significantly altered the in-
ternational environment in which U.S. high-technology trade and
investment take place.

How have such national industrial policies affected a research-
based company such as Pfizer? In the majority of developed coun-
tries, at least, we have received treatment essentially equal to that
given to national companies.

Although we have not always been totally happy with some spe-
cific situations in each and every country, overall we have been
treated quite equitably, and several barriers that formerly existed
no longer exist.
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We find that most of the significant burdens on our business are
in the developing rather than the developed world. In addition to
the various impediments common to most -industries, a critical
problem for us is patent protention. It may well be the single most
important factor in determining whether we can compete effective-
y.
In Brazil and Indonesia, for example, no patent protection is
available for pharmaceuticals. In countries such as Argentina,
Taiwan, and Korea, there are patent laws on the books, but the
failure of the judicial systems to enforce patent rights makes the
laws virtually meaningless.

There are even some developed countries’ where the patent laws
are a serious barrier to the research-based pharmaceutical indus-
try. In Canada, for example, pharmaceutical products are subject to
compulsory licensing statutes. The licensee spends nothing on re-
search and his marketing expenses are minimal because he usually
waits until we have developed a market before he enters it. Thus
he is able to undercut our price and still make a substantial profit.

In a similar vein, Australia and New Zealand are studying the
feasibility of weakening existing strong patent laws for the benefit
of local industry.

These specific patent problems reflect the more general questions
facing U.S. policymakers today. How should we deal with the new
economic realities in the world marketplace and with the growing
barriers to U.S. trade and investment resulting from increased pro-
tectionism abroad? The task seems twofold.

First, the United States must find a way to balance the legiti-
mate rights of foreign sovereign governments to set national prior-
ities and to implement policies to stimulate domestic economic and
technological development with the legitimate right of U.S. firms
to be treated fairly and equitably in foreign markets.

Second, the United States should seek the elimination of unrea-
sonable and distorting barriers to trade and investment in a way
that strengthens and builds upon existing international rules and
treaties governing trade.

The question before this subcommittee is whether the High Tech-
nology Trade Act or similar legislation is necessary to achieve
these objectives. We think not.

As a multinational company, we are concerned about any legisla-
tion that attempts to establish a United States “treatment stand-
ard” of market access or right of establishment. Few, if any, for-
eign countries could be reasonably expected to meet such a stand-
ard, no matter how laudable or desirable an objective this may be.

In addition, we believe that legislation focusing exclusively on
the problems of high technology industries would be ill advised at
this time. We have not yet adequately defined what constitutes a
high-technology industry or product.

In addition, while we can point to burdensome performance re-
quirements or investment restrictions, we have not developed
sound criteria to judge which foreign governmental policies are le-
gitimate rights of sovereignty and which are truly capricious or
trade-distorting and thus should be eliminated.

Finally, technology is always in a state of flux. Remedies to the
problems confronting us today must result in enough flexibility to
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deal with new problems in the future. In sum, we believe that
greater study of the high-technology problem is necessary before
proceeding with any legislative solution.

What then are Pfizer's recommendations to this subcommittee?

First, the United States should establish patent protection as a
top priority, and should pursue this objective in every available
forum. A place to begin is at discussions being held in October on
the Paris Convention on Industrial Property, the basic legal instru-
ment governing international relations in patents.

At the present time, the United States is the only country that
opposes weakening patent rights in the convention.

ond, we must develop the political will to use the trade and
investment tools that we already have to address trade-distorting
policies. I believe that the United States, through existing multilat-
eral obligations and trade laws, has the tools to deal with many of
our high-technology trade problems.

Additional legislation is needed only to round out these tools, for
example, extension of section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 to cover
services and investment and renewal of section 124 to grant the
President residual tariff negotiating authority.

Third, in planning for the future, actions directed toward the
policies of foreign governments are not enough to insure our com-
petitiveness. We must also take a serious look at U.S. domestic
policies that impede technological innovation.

In this regard, we urge the Congress to:

One, enact the Patent Term Restoration Act of 1982; two, make
permanent the moratorium on section 861.8 regulations which re-
quire the allocation of a portion of R. & D. expenditures abroad;
three, make permanent the recently enacted credits for increases
in R. & D.; and, four, initiate a reevaluation of the domestic eco-
nomic policies in the regulatory, antitrust and tax fields to assess
their impact on U.S. international competitiveness.

I wish to thank the subcommittee for allowing me to present our
views on this important trade subject.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF BARRY MACTAGGART, CHAIRMAN AND PRESIDENT, PFIZER
INTERNATIONAL

I am Barry MacTaggart, chairman and president of Pfizer International, a subsid-
iary of Pfizer Inc. While Pfizer Inc, is best known as a research-based pharmaceuti-
cal company, it also has substantial businesses in specialty chemicals, agriculture,
materials science and consumer products. In 1981 Pfizer Inc., had worldwide sales of
$3.2 billion. More than one-half of these sales were attributable to foreign oper-
ations.

Pfizer’s international businesses, like those of most U.S. pharmaceutical compa-
nies, are primarily handled through foreign subsidiaries. This is due in part to the
regulated nature of our industry. With the exception of certain antibiotics, U.S. stat-
utes prohibit the export of drugs not yet approved for marketing in the United
States by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Since our new drug products
are generally approved by foreign regulatory authorities sooner than in the United
States, we must manufacture and often engage in research abroad if we wish to
market abroad. In fact, the diverse testing and regulatory approval requirements of
nations frequently necessitate that we produce in the nation or region in which we
seek to market. In this vein, Pfizer first went abroad in the early 1950’s and cur-
rently has organizations in 62 countries, manufactures in 38 countries, sells in over
100 countrizs.
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Before turning to the subject of todai"]s hearing, I wish to raise two points that I
think directly impact on this subject. First, we should be cautious not to perceive
the issue of high technology trade and investment too narrowly. High technology is
a concept not easily defined, and it is best viewed in the broadest terms possible.
When someone refers to “high tech” products, there is a tendency to think only of
computers, semicond “ctors, or micro chips. However, this is only one sector of the
U.S. high technology L. 3, albeit with a particular set of problems in world trade. In
the United States, howevar, innovation can be found everywhere and not only in the
traditional R. & D. based industries, such as our own.

For example, if new technological developments result in new and better machin-
ery that increase productivity and quality in a light or heavy manufacturing indus-
try then that new machinery is “high technology”. Similarly, a consistently over-
looked high technology sector in the United States is agriculture. But agriculture is
a sector in which the United States clearly retains a technological edge. Whether it
is in the production of new farming equipment that increases productivity, the de-
velopment of land reclamation technologies, the discovery of new pesticides or fertil-
izers that increase crop yields, or the development of genetically improved livestock,
agriculture in the United States is a high technology business and the United States
is the world’s leading high technology agricultural producer.

Second, while much of the attention in the recent debate over the high technology
problem has focused upon distortions created by trade and investment policies and
practices of foreign nations, it must also be recognized that there is a domestic di-
mension to the issue. No matter what occurs abroad, we cannot be competitive in
international markets unless we have a domestic economic environment conducive
to investment, research and development, productivity, and stable economic growth.

In the private sector, the impetus for technological innovation is the willingness
to assume risk—to invest in the discovery process knowing that it may take several
years and many failures to produce a viable, marketable new product or process
that is competitive in U.S. and world markets. Unless there are expectations of rea-
sonable return on this investment, they will not occur. If government policies have
the effect of increasing risks or reducing expectations of return, fewer investments
will be made. Hence we must carefully examine the extent to which the existing
relationships between U.S. Government -and business as well as domestic economic
policies and practices serve as disincentives to technological innovation. While we
are not suggesting that the U.S, Government take on the role of national planner or
America Inc., it is important that our government recognize, as our trading part-
ners have done, that government policies in certain instances should encourage and
at least should not impede private research and development. This is particularly
important now when Federal expenditures on basic research are decreasing, thereby
placing a greater burden on the private sector to maintain our technological lead.

In this regard, the House Ways and Means Committee's approval last year of the
R. & D. provisions of the Economic Recovery Tax Act of 1981 is an example of the
type of government support that high technology businesses need. The two-year
moratorium on the R. & D. allocation requirements of section 861.8 of the IRS Code
was a laudable first step towards the elimination of a regulation that does nothing
more than penalize domestic R. & D. and drive U.S. research dollars abroad. I un-
derstand that legislation to make the 861 moratorium as well as the R. & D. credit
provisions a permanent part of the IRS Code has already been introduced by mem-
bers of this committee. As you begin deliberations on a tax measure this year, I sin-
cerely hope you will keep the needs of our research-intensive industries in mind.

Other domestic impediments to innovation remain, however.

An excellent example of such an impediment is a current weakness in the U.S.
patent system. U.S, patent law provides a patent holder with 17 years of market
exclusivity. This is designed to reward the inventor for his contribution to scientific
advancement and to act as an incentive for others to engage in the discovery proc-
ess. Yet in our industry by the time our new product is marketed, the patent life
has often been reduce? by one-half. The reason is, of course, that newly patented
key products must receive marketing approval from the FDA. While no one ques-
tions the need for regulations governing the safety and efficacy of new drug prod-
ucts, we believe that the lengthy regulatory approval process unnecessarily burdens
technological innovation in pharmaceuticals, since moving a new drug through the
discovery, development and regulatory processes takes an average of 7 to 10 years
and upwards of $70 million.

In light of the need to foster technological innovation, it makes no sense for one
agency of the Federal Government to grant a patent and another to take up to one
half of its value away. To rectify this anomoly, legislation is currently pending in
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the Congress to permit the restoration of patent life lost due to federal regulatory
review requirements. It is our hope that the legislation will be enacted this year.

Keeping these definitional and domestic factors in mind, it is nevertheless true
that increasing foreign impediments to international trade and investment are a
very real problem. As we all know, while tariffs, the traditional barriers to world
trade, have been substantialtliy reduced through multilateral negotiation, less easily
identifiable, though equally distorting, non-tariff barriers (NTB’s) to both trade and
investment have flourished. This is of particular concern to the United States be-
cause NTB's are often directed toward high technology industries in which we are
and have traditionally been most competitive.

While increasing protectionist policies abroad are partly due to the worldwide re-
cession, they are also due in part to structural changes in the international econom-
ic system. The developed and newly industrialized nations of the world have recog-
nized that the source of international competitiveness in the 1980's and 1990's will
be in the knowledge-based, research intensive industries. In a sense, technology has
replaced capital as the scarce international resource. Some might argue that our
major trading partners recognized this reality before we did and responded through
national economic policies that have targeted and favored high technology products
and industries.

The establishment of such national industrial policies in Europe, Japan and the
newly industrialized countries (NIC’s) has s.gnificantly altered the international en-
vironment in which U.S. high technology trade and investment take place. In the
European Community and Japan, the goal of such policies is to create high technol-
ogy industries in targeted sectors where they know they can compete effectively in-
ternationally, such as semiconductors and pharmaceuticals in Japan and telecom-
munications and computers in the EEC. For the NIC's, technological development is
sought through nationa! development plans which focus upon the acquisition of for-
eign technologies and the technical training of nationals, with a long-range goal of
creating an indigenous technological capability.

Since the developed and developing countries alike consider technological develop-
ment a domestic national priority, they do not apply the same market rules to this
sector as they do to other industries. \{'hile some nations, for example, the Europe-
an countries, believe in the “free market” system and view market competition in
such areas as pricing, product quality, marketing, distribution, and after-sale service
as desirable and beyond the scope of government involvement, this is not true with
the high technology sector. In fact, they openly admit that cooperation and coordi-
nation should govern both the relationship between the high technology industries
and between the government and industry. This cooperation is most commonly en-
couraged in ways to reduce the financial risks involved in basic R. & D. and to speed
up the commercial application of new technologies.

Specific domestic policies of foreign governments encourage the rapid develop-
ment of new technologies and their comimercial application. Government-sponsored
or joint government-private sector research efforts, government subsidization and fi-
nancing of private R. & D. and of commercial applications of new technology, gov-
ernment-supervised sharing of technology and information on R. & D. successes and
failures, and government encouragement of joint private sector R. & D. projects, es-
pecially those whose costs would be prohibitive for an individual company, are be-
coming the norm especially within the European countries.

In the manufacturing and marketing of high technology goods, government poli-
cies are even more directly supportive of domestic industries. Buy-national govern-
ment procurement policies, subsidies, exclusive access to government research facili-
ties for domestic firms, incentives and subsidies to encourage investment in produc-
tion for import substitution purposes, phasing down of “sunset” industries and
strengthening the flow of capital to “sunrise” sectors, and government identification
of foreign technologies capable of local exploitation are evolving rapidly as more
and more countries develop the capacity to support knowledge-intensive industries.

Once developed, domestic high technology industries are assisted in entering in-
ternational markets by government subsidies, below market export financing pack-
ages or other incentives.

Policies directed toward foreign high technology businesses, however, even more
clearly reflect the desire to build national domestic high technol industries.
These policies have two primary objectives: to acquire foreign technologies and to
guarantee that the domestic industries will be competitive both nationally and in-
ternationally. Most are unquestionably trade-distorting, and most are more preva-
lent in the developing and newly industrialized countries where indigenous R. & D.
is still very difficulit.
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For example, in most of the NIC's and LDC's patent protection is absent or notori-
ously weak, especially in the pharmaceuticals industry; technology transfers are
closely monitored through central government authorities; compulsory licensing
statutes do not offer royalties sufficient to recover R. & D. costs; local R. & D. facili-
ties must be established as conditions of direct investment; and local procurement
and content requirements induce the technological upgrading of supplier industries
and force the sharing of technology. Furthermore, a&)proval to transfer technology
frequently involves a commitment to export from the last country, thus futher limit-
ing vital export markets.

Let me turn now to the manner in which such foreign barriers to trade and in-
vestment have affected a high technology company such as Pfizer. At the . utset, I
must note that in the majority of developed countries at least, our experience has
been thai we receive treatment equal, by and large, with that given to national com-
panies. Although we have not been totally happy with some specific situations in
each and every country, overall we have been treated quite equitably, and several
barriers that formerly existed no longer exist.

Although our experience in developed countries has been generally good, there
are three points I would like to make: (1) It is in the developing rather then the
developed world where we find most of the important burdens and restriziicns on
our business; (2) Limitations on investment and equity ownership often impede us
more than the normal trade barriers, whether hidden or overt; and (3) Patent pro-
tection or the lack thereof may well be the single most important factor in deter-
mining whether a research-based company such as Pfizer can compete effectively.

In view of the fact that performance requirements and other restrictions on U.S.
trade and investment are common to most industries and have been broadly de-
bated, let me focus my remarks on the patent issue which is somewhat unique to
certain industries of the high technology sector.

The pharmaceutical industry is perhaps more dependent on patents that any
other industry. A major reason for this is that once a chemical molecule has been
discovered and identified, it is often relatively simple for any sophisticated chemist
to make that molecule. For this reason, patent protection, and specifically protec-
tion covering the molecule or compound itself, is absolutely critical if research costs
are to be recovered. Research-based pharmaceutical companies can not compete
with generic companies simply on the basis of production costs. They must be able
to recoup research costs if they are to continue to invest in and expand their high
technology research.

The patent situation in most of the developed world is generally satisfactory. In
Japan, the patent law has been changed in recent years to provide protection for
the chemical compound itself. Previously only the process for making the compound
could be protected, and any company was free to sell a compound invented by an
American company, so long as the compound was made by a process other than that
patented by the inventor. This lack of product protection helped the Japanese build
their chemical expertise at the expense of American and European pharmaceutical
companies.

In Europe, there have been similar positive developments. In most countries, the
life of a patent has been extended to 20 years from the date of filing. Those coun-
tries that ratified the European Patent Convention have moved to adopt standards
which include some of the best features of the existing national laws of Great Brit-
ain, France and Germany. Most importantly, protection for pharmaceutical com-
pounds is included.

Serious problems remain in several European countries, however. Italy, where
there was no patent protection at all for pharmaceuticals until 1978, there is a par-
liamentary struggle over a Bill which could seriously weaken patent rights once
again. In the important markets of Spain, Greece and Portugal, there is only proc-
ess protection, and it has been very difficult to obtain enforcement of even these
patents in the courts of those countries. In addition, Greece and Spain are strongly
resisting enacting legislation to protect chemical compounds as part of the price for
entry into the Common Market. The net resuit is that serious limitations continue
in these countries on the ability of American companies to sell products we have
discovered, whether we manufacture them in Europe or export them from the
United States.

However, it is in the developing countries where the patent issue is the most seri-
ous for the American pharmaceutical trade. In Brazil and Indonesia, for example,
no patent protection is available for pharmaceuticals, not even for the processes of
manufacture. In countries such as Argentina, Taiwan and Korea, there is a patent
law of sorts on the books, but the failure of the judicial system to enforce patent
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rights makes the laws virtually meaningless. Mexico has so waiered down its laws
that few pharmaceutical companies even bother to file patent applications there.

Moreover, in India and several Latin American countries, the product can be pro-
duced locally after a relatively short period of time after the patent is granted or
has expired. Very often this occurs before safety and efficacy testing has been com-
pleted. Local companies, which have not spent a single cent for research and devel-
opment are then able to manufacture or even import the American invention once
the safety and efficacy testing is completed and the compound becomes a viable
product. In India, local companies often obtain the right to manufacture such prod-
ucts to the exclusion of the inventor.

A related issue is one which has not been widely recognized as an important bar-
rier to free trade. At the October 1981 meeting in Nairobi of the World Industrial
Property Organization (WIPO), an amendment to the Paris Convention, which sets
standards for industrial property legislation for most countries of the world, was ap-
proved by all nations except the United States. This would permit developing coun-
tries (1) to grant an exclusive compulsory license after only thirty months of non-
working by the patent holder, and (2) to cancel a patent ~fter only 5 years of non-
working. Ks stated previously, since 5 years is not enough time to commence com-
me}x;cial production, such legislation would amount to confiscation of the inventor's
rights.

Any circumstances that preclude the patent holder from working its own patent
- are untenable. Because of economies of scale, patent holders often cannot afford to
work a patent, i.e. produce the basic chemical substance, in more than one or a few
countries. Certainly there is no justification for denying the patent holder adequate
time to make a decision whether to produce in a country or not before granting
someone else an exclusive right or declaring the patent to be forfeited.

The potential result of such legislation could be that a producer in a developing
country would be free to export to many markets of the world where the patent
laws are weak. Meanwhile, the patent holder might not be able to compete because
of its research and development expenses and higher costs generally, or because
export incentives granted by the developing country to a national company provide
an unfair advantage.

There are even some developed countries where the patent laws are a serious bar-
rier to the research-based pharmaceutical industry. In Canada, for example, compul-
sory licenses can be granted, and the universal practice has been to grant the
patent holder a royalty of only 4 percent. Since the compulsory licensee has spent
nothing on research and usually waits until the inventor has developed a market
for the product, his marketing expenses are also minimal. He is thus able to under-
cut the inventor and still make a substantial profit. Consequently, the 4 percent roy-
alty on the compulsory licensee’s rales is entirely inadequate to compensate the
patent holder for its research and development expenses and lost sales.

We are also troubled by the fact that studies are currently underway in Australia
and New Zealand to determine if the existing strong patent laws should be weak-
ened for the benefit of local industry. If a nation looks at the patent system in an
extremely narrow and protection st way, 1t may well conclude that a weak patent
system is in its internal short-term interest. This is because major pharmaceutical
inventions are made in only a handful of the developed countries. However, unless
all or at least most countries of the world join in a strong patent system, consumers
in only a few nations will have to bear the cost of providing funds for further re-
search, or the incentive for research and development in the pharmaceutical field
will disappear entirely.

Having enumerated many of the foreign governmental practices that impede in-
ternational trade and investment in technologically advanced industries, and having
outlined some of the problems unique to the pharmaceutical industry, I wish to turn
now to some of the proposed remedies. Obviously, the key question facing U.S. poli-
cymakers today is how to deal with the new econnmic realities in the world market-
place and the growing barriers to U.S. trade and investment resulting from in-
creased protectionism abroad. The basic task seems twofold.

First, we must find a way to balance the legitimate rights of foreign sovereign
governments to set national priorities and to implement polices to stimulate domes-
tic and technological development with the legitimate right of U.S. firms to be treat-
ed fairly and equitably in foreign markets.

Second, it is imcumbent upon the United States to seek the elimination of unrea-
sonable and distorting barriers to trade and investment in a way that strengthens
an4 builds upon existing international rules and treaties governing trade, rather
than taking measures that could bring the entire system duwn. The question before
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this subcommittee is whether the High Technology Trade Act or similar legislation
is necessary to achieve these objectives. We think not.

Over the past several months, we have followed the reciprocity debate quite close-
ly and reviewed many of the pieces of legislation falling within that general catego-
ry. As a company with a significant presence overseas, we are concerned about any
legislation that atiempts to establish a U.S. “treatment standard” of market access
or right of establishment. Few, if any, foreign countries could be reasonably expect-
ed to bLneet such a standard, no matter how laudable or desirable an objective this
may be.

We are equally concerned about definitions of reciprocity or market access which
ignore the principles of comparative advantage and which imply that bilateral as-
sessments are valid means to judge the performance of our major trading partners.
This runs counter to the reality that the United States is operating and competing
in a global market which necessitates a global assessment of our international com-
petitiveness. A bilateral or sectoral imbalance does not necessarily mean there is a
problem or a cause for U.S. retaliation. In fact, should the United States pursue a
course of action solely on a bilateral or sectoral basis, it would in many instances
violate U.S. obligations under the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT)
and invite foreign retaliation against us.

In addition to these concerns, we believe that legislation focusing exclusively on
the problems of high technology industries would be ill-advised at this time. At the
outset I pointed out the difficulties in defining what constitutes a high techaology
industry or product. To focus too narrowly on one class products would, in essence,
amount to a sectoral approach to those problems with all the pitfalls cited above. In
addition, while we can point to this or that burdensome performance requirement
or investment restriction, we have yet to develop sound criteria to judge which for-
eign governmental policies are legitimate rights of sovereignty and which are truly
capricious or trade-distorting and thus should be eliminated.

Finally, the very essence of technology is that it is always in a state of flux. Thus
any efforts to remedy the probiems confronting us today must proceed in a frame-
work flexible enough: to deal with a whole set of problems in the future. In sum we
believe that greater study of the high technology problem is necessary before pro-
ceeding with any legislative solution. In this regard, we understand that such a
study is currently underway in the Administration and that the World Bank has
launched a similar undertaking.

What, then, are Pfizer's recommendations to this Subcommittee?

First, the United States should establish patent protection as the top priority of
any high technology policy, and it shouid pursue this objective in every available
forum. A place to begin is at discussions being held in October on the Paris Conven-
tion on Industrial Property, the basic legal instrument governing international rela-
tions in the fields of patents, trademarks, designs, indications of source, appelations
of origin, and protection against unfair competition. At the present time, the United
States is the only country that opposes wholesale changes in the Convention.

Second, we must develop the political will to use the trade and investment tools
that we already have at our disposal to address policies that we determine are
trade-distorting. It is my belief that the United States, through cxisting multiluteral
obligations and trade laws, has the tools to deal with many of cur high technology
trade problems. Additional legislation is needed only to round out these touls, for
example, extension of section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 to cover services and in-
vesthmem, renewal of section 124 to grant the President residual tariff negotiating
authority.

Third, in planning for the future, actions directed toward the policies of foreign
governments are not enough to ensure our competitiveness. We must also take a
serious luck at U.S domestic policies that impede technological innovation at home.
In this regard, we urge the Congress to' (1) Enact the Patent Terin Restoration Act
of 1982; (2) Make perianent the moratorium on Section 861.8 regulations which re-
quira the allocation of a portion of R. & D. expenditures abroad; (3) Make perma-
nent the recently enacted credits for increases in R. & D., and (4) Initiate a re-
evaluation of the impact of U.S. regulatory, antitrust and tax policies on U.S. inter-
national competitiveness.

I wish to thank the Subcommittee for allowing me to present our views on this
important trade subject.

Chairman GisBoNs. Our next witness is Mr. Sporck.
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STATEMENT OF CHARLES E. SPORCK, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF
EXECUTiVE OFFICER, NATIONAL SEMICONDUCTOR CORP., ON
BEHALF OF THE SEMICONDUCTOR INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION

Mr. Sporck. Mr. Chairman, my name is Charles Sporck, presi-
dent of National Semiconductor Corp. My testimony is in behalf of
the Semiconductor Industry Association.

Mr. Chairman, I have come here today to testify that the legisla-
tion before you today is of extraordinary importance to this coun-
try. It is vital to many industries. If I leave you convinced of one
thing today, I hope it will be that trade legislation must be enacted
this year which will result in the opening of world markets to our
exports and which will address more effectively industrial policies
which disrupt these iarkets.

The semiconductor industry, and the high technology industries
as a group, are probably the most severely affected by the new
forms of market barriers that require new internatioral negotia-
tions. What is disturbing about this challenge is that ultimately we
won’t be able to compete successfully unless markets are opened
and the effects of foreign industrial policies are dealt with.

Growing government intervention abroad undermines the bal-
ance of our past trade agreements. That erosion must be halted.
Where U.S. companies and workers have high export potential, leg-
islation reported by this committee must direct U.S. negotiating
priorities to attack the market barriers that frustrate our ability to
compete. This is especially true where a protected home market
serves as a base from which foreign industries offer extremely ag-
gressive competition in the United States and in Third Country
markets.

This does not mean that the United States should set itself as
the sole judge of prior agreements, unilaterally restructuring com-
mitments. We must build upon the GATT framework, not tear it
down. But we must now make an independent assessment of our
national commercial interests, set priorities, seek new negotiations,
and utilize existing rights aggressively, if the GATT framework is
to be respected and is to endure.

The High Technology Trade Act of 1982, H.R. 6433 and H.R.
6436, should move us in the right direction. What is needed are
procedures provided by statute to identify foreign market barriers,
to establish national priorities, and to find solutions to obtain addi-
tional market access and national treatment. We also need a politi-
cal mandate and legal authority for negotiations.

Mr. Chairman, I would urge in the strongest possible terms that
the High Technology Trade Act of 1982, before your committee
now, be promptly reported out favorably.

We are highly competitive, but we need world markets in order
to maintain that position. We are increasingly being denied access
to those markets. Governments of developed and advanced develop-
ing countries alike have recognized the importance of their high
techrlxnology industries, and are increasingly protecting and promot-
ing them.

We suffer the consequences of foreign industrial policies which
distort international trade and investment. This is true not only in
terms of market access abroad, foreign industrial programs also
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provide foreign industries with an unfair advantage in gaining
market share in a competitive environment. It prevents our indus-
tries from making the investments needed to compete successfully
in the future in major project areas.

The fact is that our largest potential foreign market remains
substantially closed to us. A Joint Economic Committee study pub-
lished this February concluded that the Japanese market for semi-
conductors has an oligopolistic structure and does not function as
an open market. The Government of Japan tolerates and even en-
courages the formation of cartels that result in these oligopolistic
policies. Japanese Public Law 84 of 1978 provides the statutory
basis for this system.

The United States-Japan trade balance for semiconductors illus-
trates just how successful, and how disastrous, these policies have
been, as demonstrated in the first chart on the left.

[A chart follows:]
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Mr. Sporck. Imports from Japan in 1981 climbed to nearly $400
million, while exports to Japan remained flat. This represents a
complete reversal of our trade position with Japan. This does not
represent a lack of our competitiveness. Im Europe, the United
States, and in other markets, we are highly successful. In Japan,
industry and government are content to have a buy-Japan policy.
This is not a cultural question. It is protectionism.

If allowed to compete on fair and equal terms with our foreign
counterparts, there can be no doubt of our industry’s ability to
maintain our long-term leadership position. We are cost competi-
tive, and we are world leaders in technological innovation. But gov-
ernment support and easy access to low-cost capital allow Japanese
producers to sell key commodity products in our market at very
low prices, sometimes below the cost of production. The conse-
quences in terms of price and market share are disastrous.

Semiconductor prices until very recently have followed a tradi-
tional learning curve pattern, with price declining steadily over
time, as output expands and efficiency is achieved through experi-
ence. Our price per bit of memory has declined at a classic rate of
about 30 percent for each doubling of production volume, tracing a
very steady, healthy downward slope. A more dramatic way of put-
ting it is that between 1973 and 1981 we succeeded in reducing our
cost per RAM [random access memory] bit by about 97 percent.

When the Japanese entered the 64K RAM market in October of
1980, our price curve dropped from a 30-percent to an 8l-percent
decline rate. During 1981, the price of the 64K RAM fell from $25
or $30 per device to about $6. The result of this dislocation in
learning curve pricing will cost the industry billions of dollars in
revenue, profits which are vitally needed to finance growth. That is
demonstrated in the second chart.

[A chart follows:]
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Mr. Sporck. Competitiveness and flexibility can only take us so
far. The continued viability of the U.S. semiconductor industry
hinges on the openness of international markets to our companies
and their products. Foreign markets account for half of the total
value of semiconductors consumed worldwide. We need the volume
represented by those markets in order tc generate the funds we
need for investment, research and development.

The semiconductor industry, like all high technology industries,
requires enormous investments in capital equipment and research
and development. With world demand for semiconductors growing
at an annual rate of 25 percent, we need capital to expand produc-
tion facilities. More importantly, as our production technology
changes, equipment becomes obsolete at a rapid rate, and our pro-
duction process is becoming increasingly capital intensive. Integrat-
ed circuit producers spend an average of 28 percent of sales on in-
vestment in equipment and research and development, compared
to 7 precent for U.S. industry as a whole.

Our Sproduct designs change rapidly and our products have short
lives. Since 1960, the basic process technology has undergone 19
separate design changes. We must invest a constant and substan-
tial stream of capital in research and develepment of next-genera-
tion products. We estimate that U.S. producers will have to invest
over $100 million per firm on research and development and pro-
duction facilities to produce the 64K RAM, and $105 to $200 mil-
lion per firm for the 256K RAM.

Where there is an enormous need for capital for both growth in
expenditure on equipment and on R. & D, the critical determinant
in the competition between Japan and the United States is the
ability of each econcmy to provide the rapidly increasing amounts
that they require.

The most significant advantage of Japanese firms is the stable
availability of capital. As a result of extensive foreign government
intervention and national policies in the high technology area, Jap-
anese and other foreign firms have easy access to low-cost capital
and are taking advantage of it.

In addition to Government subsidization and financing of re-
search and development, foreign firms generally operate under a
debt-equity ratio much higher than U.S. firms. Japanese firms
have debt-equity ratios of 150 to 400 percent, compared to ratios of
5 to 25 percent for U.S. firms. This is a result of close cooperation
between the government and lending banks, the industrial group-
ings around large banks, and the fact that market rationalization
and oligopolization make Japanese firms a secure investment risk.
Stable access to capital allows Japanese firms to utilize longer
planning horizons, as they are not as dependent on short-term
earnings.

Japanese firms also enjoy access to cheaper capital. That puts
them in a superior competitive position due to the increasing con-
tribution of capital equipment to cost. While the cost of capital and
the rate of return are equal for U.S. firms, the rate of return is less
than the cost of capital in foreign markets. The American compa-
ny’s cost of capital is on average 17.5 percent, and their rate of
return marginally covers this high rate while the cost of capital to
Japanese firms is approximately 9.3 percent.
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The long run implications of the structural disadvantages under
which the American semiconductor companies are operating are
becoming clear. In the long term, this structural advantage, lower
cost of capital and current profit indifference, will work to the dis-
tinct disadvantage of American firms, jeopardizing their ability to
earn sufficient return to cover capital cost and therefore their abil-
ity to compete.

If we had full access abroad, we would not only share in the most
rapidly growing markets, but we would limit the ability of foreign
producers to depress prices artificially during recessions in order to
gain market share in our home markets.

In order to achieve progress in this area, the United States must
adopt a comprehensive approach, focused on the whole complex of
trade and investment problems peculiar to high technology. The
High Technology Trade Act provides that approach.

Its goal is to obtain maximum openness of international markets
to high technology trade and investment through negotiated agree-
ments directed at eliminating existing barriers. It has as its objec-
tive that U.S. companies exporting to or investing in foreign coun-
tries will receive national treatment.

The bill would also establish a monitoring system to measure the
degree of openness of foreign markets, and would strengthen the
international trading system through more rigorous use of existing
procedures under U.S. laws and trade agreements.

The U.S. semiconductor industry has proven, with each genera-
tion of new products, its ability to innovate in both process and
product design. We will continue to take whatever measures are
necessary to maintain that innovative capability. The U.S. semicon-
ductor industry is dedicated to the high road of a free and fair
trade policy. We challenge our trading partners around the world
to adopt that same policy.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Thank you, sir. Thank you, Mr. Sporck.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF CHARLES E. SPORCK ON BEHALF OF THE SEMICONDUCTOR INDUSTRY
ASSOCIATION

Mr. Chairman, I am here today to address the problems that H.R. 6433, and H.R.
6436, the High Technology Trade Act of 1982, are designed to deal with. The semi-
conductor industry—and the high technology industries as a group—are the best ex-
amples of industries affected by the panoply of new trade and investment barriers
the bill addresses. It is vitally important that you enact trade legislation this year
which will result in a major opening of world markets to our products, and will
eliminate distortions in our home market due to unfair trade practices.

Having recognized the critical value of their high technol industries, foreign
governments are increasingly adopting narrow nationalistic policies and employing
tariff and nontariff barriers and other trade-distorting measures in order to insulate
their industries from foreign competition and expand their world market shares.
With the United States as the most prominent exception, governments around the
world are supporting their semiconductor and microelectronics-based industries as a
national priority. They have adopted national policies and programs designed to
provide a special economic environment beyond the benefits free market forces
wouid generate. They seek to give their industries a competitive edge in the world
market. )

What is disturbing about this challenge is not the competition itself. This industry
thrives on competition. What is disturbing is that ultimately we won’t be able to
compete successfully unless the gap is narrowed between the deliberately support-
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ive, closed economic environment provided abroad and the environment existing in
the United States.

This does not mean that the United States should set itself as the sole judge of
the balance or prior agreements, unilaterally restructuring commitments, or that
we should make excessive use of the renegotiation provisions of the GATT. We must
build upon the GATT framework; not tear it down. But we can make an independ-
ent assessment of our national commercial interests. We can set priorities, seek new
negotiations, and utilize existing rights aggressively.

In order to achieve an effective solution, the United States must adopt a compre-
hensive approach, focused on the whole complex of trade and investment problems
peculiar to high technology and directed at ensuring open international markets for
our products and investments. The United States has traditionally been reluctant to
engage in sectoral trade negotiations out of a concern that this approach would
favor one sector of the economy over another; a decision that the market—not the
government should make.

There are strong reasons, however, why singling out high technology for a special
focus should not meet with “sectoral legislation” objections—reasons why a special-
ized approach offers the only hope of a satisfactory solution.

First, high technology is not just another significant product sector. Defined by
input rather than product, it parameters cut across other product sectors and will
shift with time to encompass any product highly dependent on extensive research
and development and constant innovativeness. These are the products generally in
the forefront in determining any nation’s industrial strength and future competi-
tiveness. Singling out high technology trade problems for a special focus is quite dif-
ferent from sectoral negotiations on a purely product-specific basis.

Secondly, our motivations are not typical of industry sectors seeking government
assistance. We are not asking for protectionist legislation. The United States high
technology industries are highly competitive, and are asking only that the govern-
ment uphold our right to compete in an open international system. Our ultimate
objective is the dismnantling of the market barriers that prevent us from exploiting
our competitive advantage.

Moreover, unlike most sectoral trade problems, we are not dealing here with the
familiar situation of foreign government protection of infant or ailing industries in
response to domestic economic and political pressures. Qur trading partners are pro-
tecting and promoting their highly competitive high technology industries with the
intention of taking advantage of tl)m’e open U.S. market by expanding exports from a
sector insulated from foreign competition.

Thirdly, high technology industries merit special treatment because of their
unique and substantial current benefit to society, and their enormous potential
benefit. The importance of their products to every nation’s industrial base, national
defense and economic health, to international technological progress, and to the free
international flow of information, is rivaled by no other group of industries. By defi-
nition, these are the industries investing most heavily in research and development
and are the most progressive and highly innovative. }i'hese are the products and in-
dustries on the frontier of technological progress in a range of areas and product

sectors.

Finally, high technology industries are particularly vulnerable to, and are certain-
ly the most dramatic victims of, the new forms of market barriers that are threaten-
ing to undermine the progress we have achieved to date in forming an open interna-
tional trading system.

Mechanisms to cope with problems of international trade and investment under
existing U.S. law and international agreements do not provide an acceptable frame-
work. This is a new problem. We need an affirmative legislative response; a re-
sponse that is tailored to the problem—the distorting effects of foreign industrial
policies and other foreign government policies and practices.

The barriers which limit our ability to export to and invest in foreign markets,
and which allow foreign industries to win large market shares in the United States
are diverse and pervasive. High technology products are by definition new and con-
stantly changing. The crippling effects of current foreign government policies will
be felt in the future, and are neither fully apparent nor quantifiable in the present.

It is essential that procedures be provided by statute to analyze foreign industrial
policies and their effects, to identify foreign market barriers, to establish national
griorities, and to find solutions to obtain additional market access and national

reatment.

The High Technology Trade Act of 1982—H.R. 6433 and H.R. 6436—as introduced
on May 20 by Chairman Gibbons, Representative Stark and others, contains the cru-
cial elements of a successful solution, and we urge that it be enacted in its current
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form. It provides a political mandate and legal authority for negotiations to obtain:
maximum openness of international markets to high technology trade and invest-
ment; the elimination or reduction of trade-distorting foreign government interven-
tion; an end to public and private discriminatory procurement policies; the reduc-
tion or elimination of tariff and other nontariff barriers to high technology trade
and investment; and foreign government commitments to provide national treat-
ment.

It authorizes the President to modify duty or duty-free treatment, and to use ex-
isting procedures to change U.S. law in order to carry out negotiated agreements.

It establishes a procedure whereby the President will review annually whether
key countries are acting to accord our firms national treatment, and ensures that
consultations will ensue and other responsive actions will be taken, with regard to
any country that is recalcitrant.

e bill provides for an annual review and analysis of trade and investment-dis-
torting foreign industrial policies and other foreign government measures such as
subsidization, toleration of anticompetitive practices and other measures which
impair access to foreign markets. In order to achieve maximum openness of interna-
tional trade and investment in this area, such an ongoing review of foreign meas-
ures—not triggered by individual petitions—is critical.

Equally vital, the bill will establish a mechanism to identify and measure the
openness of foreign markets. This mechanism will analyze trade and investment
flows, competitive conditions in foreign markets, and the extent of foreign govern-
ment intervention in those markets.

Finally, H.R. 6433 and H.R. 6436 enhance the President’s ability to respond to for-
eign government practices which affect investment, by amending Section 301 of the
Trade Act of 1974,

The High Technology Trade Act contains the requisite components of an interna-
tionally responsible and effective United States response to the new market barriers
confronting us. It provides the framework for the focus of government attention and
the convergence of government efforts necessary to open world markets to interna-
tional high technology trade and investment.

This framework is, moreover, consistent with the international obligations of the
United States, and should raise none of the questions generated by proposed “reci-
procity” legislation. The High Technology Trade Act calls for no bilateral balancing
of market opportunities. Its focus is on the obtaining of national treatment abroad
for U.S. firms. It provides no new retaliatory authority, relying instead on more vig-
orous use of existing rights under U.S. law and international agreements.

Our industry is highly competitive. If aliowed to compete on fair and equal terms
with our foreign counterparts, there can be no doubt of our ability to maintain the
leadership position we have occupied since our industry’s inception. We are cost-
competitive, and we are competitive in technological innovation.

Semiconductor prices until very recently have followed a traditional learning
curve pattern, with prices declining steadily over time, as output expands and effi-
ciency is achieved through experience. In the earliest developmental and production
states of a device, yield ratios are typically low and unit prices high. Prices fall rap-
idly in the early years of commercial production, and then decline more slowly as
the market matures, unit costs fall less rapidly, and competition drives prices down.
Our price per bit for memories has declined at a classic rate of about 30 percent for
each doubling of production volume, tracing a very steady, health, 70-percent down-
ward slope. A more dramatic way of putting it is that between 1973 and 1981, we
succeeded in reducing our cost per RAM bit by about 97 percent. The rate of infla-
tion in the U.S. economy dramatizes the counter-inflationary trend in semiconduc-
toxf:l prices. Even in the worst of times, our performance has contributed to fighting
inflation.

Our productivity record, as measured by the value added per employee, is spectac-
ular. While productivity of the U.S. economy as a whole stagnated during the late
seventies, productivity in the semiconductor industry increased at an annual rate of
over 22 percent.

The technological competitiveness of our industry—our rate of innovation—is re-
vealed by the rate at which we have introduced new products. Since 1971 U.S. man-
ufacturers have prodtuced four successivigenerations of computer memory devices.
The U.S. industry leaders have succeeded in quadrupling memory capacity about
every 2 or 2% years.

Our competitiveness is one pillar supporting our demand for open and fair inter-
Eationai trade and investment. The other pillar is our need for access to global mar-

ets.
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The continued viability of the United States semiconductor industry hinges on the
openness of international markets to our companies and their products. The focus of
our production and marketing is of necessi% on the global market, and maximum
access to that market is absolutely crucial. We need open international markets be-
cause ¢~ .ne size and distribution of the world market, because of the nature of our
producuon process, and most importantly, because of the available economies of
scale and our need for investment capital.

Foreign markets account for half the total value of semiconductors consumed
worldwide. This fact alone underscores the importance of these markets for Ameri-
can firms. Of total Worldwide consumption of $15 billion in 1981, moge than half—
$9 billion—represents foreign markets. We need the volume represented by those
markets in order to stageon the learning curve and capture cost efficiencies. There
is a direct relationship between production volume and average price for successive
generations of random access memories,

It is our process innovation and product development that established us as world
leaders in this area and has allowed us to maintain that position. To stay on the
forefront requires enormous research and development and investment expendi-
tures. With world demand for semiconductors growing at an annual rate of 25 per-
cent, we need capital to expand production facilities. More importantly, our produc-
tion technology changes and equipment becomes obsolete at a rapid rate, Qur aver-
age age of installed equipment declined 25 percent between 1975 and 1979 to 4.4
years. Our production process is becoming increasingly capital-intensive. Gross
plant and equipment expenditures per employee were about $11,000 in 1976, and
rose to $15,000 in 1979, despite significant increases in industry employment. The
Joint Economic Committee study published in February reported that in an effort to
prepare for 64K RAM production, the top ten Japanese producers spent $775 million
in 1980 on plant and equipment—1T7 or 18 percent of sales, while the top 10 U.S.
producers spent $1.2 billion—more than 20 percent of sales. Integrated circuit pro-
ducers spend an average of 28 percent of receipts on investment in equipment, re-
search and development, compared to 7 percent for U.S. industry as a whole.

To remain competitive in an industry where sales are concentrated in the most
advanced products means that we must invest a constant and substantial stream of
capital in research and development of next generation products. If we do not, our
leadership position will be short-lived. ComBared to an average investment by U.S.
industry as a whole of 3 percent of sales, U.S. semiconductor producers currently
invest an average of 9 percent of their revenues in research and development. We
estimate that U.S. producers will have to invest over $100 million per firm on re-
search and development and production facilities to produce the 64K RAM, and
$150 to $200 million per firm for the 256K RAM.

Other governments have obviously understood the direct relationship between
market share and research and development. It is the fundamental proposition on
which they have formulated their policies of promoting and funding research and
development and protecting their domestic industries. Foreign government efforts
have been concentrated in memories—the fastest growing segment of the market.
This is the segment which has historically generated technology and production ex-
perience and the profits which have benefited a broader range of products.

Where there is an enormous need for capital for both growth in expenditure on
equipment and on R&D, the critical determinant in the competition between Japan
and the United States is the ability of each economy to provide the rapidly increas-
ing amounts that are required.

e most significant Japanese advantage is the stable availability of capital. As a
result of extensive foreign government intervention and national policies in the
high technology area, Japanese and other foreign firms have easy access to low-cost
capital and are taking advantage of it.

n addition to government subsidization and financing of research and develop-
ment, foreign firms generally operate under a debt-equity ratio much higher than
U.S. firms. Japanese firms have debt-equity ratios of 150 to 400 percent, compared
to ratios of 5 to 25 percent for U.S. firms. This is a result of close cooperation be-
tween the government and lending ban..s, the industrial %roupings around large
banks, and the fact that market rationalization and oligopolization make Japanese
firms a secure investment risk. Stable access to capital allows Japanese firms to uti-
lize longer planning horizons, as they are not dependent on short-term earnings.

Japanese firms enjoy access to cheaper capital. That puts them in a superior
comfetitive position due to the increasing contribution of capital equipment to cost.
While the cost of capital and the rate of return are equal for U.S. firms, the rate of
return is less than the cost of capital in foreign markets. The American company’s
cost of capital is on average 17.5 percent, and its rate of return marginally covers
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this high rate, while the cost of capital to Japanese firms is approximately 9.3 per-
cent.

The long-run implications of the structural disadvantages under which American
semiconductor companies are operating are becoming clear. In the long term, this
structural advantage—lower cost of capital and current profit indifference—will
work to the distinct disadvantage of American firms, jeopardizing their ability to
earn sufficient return to cover capital costs, and therefore their ability to compete.

If foreign government policies and practices continue to deny U.S. access to world
markets, the result will gg a loss of technological superiority over a whole range of
products. The Japanese market alone could amount to 35 to 40 percent of world
demand. If that market remains substantially closed, our Japanese competitors,
backed by government support, will benefit through lower cost due to experience at
a much faster rate than our firms, while denying us access to the market we need to
match them.

We are highly competitive, but we need world markets in order to remain compet-
itive. The problem is that we are increasingly being denied access to those markets.
Foreign governments have recognized the importance of high technology industries
to their national economies, their defense, and to their international competitive-
ness across a broad range of product sectors, They are increasingly promoting those
industries through such measures as subsidization, tax incentives, and government-
sponsored cooperation in production and research, while protecting them from for-
eign competition through a variety of tariff and nontariff bariiers, investment per-
formance requirements, denial of national treatment, toleration of restrictive busi-
ness practices, and other trade-distorting measures. The market for integrated cir-
cuits and their end use products such as computers, telecommunication equipment,
industrial automation equipment and consumer products, are the most dramatic
targets of such government policies.

Japan is currently the major source of friction. As far back as the early 1960’s,
the potential and value of microelectronics was recognized by the Japanese govern-
ment, and it became one of several “target” industries—an evolution of the “infant
industry” philosophy. The focus was on limiting foreign competition through block-
ing foreign investments, and acquiring foreign technology.

As recently as 1978, the “Buy Japan” philosophy was further strengthened by the
enactment of Public Law No. 84—designed to assist industry in the development of
products selected by the Japanese government in the categories of electronic de-
vices, electronic computers, and computer software.

As part of this national policy aimed at promoting its high technology industries,
attention is currently focused on the semiconductor industry, where the government
coordinates a joint government-industry effort to improve the Japanese capacity in
the greatest-volume, fastest-growing sector of the market. This effort is specifically
geared to overtaking the U.S. lead in that sector, and emphasizes in particular the
development and commercial application of state-of-the-art and next generation
technologies.

The European Community is developing a program of coordinated research,
design and production, focused on microelectronics and aimed at achieving a unified
European market and expanding its world market share. Individual European gov-
ernments have targeted certain key industries like microelectronics, computer
equipment, telecommunications, and bioengineering, and have launched what have
been described as “‘some of the grandest industrial-aid programs since World War
IL” They are providing these industries with very high levels of funding for re-
search and development, are tolerating and even encouraging anticompetitive be-
havior, are providing tax incentives such as credits for research and high depreci-
ation rates for research facilities, and are restricting foreign exports and investment
in their markets by discriminatory procurement policies, performance requirements,
and other measures.

Nor is the problem limited to developed countries. The advanced developing coun-
tries—particularly Mexico and Brazil—are adopting similar policies. Brazil seeks to
achieve the overall objectives of its National Development Plan by increasing its
technological capabilities. The Brazilian Government is intervenin‘g in the interna-
tional flow of technology for its national purposes by preventing foreign participa-
tion that might represent a competitive threat, while pressuring foreign firms to
share advanced technology. These efforts are coordinated with a high level of gov-
ernment intervention aimed at strengthening the Brazilian industry, in the form of
funding, tax breaks, technical assistance, dissemination of technological informa-
tion, and formulation of R. & D. programs. Central to the effort to strengthen the
indigenous technologiQal capability of its industry is the Brazilian government’s con-
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ditioning of foreign investment in industries like computers on the introduction
over time of increased levels of Brazilian content.

Foreign industrial policies are implemented not only through raising obstacles to
imports, There are also serious consequences in terms of exports to our market.
Shortly after the Japanese entered the market for the 16K RAM in mid-1977, the
price curve dropped noticeably. Then in October of 1980, when they entered the 64K
RAM market, that price curve dropped radically to a 19 percent slope, and price
competition forced 16K RAM prices down. During 1981 the price of the 6dK RAM
fell from $25 to $30 per device to about $6. At those prices, U.S. companies are ab-
sorbing losses, and we are seriously questioning our ability to maintain adequate
levels of investment. This dislocation of traditional learning curve pricing will cost
the industry billions of dollars.

The consequences in terms of market share are equally disturbing. We remain
unable to exploit the volume potential of foreign markets. Our largest potential for-
eign market remains substantially closed to us. A Joint Economic Committee Study
published this February concluded that the Japanese market for semiconductors has
an oligopolistic structure and does not function as an open market. The Government
of Japan tolerates and even encourages the formation of cartels that result in these
o}lligopolistic policies. Japanese Public Law 84 of 1978 provides the statutory basis for
this system.

The United States-Japan trade balance for semiconductors illustrates just how
great, and how disastrous, these policies have been. Imports from Japan in 1981
climbed to nearly $400 million, while exports to Japan remained flat. This repre-
sents a complete reversal of our trade position with Japan. In Europe, the United
States, and in other markets, we are highly competitive and highly successful. Japa-
nese industry and government are content to have a Buy-Japan policy at home. This
is not a cultural question. It is protectionism. These protectionist policies are pre-
venting us from penetrating their home markets, while providing them the spring-
board for extensive penetration and disruption of our market.

Remaining passive will not preserve the status quo. The openness of markets is
eroded whenever international rules are unclear or do not apply. That is why we
are here today, asking that Congress pass trade legislation—not to retaliate against
foreign practices, but to set national trade priorities, to examine foreign practices
and their impact on our industrial base, and to give the President a badly-needed
mandate to find solutions.

The U.S. semiconductor industry will continue to provide world markets with in-
novative, cost-effective, high-quality products. We will continue to invest in the re-
search and development necessary to maintain our technological leadership. We will
continue to invest in new plants and equipment to provide the capacity necessary to
meet the growing demand for our products. We are dedicated to being cost competi-
tive with suppliers from around the world and to providing products with quality
second to none. The U.S. semiconductor industry has proven, with each generation
of new products, its ability to innovate in both process and product design. We will
continue to take whatever measures are necessary to maintain that innovative ca-
pability. The U.S. semiconductor industry is dedicated to the high road of a free and
fair trade policy. We challenge our trading partners to adopt that same policy.

Chairman GiBBONs. Qur next witness is Mr. McDonell.

STATEMENT GF HORACE G. McDONELL, JR., PRESIDENT, PERKIN-
ELMER CORP.

Mr. McDoNELL. Yes. Good afternoon. I am Horace G. McDonell,
president of the Perkin-Elmer Corp. of Norwalk, Conn.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this opportunity to testify before
your committee.

Perkin-Elmer, with sales of $1 billion, is very much a part of the
high-technology sector of U.S. industry, which is the subject of this
afternoon’s hearing. We are the largest supplier of projection
equipment to semiconductor manufacturers throughout the world.

In addition, as suppliers of minicomputers and laboratory and
analytical instruments, we are involved with state-of-the-art appli-
cations of microprocessors.
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Forty-five percent of my company’s business is sold outside the
United States, and we are therefore staunch supporters of interna-
tional trade. I have been personally involved in such trade with
both Europe and Japan as well as the rest of the world for more
than 15 years.

Today, I believe there is a real and present danger that the U.S.
semiconductor industry will lose its world leadership and a sub-
stantial share of its home market to its Japanese counterpart, pos-
sibly in the next few years.

The seriousness of this threat to U.S. economic well-being in gen-
eral can only be understood when we contemplate the ripple effect
of such a loss on the computer industry, the telecommunications
industry, and a host of other smaller industries ranging from scien-
tific instruments to television games, which in their composite we
call electronics.

All of these industries are built upon the same foundation tech-
nology, the modern semiconductor.

That this danger is real and present has been illustrated by the
entry of Japanese companies into the U.S. market for semiconduc-
tor memories and their capture of more than 70 percent of the 64K
RAM market within 18 months of shipping their first product.

It can happen, and there is considerable evidence to the effect
that it is happening. We can argue whether the evidence is conclu-
sive or not, but I hope you will agree that the United States cannot
afford to let this happen.

The question I wish to address is, what is to be done?

First of all, the Federal Government has to help. There are many
reasons behind the emergence of Japan as an economic power to be
reckoned with, but threaded through most of them is the active in-
volvement and support of the Japanese Government. Only recently
has the United States heen awakened to the great cultural differ-
ences in business-government relationships in Japan as opposed to
the United States, and this difference has worked to the great ad-
vantage of Japanese business and to the disadvantage of the U.S.
economy.

The United States must get its act together; Government and
business must cooperate.

Many of us who have worked actively in United States-Japanese
trade over these last 20 years have grown impatient with attempts
to define, much less to solve, serious trade problems with diplomat-
ic and legal language according to narrow definitions and in judi-
cial-like proceedings.

There is an $18 billion a year trade imbalance between Japan
and the United States. This imbalance is wiping out major seg-
ments of the United States economy and it is getting worse each
year. It has to be brought back to within reasonable boundaries
and kept there, otherwise such trade simply cannot continue.
Trade is, after all, business. Trade problems must be addressed like
business problems, by establishing goals and then managing toward
those goals. Instead of squabbling about GATT violations, subsidies,
dumping and nontariff barriers, we should be negotiating with the
Japanese as to acceptable goals in the volume and balance of our
trade together. We should be working to increase, not to decrease,
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the volume of trade, but we must find a more effective means of
assuring a reasonable balance of trade.

Management of United States-Japanese trade is not working. It
is generating unacceptalle results.

We are failing ber. 3e we are trying to manage that trade
through the applicat . of a uniform or “fair” set of rules, but we
are finding that the rules do not work the same way in two soci-
eties that are inherently different. You have heard all of these dif-
ferences before. Usually in the context of one or the other side’s
cheating on the rules.

Let us try to remove the accusatory overtones on the subject and
acciapt the fact that the societies and their economies work differ-
ently.

After all, this is America, home of pragmatism and its most
direct progeny—management science. Consider these observations,
and ask yourself “Are the same set of rules going to work equally
in both places?”’

Japanese industry and its workers enter “lifetime commitments”
at the time of empioyment, while U.S. workers and companies view
‘“a job” as a much more expedient relationship.

Japanese industry runs mostly on debt capital, while U.S. compa-
nies run mostly on equity.

3 Interest costs in the United States are three times those in
apan.

Financial institutions—on which U.S. industry is dependent for
its capital—consider that U.S. companies that do not earn 5 per-
cent of sales after tax are underachievers. In Japan, 1 to 2 percent
is considered the acceptable norm.

Entrepreneurial drive is a major thrust behind U.S. industrial
expansion, particularly the high-technology component, while
thrift and planned capital mobility have characterized Japanese
success.

U.S. managers are held accountable on a “quarter by quarter”
basis, while Japanese managerial horizons are over a period of
years.

Engineering and science are popular career choices for Japanese
students, while law and humanities are favored by more in the
United States

Japanese unions “cooperate” with corporate management, while
U.S. unions and management do not.

The U.S. consumer “likes” foreign goods, like Mercedes cars and
Sony TV’s, while the Japanese consumer thinks it is unpatriotic to
buly a foreign rather than a Japanese product.

s it surprising that attempts to apply the same rules in the face
of these and many other cultural differences have led to defensive
rationalization and squabbling? The quasi-judicial environment
within which such squabbies are resolved has so slowed the pace of
adjudication that U.%. industrial participants have lost faith in the
system completely.

Rather than continuing our attempts to “tweak the rules,” or
change the culture of a sovereign foreign nation, I propose a more
pragmatic approach. A far more tractable system for the manage-
ment of bilateral trade would be to manage the results. Every busi-
nessman does the same. In the pinch, the United States and Japa-
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nese Governments were forced to treat the automobile problem
that way on an ad hoc basis.

I am suggesting that we establish with the Japanese an expan-
sionist trade program, with explicit goals for the volume and bal-
ance of trade. The goals should be set so as to require the commit-
ment of both governments to cooperate with their own industries
on the import, as well as the export, components of that trade. we
should use the expansionist character of the trading relationship *-
narrow the deficit the United States is now running. After all, the
Jqlplanese will be far more effective at opening that market than we
will.

I think we must give some attention to industry sector goals, and
performance, but the sectors cannot be independent of overall
trade performance any more than those sectors are independent of
their home economy. Any effective management system has to
have considerable give and take.

I have avoided up to now any mention of a word that has taken
on incendiary connotations. In Japanese eyes, the word “reciproc-
ity” has come to mean a return of America to the protectionist
trade policies of the 1930’s. For that reason, I propose that we
eschew its further use. What we are seeking is not protectionism,
but a balanced, fair, and expansionist trade relationship with
Japan. Nevertheless, I am convinced that the alternative is no
trade with Japan.

We cannot go on letting our industries be overrun one at a time.
As with Japanese agriculture, the social cost is simply too high.

We need legisiation that will empower our President to limit
access to the U.S. market on the part of trading partners with
whom we cannot establish equitable trading relationships. Such
powers ought to be granted by Congress in the context of free trade
and expansionist goals. We want the Japanese to feel, as we want
our other trading partners to feel, that we wish tc continue to do
business together. However, it must also be understood that we
cannot continue the way we are going. If our economies are to
eXf)and together in the future, we had better start managing for re-
sults.

In concluding my remarks today, I would like to urge your favor-
able consideration of the High Technology Trade Act of 1982. I do
su on behalf of Perkin-Elmer and the Scientific Apparatus Makers
Association, or SAMA, as it is called. This trade asscciation has 200
member-companies who are suppliers of high technology scientific
and industrial instrumentation.

I would like to thank you for this opportunity to speak on an
issue of crucial importance to the United States.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Thomas?

STATEMENT OF ROWLAND H. THOMAS, JR., VICE PRESIDENT,
AMERICAS/FAR £AST, DATA GENERAL CORP., ON BEHALF OF
THE AMERICAN ELECTRONICS ASSGCIATION

Mr. THoMAs. Than} you, Mr. Chairman.
My name is Rowls d Thiomas. I am vice president, Americas/Far
East of Data Gene. 1 Jorp.,, based in Westborough, Mass. Data



138

General is one of the world’s leading suppliers of small computers
and related equipment and services.

I am appearing before you today on behalf of the American Eiec-
tronics Association. AEA is a trade association of more than 1,900
electronics companies in 43 States, mostly small businesses employ-
ing fewer than 200 people.

First, Mr. Chairman, I want to express AEA’s appreciation for
the leadership you and the members of this subcommittee have
shown in focusing Congress attention on the problems U.S. firms
face abroad. We welcome this opportunity to testify in support of
assisting our U.S. Trade Representative in reducing barriers
abroad to U.S. exports of products, services, and to foreign invest-
ment.

AEA has analyzed carefully the bills introduced by members of
this subcommittee and Congress. We believe now is the time for
the United States to do all it can to resist protectionism here and
overseas by working to shore up the GATT system of international
rules to cover foreign investment and services. By initiating and
passing appropriate legislation, Congress can provide our negotia-
tors the statutory backup and policy guidance they need to be suc-
cessful in this critical endeavor.

We think it is important that any legislation in this area: Be con-
sistent with the letter and spirit of the GATT system and the U.S.
obligations thereunder; mandate and authorize the President to ne-
gotiate bilateral and multilateral treaties covering foreign direct
investment and trade in services; expand the authority of the
President under section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 to respond to
foreign barriers to U.S. foreign direct investment; call on the Trade
Representative and the Secretary of Commerce to inventory for-
eign nontariff barriers to U.S. products, services, and investments;
require reports to Congress on the steps planned or taken to have
these barriers reduced or eliminated; and provide special attention
for the high-technology sector.

Several bills before this subcommittee meet some of these objec-
tives and principles. AEA is pleased that Messrs. Shannon, Gib-
bons, Guarini, and Matsui have introduced H.R. 6433, which ad-
dresses all of them. We urge this subcommittee to report out a bill
whose provisions contain these elements. It will thereby assist our
Trade Representative in reducing barriers abroad to U.S. products,
services, and foreign investment, and will alleviate the growing
pressure in Congress to enact new protectionist and other GATT-
inconsistent trade laws.

Let me elaborate on these objectives:

If we examine our trade performance over the last two decades,
it is clear that our R. & D.-intensive, high-technology industries are
performing extremely well in holding up the U.S. balance of trade.

The United States has a distinct comparative advantage in high
technology manufactured products and related services. Many
countries, industrialized as well as developing, want to have their
own high technology industries because of the benefits the United
States now reaps from them: new and better jobs, increased produc-
tivity, greater income, and the better standard of living which re-
sults. Consequently, many governments have targeted this sector
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for intervention via industrial policies, combining protection, and
active support.

We are pleased that Ambassador Brock intends to place this
sector on the agenda for the GATT ministerial talks. We believe
the provisions of I1.R. 6433, the High Techuciogy Trade Act of
1982, provides a comprehensive basis angd approach for negctiations
in this forum, or in other bilateral or multilateral talks with our
principal trading partners.

We are pleased to see this proposed legislation deals with the dif-
ficult area of foreign direct investment.

For the last several decades, the United States has led the way
in getting other countries to reduce their tariffs on U.S. product ex-
ports. As these tariff barriers have come down, however, new, more
subtle nontariff barriers have appeared.

Unfortunately, some of the most serious of the nontarif barriers
are ones which are not covered by any multilateral rules, namely
restrictions on foreign direct investment.

In our industry, to sell computer systems or other high technol-
ogy products to customers overseas, we must commit to provide
service and maintenance for the products we sell. We must be able
to establish local subsidiaries for these purposes. The ability to
invest in manufacturing, sales and service operations is a primary
vehicle of trade today. It is for this reason that we view investment
and trade: as two sides to the same coin.

For young companies such as ours, the most onerous of these in-
vestment barriers are restrictions on our ability to establish local,
majority owned, sales and service subsidiaries that we can manage
properly. In an increasing number of countries, we cannot now es-
tablish such subsidiaries unless we are willing to surrender major-
ity ownership to a local partner, and hence, our control over the
operations, and over our technology which we developed at great
expense.

There are a host of other restrictions on foreign direct invest-
ment, including requirements for export performance, local con-
tent, technology transfer, and so on. In combination, these restric-
tions make it unattractive for U.S. firms to invest. Unfortunately,
in many cases a decision not to meet these demands may deny a
U.S. firm from fully participating in these markets.

With these problems in mind, we support legislauon that would
mandate and authorize our negotiators to seek bilateral and multi-
lateral agreements to reduce the trade and capital flow distorting
effects of such investment restrictions.

We also support expanding the President’s authority to respond
under section 302 if such negotiations are unsuccessful and such
practices continue unjustifiably or unreasonable to burden, restrict
or discriminate against U.S. investment.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, any trade legislation which Congress
enacts must be consistent with the GATT.

Since the creation of the GATT, the United States has taken the
lead role in efforts to persuade our trading partners to adopt the
GATT’s basic multilateral principles of national and most-favored-
nation treatment, and thereby reduce world barriers to product ex-
ports. In asserting this leadership role, Congress has deliberately
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chosen to lead by example by passing trade laws to mirror those of
the GATT.

AEA believes it is vital for the United States not to abdicate this
leadership role. Any action that would compromise this role would
likely lead to greater barriers to our product exports. And chances
are good that our strongest, most competitive, exporters would be
the ones to bear the brunt of these new barriers.

The GATT currently provides for reciprocity under mutually
agreed procedures and rules. AEA supports that process. We would
thereby support legislation which would reinforce the U.S. commit-
ment to that process.

AEA opposes legislation that would allow unilateral retaliation
or require bilateral reciprocity for products trade outside the GATT
on an industry sector or product basis. Such legislation would
invite protectionism and retaliation here and abroad.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF RowLAND H. THOMAS, JR., VICE PRESIDENT, AMERICAS/FAR EaST,
DATA GENERAL CORP.

SUMMARY

Congress should enact legislation which would:

Be consistent with the letter and spirit of the GATT system and United States’
obligations thereunder.

andate and authorize the President to negotiate bilateral and multilateral trea-
ties covering foreign direct investment and trade in services.

Expand the authority of the President under Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974
to respond to foreign barriers to U.S. foreign direct investment.

Call on the Trade Representative and the Secretary of Commerce to compile an
inventory of foreign nontariff barriers to U.S. exports of products and services, and
foreign direct investment.

Require a periodic report to Congress by the Trade Representative and Secretary
of Commerce on the steps planned or taken to have these foreign barriers reduced
or eliminated.

Recommend special attention to be focused on the high technology sector.

STATEMENT

Mr. Chairman and members of this distinguished committee, my name is Row-
land H. Thomas, Jr., Vice President, Americas/Far East, of Data General Corp.,
based in Westborough, Mass. Data General is one of the world’s leading manufactur-
ers of small computers and related equipment and services. Founded just 14 years
agg, we now employ more than 14,000 peaple. Our sales in 1981 were $740 million—
about 35 percent of that from exports. We have grown at a rate of more than 35
g:rcent annually, largely because our products increase the productivity of our cus-

mers.

I am appearing before you this morning on behalf of the American Electronics
Association. AEA is a trade association of more than 1,900 electronics companies in
43 states. Our members manufacture electronic components and systems or supply
products and services in the information processing industries. OQur member compa-
nies are mostly small businesses currently employing fewer than 200 people.

U.S. exports of products manufactured and sold by AEA member companies have
continued to grow. Over the 6-month period of January through June 1980, there
was a total of $2.7 billion of exports of selected high technology products. This is an
increase of more than 25 l?ercent over the same period in 1979. While imports of
similar products into the United States also enjoyed a healthy growth, the ratio of
exgorts to imports remained at a high ratio of almost 3.5 to 1.

irst, Mr. Chairman, I want to express AEA's appreciation for the leadership you
and the members of the Subcommittee have shown in focusing Con ' attention
and concern on the problems U.S. firms face abroad. We welcome this opportunity
to testify in sugport of assisting the United States Trade Representative in reduciag
barriers abroad to U.3. exports of products, services and foreign investment. We be-
lieve that this country must be forthright and aggressive in pursuing our trade and
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investment interests and rights. This, coupled with the trade enhancing tax meas-
ures you passed last year, will go a long way toward insuring the future competi-
tiveness of U.S. electronics industries in world markets,

AFA believes that today we are at an important point of time for U.S. trade and
investment policy. Great pressure is being placed on the GATT system of interna-
tional trading rules because of what it does, and what it doesn't do. On the one
hand protectionist forces, pointing to the visible effects of the current worldwide re-
cession, are getting stronger both here in the United States and abroad. The politi-
cal pressure is real to raise new tariff and nontariff barriers to product exports, and
to reinforce exisiting ones. On the other hand, increased use of “industrial policies”
is resulting in protectionist mechanisms that are not covered by the GATT rules,
but which threaten to undo the significant progress made since GATT negotiations
began in 1948,

OBJECTIVES OF TRADE LEGISLATION

AEA has assessed these domestic and foreign political pressures, and analyzed
carefully the bills introduced by members of this Subcommittee and Congress. We
believe now is the time for the United States to do all it can to resist protectionism
here and overseas by working to shore up the GATT system and to expand the
system of international rules to cover foreign investment and services. By initiating
and passing appropriate legislation, Congress can address this dual threat to contin-
ued expansion of world markets by providing our negotiators the statutory backup
and policy guidance they need to be successful in this critical endeavor. We think it
is important that any legislation in this area:

Be consistent with the letter and spirit of the GATT system and U.S. obligations
thereunder.

Mandate and authorize the President to negotiate bilateral and multilateral trea-
ties coverinﬁ foreign direct investment and trade in services.

Expand the authority of the President under Section 30i of the Trade Act of 1974
to resrond to foreign barriers to U.S, foreign direct investment.

Call on the Trade Representative and the Secretary of Commerce to compile an
inventory of foreign non-tariff barriers to U.S. exports of products and services, and
foreign direct investment.

Require a periodic report to Congres: by the Trade Representative and Secretary
of Commerce on the steps planned or taken to have these foreign barriers reduced
or eliminated.

Provide essential special attention on the high technololgy sector.

Several bills before this Subcommittee, such as H.R. 5596 introduced by Mr. Fren-
zel, and H.R. 5457 sponsored by Mr. Brodhead, meet some of these objectives and
ﬁrinciples. AEA is pleased that Messrs. Shannon, Gibbons, Guarini, and Matsui

ave introduced H.R. 6433 which addresses all of them. We urge this Subcommittee
to report out a bill whose provisions contain these elements. It will thereby assist
our Trade Representative in reducing barriers abroad to U.S. products, services and
foreign investment. And by doing so it will alleviate the growing pressure in Con-
gress to enact new protectionist and other GATT-inconsistent trade laws.

Let me now discuss our reasoning in light of some of the major difficulties our
members increasingly face abroad.

HIGH TECHNOLOGY

If we examine our trade performance over the last two decades, it's clear that our
R&D intensive, high technology industries are performing well in holding up the
U.S. balance of trade. Our noon R&D intensive, less competitive industries are in
trouble, some partly because of foreign industrial policies tha* have targeted these
sectors for special attention.

The United States has a distinct comparative advantage in high technology manu-
factured products and related services. Unfortunately, nearly all countries, industri-
alized as well as the Less-Developed-Countries, want to have their own high technol-
ogy industries precisely because of the benefits the United States now reaps from
them: new and better jobs, increased productivity, greater income and the better
standard of living which results. Consequently, many governments have targeted
this sector for intervention via industrial policies, combining protectionism and
active support.

Our industries require a worldwide market in order to support the increasingl{
expensive R&D and capital investments needed to stay in the forefront of technol-
ogy and meet customer needs. The United States n sto be essive on efforts
to keep these markets open to competition based on price and quality, other than on
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national origin. If the United States does not, we run the risk of losing the enor-
mous benefits that our technologies can bring to the United States and to other
countries. In our industry, we're only seeing the crudest beginnings of what can be
accomplished to improve productivity and raise the world’s standard of living. We
are pleased that Ambassador Brock intends to place the sector on the agenda for
the GATT Ministerial talks. We believe that the provisions of H.R. 6433, the “High
Technology Trade Act of 1982”, provides a comprehensive basis and approach for
negotiations in this forum or in other bilateral or multilateral talks with our princi-
pal trading partners.

FOREIGN INVESTMENT BARRIERS

For the last several decades, the United States has led the way in getting other
countries to reduce their tariff barriers to U.S. product exports. As these feasible
tariff barriers have come down, however, new, more subtle non-tariff barriers ap-
peared. While the Tokyo Round MTN agreements addressed some of these non-tariff
barriers, many remain.

Unfortunately, some of the most serious of the non-tariff barriers are ones which
are not covered by any multilateral rules, namely restrictions on foreign direct in-
vestment. This situation has been in part caused and compounded by two factors.

One, U.S. international investment policy has been neutral. That is, U.S. policy
has been one of neither encouraging nor discouraging flows of direct foreign invest-
ments, and Congress has chosen to lead by example and by avoiding barriers to for-
eign direct investment in the United States. Unfortunately, we haven't coupled this
exemplary role with aggressive efforts to see that it is followed by others. At the
same time, our negotiators’ attention has been focused on efforts to reduce barriers
to products trade under the GATT.

This neutral and passive policy has been undergoing review and consideration by
the Executive Branch, and we are encouraged by actions which signal its increased
priority status on the United States Trade Representative’s agenda.

Two, the public discussion of this issue is quite sensitive for U.S. firms. Companies
do not complain openly because they fear retribution. For years they have had to
grapple with investment restrictions on their own, due in large measure to the lack
of an aggressive U.S. policy. In some countries, firms have been able to negotiate
agreements, often skewed in favor of the host nation, but which at least give them
some limited access. These arrangments are something less than secure and subject
to change at any moment. Because they are so tenuous, most firms are understand-
ab}y e(1ieticent; to be identified publicly with any criticism of the governments in-
volved.

But that's not because the problem is not wide spread. It is. Restrictions on for-
eign direct investment are formidable, especially for the smaller firm.

In our industry in order to sell computer systems or other high technology prod-
ucts to customers overseas there must be a commitment—made by us—to provide
service and maintenance for the products we sell. We must have the ability to estab-
lish local subsidiaries for these purposes. It is for this reason that we view invest-
ment and trade as two sides to the same coin. Their interaction is vital since they
provide mutual support for each other in world competition. The ability to invest in
manufacturing, sales and service operations is a primary vehicle of trade today.

For young companies such as ours, the most onerous of these are restrictions on
our ability to establish local, majority owned sales and service subsidiaries that we
can manage properly. In an increasing number of countries, we cannot now estab-
lish such subsidiaries unless we are willing to surrender majority ownership to a
local partner, and hence, our control over the operations, and over our technology
which we developed at great expense. The ability of an American company to take
advantage of business opportunities in a rational and timely way is limited if it has
approval for such actions. The majority owner may have no interest in our knowl-
edge of the business and may be unable o appreciate the dynamics of the situation
as they arise.

There are a host of other restrictions on foreign direct investment, including
export performance requirements, demands that a certain percentage of the final
product contain materials or technology that is “sourced” locally, requirements that
the foreign firm transfer the technology or “knowhow” either immediately or after
a certain period of time, requirements for local training and conduct of R&D within
the host country, and so on. In combination, these restrictions make it unattractive
for U.S. firms to invest. Unfortunately, in may cases a decision not to meet these
demands may deny a U.S. firm from fully participating in these markets.
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Mr. Chairman, companies such as ours are not out simply to take advantage of an
economy, and then exit without leaving anything behind. We are interested in com-
plete, long term involvement in those economies, which means realistically contrib-
uting to the local infrastructure and technology base. But these contributions flow
naturally from the demands of our business. They cannot be dictated by government
fiat. We have a mutual interest which can be met only by allowing a competitive,
fast-moving business to be managed like one,

With these kinds of problems in mind, we strongly support legislation that would
mandate and authorize our negotiators to seek bilateral and multilateral agree-
ments to reduce the trade and capital flow distorting effects of such investment re-
strictions. In the short term, bilateral treaties are the practical solution. We would
be following the practices of France, Germany, Japan and others in doing so. The
longer term objective would be multilateral solution, based on the numerous bilater-
al larrangement that could provide the necessary momentum for new international
rules.

We also welcome expansion of the President’s authority to respond under Section
301 if such negotiations are unsuccessful and such practices continued unjustifiably
and unreasonably to burden, restrict, or discriminate against U.S. investment. U.S.
negotiators presently have little leverage in this area. Presidential authority to re-
spond would provide an appropriate and needed bargaining tool.

INVENTORY OF NTBS TO PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND FOREIGN INVESTMENT

AEA would support legislation to require the USTR and the Commerce Depart-
ment to develop an inventory of the major non-tariff barriers abroad to U.S. product
and service exports, and foreign direct investment. We also support provisions that
would require periodic reports to the Congress on the steps the United States Trade
Re{)ergsentative has taken, or plans to take, to have these barriers reduced or elimi-
nated.

CONSISTENCY WITH THE GATT

Since the creation of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) the
United States has taken the lead role in efforts to persuade our trading partners to
adopt the GATT’s basic multilateral principles of national and most-favored-nation
treatment, and thereby reduce world barriers to product exports. In asserting this
leadership role, Congress has deliberately chosen to lead by example by passing
trade laws to mirror those of the GATT; I think that is is fair to say that without
g;g U.S. commitment, there would be far more trade barriers abroad than there are

ay.

AEA believes it is absolutely vital that the United States not abdicate this leader-
ship role. Any action that would compromise this role would likely lead to greater
barriers to our product exports. There are many countries which would welcome an
excuse to bend to domestic pressures and erect new import restrictions. There are
others which might well feel compelled to retaliate if U.S. legislation were to affect
exports negatively. And chances are good that our strongest, most competitive, ex-
porters would be the ones to bear the brunt of either reaction. The negative conse-
quences for jobs, income and related tax revenues could be enormous if this were to
occur.

The GATT currently provides for reciprocity under mutually agreed procedures
and rules. AEA supports that process. AEA therefore would support legislation
which would reinforce the U.S. commitment to that process. We would thereby sup-
port its continued use in assessing whether a given country or group of countries is
measuring up in an overall sense, given the specific circumstances, to its trade
agreement or GATT obligation and responsibilities and thereby be eligible for
future U.S. trade concessions.

AEA opposes legislation that would allow unilateral retaliation or require bilater-
al “reciprocity’’ outsidc the GATT on an industry sector or product basis. Such legis-
lation would fly in the face of GATT princigles and obligations, and would invite
protectionism and retaliation here and abroad. .

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my statement. If there is any message with which I
want to leave you, it’s this: We must aggressively enforce abroad our trade and in-
vestmient rights and interests. We cannot afford to abdicate our leadership for free
and open markets for trade and investment. We must be aggressive at home in re-
sisting the temptation to raise trade barriers. And we must be forward-looking and
see to the n of our strongest industries before the weight of barriers abroad
become so heavy as to be politically too difficult to eliminate. Viewed from our per-
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spective, we no longer have the luxury of time. We need legislation and policy that
addresses these objectives now.

Thank you again for this opportunity to testify. I'd be pleased to answer any ques-
tions you might have.

Chairman GiBBoNS. I want to thank all of you for coming and

giving your statements.
fIdlistened here, and 1 am going to read them in the next couple
of days.

In that regard, Mr. MacTaggart, I want to ask you some ques-
tions, and really the questions are for the whole panel.

As I understood your statement, Mr. MacTaggart, you said this
legislation was not really necessary; and your fellow panel mem-
bers obviously don’t thoroughly agree with you on that.

I don’t want to misstate your position. Am I correct?

Mr. MacTaGgGarT. I didn’t think the legislation was necessary;
that I believed we had sufficient machinery under the 301 and 124
in GATT to accomplish the objectives that we had in mind.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Do you object to the legislation, or do you
think it is unnecessary?

Mr. MAcTAGGART. We think it is unnecessary.

Chairman GiBBoNs. You have no active position against it.

Mr. MacTaGGART. No, but we don'’t believe it to be necessary.

Chairman GiBBoNs. You mentioned you were caught in negotia-
tions in Paris on patents with WIPO.

Mr. MacTAGGART. That is a world industrial property organiza-
*ion which virtually abrogates patents in the Third World.

chairman GiBsoNs. That is what worries me.

Mr. MAcTAGGART. It is a United Nations agency similar to
UNCTAD.

Chairman GiBBoNS. I am very reluctant to let go of, by default,
all of these things to UNCTAD and whatever that name is—WIPO.
What do you do when you are in that kind of a forum, and you get
no results? Wouldn't it be better in the offices of GATT if we sat
down and tried to work out your problems there with other things
or. the table in the process of give-and-take? Couldn’t we improve
your position?

Mr. MACTAGGART. I think that is very true; yes. That is one of
the points we have been trying to make. We think the machinery
is there with GATT to do just that.

Chairman GisBonNs. You don't think we have been vigorous
enough in it.

I am worried, and you perhaps heard me when I said to the ad-
ministration witnesses, how much effort are you really putting on
this, and how much are you really doing to get ready. I was not
happy with their response, and I intend to say a little more to
them personally about it, but I am convinced that we must antici-
pate the problems that we have.

You sce them as problems right now. Unfortunately, I am afraid
the legislative bodies see them as something way down the road
that we will get to sometime. But I agree with you, we need to
move ahead. While you may agree that we have enough laws al-
ready, for some reason they are not working, and we want to try to
make them work a little better.

Do any of the rest of you have any comments?
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Mr. Sporck. Mr. Chairman, I think we cannot overemphasize the
fact that we are running out of time.

High technology is a kind-based kind of thing relative to each
particular technology, and we are dealing with the time risk mode
on a number of technologies right now, and maybe there are laws,
et cetera, procedures there to uo something about it, but certainly
nothing has been done, and it would seem to me that what truly is
needed is a clear message and a clear tool for doing something
about it right now.

Chairman GisBons. Well, on that note, we will conclude today’s
hearings with the hope that we can get to a markup as rapidly as
possible.

I will try to promote this,

Let me say to the Armed Services Committee, thank you for the
use of their room; we appreciate it.

The hearing is adf'ourned. This concludes the hearings on serv-
ices and high-technology trade.

The record will remain open for statements until June 1.

[Whereupon, at 5:40 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]

[The following were submitted for the record:]

STATEMENT SUBMITTED BY ARTHUR ANDERSEN & Co.

SUMMARY OF COMMENTS

1. We are pleased that Congress is focusing its a‘tention on the necessity for free
trade in the service sector.

II. We enthusiastically agree that there is a need to foster trade in services b
eliminating the barriers surrounding service sector trade in foreign markets. Artifi-
cial barriers to such trade, whether imposed by the United States or other coun-
trig?z are inconsistent with the objective of providing competent services to the
public.

III. A health, competitive service sector is critical to U.S. trade policy. Increased
service sector trade in foreign markets will expand entrepreneurial opportunities in
all sectors, as well as provide support to multinational business.

IV. Service sector trade has achieved its own commercial vitality. Commensurate
with this achievement is the development of wide-ranging demands which ultimate-
ly touch upon most facets of our economy.

V. Amendments to the negotiating objectives of the Trade Act of 1974 should
create a positive basis for establishing a practical bargaining posture and for negoti-
ating trade in service contracts, aimec at securing free trade in services.

V1. We applaud the development of U.S. policy awareness concerning trade in
services.

INTRODUCTION

Arthur Andersen & Co. is an international accounting organization with offices in
about 150 cities around the world. Roughly one-third of our practice is conducted in
foreign countries and about one-third of our personnel are foreign nationals with
professional credentials appropriate to those countries.

While we have many clients that would be affected by H.R. 5383, we do not repre-
sent them in this testimony. The views expressed are those of our organization,
based on our experience in providing professional services to clients in all parts of
the world for many years.

In performing those services, we ha 2 seen some restrictions on the puoviders of
services in several countries, including the United States. The fundar:ental princi-
ple that should guide the policies of all countries with respect to trade in services i,
the public interest. Artifical barriers to providing such services do noi seem to s
consistent with the public interest, amf all countries should work toward t.eir
elimination.

We have reviewed H.R. 5383, legislation which progoses to encourage multi.ateral
trade negotiations in the service sector and to expand and clarify U.S. trad- laws as
they pertain to service industries. We are pleased that the Subcommittee on Trade
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is focusing its attention on the necessity for free trade in the service sector. As
noted above, we agree that there is a need to foster trade in services by eliminating
the barriers surrounding service sector trade in world markets. We believe this type
i)fbi)egislation would also enhance growth in the manufacturing, agricultural and
abor sectors.

IMPORTANCE OF THE SERVICE SECTOR

Service sector trade in world markets is of paramount importance to the U.S.
economy. Based upon the data cited in the proposed legislation, a healthy, competi-
tive service sector plays a significant role in offsetting balance-of-payments deficits
attributed to other sectors. This is highlighted by the contribution of the service
sector to U.S. trade receipts. Additionally, the emphasis placed upon balance of pay-
ments by the U.S. trading partners warrants legislation that recognizes the impor-
tance of the service sector. The proposed legislation is an appropriate vehicle to im-
plant the significance of the service sector in the U.S. trade policy.

The priority accorded trade in services by this legislation, together with the mag-
nitude of service sector revenues, can only lead to beneficial consequences for other
rectors of the economy. Increased service sector trade in foreign markets will
sxpand extrepreneurial opportunities in the manufacturing, agricultural and labor
sectors, in addition to the support which it provides to multinational business.

Expanded opportunties arise, for example, through the need for capital expansion.
Most services involve making available capital facilities. The marine transport, air
transport, warehousing, and telecommunications industries are illustrated by this
fact. These service industries are both capital and labor intensive and, accordingly,
an increase in the service aspect would result in capital expansion and higher em-
ployment which would have a favorable effect upon the manufaciuring and labor
sectors.

Furthermore, additional opportunities arise through the need for direct nonser-
vice sector input into the flow of commerce. The proposed legislation attempts to
satisfy these needs in that it will enable the other sectors to expand and improve
through the service sector. Some services require direct use of nonservice sector in-
dustries. For example, retailing, lodging and food services require the direct contri-
butions of the agricultural, manufacturing and labor sectors for their economic sur-
vival. Consequently, the proposed legislation in this regard should have a favorable
impact upon all sectors of the economy.

These illustrations support our belief that the proposed legislation is vital to the
growth of both the service and nonservice trade economy.

COMMERCIAL VITALITY OF SERVICE SECTOR

We concur with the attempt to recognize the commercial vitality of U.S. service
sector trade in foreign markets. The proposed legislation properly directs public at-
tention to the importance of the service industry to U.S. trade, an area that prior to
this legislation has essentially been ignored in trade policy consideration.

We recognize the service sector’s vital role in commerce. The service sector, in
fact, has taken on a commercial life of its own and is not necessarily subsidiary to
trade in merchandise. Commensurate with this commercial vitality is the develop-
ment of wide-ranging demands which ultimately touch upon most facets of our econ-
omy.

For example, the moving of people between countries for business, pleasure and
educational purposes has greatly stimulated a demand for transport and other relat-
ed services. Demands for services also increase when U.S. multinationals draw their
domestic suppliers into foreign markets.

In addition, the need for spontaneous global communication and data collection
for decisionmaking has created demands on the electronic and telecommunications
industries which touch upon all sectors of our economy. Politically induced expecta-
tions derived from governmental programs have created demands from the social
services sector.

Similarly, the influx of the service sector into foreign markets genvrates higher
levels of disposable personal income, both at home and abroad, to the ultimate bene-
fits of all sectors.

These examples illustrate some of the more significant contributions based upon
demands on the service sector. The proposed legislation assents to this and, hence,
draws our full support.
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FOSTERING TRADE IN SERVICES

We applaud amendments to the negotiating objectives of the Trade Act of 1974 to
include as principal goals the reduction or elimination of barriers to trade in serv-
ices, and the improvement and coordination of service sector trade issues between
and among U.S. Government organizations, state and local governments, and the
grivate sector. Through effective communication of these objectives, the United

tates can faithfully negotiate trade-in-service contracts in both bilateral and multi-
lateral contexts.

The statutory framework that is being developed to remedy present practices that
deny service sector access to foreign markets, discriminate against U.S. service
trade in foreign markets, create nontariff restrictions, and generate subsidies to
local and governmental competition, is a key to this legislation.

The objective of trade policy relating to the services industry should be neutrality.
Neither the United States nor other countries should enforce restrictions on access
to each other’s economies based on artificial and protective policies. Service indus-
tries, by definition, serve the public, and the ultimate cbjective should be to provide
competent services to those who need them in all countries.

On the other hand, it would be fruitless to completely abandon the notions of pro-
tectionism in foreign trade in services. The United States, as well as its trading
partners, must seek to protect its national security, domestic sovereignty, and cul-
tural integrity. However, through open networks of communication and policy posi-
tions premised on negotiating objectives like those contained in the proposed legisla-
tion, the effects of protectionism can be mitigated and free trade in services secured.

Achievement of these goals is facilitated by the coordination mechanisms set out
in the pronosed legislation. The bill consolidates the coordination of service trade
policy in the U.S. Trade Representative's office, and grants the Department of Com-
merce a broad mandate to improve its services data base. The bill further requires
independent federal regulatory agencies to consider service trade as a factor in
making their decisicns.

Furthermore, state governments must be integrated into service trade consider-
ations where the potential exists that the Federal Government may usurp an area
that is otherwise within a state’s province. These administrative mechanisms are
desirable in improving and coordinating service sector trade issues between and
among U.S. Government agencies, state and local governments, and the private
sector.

DEVELOPMENT OF U.S. POLICY AWARENESS

We applaud the bill’s lead in creating an impetus for collecting data on trade
service operations. Presently, only limited data on trade service has been quantified.
The proposed legislation takes a welcomed initiative in providing for the collection
and analysis of service data as inputs for domestic policy formulation and for inter-
national negotiations. This data collection and analysis within the U.S. Government
can be linked to initiatives within the international institutions to develop agreed
upon measures for data. In this regard, a logical starting point will be to identify
and analyze data already available to various government agencies. Additional data
that may be needed should be carefully defined to avoid undue burdens on service
entities asked to provide it.

We further applaud the bill's recognition of the need for the unrestricted transfer
of information and use of data processing facilities in the conduct of multinational
service industry activities. The proposed legislation arrives at a time when certain
trading partners are contemplating the imposition of restrictive measures to regu-
late cross border data flows. Advances in information technology, free of restric-
tions, will revolutionize business activity worldwide, and offer great potential to all
sectors of both United Siates and foreign economies.

The bill should also support U.S. efforts to identify service trade issues as priority
items on the agenda of the GATT ministerial meetings, as well as other internation-
al organizations such as the OECD. This legislation will support the U.S. objective
to work toward a framework agreement on liberal trade principles for services.
Progress along these lines should lead to multilateral negotiations to develop codes
for services.

Finally, as stated earlier, we note that the U.S. service sector anticipates in-
creased competition in multinational markets, often with the support and encour-
agement of foreign governments. This support and encouragement may come about
through forms of disguised protectionism. The legislation proposed is an effective
measure to respond to increased and questionable competition from other countries.
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CONCLUSION

The fundamental objective of U.S. trade policy in the service area, as well as in
other major s(;fments of our economy, should be free and unrestricted trade. The
enactment of H.R. 5383 should incfease recognition of the importance of the service
sector to the United States’ economic well-beinf.

This legislation should also encourage multilateral trade negotiations in the serv-
ice sector ancd expand and clarify U.S. trade laws as they pertain to service indus-
tries, and provide for significant future benefits to all segments of our economy. The
bill represents an effective le\gﬁslative framework for trade service policy and our
firm is pleased to support it. We praise the initiatives being taken by this Congress
and the Administration in recommending policy that encourages negotiation of in-
ternational agreements intended to eliminate present barriers surrounding service
trade in world markets.

We a{Jpreciate the opportunity to submit our views on these matters, and urge
favorable action by Congress on this legislation.

CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE,
New York, N.Y., May 25, 1982.

Mr. JonN J. SALMON,
Chief Counsel, Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Represeniatives, Wash-
tngton, D.C.

DeArR MR. SaLMmoN: In response to the press release issued by the Subcommittee
on Trade on May 12, 1982, inviting public comments on H.R. 5383 and H.R. 5579, I
would like to submit a few brief remarks to assist the Committee in its considera-
tion of the “Trade in Services Act of 1982,

I am currently a senior associate at Carnegie Endowment for International Peace,
where I am directing a project on international trade in services. The views ex-
pressed below are my own, and do not reflect the position of the Carnegie Endow-
ment. ] am writing in the hope that the insights on the General ment on Tar-
iffs and Trade (GATT) that I gained as a member of the U.S. delegation in prior
trade talks may prove useful to the Committee in its deliberation on H.R. 5383.

It has been oniy a few sho%ears since the conclusion of the Tokyo round of mul-
tilateral trade negotiations (MTN), but already there is strong evidence that many
countries (including our own) are poised to back away from their MTN commit-
ments to trade liberalization and the maintenance of an cpen world trading system.
Indeed, we are already witnessing a dangerous drift towards trade protectionism.
Not only are barriers rising to block traditionally traded goods such as automobiles,
steel and textiles, but new, more subtle, restrictions are now being imposed to deter
the expansion of world trade in services.

Both the United States and our trading partners have a keen interest in the re-
versal of this trend. I believe that H.R. 5383 correctly identifies the issue of barriers
to trade in services as one of the key problems that needs to be addressed in the
GATT. It is a matter that should be given high priority by the United States in
future international trade negotiations.

This said, however, it is important for the Committee to recognize that H.R. 5383,
as presently drafted, may not be very helpful in getting our services initiative off
the ground. The reason is sim’f'llg: the United States is trying to pursue too many
trade issues at once in the GATT, and our trading partners don't really know what
is important for us and what is not.

For example, we are currently both attempting to take care of old, intractable
trade problems (such as agricultural export subsidies and a code on import safe-
guards) while at the same time raising new issues relatively untouched by interna-
tional discipline (e.g. services and investment). On top of this, we have picked a slew
of trade fights to demonstrate our concern about the enforcement of the MTN codes,
but we have done 8o in a way that raises politically-sensitive issues that have little
chance of being resolved in the GATT.

What we have not done, however, is to indicite what priority we set on each of
our trade actions. As a result, we run the rigsk that important trade initiatives such
as services may get shunted aside while lesser, but more contentious, trade prob-
lems tie the work of the GATT up in knots.

We clearly need to develop a realistic set of priorities to maximize the benefits of
our participation in the GATT. To do so, we should pursue only those problems that
can realistically be resolved in the GATT context. In this regard, we need to recon-
sider whether many of our agricultural trade problems with the European Commu-
nity (EC) would be better dealt with bilaterally instead of through GATT channels.
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Provisions in both GATT Article XVI and the Subsidies Code do not afford strict
discipline over agricultural export subsidies. As one of the negotiators of the Subsi-
dies Code, I know that this is one area where we fell woefully short of our negotiat-
ing objectives during the MTN. As a result, it has been harc{ to develop technically
sound GATT cases against the EC in spite of their blatant export subsidy programs.
I fear that if we continue to press for GATT action in these cases, we may end up in
a fruitless debate that has no other result than to effectively block all movement
towards trade liberalization in the GATT in general, and our initiatives on services
and investment in particular.

This is not to say that the dispute settlement procedures of the GATT are ineffec-
tive. Rather, we need to be more discriminating and only bring disputes before the
GATT when we have a solid case, so that we can build up a body of case-law in the
GATT that reinforces the dispute settlement procedure.

Before entering into new trade talks, we therefore need to develop a clear sense of
priorities for what we want to achieve overall in the GATT. H.R. 5383 spells out
Congressional intent that we proceed expeditiously to tackle the problem of trade in
services, and contains numerous provisions which would help the Administration
“get its act together” both with regard to its internal deliberations and its dealings
with Congress and independent Federal and State rsgulatory bodies. The bill should
go further, however, to direct the Administration to give l&e problems of trade in
services priority over other GATT initiatives that stand a much smaller chance of
success.

This said, I have a few brief comments o1 specific provisions of the bill:

SECTIONS 4(b) AND 5(d): CONSULTATION WITH STATE GOVERNMENTS

1 would caution the Committee against placing too much stock on the need to co-
ordinate Federal trade policies with the policies of State governments for those serv-
ices over which the States have regulatory responsibility. Although it is desirable
that the U.S. Trade Representative (USTR) be able to put forward a unified national
policy when negotiating with foreign governments, it is not essential in the areas of
banking and insurance that he should be able to reflect the views of State regula-
tory agencies in such talks. In these sectors, foreign governments are primarilfr in-
terested in the policies of only a few States—notably New York, Illinois and Califor-
nia. Any problems with those State policies can be handled bilaterally—as they
have been in the past with reasonable success. Thus U.S. negotiators are not really
hamstrung in international negotiations by not being able to commit the States to
international agreements on sevices.

Section 4(b) goes too far in mandating State government participation in the de-
velopment of negotiating objectives for future international talks on services. This
section would in essence give State representatives a veto over Federal trade policy.
The USTR should not be burdened with such an obligation. On the other hand,
there is nothing wrong with maintaining an open line of communications between
State and Federal officials on these matters. In fact, Executive Branch agencies al-
ready consult with State governments concerning service trade problems, and as
such, Sectior: 5(d) mandates nothing more than what is already being done.

I would therefore recommend the deletion of Section 4(bX2) from the bill.

SECTION 6: SUBSIDIZATION AND UNFAIR PRICING

Section 6 would give the USTR the responsibility, under Section 301 of the Trade
Act of 1974, to determine both the existence of dumping or subsidization of services
sold by a foreign supplier, and whether there is injury or threat of injury to a do-
mestic service industry by reason of such sales. It would thus have the USTR
assume the responsibilities currently carried out by the Secretary of Commerce and
the U.S. Internati~ 1 Trade Commission under the countervailing duty and anti-
dumping statutes, ... only for petitions filed by service industries. .

There is no reason why complaints about foreign subsidies and dumping peti-
tioned by a service industry should be handled any differently than petitions from
other U.S. industries. There is also no reason to amend Section 301 of the Trade Act
of 1974 so that it effectively duplicates the provisions of the countervailing duty and
antidumping statutes. This section is not needed, and should be deleted.

SECTION 8: FEDERAL REGULATORY AUTHORITIES

Federal agencies that regulate domestic service industries should not be given the
authority to impose trade restrictions independent of the authority gr_anted the
USTR to determine and administer U.S. trade policy. We need one consistent, na-

95-924 0 - 82 - 11
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tior.al trade policy—Section 8, particularly subsection (¢c), would run counter to that
objective.
;I'hank you ver, much for the opportunity to presen’ my views.
Sincerely yours,
JEFFREY J. ScHOTT,
Senior Associate.

STaTEMENT OF NATIONAL MACHINE TooL BUILDERS' ASSOCIATION

1. INTRODUCTION

The Nati.aal Machine Tool Builders’ Association (NMTBA) is a national trade as-
sociatirn representing over 400 American machine tool manufacturing companies,
which account for approximately 90 percent of United States machire tool produc-
tion. Altliough the total machine tool industry employs approximately 100,000
people with & combined annual output of around five gillion ollars, most NMTBA
member companies are small businesses vrith payrolls of 250 or fewer employees.

While relatively small by some corporate standards, American machine tool build-
ers comprise a very fundamental segment of the U.S. industrial capacity and have a
tremendous impast on America. Our industry builds the machines that are the
foundation of the United States’ industrial strength and military preparedness.
Without metal cutting and forming equipment—machine tools—there would be no
manufecturing as we know and have come to rely upon today. From a consumer
point of view, mcdern machine tools enable domestically affordable and internation.
ally competitive luxuries of modern life. And even more importantly, without state-
of-the-art technoic;%y our defense industrial base would be dangerously less capable
of meeiing the needs of national defense in peace time, much less responding to the
demands of increased military production in a time of national emergency.

With this background in mind, we thark you for once again giving us the oppor-
tunity to express our views.

il. THE U.8. MACBINE TGOL INDUSTRY HAS LOST ITu COMPETITIVE EDGE

A. Our Domestic Market Has Been Penetrated by Foreign Competition on an Unprec-
edented Scale

While the domestic U.S. machine tool market has been oscillating with very little
real growth since the middle 1960’s, the world market has grown substantially. Un-
fortunately, most of this worldwide expansion has been absorbed by our foreign
competitors, eroding our market share.

In the middle 1960’s, the American machine tool industry supplied approximately
one-third of the total global market. In cther words, one out of every three machine
tools consumed in the world vac produced by an American machine tool builder.
However, by the end of 1981, that portion had fallen tv only 1 in 5.

This dramatic decline is the result of two factors. First, our domestic market has
been invaded by foreign competitors on a scale never before imagined. Since 1964,
America’s imports of foreign machine tools have grown six-fold from 4% percent of
total consumption 18 years ago to aimost 30 percent in 1981, based on value. As a
share of units, that is, machines actually installed, in 1381 imports accounted for 36
percent of U.S. consumption; of the most technically advarced and defense sensitive
equipment, (numerically controlied lathes and machining centers) impocts com-
prised more than 50 percent of all U.S. sales.! During this period, orders for U.S.
machine tools fell 37 percent, while imports increased by 14 percent.

As a result of the rising tide of imports, the machine tool industr+’s balance of
trade was negative for the first time in history in 1978, In 1979 it was in deficit by
$400 million; in 1980 by $513 million. The industry suffered its fourth straiiht year
of negative trade balance in 1981 with a deficit of $455 million. {See Exhbit #1).

It 18 obvious, therefore, that because the United States is the largest open ma-
chine tocl market in the world, our foreign competitors have pulled out the stops
and are aiming their export marketing efforts directly at America. The alarming
data outlined above reflects a systematic and determined undertaking by our for-
eign competitors to Kenetrate and capture the U.S. market. In the case of the Japa-
nese, for example, this effort has been encouraged and stimulated by years of wide-
ranging support from the Japanese government. It is ar effort that has paid off: in

! Imports accounted for two-thirds of the NC lathes, half of the NC machining centers and
forging machines and three-quarters of the boring machines purchased in the U.S. in 1981,
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the U.S. last year, one out of every seven dollars spent on machine tools was spent
on machine tools built in Japan.

We are not suggesting that import sales in our dometic market are a new phe-
nomenon. As Exhibit Mo. 2 shows, the first wave of imports came during the mid
1960's, when import market share increased from about 4.5 percent to 12 percent.
However, Exhibit No. 3 clearly illustrates the dramatic jump in the value of foreign
machines sold in the United Siates between 1977 and 1980. The value of Japan’s
machine tool shipments to the United States increased substantially during this
period (both in terms of actual dollar value and in terms of relative market-share),
more than quadrupling since 1977.

Statistics detailing Japan’s top ten machine tool markets for the years 1976 and
1981 also provide clear cut illustration that the Japanese have targeted the United
States machine tool market. (See Exhibit No. 4)

In 1976, the United States market accounted for 22.4 percent of all machine tools
exported from Japan. Even at this point American purchases comprised the single
largest export market for Japanese machine tool builders, with the Republic of
Korea second at 19.1 pecent.

By 1981, almost half of the machine tools exported from Japan were destined for
American buyers. This amounted to close to eight times the volume sold to West
Germany, the second largest Japanese foreign market in 1981.

While Japan’s share of the United States domestic machine tool market more
than tripled from 1976 to 1981 when expressed in numbers of units, the dollar value
of Japanese exports into this country ballooned more than ten fold, from $67 million
to over $688 million.

It is important to recognize the types of machines that are being supplied to our
domestic manufacturers by our Japanese competitors.

Numerically controlled (N/C) lathes and machining-centers continue to constitute
the largest proportion of imports. However, imports of grinding and polishing ma-
chines, gear-making machines and metalforming machines have all more than dou-
bled in the last four years. But perhaps most significantly, imports of high technol-
ogy machining centers have increased dramatically over the past several years to
where they totaled more than $183.9 million in 1981.

In sum, we are losing an increasingly larger share of our domestic machine tool
market to Japanese imports each year. But perhaps even more distressing is the
changing character of that market share. It is increasingly comprised of more tech-
nologically advanced equipment (See Exhibit No. 5). In 1981 almost 71.4 percent of
the Japanese metal cutting machine exports to the U.S. consisted of equipment with
sophisticated numerical controls.

Paradoxically, these are essentially the same type of machines which we are pre-
vented from selling in Eastern Europe, because of national security export controls.
In other words, export controls restrict U.S. machine tool capacity, because of na-
tional defense concerns, while at the same time the industry’s capacity to produce
the same type of equipment is being restricted by imports. The national security im-
plications are obvious.

This is certainly a development to which we can ill-afford to resign ourselves, par-
ticularly when there is every indication that this startling trend will continue and,
most likely escalate.

A recent directive issued by the European Economic Community (EEC) called
upon Japan to provide “tangible assurances” that from 1982 onwards, it will pursue
a.policy of “effective moderation” towards the community as a whole in those sec-
tors where an increase in Japanese exports to the community would cause “signifi-
cant problems.” 2 Among those sectors targeted were certain machine tools, includ-
ing numerically controlled lathes and machining centers. If the European communi-
ty is successful in its attempts to restrict Japanese access to EEC markets, the U.S.
will become a more visible and vulnerable import target than it is now.

B. A Dynamic and Competitive Domestic Machine Tool Industry is of Strategic Im-
portance to America’s National Security

In an effort to focus Congressional and private sector attention on the severity of
the import situation and its very alarming implications for America’s national secu-
rity, NMTBA recently placed a full-page advertisement in The Washington Post.
(See Exhibit No. 6) The message, loud and clear: it is wrong to make American
weapons with foreign machine tools. It is wrong because it jeopardizes our national
security; it puts Americans out of work, takes billions out of the American economy,

2U.S. Department of Commerce, Incoming Telegram No. 84315, April 12, 1982,
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decreases the tax base, increases the trade deficit, and helps to finance and
stengthen foreign industry. )

The advertisement reflects NMTBA'’s growing concern about the deterioration of
the defense industrial base and the serious effects this could have on defense indus-
trial production.

Congressional concern about the serious decline in the nation’s industrial capabil-
ity became apparent in the 96th Congress, when the House Armed Services Commit-
tee created a special panel on the Defense Industrial Base. The findings of this spe-
cial panel were released in a report dated December 31, 1980.% In his letter trans-
mitting the report to the full Committee, Chairman Richard Ichord said:

“The panel finds that there has been a serious decline in the Nation’s defense in-
dustrial capability that lplaces our national security in jeopardy. An alarming ero-
sion of crucial industrial elements, coupled with a mushrooming dependence on for-
eign sources for critical materials, is endangering our defense posture at its very foun-
dation.” * (Emphasis added.)

The situation outlined by Chairman Ichord eiggsteen months ago has only become
more exaggerated. Machine tools provide the basis for production of all military
hardware, yet the U.S. is becoming increasinglg dependent on foreign sources for
equipment and machinery essential to a viable defense production industry. During
periods of mobilization in a national emergency, this foreign source dependence
could seriously undermine our national security. America’s involvement in a war
could render our foreign machine tools virtually useless, for lack of replacement

parts.

Maeany in Con and the Administration have acknowledged this disturbing sit-
uation. Such acknowledgment is obviously a crucial prerequisite to the enactment of
any meaningful solution to America’s increasing dependence on foreign sources of
machine tools.

House Ways and Means Committee Chairman Dan Rostenkowski, Senate Finance
International Trade Subcommittee Chairman John Danforth, and Senate Banking
International Finance Subcommittee Chairman John Heinz have each recently writ-
ten to President Reagan and others in the Administration to urge that action be
taken to prevent the nation’s Defense Industrial Base from being impaired by exces-
sive machine tool imports. (See Exhibits #7, #8, and #9).

In his letter to the President, Senator Heinz made this telling observation:

“Clearly, this nation is losing its market leadership in this core industry, one im-
portant not only to the revitalization of our industrial plant but key to maintenance
of the superiority of our defense industries as well. We six(r)agly cannot afford to
become overly depe.ident on foreign sources for these vital products . . . the United
States must remain at the cutting edge of technology in order to offset the numeri-
cal edge which our potential adversaries possess.” &

C. Import Relief Under Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962

NMTBA has recently decided to initiate action under authority of Section 232 of
the Trade E?ansion Act of 1962 to seek import relief on behalf of the domestic ma-
chine tool industry. Under Section 232 of the Act, the President may protect domes-
tic industries from import competition that threatens to impair national security.

In a Section 232 proceeding, the Department of Commerce determines whether a
threat to national security exists. If so, Commerce makes a recommendation to the
President, who has broad discretion to adopt whatever remedy he believes appropri-

ate.

The statute gives the President broad discretion following receipt of the Secre-
tary’s report and contains no time limitations for his decision or for relief. In
making his determination, the President considers the same factors on which the
Department of Commerce based its report. If the President concludes that the im-
ports do not threaten national security, he will decline to impose relief. If he agrees
with Commerce that a threat does exist, he is authorized to “take such action, and
for such time, as he deems necessary to adjust the imports of such article and its
derivativeseso that such imports will not threaten to impair the national secu-
rity. . ..

3U.S. Congress, House of Representatives, “The Ailing Defense Industrial Base: Unready for
(lls;glbis," Report of the Defense Panel of the Committee on Armed Services, 96th Cong., 2d "

4Id, at 1.

5 Letltgrlgas 2Preaident Reagan, from John Heinz, United States Senator, Washington, D.C., Feb-

819 USC. §186?(b). The only limitation on this power is a provision that permits Congres-
sional disapproval of a Presidential action regarding imports of petroleum or petroleum prod-
ucts. 19 US.C. § 1862().
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D. The International Trade Commission’s Investigation of the U.S. Metalworking
Machine Tool Industry

In February of this year, the International Trade Commission (ITC), on its own
initiative, instituted an investigation of the U.S. metalworking machine tool indus-
try.” The study was to assess the impact of the growing competition from imports on
the U.S. machine tool industry and to exﬁlore the related development of further
competition in the industry’s overseas markets. As part of the investigation, the ITC
also intended to examine the steps that have been taken and may be taken to coun-
teract these developments. It appears that one impetus for the investigatica was the
Defense Department’s concern about the effects of machine tool imports on the na-
tion's industrial base.®

Unfortunately, the ITC terminated the investigation in April, citing “changes in
workload and staffing limitations.” (See Exhibit #10). We strongly urge that the
ITC investigation be reinstated as soon as possible. An investigation of this nature
would offer crucial docum.ntation and provide a sound, credible, and independent
assessment of the domestic machine tool industry. As such, this investigation could
play a vital role in establishing the basis for appropriate levels of competitive assist-
ance. NMTBA pledges its complete cooperation in the event that the ITC investiga-
tion of the machine tool industry is reinstated.

E. Eligibility Rules for the Application of the Investment Tax Credit

Some have proposed that Congress cha’xrxée the eligibility rules for the application
of the 10 percent investment tax credit (ITC) so that it would not appiy to purchases
of foreign machine tools (SIC codes 3541 and 3542). Such action would not only have
considerable revenue-raising impact, but would also reflect important national secu-
rity considerations. In 1981, $1.429 billion worth of machine tools were imported
into the United States. Six hundred fifty-seven million dollars came from sgpan.
Denial of the 10 percent ITC to these imported machine tools would have gained
$143 million for the U.S. Treasury.

Because of the current recession, it is likely that total machine tools sales—and
thus imports—will be substantially reduced from 1981 levels. However, even if (as is
likely) 1982 machine tool sales are only one half of what they were in 1981, the rev-
enue gain represented by the denial of 10 percent ITC for machine tools would be
substantial—somewhere in the neighborhood of $70 million.

We have documented that the U.S. is well on its way to becoming foreign-source
dependent for machine tools—a prospect which would seriously impair America's
ability to respond in the event of a national emergency. Because of the very genuine
national security implications involved in this proposal, it does not appear to be in
violation of the General Agreements on Tariff and Trade (GATT).

International trade law has always recognized the ability of any nation to take
steps that are necessary to protect its national security. National security is specifi-
cally cited by the Reagan Administration as the one basis upon which rigid advoca-
cy of free trade is to be abrogated. For these reasons, we urge Congress to carefully
consider this proposal when it enacts tax or ‘“revenue enhancement” measures later
this year. Any proposal to raise revenues will arguably cause “pain” to some tax-
payers. Denial of the 10 percent ITC to imported machine tools, while causing
‘pain” to those who install them in their plants, does have the advantage of provid-
ing support for our beleaguered industry which is seriously threatened by imports. .
Perhaps most important, it will protect Arierican industrial base and its ability to
respond in the event of a national emerpency.

II1. CONCLUSION

Unquestionably, the competitiveness of the U.S. machine tool industry has de-
clined in recent years. However, we want to stress our belief that this decline is not
necessarily inevitable, nor is it irre >rsible, if acitons are taken now to prevent it.

U.S. machine tool builders have the capability and the expertise to meet competi-
tive challenges from overseas. All we are asking is the opportunity to compete on
more equal footing. We are certain you agree that the U.S. machine tool industry is
too vital to the strength of the U.S. economy and America’s naitonal security to let
current conditions continue,

Again, we appreciate having had this opportunity to apprise this Subcommittee of
the problems facing our industry.

7 Investigation No. 332-138, February 5, 1982, under Section 332(b) of the Tariff Act of 1930
(19 U.S.C. 1332(b)).
8 “Panel Probes Rising Tool Imports,” American Metal Market, March 8, 1982, at 4.



154

AvauwNg SNSN3Id SN 18/2 NOILVIOOSSY SH30NNA 1001 INIHOVN TVNOILVN £Q pasedaly
V1IN $304N0S

JONVIVE 3avHL
7001 INIHOVIN ‘SN

1 LISIHX3

ey

—009—

—006—

— 00—

—00€—

—00Z—

—001—

—0

—001

—00¢

—00¢

SNOITIIW $



1556

seBieys yons 100)j01 0} PEISNIPY UBRQ SARY GGy UMOYS SBN|EA "$818]1S peliun
oy} 03 sujyorw oy) Bulbuluq Yim pelv|o0sse §8BIBYD JO|IO PUB UOISS|WIWOD S18[BaD
‘@suesnsui ybiesj ‘sennp 1odw) epnjoul J0u op sasewwo) Aq paysyand senjea yiodw *
1861 10 syjuow g 18J)} @y} ioj A}jAjov uodn paseg -~ d
di8, 08, 6. 8L, L4, 91, SL: YLl €2, 21, L L, O, 69, 89, 29. 99. S9. ¥G.
et 4+ i 1 .t 1 & -+ + -t 1 bt

0
sz

0'S

gL

0°01
szi
o'siL
S'LL
00z
s'ze
L o's2
L 512
 oo¢

]

]

tEr b

]

L861L~-V96 1
(uonndwnsuod "y's"n |e101 JO %
% SHoduwyj joo} aulyoew)

}9JBN "V¥Y'S'N jO aieys ,sjiodw

Z LIGIHXJ




156

NV3YNE SNSN3D SN

visisny
SUIHI0.

€ LIdIHXT

VBIAN S30HNOS

SHIHLO \\\§

TITII

—

N
—
~

18/2 NOILVIDOSSY SH3Q1IN8 1004 INIHOVA TYNOILYN AQ pasedald E

D7

/4

VavavO

<
=

ONVIHIZLIIM
NYMIVL

30t NOUYXHYENI
40 1HOd SHIHNLIVIINVA IHL
O1 SNOISSINNOD SHITYIA ONY
S441dvL "JONVHNSNI “1HDI3YS
40 NOILIGAQY IHL WOHJ DNILINS
=34 INTIVA NI 3SVIHONI IHL 40
ALYNILST NY SNId SASNID FHL
40 AYIHNG .S N IHL A8 QALHOJ
-3H 3NTVA 3HL YV S1HOdNI.

0861 /1

L6l &

NI9IHO 40 AHINNOD A8
+S1HOdWI T00L INIHOVK SN

7

ANYWE3D M ;,

—00?

—00Y

—00s

—009

—00L

SNOITIIW 8



167

Japanese Export Statistics

Country

USA

Rep. of Korea
Poland
Taiwan
PRC

Brazil
Australia
Russia

U. K.
Canada

W. Germany

(millions of dollars)

Value of Exports

EXHIBIT 4

1976 - Japan's top ten machine tool export markets comprised 78.2%

of the value of total exports. These were:

$ of Export Total

$57.4

22.4%

[
[SESEARARNE NS N . QY.
e e o o o v o o o

ADMOONO DM

78.2%

Japan's top ten machine tool export markets comprised

79.7% of the values of total exports.

Countrx

USA

W. Germany
Australia
U. K.
Russia

So. Africa
Taiwan
Belgium
Korea
Singapore

(millions of dollars)

Value of Exports

The top ten were:

3 of Export Total

$691.1
87.2
56.2
50.9
49,6
48.5
46.8
34.9
30.8
27.8

$1,909.2

Japanese Tariff Association

NONOWWOWWHE Y
« o o
Owa-bUlO\ONS

» o o e o o o

79.7%

Spring, 1982
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l , EXHIBIT 6
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Write to your Congressmen, Senators and President Reagan. Write to your newspaper. Speek out.
Tell them that a strong American machine tool industry is vital to American defense, security, and industry.

(4

NATIONAL MACHINE TOOL BUILDERS’ ASSOCIATION

7901 Westpark Drive Mctean, Virgimia 22102

N
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ExHisir 7

CoMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,
U.S. Housk oF REPRESENTATIVES,
Washington, D.C., April 28, 1982.
The PRESIDENT,
The White House, Washington, D.C.

DeAR MR. PResIDENT: I am writing this letter to share with you some alarming
data concerning the United States machine tool industry, which touches virtually
every sector of our economy. This is the industry that builds the machines responsi-
ble for America’s industrial strength and military preparedness. It is essential that
the resiliency and vigor of the American machine tool industry be preserved and
indeed, fortified.

But consider the latest machine tool industry import statistics, which provide a
very dismal projection of the future viability of the American machine tool indus-
try. In 1981, imports captured a 36 percent share of all machine tools purchased in
the United States; for the most technically advanced and defense sensitive equip-
ment (numerically controlled lathes and machining centers), imports comprised
more than 50 percent of all U.S. sales. About 30 percent of the dollars spent on ma-
chine tools by American industry in 1981 were spent on foreign machine tools; one
out of every seven dollars was spent on Japanese machine tools. During the recent
economic recession, orders for U.S. machine tools fell 37 percent, while imports in-
creased at a 14 percent rate. -

Last summer during the Trade Subcommittee’s visit to Japan, they found the Jap-
anese machine tool industry to be a very strong competitor which has entered into a
systematic and determined effort to penetrate and capture the American market.
This industry is encouraged and stimulated by years of support by the Japanese
government.

We simply cannot permit the industrial might and military preparedness of the
United States to become dependent on foreign sources of mechine tools—the most
basic elements of our entire industrial economy. The alarming data I have outlined
to you, however, indicates that this result is certainly within the realm of probabil-
ity, if actions are not taken to prevent it. ’

I know you share my belief that these challenges can be met and overcome. Cer-
tainly, a concerted and mutual effort on the part of industry, government and labor
will be required. That is why the timeliness and importance of this issue has earned
it a priority status and demands our mutual attention.

Sincerely,
DAN RosTENKOWSKI, Chairman.

ExHiBiT 8

U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON FINANCE,
Washington, D.C., March 22, 1982.

Hon. CaspAR W. WEINBERGER,
Secretary of Defense, The Pentagon, Washington, D.C.

DEAR SECRETARY WEINBERGER: I wish to bring to your attention a matter of great
conﬁegn to me involving America’s defense preparedness as it relates to our indus-
trial base. .

At the present time, the machine tool industry in the United States is faced with
a significant increase in imports of machinery from foreign manufacturers. Last
year, over one third of all machine tools sold in this country came from overseas.
Further, while U.S. machine tool manufacturers experienced a 37 percent decline in
buriness in 1981, imports increased by some 14 percent.

As Chairman of the International Trade Subcommittee in the Senate, the impact
of such an increase in imports on the American machine tool industry and our econ-
omy in general is extremely worrisome in and of itself. However, in view of this
industry’s key role as manufacturer of the basic tools that are used in America’s
defense-related industries, our growing dependence on imports must also be consid-
ered in a broader context than that of U.S. trade policy.
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To this end, I would appreciate your consideration of the problems faced by
America’s machine tool industry as it relates to the state of our industrial prepared-

ness,
Best regards.
Sincerely,
JoHN C. DANFORTH.

ExuiBiT 9

U.S. SENATE,
CoMMITTEE ON BANKING, HOUSBING, AND URBAN AFFAIRS,
Washington, D.C., February 10, 1982.

The PRESIDENT,
The White House, Washington, D.C.

DrAR MR. PreSIDENT: In recent months I have become concerned about our de-
fense industrial base. As you well know, the United States must remain at the cut-
ting edge of technology in order to offset the numerical edge which our potential
adversaries .

That is why latest statistics on the machine tool industry are so worrisome to me.
Machine tool sales in December were the lowest in five years. Worse still, imports
captured a 36 percent share of all machine tools purchased in the United States in
1981, and in the most technically advanced and defense sensitive equipment, nu.
merically controlled lathes and machining centers, imports captured more than 50
percent of all U.S. sales. Clearly, this nation is losing its market leadership in this
core industry, one important not only to the revitalization of our industrial plant
but key to maintenance of the superiority of our defense industries as well. We
sixggly cannot afford to become overly dependent on foreign sources for these vital
products.

Last month, the Commerce department commissioned a study of our nation’s
technological-industrial base. That is a good beginning. But we must do more than
just study this problem. I know that you share my concern about our nation’s de-
fense industrial base. I stand ready to join with you in finding solutions to the prob-
lems now facing our nation’s machine tool industry and look forward to hearing
your thoughts on this issue.

With warm personal regards,

Sincerely, P a
oHN HEINzZ.

ExsisiT 10

U.S. INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Washington, D.C., April 7, 1982.

NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF INVESTIGATION NO, 332~138—COMPETITIVE ASSESSMENT OF
THE U.S. METALWORKING MACHINE TOOL INDUSTRY

Agency: United States International Trade Commission.
Action: Termination of investigation.

Bacl;groux}d: The Commission, on its own motion, instituted, effective February 5,
1982, investigation No. 332-138, under section 332(b) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19
U.S.C. 1332(b)), for the purpose of gathering and presenting information on the com-
petitive position of the U.S. metalworking machine tool industry. This study was to
assess the impact of the growing competition from imports on the U.S. metalwork-
ing machine to,ol industry, explore the related development of further competition
in the industry’s overseas market, and examine the steps that have been taken and
may be taken to counteract these developments.

Becquqe of changgs in workload and staffing limitations, it is not feasible for the
Commission to continue the subject investigation at this time. Therefore, the Com-
mﬁslgn, ox} 1tt§ oyvntx}:o?on, hfashhereby terminated the subject investigation.

otice of the institution of the investigation was published in the Federal Regis-
ter of February 18, 1982 (47 F.R. 7350). & P e

By order of the Commission.

KeNNETH R. MasoN, Secretary.

Issued: April 8, 1982.
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RoBOT INSTITUTE OF AMERICA,
OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT,
Dearborn, Mich., May 27, 1982.
Mr. JoBN J. SALMON,
Chief Counsel,
Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, Washington, D.C.

DeArR MR. SaLmon: We have reviewed your bill directed to promoting export of
services and high technology goods.

We suspect that your hearings last Monday, particularly from those people in
commercial high technology businesses, reinforce our personal feeling that this bill
is positive in nature and duly needed. We support it in its entirety and look forward
to providing the support of our company and that of the Robot Institute of America
to assist you in having it passed.

Let us know if we can do anything in the future. We would appreciate keeping
abreast of its progress.

Yours very truly,
S. J. PoLcyn,
President, Robot Institute of America.

U.S. CounciL For AN OrEN WoRLD Economy, INc.,
Alexandria, Va., May 24, 1982.

SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE,
Committee on Ways and Means,
U.S. House of Representatives, Washington, D.C.

GENTLEMEN: The Subcommittee’s attention to the important issues of internation-
al service transactions and international trade in high-technology products is most
commendable, as is the attention given these subjects by many other members of
Congress in both houses. However, I do not sense that either these legislators or the
Administration or (almost without exception) the “liberal trade” community are re-
alistically assessing the policy imperatives for substantial progress toward freer,
more far-reaching trade in these areas of international commerce.

In my view, there is not likely to be much progress in international negotiations
to remove impediments in these sectors and establish codes of fully equitable con-
duct except within the framework of a comprehensive charter to establish a free-
trade area on the part of the industrialized countries, with special arrangements for
non-discriminatory access to this free-trade area by developing countries. The devel-
oping countries, however, would not get a “free ride,” for they would be required to
make a special set of commitments on reducing barriers, complying with rules of
equitable international economic conduct, and providing equitable access to raw ma-
terials under their control.

Substantial progress toward free and equitable trade in services and high-technol-
ogy products is achievable only as part of a strategy for free and equitable trade
across the board of all international business dealings. Full reciprocity in these two
sectors, respectively, is achievable only in the framework of full reciprocity across
the board of all sectors. In turn, fully fair trade across the board is not achievable
except as an adjunct of a negotiatcd commitment to fully free trade in accordance
with a realistic timetable. Fully fair trade and fully free trade are one objective in-
divisible, and hence must censtitute one strategy indivisible.

These principles and policy proposals are presented in more detail in (among
other places) the testimony I presented to your Subcommittee on March 18, 1982, in
oversight hearings on trade policy.

I find that no one in Congress or the Administration, indeed no one outside my
Council among advocates of freer world trade, has endorsed these principles and
proposals or even revealed active interest in them. .

The U.S. Council for an Open World Economy is a private, nonprofit organization
engaged in research and public education on the merits and problems of developing
an open international economic system in the overall public interest. The Council
does not act on behalf of any private interests.

Sincerely yours,
Davip J. STEINBERG, President.



